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ADMINISTRATION OF MEER

COSSIM IN BENGAL—1761.

subject a grain of silver, that thon mayest
form a treasure? ”—became the rule of
Meer Cossim; and, in the short space of
eight months, he wrought a wonderful
change for the better, though at a cost of
personal exertion which he described by de-
claring, that he had “scarce had leisure to
drink. a little water, nor a minute’s time to
eat or enjoy sleep.”*

Such rigid supervision was sure to dis-
please those especially by whom it was most
needed; and the camp of the Mogul be-
came 1n consequence the rallying ground of
many discontented zemindars and petty
rajahs who were not strong enough to
rebel in their own names, Early in 1761
an engagement took place between the im-
perial forces and those of Meer Cossim and
the English under Major Carnac. The em-
peror was again defeated ; the small French
corps by which he had been supported quite
dispersed ; and its indefatigable leader,
M. Law, taken prisoner.t Immediately
after the battle, overtures of peace were
made by the victors, through the interven-
tion of a brave Hindoo general, whose name,
whatever it may have been, has been angli-
cised into Rajah Shitabroy. The proposi-
tion was gladly accepted; Shah Alum pro-
ceeded to Patna, and there bestowed on
Meer Cossim the investiture of the govern-
ment of the three provinces, on condition
of the annual payment of twenty-four lacs
of rupees.j The English commander then
escorted the emperor some distance on his
road to join Shuja Dowlah, the nabob of
Oude. External hostility had scarcely been
removed from the path of Meer Cossim, be-
fore obstacles of a domestic character took
its place. Several Hindoo officials of high
rank persisted in evading his just demands
for a settlement of outstanding accounts,
and screened themselves from punishment,

* Vansittart’s Narrative, 1., 214.

t+ After the fate of the day had been decided,
Law, though deserted by his countrymen, refused to
quit the field; and vexed to the soul by the utter
failure of his attempts to uphold the interests of the
French nation, sat down astride a gun, ready to fling
away his life, when an attempt should be made to cap-
ture him. Major Carnac found him in this mtit.udr.',
accepted his surrender on parole without deliver-
ing up his sword, and subsequently, In common
with all the other British officers, treated the cap-
tive with marked consideration. Gholam Hussein
Khan highly extols this chivalrous behaviour, and
finds frequent occasion to applaud in the strongest
manner the military qualifications of the English;
adding, that if they did but possess equal proficiency |
.n the arts of government, and manifested as m.n_cll ‘
solicitude for the welfare of native communities

) (.l

~

or even from inquiry, through the interven-
tion of the English. Ram Narrain, the
governor of Patna, afforded a remarkable
example of this ill-judged partiality. He
had been placed in office by Ali Verdi
Khan, and was one of the few nobles whose
fidelity to Surajah Dowlah remained invio-
late. After the deposition and murder of
this prince, Meer Jaffier had urgently soli-
cited Clive to induce Ram Narrain to come
to Moorshedabad under the promise of Bri-
tish protection, in order, as the proposer of
this notable scheme did not hesitate to
avow, to obtain a convenient opportunity
for cutting off his head. The experience
of Clive in the art of writing “soothing”
letters to an intended victim, was, happily
for the national honour, not made use of
in the present case; on the contrary, the
ungenerous policy of maintaining a rival
party in the court of the nabob, induced
favourable terms to be made with Ram
Narrain, and he was confirmed in his goy-
ernment despite the opposition of his nomi-
nal master.

As might be expected under such cir-
cumstances, between constant warfare and
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a disaffected ruler, the revenues of Patna |

proved of little benefit to the exhausted
treasury of Moorshedabad.
scarcely disguised the hatred and contempt
he felt for Meer Jaffier, and found no diffi-
culty in resisting or evading his demands;
but Meer Cossim was a man of a different
stamp; and a fierce and prolonged dispute

Ram Narrain |

took place between the nabob and the |
governor—the former demanding the im- |

mediate settlement of all arrears; the latter,
on one pretence or other, refusing even to
render the accounts justly demanded from
him. The refractory subordinate relied on
the protection of the English, and long
continued to be upheld in his unwarrantable

in time of peace, as they did forethought in war,
then no nation in the world would be worthier of
command. ‘ But,” he adds, “such is the little regard
they show to the people of these kingdoms, and such
therr apathy and indifference to their welfare, that
the natives under their dominion groan everywhere,
and are reduced to poverty and distress."—(Siyar ul
Mutakherin, ii., 102.)

1 Meer Cossim, aware of the strong personal pre-
judice of Major Carnac towards himself, refused to
enter the imperial camp, lest some design against
him—such as it appears was actually entertained by
Carnac and Ellis (Vansittart's Narrative, ii.,, 399)—
should be put in practice. 'Therefore the investi-
ture was performed in the hall of the _I','!lghsh fac-
tory, a platform being made of two dining-tables
covered with cloth, on which to enthrone the fallen
majesty of the house of Timur.
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I refusal to furnish any statement of his admin-
istration by the military commanders then
stationed at Patna; but at length the re-
presentations of Meer Cossim, regarding
the violent conduct of Colonel Coote* and
Major Carnac, occasioned their recall, and
left Ram Narrain in the hands of the nabob,
by whom his person was seized and his effects
confiscated, on the charge of embezzlement.

The truth was, the whole affair had been
treated rather as a bone of contention among
the jarring members of the Bengal pre-
sidency, than as a question of justice. The
secret of their disunion appears to have been
sheer jealousy of the present offered by Meer
Cossim to the select commitiee previous to
his accession, which they refused receiving
until the claims of the company should be

satisfied, peace restored, and the long stand-
ing arrears of the native troops entirely liqui-
dated.t

These preliminaries having been fulfilled,
it was probably expected that Meer Cossim
would repeat his offer of the twenty lacs of
rupees to the individuals by whom it had
been temporarily rejected. The remaining
members of couneil (not of the select commit-
tee) became extremely violent on the subject,
and instead of pleading, as they might have
reasonably done, against being excluded from

| all sharein atransaction which they had about

manded from Meer Cossim.

as much, or as little right to benefit by as
their colleagues, the tone adopted was one
of disinterested zeal for the interest of their
employers, in whose name it was insisted
the twenty lacs should be immediately de-
This motion

* For instance, Meer Cossim complained that on
one occasion Colonel Coote, accompanied by thirty-
five European horsemen and 200 sepoys, entered his
tent in a great passion with a pistol in either hand,
crying out, ‘“ Where is the nabob?” and uttering “ God
dammees !”  Colonel Coote tacitly admitted the truth
of this statement, with the trivial exception that his
pistols were not cocked, as the nabob had declared.
—(Vansittart's Narrative, i., 238—244.,)

T Soon after his accession, Meer Cossim took oc-
casion to present Mr. Vansittart with a present of
25,000 rupees on the birth of & son—an ordinary

| eastern compliment, which the governor accepted,

but immediately paid into the company’s treasury.
1 A receipt in ful was given to Meer Cossim in
March, 1762, from all pecuniary obligation to the Eng-

| lish. A minute in council showed that he had pald

them twenty-six lacs of sicca rupees (valued at
2s. 83d. each), together with fifty-three lacs of cur-
rent rupees (2s. 4d. each), derived from the ceded
districts. He had likewise satisfied the claims both
of his own and his predecessor’s troops.—( Narrative.)

§ It appears, however, from the evidence given
before parliament, in 1772, by Colonel Calliaua and
Mr. Sumner, that the twenty lacs were actuaiiy paid

DISGRACEFUL QUARRELS OF BENGAL OFIFICIALS—17062.

was

brought forward by Mr. Amyatt, who, |
as Governor Vansittart did not fail to remark, |

had been of a different opinion some three
years before, or he would scarcely have

. |
accepted a share in the golden harvest ob-

tained by the elevation of Meer Jaflier, with-
out exhibiting any such serupulous regard to
the interests of the general body. The re-

sult of a subsequent nabob-making affair |

proved that another stickler for the rights of
the company (Mr. Johnstone) was equally
willing, when practicable, to make a bargain
on his own account. The measure was,
however, carried by a majority of the entire
council, and a formal requisition to the above
effect made to Meer Cossim. .

was prompt and decisive. The nabob, afte.
stating, “by the grace of God, that he had
fulfilled every article of the treaty,”’f de-
clared, “I owe nobody a single rupee, nor
will I pay your demand.” The sum intended
for the select committee had been, he said,
positively refused ; most of the gentlemen to
whom it was offered had left the country; and
as to the one or two still in India, “I do not
think,” adds the nabob, ¢ they will demand
it from me.”§ The directors at home clearly
appreciated the motives of all concerned,
and expressed decided approbation of the

The answer |

“spirited” refusal given to an unauthorised |

encroachment.

But the fire of anger and distrust, far from
being extinguished by such well-merited
rebufls, was fed by various concomitant
circumstances. An angry, if not insolent||
memorial, dictated by Clive immediately
before sailing for England, and addressed by

by Meer Cossim, and received in the following pro-
portions :—the governor, five lacs (£50,000); Hol-
well, Sumner, Calliaud, and M‘Gwire, in diminishing
portions, according to seniority. This makes the
seleet committee to have consisted of five persons;
but beside these, it appears there were nt}mrs not
then present at Calcutta. The committee consisted
of the senior members of the council, and the coun-
cil itself varied in the number of members from six
to sixteen, according to the number of those absent
in their employments as chiefs of factories, &e.

|| One phrase declares that a recent communica-
tion from the directors was equally unworthy of the
parties by whom it was written, or those to whom it
was addressed, “ in whatever relation considered—as
masters to servants, or gentlemen to gentlemen ;”
and it is added, significantly, that from the partiality
evineed to individuals, “private views may, it is much
to be feared, take the lead here from examples at
home, and no gentlemen hold your service longer,
nor exert themselves further in it, than ¢hetr own
exigencies require.” This remarkable specimen of
plain speaking boasts the signatures of Clive, Holwell,
Sumner, and M‘Gwire, all of whom were dismissed
the service, as also another councillor named Pleydell.




" had striven to construe the firmauns granted

' vals, in its passage from place to place, 1t
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the Bengal officials to their “honourable
masters,” procured the dismissal of all by
whom it had been signed. This measure failed
in producing the intended effect; for of the
refractory members, the majority, like their
leader, had realised immense fortunes by the
use of more orless disereditablemeans; others
paid the penalty of sharinz the violence of |
their predecessors by expulsion from the
company’s service. Although subsequently
reinstated, their temporary absence left
the governor in a minority in council,
and vested the personal opponents of the
nabob with overwhelming power. Mr. Van-
sittart, in rectitude of character, discretion,
and gentlemanly bearing, was infinitely su-
perior to his fellow-officials; but he lacked
energy to control their wnruly tempers, and |
successfully oppose their selfish ends. It ap-
pears that he and the other four gentlemen
associated with him (that is, all the members
of the select committee then in Bengal), did
eventually receive from Cossim Ali the much-
canvassed twenty lacs. This single draw-
back on a general reputation for disinterest-
edness, afforded an opening of which his ene-
mies well knew how to take advantage, and
every effort made to check their illegitimate
gains was treated as an act of corrupt and
venal partiality towards the nabob.

We have already seen that in the time of
Moorshed Kooli Khan, the English officials

by the emperor Feroksheer, as conferring
not only exemption from custom-dues on
all foreign commerce, but as including the
produce of the country, which they asserted
ought to pass untaxed, if accompanied by
their dustucks or licenses, even from one
district to another. Now, as half the local
revenue was, by the system universally pur-
sued, obtained by innumerable petty dues
levied on merchandise, at frequent inter-

followed that such an unreasonable claim,
if granted, must prove highly injurious to
the income of the province, and ruinous to
the native traders, who, fettered by taxation,
could mnot hope to compete with their
favoured rivals. The manifest injustice of
the demand procured its speedy, and for a

* Vansittart’s Narrative, ii., 153.

+ Treaty with Surajah Dowlah; vide Scrafton’s
Reflections on the Government of Indostan, p. 3.

1 Vansittart's Narrative, ii., 113. s BN

§ The existence and notoriety of these practices is
evidenced in a letter from the directors, dated April,
1760, in which it is asserted, that the chiefs of subor-

| nopoly for the sole purchase of saltpetre,

time, com'plc:t(-. abandonment. At a subse-
quent period the directors (in a dispute with
the Dutch regarding the right of the em-
peror to grant the English merchants a mo-

notwithstanding the promise of free trade |
conceded to their competitors) laid it down |
as an axiom, that the design of all irmauns |
granted to Buropeans was to admit them |
“to the same freedom of trading with the
Mogul’s own subjects—surely not a better.”* |
In fact, the interests of the company were
In no manner concerned in the question of
inland traffic, because this had been entirely
resigned to their servants ; and every atterpt
at encroachment made by them during the
strong administrations of Moorshed Kooli
and Ali Verdi Khan had been carefully
suppressed, until the latter ruler became
weakened by age, foreign wars, and domestic
sorrows, The previous efforts were recom-
menced and increased at the time of the ac-
cession of Surajah Dowlah—so much so, that
the articles signed by the English on the sur-
render of Cossimbazar in May, 1757,included
a specific promise to make good all that the
Mohammedan government had suffered from
the abuse of dustucks.t This pledge was
far from being redeemed, and the abuse
complained of rose to such an extent, despite
the repeated remonstrances of Meer Jaffier,
that not only every servant of the company,
together with their gomastahs or native
agents, claimed complete immunity in carry-
ing on inland trade in salt, betel-nut,
tobacco, bamboos, dried fish, &c., but even
the Bengalee merchants found it expedient
to purchase the name of some member of
the presidency ; and by virtue of ““ dustucks™
thus obtained, could langh at the revenue
officers, and compel the natives, on penalty
of flogging or imprisonment,} to buy goods
at more, or sell them at considerably less,
than the market price.§

Had Mr. Vansittart been a man of more
determination, he might probably have
averted a new revolution ; but the compro-
foising character of his measures served only
to encourage his intractable associates. In
taking a firm stand on the justice of the
question, and insisting upon the proper pay-
goods supplied to private l.rudcrs, often exclusive of
commission ; while the native merchants “apply to
our junior servants, and for \'alua.hlc consxdez‘anoni
receive their goods covered with our servanis
names: even a writer trades in this manner for many

thousands, when at the same time ]1? has often not
real credit for an hundred rupees. Ior the truth of

dinate factories gained full twenty per cent. upon

. o )
these assertions we need only appeal to yourselves.
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ment of taxes necessary to the maintenance of
the country government, he would doubtless
have been supported by the directors, who,
unbiassed by self-interest, would then, as on
a subsequent occasion, have given an honest
decision on so plain a case. But Vansittart,
aware of the extreme anxiety of the nabob
to preserve peace with the English, }10_pcd
to bring about an arrangement by offering,
on their behalf, the payment of mnine per

' cent. (a‘rate not a quarter the amount of

| adjustment. ‘
the blinding influence of the factious and

that exacted from native traders) upon the
prime cost of goods at the time of purchase,
after which no further duties should be
imposed. These terms were settled at a
private interview between the nabob and
the governor, and the latter departed highly
pleased at having brought about an amicable
But he did not understand

grasping spirit of the men with whom he
had to deal. The members of council, ab-
sent in their capacities of chiefs of facto-

| ries, were called together: even majors

Adams and Carnac, though empowered to
give a vote only in military affairs, were
suffered to come and join a discussion in
which they were unprofessionally, and not
very creditably, interested as traders; and

| the result was, the refusal of an overwhelm-

ing majority to ratify the pledge given by
their president. Warren Hastings, who
had lately been elevated to the council,
alone stood by Vansittart, and eloquently
pleaded the cause of justice, relating the

| oppressions he had himself witnessed while

employed in an inferior capacity in different
factories, but with no beneficial result.®
Meer Cossim soon saw the state of the
case ;—a governor, willing but unable to pro-
tect him against the rapacity of subordinate
officials. He knew their vulnerable point;
and instead of wasting more time in fruitless
complaints, aimed a well-directed blow by
proclaiming free trade among his own sub-
jects for the ensuing two years. It was
clearly the most equitable and statesmanlike
measure that could have been adopted; but
the council, in their unbridled wrath at
having the native traders placed on a level
with themselves, denounced it as a shame-
less infringement on the company’s prero-
gative; and, upon this flimsy pretext, sent
a deputation to the nabob, consisting of

* In the course of these discussions, Mr. Batson,
one of the council, struck Hastings a blow. The
injured party, with true dignity, left to his col-
leagues the charge of dealing with the offender.

Mr. Amyatt and Mr. Hay, to demand its
immediate annulment. Meer Cossim re-
fused to discuss the subject, and, in com-
menting on the decision of the council—that
all disputes between English gomastahs
and his officers, should be referred to the
chiefs of the company’s factories—he said
their justice consisted simply in this :— they
abuse and beat my officers, and send them
away bound.” Regarding the immediate
question at issue, he vindicated the aboli-
tion of customs on the plea of necessity,
the conduct of the English having utterly
prevented their realisation, and thus de-
prived him of one-half his revenues. The
remainder, he added, arose from land-rents,
which were diminished by the abstraction
of half the country, and were required
to pay his standing army. Under these
circumstances he would be well pleased to
be relieved of his irksome task, and see some
other person placed in his stead as nabob.
This proposition was probably made in re-
ference to the projects already canvassed in
council (and of which he doubtless had
some knowledge), for his supercession in the
event of the outbreak of hostilities. The
tone and bearing of Meer Cossim were, how-
ever, still on the whole so deprecating and
conciliatory, that no fear of the consequences
appears to have arisen in the minds of the
council to suggest the danger of driving
him to extremities. The governor explicitly
declares that, up to this period, the nabob
had not shown “any instance of a vicious or
a violent disposition ; he could not be taxed
with any act of cruelty to his own subjects,
nor treachery to us.”’+ Of his troops a very
contemptible opinion had been formed ;
they were spoken of as “undisciplined
rabble,” whom a single European detach-
ment could at once disperse: while Meer
Cossim himself was known to possess
neither taste nor talent as a military
leader ; and the chief warlike enterprise of
his administration (an invasion of Nepaul)
had proved a failure. But sufficient account
had not been made of the care with which
the native army had been gradually brought
to a state of unprecedented efficiency ; their
number being diminished by the payment
and dismissal of useless portions, while the
remainder were carefully trained, after the
European manner, by the aid of some mili-
tary adventurers who entered the service of
Meer Cossim. Among these the most cele-
brated was a man called by the natives
+ Vousittart’s Narrative, iii., 394.




Sumroo.®* He wasa German, Walter Reine-
hard by name, and came to India as a ser-
geant in the service of I'rance. Military abili-
ties raised him to high favour with Meer
Cossim, and he became the chief instigator
and instrument of the cruelties which dis-
graced the close of the struggle with the
presidency. The abuse of certain discre-
tionary powers vested in Mr. Ellis by the
council, despite the opposition of the gov-
ernor, precipitated matters. Patna was
seized by the English, and, to their surprise,
immediately regained by Meer Cossim.
Mr. Amyatt was at this time on his way
back to Calcutta; Mr. Hay being detained
as a hostage for the safety of some of the
native officials then imprisoned at Calcutta.
Orders were given for the capture of Mr.
Amyatt: he was intercepted, and, with several
of his companions, slain in the struggle
which ensued. The council closed all
avenues to reconciliation with Meer Cossim,
by the restoration of the man who, three
years before, had been pronounced utterly
unfit to reign. Suddenly annulling all that
had been said and done—setting aside the
imperial investiture, and everything else,
Meer Jaffier, without even the form of a
fresh treaty, was, by a strange turn of the
wheel of circumstances, again hurried to the
musnud from whence he had so lately been
ignominiously expelled.

Vansittart, overpowered by bitter opposi-
tion, and sinking under ill-health, no longer
strove to stem the torrent. It was an emer-
gency in which he thought ‘justice must
give way to necessity,”f and accordingly he
signed the proclamation inviting the people
of Bengal, Bahar, and Orissa to rally round
the standard of Meer Jaffier; with other
documents, whose contents were wholly at
variance with his previous measures; only
declaring that he would resign the govern-
ment so soon as Meer Cossim should be
subdued. This did not prove so easy a
task as had been expected. The ex-nabob
made a last effort at an accommodation by
a letter to the presidency, in which he
denied having given any order for the
destruction of Mr. Amyatt; but, at the
same time, referred significantly to the
number of English captured at Patna,
plainly intimating that their fate depended
on the terms made with him. The threat
was little heeded. So perfect and uniform

* His nom-de-guerre of Summer was c]mngcc! h.y
the French soldiers into Sombre, on account of his

dark complexion, pronounced by the natives Swmrao. | instrumental in urging

WAR BETWEEN MEER COSSIM AND
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had been his self-control, that not even the
governor or Mr, [Tastings (the two Euro-
peans who had most intimately known him)
ever suspected the fierce passions which lay
hid beneath the veil of a singularly dignified |
bearing and guarded language. No deci-
sive measure was therefore taken for the
rescue of the prisoners, but only letters
written, threatening unsparing venéeancc mn
the event of any injury being inflicted upon
them. These communications did but add
fuel to fire.
stake for which he played —independent
sway over at least a part of Bengal, or a
violent death, with the possible alternative
of poverty and expatriation in the dominions
of his powerful neighbour, Shuja Dowlah.
The English took the field in 1763, and
commenced operations by the successful
attack of the army stationed to protect
Moorshedabad. The city was captured;
and in the following month, the severest
conflict which the English had yet sustained
took place on the plain of Geriah. The
battle lasted four hours, and the enemy at
one period broke the line, seized two guns,
and attacked the 84th regiment front and
rear. But the steadiness of the troops pre-
vailed over the impetuosity of their assail-
ants, and eventually procured a complete
victory. Meer Cossim was driven from
place to place; defeat and disgrace dogged
his steps; and after sending his family and
treasures to the stronghold of Rhotas, he
commenced a series of executions at once,
to gratify his revenge and intimidate his
foes. Ram Narrain, with ten relatives, and
other native prisoners of note, were the first
victims after the battle of Geriah. A no
less disastrous engagement, in September,
near Qodwa, was followed by the execution
of the celebrated bankers, Juggut Seit and
his brother (or cousin), of whose persons
the nabob had some time before obtained
possession.  Finally,
render of Monghyr, which he learned at
Patna, occasioned an order for the 1mme-
diate execution of all prisoners confined
there, including fifty of the company’s
servants, civil and military. Among the
number were Hay, Ellis, and Lushington
(the person before named as having counter-
feited the signature of Admiral Watson.)
Mr. Fullarton, a surgeon, in virtue of a pro-
fession more peaceful thar his practice,{

+ Vansittart's Narrative, iii., 317.
1 He is stated by Vansittart to
Mr. Amyatt,

have been mainly

Meer Cossim well knew the | |

the treacherous sur- | |

with whom he | |
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CAPTURE OF PATNA, 1763—EXPULSION OF MEER COSSIM.

formed the sole exception to this savage
massacre, which was perpetrated by Sumroo
and two companies of sepoys. On the ad-
vance of the English, Patna was abandoned
by its ruthless master; but the capture was
not effected until the middle of November,
after a prolonged and resolute defence.
Meer Cossim, unable to offer further re-
sistance, crossed the Carammassa as a fugi-
tive, and threw himself upon the protection
of his ally, Shuja Dowlah, the nabob of Oude,
who, from the nominal vizier, had by this
time become the gaoler, of Shah Alum.
Early in the following year, an army was
assembled at Benares by Shuja Dowlah,
who, it appears, desired to make the claims
of his protéyé a pretext for obtaining pos-
session of the three provinces for himself.
The prospect of invasion was alarming—
less from the strength of the enemy than
from the mutinous and disaffected condition
of the British force. From the moment
when a division of booty, to a hitherto un-
heard-of extent, commenced at the taking
of Geriah in 1756, a marked deterioration
had, as Clive truly observed, taken place in
their health and discipline. Large numbers
perished from sheer debauchery; and the
survivors, imitating the civilians, were con-
stantly on the watch for some new source
of irregular gain. A gratification to the
army”’ had been one of the articles canvassed
in council, as a point to be insisted on in
case of Meer Cossim’s supercession; but
war had come on them at the last so suddenly,
and had been attended with such an unex-
pected amount of danger and expense, that in
the terms dictated to Meer Jaffier, after his
reinstatement on the musnud, the council had
scarcely leisure to do more than stipulate
for thirty lacs on behalf of the company ;
for the reimposition of taxes on the oppressed
natives ; for their own total exemption, ex-
cept a duty of two-and-a-half per cent. upon
salt,* which, in their liberality, they offered
to pay as a gratuitous assistance to the
nabob; and, lastly, for complete reimburse-
ment to individuals who might suffer loss by
the stoppage of the inland trade. It is easy
to understand who these individuals were,
but difficult to conceive to what an extent
a clause so indefinite as this might enable
them to carry their extortions. Even Meer
Jaffier seems to have had a notion that, in
had great influence, to adopt the policy which led to
s0 melancholy a termination.—( Narrakive, i., 164.)

* Eventhis rate was never levied. —( Clive, iii., 103.)

+ Evidence of Major Munro.—(First Report of
Parliamentary Committee, 1772.)

'return for these stipulations, he also might
' put forward some peculiar claims; and he
now successfully urged, as a condition of re-
accepting the subahship, permission to em-
ploy, as one of his chief ministers, an intrign-
g Hindoo named Nuncomar, who was
actually in confinement for having intrigued
against the KEnglish with Shuja Dowlah
and the French governor of Pondicherry.
In these arrangements, all idea of a gratuity
to the army was lost sight of ; nor was any
forthcoming, as expected, after the expulsion
of Meer Cossim, although a specific pledge
to that effect had, it appears, heen given
to the troops through Major Adams.+
Under such circumstances little vigour
was displayed in opposing the invading
troops, until, after ravaging Bahar, they
penetrated as far as Patna. Here, however,
they were defeated. The English soldiers
and sepoys—but especially the latter, on
whom the principal weight of the attack
fell —behaved with great steadiness and
gallantry; and the vizier, perceiving that
his rude levies were quite unable to oppose
a disciplined European force, soon began to
evince an inclination for an amicable adjust-
ment of affairs. But the English would
make no terms that did not include the
surrender of the fugitive nabob and his
sanguinary instrument, Sumroo; and Shuja
Dowlah, on his part, looked for nothing
less than the surrender of the whole province
of Bahar: consequently the discussion pro-
duced no result ; and the tedious war dragged
on until the approach of the rainy season
compelled the vizier to conclude the cam-
paign by retreating with all speed to Oude.
The arrival of Major (afterwards Sir
Hector) Munro from Bombay, with Euro-
pean reinforcements, was the signal for an
outbreak of the dissatisfaction long at work
in the British army; and a whole battalion
of sepoys, with their arms and accoutre-
ments, marched oft to join the enemy. The
major detached a select body of troops in
pursuit. The fugitives were surprised by
night, while sleeping, and brought back as
prisoners. By the decree of a court-mar-
tial of their own countrymen, twenty-four
of the prisoners were condemned to die.
They were tied up, four at a time, to the
muzzle of as many guns, and blown away ;
the first to suffer being some grenadiers,
who stepped forward and urged that, as
they had constantly been allowed precedence
in the hour of danger, so now it should be
| granted them in death. 'The claim was
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tacitly admitted to be true, by ;cix_lg
granted, and the whole twenty-four were
exccuted, despite the earnest remonstrances

and even open opposition of their comrades.

Military men have applauded this trans-
action as a piece of well-timed and necessary
severity ; those who, like mysclf, question
both the lawfulness and expediency of capi-
tal punishments, and deem war and stand-
ing armies the reproach and not the glory
of Christian nations, will probably view
the whole affair in a different light.

In the middle of September (1764) the
British troops again took the field, and having
crossed the Sone in spite of the opposition
of a corps of cavalry, advanced towards the
intrenched camp of the vizier at Buxar. A
sharp conflict took place, and lasted about
three hours; the enemy then began to give

- way, and slowly retired; but an immediate

pursuit being commenced, Shuja Dowlah
procured its abandonment, though at an
immense sacrifice of life* by destroying a

- bridge of boats upon a stream of water two

miles from the field of battle. The emperor
seized the opportunity of escaping from his
tyrannical minister, pitched his tents beside

' those of the English, and placed himself

1 & in killed and wounded, was 847.

under their protection. Renewed overtures
for peace, on the part of Shuja Dowlah, were

' again met by a demand for the surrender of

Meer Cossim and Sumroo. The former,
fearing to trust his life any longer in the
hands of one who had already taken advan-
tage of his defenceless position to obtain
possession of the chief part of the gold and
jewels which he had brought from Bengal,
now fled to the Rohilla country, whither he
had fortunately caused some treasure to be
conveyed before the confiscation ordered by
his ungenerous ally, on pretence of paying
the troops. Sumroo, no less faithless than
cruel, had deserted him; and, with a large
body of trained sepoys, had joined the force
of Shuja Dowlah before the battle of Buxar.
This piece of treachery nearly proved fatal
to its perpetrator; for the vizier, anxious to
come to terms with the English, and yet to
avoid the infamy of delivering up the de-
serter, positively offered to procure his
assassination in presence of any two or
three witnesses chosen by Major Munro,
and evinced great surprise at the rejection
of this truly oriental proposal. It should

* Stated at 2,000 men drowned or otherwise l‘nst :
besides which, 2,000 men were left dead on l}}c h?Id,
with 133 pieces of cannon. The loss of the English,
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be remarked, however, in justice to Shuja
Dowlah, that though willing to plunder
Meer Cossim to the last rupee, he could not
be induced to surrender his person on any
terms ; 1}11(1 even for the life and liberty of
the villain Sumroo, he would willingly have
paid a heavy ransom; for it was not until
after the rejection of the offer of a sum of
ﬁft)j—_(aight lacs, in lieu of delivering up the
fugitives, that he made the treacherous sug-
gestion above narrated regarding Sumroo.
Whether he really intended to carry it out,
or if, on the contrary, some other stratagem
was designed in the event of the plan being
approved by the English, cannot be ascer-
tained. It is certain that his army was in
no condition to renew hostilities, and, in-
deed, never recovered the effects of the late
decisive engagement.

Meanwhile corruption, venality, and op-
pression reigned unchecked in Bengal. The
name of a nation, once highly honoured,
became alike hateful in the ears of Mussul-

mans and Hindoos.t+ The approach of a
party of English sepoys served as a signal
for the desertion of whole villages, and the
shopkeepers fled at the approach of the
palanquin of the passing traveller, fearing
that their goods might be seized for an
almost nominal value, and they themselves
abused and beaten for. offering a remon-
strance. The people at large were reduced
to a state of unprecedented misery; the
ungenerous and impolitic advantage taken
of their weakness, having put it in the
power of every marauder who chose to style
himself an English servant, to plunder and
tyrannise over them without control. The
effect, Warren Hastings plainly declared to
be, “mnot only to deprive them of their own
laws, but to refuse them even the benefit of
any.” Had all this wrong proceeded from
the will of a single despot, there can be
little doubt he would have been speedily
removed by a combination of his own offi-
cers, or, as Mohammedan history affords so
many instances, been smitten to the earth
by a private individual, in vengeance for
some speeial injury. DBut the tyranny of a
far-distant association, dreadful and incom-
prehensible beyond any bugbear ever pz_xin.tcd
by superstition, possessed this distinguishing
feature above all other despotisms—thatitwas
exercised through numerousdistinct agencies,

+ Vide Hasting's letter ;—Narratie, ii., 78. Clive
declares the oppressions practised had made * the
| name of the English stink in the nostrils of a Gentoo
jora Mussulman.”—(Malcolm's Ltfe, 1L, 380.)




of which the hundred hands and arms of the
Hindoo idols could convey but a faint and
feeble 1mage.

Oppression reached a climax under the
second administration of Meer Jaffier. He
| had previously complained in forcible lan-
| guage* of the injury done to the mative
' merchants, as well as to the provincial reve-
| nues, by the abuse of the privileges conferred
| by the firmaun; but to this wrong he for-

mally assented when replaced on the musnud.
- It soon, however, became manifest that it
1 mattered little what the terms of the agree-

ment had been; for he was regarded simply
j as “a banker for the company’s servants,
" who could draw upon him as often, and to |
i as great an extent as they pleased.”+ The
r
{

clause for compensation to individuals proved,

as might have been foreseen, a handle for

excessive extortion. At the time of its in-
' sertion the nabob had been assured that,
 although it was impossible to specify the
particular amounts of claims, they would not
altogether exceed ten lacs; notwithstanding
which, the demand was increased to twenty,
thirty, forty, and at last reached fifty-three
lacs. Seven-eighths of this sum, according to
the testimony of Mr. Serafton, then an E. 1.
director, “was for losses sustained (or said
to be sustained) in an illicit monopoly of the
necessaries of life, carried on against the
orders of the company, and to the utter ruin

|

of the India merchants.” He adds, that ¢ half
of this sum was soon extorted from the
nabob, though the company were at that
time sinking under the burden of the war,
and obliged to borrow great sums of money of
their servants at eight per cent. interest, and
even with that assistance could not carry on
both their war and their investment, but
sent their ships half loaded to Europe.” }
The military establishment of the English
had by this time increased to 18,000 horse
and foot, and its ill-regulated expenditure
soon swallowed up the thirty laes paid by
Meer Jaffier, as also the further sum of five
lacs a month, which he had agreed to furnish
during the continuance of the war.

Pressed on all sides by extortionate claims,
despised and brow-beaten by the very men
who had used him as an instrument for their
private ends, the nabob sank rapidly to an
unhonoured grave. His death in January,

* “The poor of my country,” said Meer Jaffier,
“used to get their bread by trading in salt, betel-
nut, and tobacco, which the English have now taken
to themselves ; by which my poor are starving, my
revenues ruined, and no advantage to the company.”
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1765, had been shortly preceded by the de-
parture of Governor Vansittart and Warren
Hastings for England ; and in the absence of
any restraining nfluence, the council were
left to conduct the profitable affair of en-
throning a new nabob after their own fashion.
The choice lay between the eldest illegiti-
mate son of Jaffier, Nujeem-ad-Dowlah, aged
twenty years, and the infant son of Meeran.
The claim of the emperor to appoint an
officer was considered far too inconvenient to
be acknowledged ; it would be easy to extort
his sanction when the selection was made.
Repeated offers had been made by him to

' bestow on the English real power over the

revenues of Bengal, by vesting in them the
richt of collection. This office, called the
dewannee, had been devised during the palmy
days of the empire§ as a means of prevent-
ing attempts at independence on the part of
the subahdar, the dewan being designed
to act as treasurer, appointed from, and ac-
countable to, the Delln government, leaving
the subahdar to direct in all other matters.
This arrangement had been allowed to fall
into disuse ; for Ali Verdi Khan had usurped
the whole authority, both financial and ju-
dicial. Shah Alum must have been too well
acquainted with the state of affairs, to doubt
that the English, if they accepted the de-
wannee, would be sure to engross likewise all
real power vested in the subahdar; but he
expected in return a tribute, on the re-
gular payment of which dependence might
be placed. It did not, however, suit the
views of the representatives of the E. I. Cy.
to occupy a position which should render
them personally accountable for the revenues.
A nabob—i.e., a person from whom ¢ pre-
sents” might be legally received— could not
be dispensed with. The child of Meeran was
old enough to understand the worth of sugar-
plums, but hardly of rupees; and his claims
were set aside for those of Nujeem-ad-Dowlah.
The new nabob consented to everything de-
manded of him: agreed to entrust the mili-
tary defence of the country solely to the
Iinglish, and even to allow of the appoint-
ment, by the presidency, of a person who,
under the title of Naib Subah, should have
the entire management of the affairs of gov-
ernment.
nation of Nuncomar to fill this important

—( Vide Scrafton’s Observations on Vansittart's Nar-
rative, printed in 1768, pp. 38-9.)

+ Clive's speech, 1772 ;—Almon's Debales, xiv.

1 Serafton’s Observations, pp. 48-'9.

§ See preceding section on Mogul Empire, p. 117,

He eagerly advocated the nomi-
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office, but in vain; and the selection of an
experienced noble, named Mohammed Reza
Khan, was perhaps the best that could have
been made. The other articles of the treaty
were but the confirmation of previous ar-
rangements ; and the whole affair wound up,
as usual, very much to the satisfaction of the
English officials concerned, among nine of
whom the sum of £139,357 was distributed,
besides gifts extorted from leading Indian
functionaries, in all of which the chief share
was monopolised by Mr. Johnstone, the dis-
senting member of council, who had so ve-
hemently deprecated the conduct of the se-
lect committee of 1760, in receiving the
largess of Meer Cossim. The money thus
acquired was not destined to be enjoyed
without a contest; for the curb (so greatly
needed) was at length about to be placed on
the greediness of Bengal officials.

Ever since the deposition of Surajah Dow-
lah, the E. 1. Cy. had been spectators rather
than directors of the conduct of their servants
in Bengal. Clive had quitted their service
with bitterness in his heart and defiance on
his lips; and the example of insubordination,
ambition, and covetousness given by him,
had been closely imitated by men who could
not appreciate the energy and perseverance
which enabled him to swim where they must
sink. The representations of Mr. Vansittart,
the massacre at Patna, and the sharp contest
with Shuja Dowlah following that with
Meer Cossim, seriously alarmed the mass of

* Second Parl. Report on L. I. Cy., 1772.

+ An Irish peerage was, after long delay, obtained
by Clive, who took the title of Baron of Plassy: an
English one, by his own account, might have been
purchased with ease (Zife, ii., 189); but then the
enormous wealth which was to maintain its possessor
on a level, in a pecuniary point of view, with the
high-born aristocracy of Eng&and, rested on a preca-
rious footing. Clive, notwithstanding his extraordi-
nary facility of attributing to himself every possible
perfection, never doubted that his position in society
rested onhis “bags of money and bushels of diamonds”
(ii., 168), rather than on any mere personal qualifi-
cations ; and when urged to exert his influence in
the India House, soon after his return to England,
for some special purpose, in contravention to the
directors, he peremptorily refused, declaring, “my
future power, my future grandeur, all depend upon
the receipt of the jaghire; and I should be a mad-
man to set at defiance those who at present show no
inclination to hurt me.” It must be remembered
that Clive, besides the jaghire, had avowedly realised
between three and four hundred thousand pounds
during his second sojourn in India—a circumstance
that greatly detracts from the effect of the fiery indig-
nation with which, when the right was questioned of
Meer Jaflier to bestow, or his own to accept, the quit-
rent paid by the company, he came forward to save
his “ undoubted property from the worst of foes—

2 R

~

East India proprictors ;—anxiety for their
own mterests, and indignation at the wrongds
heaped on the natives in their name, for the
sole benefit of a few ungovernable servants,
conspired to rouse a strong feeling of the ne-
cessity of forthwith adopting measures cal-
culated to bring about a better state of things.
Stringent orders were dispatched in February,
1764, forbidding the trade in salt, betel-nut,
tobacco, and all other articles whatsoever,
produced and consumed in the country ; *
and in the following May it was directed that

new covenants should be executed by all the

company’s servants (civil and military), bind- |

ing them to “pay over to their employers
all presents received from the natives, which
should exceed 4,000 rupees in value.” The
above orders, and the unsigned covenants,
wereactually lying at Calcutta when the treaty
with the new nabob was made, and the sum
above stated extorted from him. Probably
the directors were not unprepared for dis-
obedience, even of this flagrant character.
The execution of orders so distasteful needed
to be enforced in no common manner; and
reasoning, it would seem, on the ground that
1t was one of those cases in which “the chil-
dren of this world are wiser than the children
of light,” it was suggested that Clive (now a
lord) was of all men the best fitted to root
up the poisonous tree he had planted.y

The inducement was not wanting; for

his jaghire had been called in question; and |
to ensure its continuance for the next ten |

a combination of ungrateful directors” (ii., 229.)
“ Having now,” says Sir John Malcolm, “no choice
between bartering his independence to obtain secu-
rity for his fortune,” Clive commenced hostilities
after the old fashion, sparing neither bold strokes in
the field, nor manceuvres in the closet. Upwards of
£100,000 were employed by him in securing support
by a means then commonly practised, but afterwards
prohibited—viz., that of split votes. He had, how-
ever, some powerful opponents, with the chair-
man, Mr. Sulivan, at their head. This gentleman
and Clive were at one period on intimate terms; but
according to the latter, their seeming good-fellow-
ship had been sheer hypoerisy, since, in reality,
they “all along behaved like shy cocks, though at
times outwardly expressing great regard and friend-
ship for one another.” The issue of the conflict in
London was materially influenced by the critical
state of affairs in Calcutta. The court of proprietors
taok up the matter in the most decided manner.
Clive availed himself of the excitement of the mo-
ment, and besides the confirmation of his jaghire for
ten years, obtained as a condition of his acceptance
of the office of governor and commander-in-chief in
the Bengal Presidency, the expulsion of Mr. Suli-
van from the direction. The four persons asspc:utcd
with him, under the name of a select committee—
Messrs. Sumner, Sykes, Verelst, and Genur_nl (late
Major) Carnac—were all subordinate to his will
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himself or his heirs, he agreed to
véturn to India for a very limited period—
signed covenants to refrain from receiving
any presents by which he became pledged
from mnative princes; and, invested w:@h
almost despotic power, reached Caleutta n
May, 1765. Here he found matters n 2
widely different condition to that which had
caused the E. 1. Cy. so much well-founded
Meer Cossim had been ex-
pelled ; the emperor had thrown himself
upon the English for protection ; and Shuja
Dowlah was so reduced as to be on the eve
of deprecating their wrath by a similar expe-
dient of placing his person at their mercy.
The majority of the reasons for which such
extraordinary powers had been vested in
Clive, in conjunction with a select committee
of four persons devoted to his will, had
therefore ceased to exist; but he persisted
in retaining these powers, and with suffi-
cient reason ; for the task he had to perform,
if conscientiously fulfilled, would have pro-
bably required their exercise. As it was,
he excited a general storm of rage, without
cffecting any permanent good—at least so
far as the civil department of the presidency
was concerned. The general council, in all,
included sixteen persons ; though probably
not half that number assembled at ordinary
meetings. Among them was Mr. John-
stone, who had played so leading a part in
the transactions of the last few years. He
was a person possessed of advantages, in
regard both of ability and connexions, which
rendered him not ill caleulated to do battle
with Clive ; and he serupled not to retort
the severe censures cast upon himself and
his colleagues, by asserting that they had
only followed the example given by the
very man who now lamented, in the most
bombastic language, the “lost fame of the

years to

the first-named had been ignominiously expelled
the company, for signing the violent letter quoted
at p. 294, but subsequently reinstated.

* These sentiments Lord Clive accompanies with
an adjuration which too clearly illustrates the con-
dition of his mind regarding a future state. “ I do
declare,” he writes, by that Great Being who is the
searcher of all hearts, and to whom we must be
accountable if there must be an hereafter, that I am
come out with a mind superior to all corruption.”
Yet at this very time Clive serupled not to employ
his private knowledge of the state of affairs, and of
the increased value of stock likely to result from the
acceptance of the dewannee, to write home directions
incipher (so that, if falling into strange hands, no other
person should benefit by the information), desiring
that every shilling available, or that could be bor-
rowed in his name, should be invested in E. L. stock
“ without loss of a minute.” Mr. Rous (a director)

British nation,” and declared himself to have
“come out with a mind superior to all cor-
ruption,” and a fixed resolution to put
down the exercise of that unworthy prin-
ciple in others.® :

The events of the next twenty months,
though of considerable importance, can be
but briefly narrated here. Immediately
upon his arrival, Lord Clive, aud the two
members of the sclect committee who had
accompanied him from England, without
waiting for their destined colleagues, assumed
the exercise of the whole powers of govern-
ment, civil and military, after administering
to themselves and their secretaries an oath
of secrecy. Mr. Johnstone t made a despe-
rate resistance to the new order of things,
but was at length defeated and compelled to
quit the service. The other members, for
the most part, submitted, though with the
worst possible grace ; and the vacancies were
supplied by Madras officials. The cove-
nants forbidding the acceptance of presents
were signed ; then followed the prohibition of
inland trade by the company’s servants. This
was a more difficult point to carry. Clive
well knew that the salaries given by the
E. I. Cy. were quite insufficient to maintain
the political rank obtained by recent events. T
Poverty and power, side by side with wealth
and weakness, would, as hie himself declared,
offer to the stronger party temptations
“ywhich flesh and blood could not resist.”

With a full appreciation of this state of

affairs, it was a plain duty to press upon |
the directors (as the clear-sighted and up- |

right Sir Thomas Roe had done in the
carly part of the preceding century)§ the
necessity of allotting to each official a liberal
income, which should hold out to all a
reasonable prospect of obtaining a compe-
tency, by legitimate means, within such

and Mr. Walsh acted with promptitude, by proceed-
ing forthwith, though on a Sunday, to obiain the
key of the cipher, which it seems they very imper-
feetly understood.—(See Thornton’s India, i., 492.)

+ Johnstone and hiscolleagues, when vainly pressed
to make over to the company the monies received
from I\'njut:m-n:.l-l)owlah, replied, that when Clive
surrendered the money he had obtained from the
father, they would yield in turn the gifts of the son.

f The salary of a councillor was only £250; the
rent of a very moderate house in Caleutta, £200.

§ « Absolutely prohibit the private trade,” said he,
“for your business will be better done. I know
this is harsh. Men profess they come not for bare
wages. DBut you will take away this plea if you
give great wages, to their content; and then you
know what you part from.” No amount of legiti-
mate emolument will, however, assuage the thirst for
gain inherent in many clever, unprincipled men.




stated term of years as experience had
' proved could be borne by an average Euro-
pean constitution. But Clive,instead of stren-
uously urging a policy so honest and straight-
forward as this, took upon himself to form a |

- fund for the senior officers of the presidency, |
- from the governors downwards, by resolving, |

after consultation only with Mr. Sumner
- and Mr. Verelst, that a monopoly should be

formed of the trade in salt, betel-nut, and |
. tobacco, to be carried on for their exclusive

benefit, with the drawback of a duty to the

company estimated at £160,000 pCr.ammm.

Monopolies are odious things at best: this
' one was of a peculiarly obnoxious and op-

pressive character ; and the directors wisely
- and liberally commanded its immediate
abandonment. The arrangements of Clive
could not, however, be so lightly set aside ;
. and they continued in operation until 1768,
' With regard to Shuja Dowlah, it was
deemed expedient that he should be replaced
in the government of Oude, although a spe-
cific promise had been made that, on pay-
ment of fifty lacs of rupees for the expenses
of the war, real power over the dominions of
his tyrannical vizier should be given to the
emperor, in the event of the English being
triumphant. But this pledge, which had been
needlessly volunteered, was now violated ;
the vizier being deemed (and with reason) a
better protection against Mahratta and
Afghan invasion, on the north-western fron-
tier, than his gentle master. In another mat-
ter the claims of Shah Alum were treated in
an equally arbitrary manner. The arrange-
ments concluded with him by the Calcutta
government were now revised, or, in other
words, set aside by Clive. The emperor was
given to understand, that since it was in-
convenient to put him in possession of the
usurped dominions of Shuja Dowlah (com-
monly called the “nabob-vizier”), the dis-
tricts of Corah and Allahabad (yielding
jointly a revenue of twenty-eight lacs) must
suffice for a royal demesne; and, at the
same time, some large sums of money un-
questionably due from the company to the
indigent monarch, were withheld on the plea
of inability to pay them.* Shah Alum re-
monstrated warmly, but to no purpose: he
was compelled to cancel all past agreements,
and bestow on the company complete posses-
sion of Bengal, Bahar, and Orissa, under the

* Thirty lacs deficit of annual tribute, besides jag-
hires or lands in Bengal now withdrawn, amount-
ing to five lacs and a-half of rupees per ann.— (3ll.)

ENGLISH ASSUME THE DEWANNEE OF. BENGAL—1765.

t Malcolm’s Life of Lord Clive, 111, 125.
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e . o Lher Zonl : |
name of the “ perpetual Dewannee,” clogged |

only by a yearly tribute of twenty-six lacs ,
of rupees. The formal confirmation of the |
English in their various scattered settlements

| throughout the nominal extent of the empire,

was likewise obtained ; nor was the jaghire
of Lord Clive, with reversion to his em-

' ployers, forgotten in the arrangement. As

a precautionary measure against the French
(who, by virtue of a recent Furopean treaty,
had been reinstated in their Bengal settle-
ments, with the proviso of neither erecting
fortifications nor maintaining troops), it was
deemed expedient to obtain from the emperor
a free grant of the five Northern Circars,
over which Nizam Ali, the brother and suc-
cessor (by usurpation and murder) of Sala-
but Jung, then exercised a very precari-
ous authority. In 1760, the Nizam (as
he is commonly called) had proffered these
Circars to the Madras government in re-
turn for co-operation against the Mahrattas
and Hyder Ali; but his overtures were re-
Jected, because the forces required could
not be spared. In 1766, an arrangement
was brought about by dint of no small
amount of bribery and intrigue, by which
four of the Circars were surrendered, and
the reversion of the fifth, or Guntoor Circar,
which was held by a brother of the Nizam,
Bassalut Jung, was promised to the com-
pany, on condition of the payment of a rent
of nine lacs of rupees, together with a most
imprudent pledge to furnish a body of troops
whenever the Nizam might require their
aid in the maintenance of his government.
The imperial firmaun, of which the chief
articles have been just recited, took away
the scanty remains of power vested by the
Bengal presidency in Nujeem-ad-Dowlah.
The weak and dissolute character of this
youth rendered him an easy tool; and when
informed by Clive that every species of
control was about to pass from him, and
that a stipend of fifty-three lacs would be
allotted for the family of Meer Jaffier, out
of which a certain sum would be placed at
his disposal, this worthy prince uttered a
thankful ejaculation, adding, ““ I shall now
have as many dancing-girls as I please.”f

A leading feature in the second adminis-
tration of Clive remains to be noted—one
of the most important, as well as the most
interesting in his remarkable career. The
other “reforms” effected by him were no-
thing better than a change of evils; but, in
checking the spirit of insubordination and
rapacity which pervaded the whole Anglo-
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Indien army, he served both the company
and the state well and bravely. Clive was
essentially a military genius :* he scrupled
not to declare in after-times, that all he
had in the world had been acquired as the
leader of an army ; and when questioned re-
garding the very exceptionable trading regu-
Jations instituted under his auspices, he de-
clared, with regard to an article under notice,
that “of cotton he knew no more than the
pope of Rome.” He might ha\-'e.plcnded
equal ignorance of the state of the immense
native population of Bengal. But the con-
dition of the troops was a subject he would
naturally study con amore. Dissension,
Juxury, and profligacy, attended with alarm-
ing mortality, had immediately resulted from
the large booty divided at Geriah under the
auspices of himself and Admiral Watson.
Since then excessive and extortionate gain,
under pretence of trading, had become the
predominant evil ; and the severity of Major
Munro, though it might for a time checls,
by the influence of terror, the insubordina-
tion of the sepoys, or even that of the Euro-
pean rank and file, left untouched the root
of the evil—namely, the eagerness of the
officers in the pursuit of trade, at the ex-
pense of professional duty. Now, Clive was
the last person in the world to expect men to
be content with honourable poverty, when
they might acquire wealth without the cost
of toil, or the stigma of indelible disgrace
attached to certain heinous erimes; and this
circumstance, together with not unnatural
partiality, induced him to take measures
for the introduction of a better system
among the military servants of the com-
pany, with far more gentleness than he
had evinced in dealing with the civilians.
The officers were to be compelled to re-
nounce all trading pursuits: this was the
first reform to be carried out by Clive ; the
second was the final and uncompensated
withdrawal of an extra allowance, called
batta, given since an early period, but now
to be abolished, excepting at some par-

* In Chatham’s words, “a heaven-born general.”

+ !’revious to the capture of Calcutta hy Surajah
Dowlah, the Bengal establishment consisted of one

| small company of artillery, about sixty European

infantry (including officers), and 300 Portuguese
half-caste, called topasses; out of the above, three
captaing, five lieutenants, and four ensigns perished
in the Biack-Hole. On the recapture of Calcutta, a
battalion of sepoys was raised and officered from the
detachments which had been sent from Madras to the
relief of Fort William ; and others were subsequently
formed in like manner; until, at Plassy, in 1757, the
British force comprised 3,000 sepoys. Tn 1760 there

ticular stations where, on account of the
dearness of articles necessary to Huro-
peans, it was to be either wholly or par-
tially continued. The allowance originally
granted by the company had been doubled
by Meer Jaffier, who, at the instigation
of Clive, paid the additional sum out of
his own pocket, besides the regular ex-
pense of the English troops engaged in
his service, but ostensibly as a boon revo-
cable at pleasure. Iis successor, Meer
Cossim Ali, made over to the company the
districts of Burdwan, Midnapoor, and Chit-
tagong, in lieu of certain monthly payments ;
and although the revenues of these terri-
tories more than covered the cost of the
army, including the double batia, the direc-
tors, considering the large profits of their
servants and their own necessities, strin-
gently ordered the discontinuance of this
allowance. Their repeated injunctions, the
civil government, overawed by the mili-
tary, had never dared to enforce; and even
Clive did not bring forward the question of
double batta until the restoration of peace
had enabled him to remodel the army by
forming it into regiments and brigades, with
an increased number of field-officers.+ These
improvements were effected without opposi-
tion, and the prohibition of officers receiving
perquisites, or engaging in certain branches
of trade, was compensated in Clive’s plan by
allowing them a liberal share in the mono-
poly of salt, betel-nut, and tobacco. The
proportions to be received by the senior ser-
vants of the company, independent of their
fixed salaries, according to the lowest calcu-
lation, were £7,000 sterling per annum to a
councillor or colonel, £3,000 to a lieutenant-
colonel, £2,000 to a major or factor. Some
scanty amends for the shameless oppression
of taxing the natives thus heavily, was made
by placing the management of the trade in
their hands instead of under the guidance
of European agents; but even this measure
was adopted from the purely selfish motive
of saving expense.f
were sixty European officers, viz.—nineteen captains,
twenty-six licutenants, and fifteen ensigns. In 1763,
Clive found the amount raised to four companies of
artillery, a troop of hussars, about 1,200 regular
cavalry, twenty-four companies of European infantry,
and nineteen battalions or regiments of sepoys—in
all, about 20,000 men—whom he divided into three
brigades, each comprising one European regiment,
one company of artillery, six regiments of sepoys,
and one troop of native cavalry. The brigades were
respectively stationed at Monghyr, Bankipoor (near
Patna),and Allahabad.—(Strachey’s Bengal Mutiny.)
{ Even Clive admitted that by his arrangement the
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As yet all had proceeded smoothly, so
far as the military were concerned, and
Clive, with his usual self-reliance, consider-
ing the time at length arrived when the
double batta might be safely abolished, with-
drew it at the close of the year 1765. The
remonstrances of the officers were treated
as the idle complaints of disappointed men,
and several months passed without any
apprehension arising of serious consequences,
until towards the end of April a misunder-
standing among the parties concerned sud-
denly revealed the existence of a powerful
and organised combination,* formed by the
majority of the leading commanders, aided
and abetted by many influential civilians,
to compel the restoration of the extra al-
lowances. It was a great and formidable
emergency, but “Frangas non flectes” had
been ever the motto of Clive, and now, re-
jecting all temporising measures, or idea of
a compromise, he came forward with a deep
conviction of the danger with which the pre-
cedent of military dictation would be fraught,
and a firm resolve to subdue the mutiny or
perish in the attempt. And there was real
danger in the case ; for his imperious bearing,
| combined with the unpopular regulations he
came to enforce, had rendered him an object
of strong personal ill-feeling to many in-
dividuals of note; yet, when told of threats
against his life, alleged to have been uttered
by one of the officers, he treated the report
as an unworthy calumny, declaring that the
mutineers were “ Englishmen, not assassins.”
The dauntless courage which had distin-
guished the youthful defender of Arcot again
found ample 'scope for exertion: it was no
longer the over-dressed baron of Plassy +—
the successful candidate for power and pelf—

price of salt had been made too high for the natives,
and the profit to the monopolists unreasonably large.
—(Malcolm’s Life of Lord Clive, iii., 259.)

* From the month of December, 1763, consulta-
tions had been held and committees formed un-
der the veil of Masonic lodges, and no less than 200
officers pledged themselves to resign their commis-
sions on 1st of June, 1766, but agreed to proffer their
services for another fortnight, by the expiration of
which time it was expected the extensive defection
would compel Clive to consent to the restoration of
tne double batta. In the event of capital punish-
ment being decreed by courts-martial, they swore to

revent the execution of any comrade at the cost of
Fifu; and each one signed a penalty bond of £500
not to re-accept his commission if offered, unless
the object of the confederacy were gained.

+ Like most biographers, Sir John Malcolm and
his coadjutors have endeavoured to set forth the
character of their hero in the most favourable light,
and by this means have drawn a picture which every

the head of the then generally detested class of

Anglo-Indian “nabobs,”—but plain Robert

Clive, who now, in the full vigour of man-

hood, his heavy, overhanging brow express-

g more foreibly than words a stern pur-

pose, set forth, not in the palanquin of the

governor, but, soldier-like, on horseback, to |
face the disaffected troops. There were still |
some few officers on whom reliance could be

placed ; others were summoned from Madras

and Bombay: commissions were liberally |
scattered throughout the ranks; the services
of civilians were used to supply vacancies;
and increase of pay, for a fixed period, was
promised to the common soldiers, whom the
officers, to their credit, had made no attempt
to corrupt. The danger was in some sort
increased by a threatened incursion of the
Mahrattas, under their chief minister, the
peishwa Mahdoo Rao; yet, on the other
hand, this very circumstance aroused in the
breasts of many of the malcontents a feeling
of shame at the thought of deserting their
colours in the face of the foe. The Monghyr
brigade, under Sir Robert Fletcher, was the
one in which the determination to resign had
been most general; and Clive, after a long
harangue, perceiving indications of a dis-
position to resist his orders, took advantage
of the steady obedience of the sepoys, by
directing them to fire on the officers unless

mission followed ; courts-martial were held,
and many of the delinquents cashiered: among
others Sir Robert Fletcher, the head of the
Monghyr brigade, who, although active in
subduing the confederacy, was found to have
been gravely implicated in its formation.
No blood was shed in these proceedings, and

impartial reader must feel to be incomplete and one-
sided.,
own hand is not even hinted at; and there is much
reason to believe the same partiality to have chiefly
guided the selection of
Nevertheless, a very amusing one has crept in, ad-
dressed by Clive to his intimate friend and agent, Orme
the historian, filled with commissions as numerous
and minute in detail as any ever received by a London
lady of fashion from a country cousin. Among the
items, all of which were to be * the best and finest to
be got for love or money,” were 200 shirts, with wrist-
bands and ruffles, worked to order. The dress of
Clive at the durbar (or Oriental levee) was a *fine
scarlet coat with handsome gold lace,” which one of |
his purveyors, Captain Latham, considered preferable |
to “the common wear of velvet.” The thick-set
figure of Clive, arrayed in a scarlet coat lined with
parchment that the cloth might not wrinkle, must |
have presented a strange contrast to the graceful |
forms and picturesque attire of the Indian nobles. I

they dispersed immediately. A general sub-

etters for publication, |

the result proved that such severity would

The termination of the life of Clive by his |

J

|
|
F
|
|
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have involved a needless sacrifice; but the
merit of moderation does not rest with Clive,

wanting to get several of the mutinous ring-
| leaders shot; but his efforts were neutralised
by some wholesome doubts in the minds of the
judges regarding the extent of the company’s
authority. In the words of Sir John Mal-
colm ‘““a misconstruction of the mutiny act
inclined the court-martial o mercy.” It is
asingular ending to the affair, that Sir Robert
Fletcher, after this narrow escape, returned
'to India as commander-in-chief for the
' Madras presidency ; while one John Petrie,
' sent home by Clive with a rope round his
' neck, came back to Bengal with a high civil
appointment, through the influence of his

* The conduct of Clive, in respect to pecuniary
gain, during his second administration, is too im-
portant to be left unnoticed; yet the facts neces-
sary to place it in a clear light, ean be ill given
| within the compass of 2 note. It should be remem-
bered, that by his agreement with the E. L. body, the
famous jaghire was to be continued to him for ten
years, and provided he should survive that period,
was to become the property, not of Meer Jaffier,
but of the company. Now jaghires, by the consti-
tution of the Mogul government, in which they
originated, were simply annuities, given for the most
| part expressly for the support of a military contin-

gent. A jaghire was like an office of state, revo-
cable at pleasure: so far from being hereditary, an
omrah, or lord of the empire, could not even be-
queath his savings without special permission; and
we have seen that the Greet Moguls—Aurungzebe
for instance—never serupled to exercise their claim
as heirs to a deceased noble, leaving to the bereaved
family a very limited maintenance as a matter of
favour. Clive had solicited this jaghire simply to
support his position as an omrah, and had no right
whatever to expect its continuance for the purpose of
building palaces and buying up rotten boroughs in
ingland. The company might therefore well ques-
tion the right of Meer Jaffier to bestow, or of their
powerful servant to accept, as a perpetual jaghire
the quit-rent paid by them for their territory in
Bengal. But the question was altogether a per-
plexed one, inasmuch as Meer Jaffier's claims were
wholly founded on the usurpation which had been
| accomplished by English instrumentality. Shah Alum

’who declared that his endeavours were not
|
|

was the only person who could have rightfully de- |

' manded a quit-rent from the company when bestow-
ing on them the dewannee; but the truth was, that
every advantage was taken of his necessitous posi-

- tion, regardless of the dictates of justice. The con-

firmation of the jaghire to Lord Clive, with rever-

sion to the company in perpetuity, was exacted from
the emperor; and in thus obtaining a boon for his
employers, Clive was far from being uninfluenced by
selfish motives; for, on coming to India, he was dis-
tinetly told that the strict observance of his pledge—
of refraining from every description of irregular gain

—should be acknowledged in & manner which must

satisfy the expectations even of a man who, after a

most extravagant course of expenditure, had still an

mcome of £40,000 a-year. And when, on his return

‘w England, the term of the jaghire was extended

friends the Joknstones. Soon after this dis-
persion of one of the most dangerous storms
which ever menaced the power of the 10 1.
Company, the health of Chve failed rapidly,
and though earnestly solicited to continue
at least another year, and apparently not
unwilling to do so, bodily infirmity prevailed,
and he quitted Bengal for the third and last
time in January, 1767. Shortly before his
departure, the young mnabob, Nujeem-ad-
Dowlah, died of fever, and his brother Syef-
ad-Dowlah was permitted to succeed him. In
a political point of view the change was of
less importance than would have been that of
the chief of a factory, but it was advantageous
to the company ina pecuniary sense, as afford-
ing an opportunity for reducing the stipend.*
for ten years, or, in other words, £300,000 were
guaranteed to him or his heirs, Clive had surely
reason to admit that “no man had ever been more
liberally rewarded.” Nevertheless, his administra-
tion, even in a pecuniary point of view, had not been
blameless. On arriving in India, it appeared that
Meer Jaffier had bequeathed to Clive five laes of

rupees, which were in the hands of Munnee Begum, |

the mother of the reigning prince. Whether Meer
Jaffier really left this sum either from friendship to
Clive, or from a desire to propitiate him in favour of
his favourite concubine and children, or whether they
themselves offered a present in the only form in

which he could have any excuse for accepting it, is |

not known; but it was no one’s interest to examine
into the affair, since Clive thought fit to set the
matter at rest by employing the money as a fund
greatly needed for the relief’ of the disabled officers

and soldiers of the Bengal establishment, with their |

widows, and thus laid the foundation of the present
establishment at Poplar. Even, however, in this
case Clive took care of his personal interests, by
mnserting a clause in the deed providing that in case
of the failure of his interest in the jaghire (then only
guaranteed for ten years, of which a considerable
portion had expired), the whole five lacs should
revert to him. He moreover contrived to make
the fund a weapon cf political power, by threatening
to exclude from it all persons whom he might think
“undeserving in any respect soever.”—(iii., 43.)
With regard to the large sums of money avowed!
received by him during his second administration, 1t
certainly appears that he did not apply them to the
increase of his fixed income, but systematically ap-
propriated the overplus of such guins to the benefit
of certain connections and friends (z.e., his nrother-in-
law, Mr. Maskelyne; his physician, Mr. Ingham;
and a Mr. Strachey, his secretary), “as a reward,”
he writes, in his grand-bashaw style, “for their ser-
vices and constant attention upon my person.’—
(iii., 136.) On his arrival in India he at once em-
barked largely in the salt trade, and thereby realised
in nine months a profit, including interest, of forty-
five per cent.; his share in the monopoly of salt,
established in defiance of the repeated orders of the
company, was also greatly beyond that of any indi-
vidual; and it is certain he employed these and
other irregular gains for purely private purposes.
Besides this, he sanctioned the unwarrantable con-
duct of many favoured officers in continuing to re-
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It is hardly necessary to remark that the
Bengal presidency did not assume a loftier
tone of feeling in questions regarding re-
ligion or morality under the auspices of
Lord Clive. The priestly office was not
then deemed inconsistent with mercantile
pursuits ; and the saving of souls gave
place to the engrossing cares of money-
making. As to the general state of society,
Clive’s own account affords abundant evi-
dence of the aptitude with which cadets and
writers, fresh from public schools, or, it may
be from the pure atmosphere of a quiet
home, plunged headlong into a career of
extravagance and notorious profligacy, of
which the least revolting description would
have made their mothers sicken with disgust.
One walk abount Caleutta would, it appears,
suffice to show a stranger that the youngest
writers lived in splendid style, which Lord
Clive explains, by saying ““that they ride upon
fine prancing Arabian horses, and in palan-
quins and chaises; that they keep seraglios,
make entertainments, and treat with cham-
pagne and claret ;’—the certain result being,
to become over head and ears in debt to
the banyan, or native agent, who, for the

ceive presents after they had been required to sign
covenants enjoining their rejection. For instance,
his staunch adherent, General Carnae, after his col-
leagues had executed the covenants, delayed a cer-
tain time, during which he received a present of
70,000 rupees from Bulwant Singh, the Hindoo
rajah of Benares, who joined the English against
Shuja Dowlah; and he appears to have afterwards
obtained permission to appropriate a further sum of
two lacs of rupees, given by the emperor, whose un-
questioned poverty did not shield him from the
extortions of British officers. It has been urged that
Clive made atonement for the doubtful means by
which he acquired his wealth by its liberal distri-
bution ; and the act chiefly insisted upon is the grant
of an annuity of £500 a-year to General Lawrence,
when he left India enfeebled by asthmatic com-
plaints and the increasing infirmities of age, and
returned in honourable poverty to his native land.
Considering that Clive acknowledged that to the
patronage and instructions of Lawrence he owed all
his early success, the extent of the allowance was no
very remarkable evidence of a munificent disposition.
The dowries of three or four thousand pounds each
to his five sisters, with an injunction “to marry as
soon as possible, for they had no time to lose” (ii.,
161), evince a strong desire to get them off his
hands. The princely estates purchased by him, in
various parts of the country, were undisguised mani-
fostations of his ostentatious mode of life: among
them may be named the noble property of Claremont
(obtained from the Duchess of Newcastle), Walcot,
Lord Chatham’s former residence at Bath,and a house
in Berkeley-square. No description of expense was
spared to render these aristocratic dwellings fitting
exponents of the grandeur of the Indian millionnaire ;
and the smaller accessories of picture galleries and

sake of obtaining the cover afforded by the
hare_nnme of a servant of the powerful
English company, supplied the youths with
immense sums of money, and committed
“such acts of violence and oppression as his
mterest prompts him to.”* It may be re-
membered that Clive commenced his own
Indian career by getting into debt; and
there is reason to helieve that for all the
proceedings mentioned by him in the above
quotation, the company’s servants might
have pleaded his lordship’s conduct in ex-
tenuation of their own.t

After the departure of Clive, a select |

committee continued, by his advice, to pre-
side over the affairs of Bengal, the chair of
the governor being filled by Mr. Verelst
until December, 1770. During the admin-
istration of this gentleman and his tempo-
rary successor, Mr. Cartier, no changes
were made in the system of the “double
government:” that is to say, of a sway
carried on in the name of a nabob, but in
reality by English officials. Mill foreibly
describes the utter want of any efficient
system, or of well-known and generally re-
cognised laws, which formed the prevailing

pleasure-grounds did not hinder Clive from carefully
following out his leading object—of obtaining parlia-
mentary influence. Six or seven members were
returned at his expense, and their efforts doubtless
did much to mitigate, though they could not wholly
avert, the storm which burst over his head in 1772.
The decision of the committee employed in examining
his past conduct pronounced, as was fitting, a sen-
tence of mingled praise and condemnation. He bhad
notoriously abused the powers entrusted to him by
the nation and the company; but he had rendered
to both important services. Such a decision was
ill caleulated to soothe the excited feelings of Clive,
whose haughty nature had writhed under proceed-
ings in which he, the Baron of Plassy, had been
« examined like a sheep-stealer.” The use of opium,
to which he had been from early youth addicted,
aggravated the disturbed state of his mind, without
materially alleviating the ‘sufferings of his physical
frame; and he died by his own handin Nov., 1774, hav-
ing newly entered his fiftieth year.—(Malcolm’s Life.)

* Clive’s speech on East Indian Judicature Bill,
March, 1722. —(Hansard's Parl. Hist., 355.)

+ The French translator of the Siyar ul Mutak-
herin (who was in the service of the Bengal presi-
dency and well acquainted with Clive, to whom he
occasionally acted as interpreter) explains a forcible
denunciation by Gholam Hussein, of the conduct of
certain persons who were tempted by the devil to
bring disgrace on families, as an allusion to the
violation of all decorum committed by Meer Jaffier,
in giving to Clive “ten handsome women out of his
seraglio—that is, out of Surajah Dowlah’s.” Had the
donation been conferred on a good Mussulman, in-
stead of a disbeliever in the Koran, the sin would, it
seems, have been thereby greatly diminished. —(Siyar
wl Mutakherin, 1., 722




" through his aggressive policy.

308

feature of this period. The native tribunals
retained scarce the shadow of authority ; the
trade of the country was almost ruined by
the oppressions committed on the people; and
' the monopoly of the inland traffic in salt,
betel-nut, and tobacco, when at length un-
willingly relinquished by the English offi-
cials, did not prove the relief to the Bengalee
merchants that might have been expected,
owing to the heavy pressure of tyranny and
extortion to which they were subjected. In
fact, there were so many channels by which
he natives could be wronged and the com-
pany plundered, that closing up one or two
might change the direction of the flood, but
could not diminish its volume. Clive was
naturally unwilling to acknowledge how

| much of the task for which he had been

munificently rewarded had been left unful-
filled; and it was not till after long and
bitter experience that the B. I. Cy. learned
to appreciate, at their proper value, his ex-
aggerated account of the revenues® obtained
And here it
may be well to pause and cousider for a
moment the nature of our position In

| Bengal, and, indeed, in the whole of the
' south of India.

The insatiable ambition
of Aurungzebe had urged him onwards

| without ceasing, until every Mohammedan

kingdom in the Deccan had become absorbed
in the Mogul empire. The impolicy of this
procedure has been before remarked on. The
tottering base forbade the extension of an
already too weighty superstructure ; but the
emperor persevered to the last. Beejapoor
and Golconda fell before him, and the gov-

| ernments established by their usurping dynas-
" ties were swept off by a conqueror who had

time to destroy institutions, but not to replace
them. The result was the rapid rise of the
many-headed Mahrattapower,and the equally
rapid decay of Mogul supremacy, even
while Aurungzebe, his sons, grandsons, and
great-grandsons were all in arms together
for its support. The death of the emperor,
well nigh hunted down by the foes who
from despising he had learned to hate,
followed as i1t was by repeated wars of

* In addressing the House of Commons, in 1772,
Clive described Bengal as “a country containing fif-
teen millions of inhabitants, a revenue of £4,000,000,
an.d t_rﬂde in proportion.” The extreme distress then
existing he treated as a temporary effect of dissen-
sions in the company at home, and misgovernment
in India, dating of course from his departure; and
he spoke of the venality that prevailed, equally
among high and low, with a bold assumption of dis-
interestedness, deelaring, *“ that in the richest ccuntry

INDIA IN THE MIDDLE OF THE REIGHTEENTH CENTURY.

succession and intestine feuds, reduced his
descendants, step by step, until their last
representative, Shah Alum, became nothing
better than the pageant of every successful
party. The disastrous battle of Paniput
(1761) left the Mahratta state thoroughly
unhinged, and, together with internal strife,
incapacitated its rulers for assuming that
dominant position in India under which
such men as Sevajee, Bajee Rao, or the first
peishwa, Maharashtra, would doubtless have
aspired. In fact, India in the middle of
the eighteenth century, resembled, in a poli-
tical point of view, a vast battle-field strewn
with the fragments of ruined states, and
affording on every side abundant evidence
of a prolonged and severe conflict, from
which even the victors had emerged irre-
trievably injured. In the Deccan this was
especially the case; and the only relics of
legitimate power vested with a few small
Hindoo states (Tanjore, Mysoor, Coorg,
&c.), whose physical position or insignifi-
cance had enabled them to retain inde-
pendence amid the general crash of mon-
archies. The representatives of the E. I. Cy.
in India understood the state of affairs, but
very imperfectly : it appears that, in 1756,
they did not even clearly know who Ballajee
Bajee Rao (the actual ruler of the Mahratta
state) might be; but at the same time, they
had been too long anxious spectators of the
proceedings of Aurungzebe and his succes-
sors, to be ignorant of the thoroughly dis-
organised state of the empire. The suc-
cessful manceuvres of Dupleix and Bussy
must have sufficed to remove any lingering
doubt on the subject; while the jealousy of
the two nations in Europe rendered it evi-
dent, that in the absence of a native power
(Mussulman or Hindoo) sufficiently strong
to compel their neutrality, a contest for
supremacy must, sooner or later, take place
between the French and English, especially
as the former had all along assumed poli-
tical pretensions ill at variance with the
peaceful pursuits of trade. Without enter-
ing on the difficult question of the general
proceedings of the Lnglish company, far

in the world, where the power of the English had
become absolute, where no inferior approached his
superior but with a present in his hand, where there
was not an officer commanding H.M. fleet, nor an
officer commanding H.M. army, ner a governor, nor
a member of couneil, nor any other persdn, civil or
military, in such a station as to have connection with
the country government who had not received pre-
sents, it was not to be expected the inferior officers

should be more scrupulous.”—Almon’s Debates, 1772.




less attempting to vindicate the special ag-

' population knew, to their cost, that all real

FIRST PARLIAMENTARY INTERFERENCE WITH

gressions and tricky policy of Clive and his
successors, it seems, nevertheless, of absolute
necessity to bear in mind the hopeless com-
plication of affairs through which Anglo-
Indian statesmen had to grope their way at
this eritical period ; nor do I feel any incon-
sistency, after employing the best years of
my life in pleading—faintly and feebly, but
most earnestly—the rights of native British
subjects (made such by the sword), in avow-
ing, in the present instance, my conviction,
that having once taken a decided course b y the
deposition of Surajah Dowlal, it would have
been better to have assumed at onceall power,
in name as in reality, over Bengal, and given
the natives the benefits they were entitled
to expect under a Christian government,
stead of mocking their hopes by placing
on the musnud a Mussulman usurper of
mfamous character,—deposing, reinstating,
and after his death continuing the pretence
i the person of his illegitimate son. Such
an unworthy subterfuge could answer no
good purpose; it could deceive no one—
certainly not the European governments of
Spain, Portugal, Holland, and France;
for they were severally experienced actors
in the theatre of oriental policy. The native

authority was now vested in the English
presidency ; but its members were far too
eagerly employed in gathering up spoil for
themselves, to heed the criesof the poor in
Bengal, or the remonstrances of the com-
pany in England. The consequence was,
the “middle-men” reaped an abundant har-
vest, heedless of the ruinous effects of their
negligence and venality alike on those they
served and those they governed. The direc-
tors in London, buoyed up by the represen-
tations of Clive, and the flattering promises
of their servants abroad, augmented their
dividends, fully expecting to find this step
justified by largely increasing remittances
from India. On the contrary, the anarchy
which prevailed, and the additional expenses
of every department of government, with the
abuses that crept in,* swallowed up the di-
minishing revenues; and though every ship
brought home individuals who had amassed
wealth as if by magic, yet heavy bills con-
tinued to be drawn on the company; the

* Clive, in allusion to the charges of contractors,
commissioners, engineers, &c., said—**Everyman now
who is permitted to make a bill, makes a fortune.”
During his own administration, he found soldiers
charged for in the hospital-list, whose funeral ex-
penses had been long paid. —( Life, iil., 137—288.)

i~

1 bullion sent for the China trade was wholly,

: B i s VLT, |
E. I CY.—1766 809

or in part, appropriated ;
ments continued to diminish alike in quantity
and quality. The British government had
before set forth a claim to control both
the revenues and territorial arrangements
of India. The subject was warmly con-
tested in parliament; and in 1767, a bill
passed obliging the B. I. Cy. to pay the
sum  of  £400,000 per annum into the
public treasury,t during the five years for
which alone their exclusive privileges were
formally extended. In 1769, a new term of

and the invest-

five years was granted, on the same con-
dition as that above stated, with the addi-
tional stipulation of annually exporting Bri-
tish manufactures to the amount of £300,000
and upwards. The directors, in the following
year (1770), declared a dividend at the rate
of twelve percent ; but this improvident pro-
cedure was taken in the face of a failing reve-
nue and an increasing debt. In the Carnatic, ‘
the ill-advised pledge of co-operation withs
the Nizam had brought the Madras presi-
dency in collision with Hyder Ali; and in
Bengal, affairs grew more and more involved,
until the necessity for a change of policy |
became evident to save the country from
ruin_and the company from bankruptey.
Mr. Vansittart (the ex-governor), Mr. Scraf-
ton, and Colonel Forde, were sent out in
1769, to investigate and arrange the business
of the three presidencies: but this measure |
proved of no effect; for the Aurora frigate, |
in which they sailed, after doubling the Cape
of Good Hope, was never more heard of, and
probably foundered at sea.

The loss of Mr. Vansittart was a new
disaster to the native population of Bengal,
since he well knew the ruinous condition to
which they had been reduced by the baneful
influence of the monopolies so cruelly en-
forced by his countrymen; and notwith-
standing the perverse proceedings of Clive,
and his adherents in the E. I. House in
associating with him as fellow-commis-
sioner his sworn foe, Luke Scrafton, still
some comprehensive measure might have
been expected to have been devised by a
man generally considered kind-heartcd,.to
relieve the overwhelming misery in which
he would .have found the native population
involved, had he been permitted to reach

t The E. L. Cy. themselves proposed to purchase
the extension of their privileges by suffering the
public to participate in the territorial acquisitions
gained with the aid of the army and navy. The
government interfered (ostensibly at least) to check
the simulteneous increase of debt and dividend.

— ]
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AWEFUL FAMINE IN BENGAL—a.p. 1769-70.

Calcutta in safety. The miseries of a land
long a prey to oppression and misgovern-
ment, had been brought to their climax by
drought. The rice crops of December,
1768, and August, 1769, were both scanty,
and the absence of the heavy periodical
rains, usual in October, produeed an almost
total failure of the harvest earnestly desired
in the following December. The inferior
crops of grain and pulse ordinarily reaped
between February and April, were dried to
powder by the intense heat, and Bengal, for-
merly the granary of India, became the scene
of one of the most awful famines on record.
Not merely whole families, but even the
inhabitants of eutire villages were swept off
by this devastating scourge.* The bark and
leaves of trees were eagerly devoured by
thousands of starving wretches, who there-
with strove—too often in vain—to appease
the gnawing pangs of hunger, happy if
their sufferings did not goad them to seek
relief by more unnatural and loathsome
‘means; for the last horrors that marked
the siege of the Holy City were not want-
ing here; the child fed on its dead parent,
the mother on her offspring. The people
thronged the towns in the hope of obtaining
succour, the highways were strewed with the
corpses of those who had perished by the
way, and the streets of Moorshedabad and
Calcutta were blocked up with the dying
and the dead. Day after day the Hooghly
rolled down a pestilential freight of morta-
lity, depositing loathsome heaps near to the
porticoes and gardens of the English resi-
dents. For a time a set of persons were
regularly employed in removing the ra-
pidly accumulating masses from the public
thoroughfares; but the melancholy office
proved fatal to all employed in it: exposure
to the effluvia was certain death ; and during
the worst period, dogs, vultures, and jackals
were the only scavengers. The hot, un-
wholesome air was filled with shrieks and

* The anonymous but well-informed author of
English Transactions in the East Indies, published
at Cambridge in 1776, states, that the duty laid by
Clive on salt was thirty-five per cent.; the previous
tax, even under the monopolies established by Mo-
hammedan nabobs, having been only two-and-a-half.
He adds, that the five gentlemen who signed resolu-
tions regarding trading monopolies in India, to levy
taxes upon necessaries of more than one-third their
value, instead of the fortieth penny with which they
were before charged, were all, on their return to Eng-
]_and, cho§en as members of parliament to co-nperaie
in arranging the national assessments.—(143.

t Vide Siyar ul Mutakherin, ii., 438. Hamilton’s
Gazetteer, i, 214. Macaulay’s Clive, 83.

lamentations, amidst which arose the voices
of tender and delicate women, nurtured in
all the refinements of oriental seclusion,
who now came forth unveiled, and on their
knees besought a handful of rice for them- |
selves and their children.t

Large subscriptions were raised by the
presidency, the native government, and in-
dividuals of all ranks and countries. In
Moorshedabad alone, 7,000 persons were |
fed daily for several months; and fearful |
scenes, volving the destruction of large
numbers of the weak and the aged, took |
place at these distributions, from the fierce |
struggles of the famished multitudes. Of
the total amount of life destroyed by this
calamity, no trustworthy estimate has ever |
been given. M. Hastings—perhaps the
best authority—supposes Bengal and Bahar |
to have lost no less than half their inhabit-
ants : other writers state the depopulation
at one-third; and even the lowest calcula-
tions place the loss at three million of |
human beings—or one-fifth the inhabitants |
of the three provinces (including Orissa.) F

The question of how far the Bengal au- |
thorities were to blame for this calamity, was |
warmly discussed in England. Their ac-
cusers went the length of attributing it
wholly to a monopoly of rice by them; but
this was so far from being the case, that,
with the exception of the necessary measure |
of storing a sufficient quantity (60,000
maunds) for the use of the army, all trading
in grain was strictly forbidden by an order
of council in September, 1769. If, as was
asserted, certain functionaries did —as is
very possible, in defiance of prohibitions, |
enunciated but not enforced§—make enor-
mous profits of hoards previously accumu- |
lated, these were but exceptional cases; and |
it may be added (without any attempt to |
exculpate those who, in the face of misery
so extreme, could bargain coolly for exorbi-
tant gains), that the reason for regret was

t Gleig's Life of Warren Hastings, i., 309. Mal- |
colm’s Clive, 11i., 263. Grant's Skefeh, 319. i
§ The author of English Transactions, recently |
quoted, concurs with many writers of the period in as- |
serting, that some of the company’s agents, finding
themselves conveniently situated for the collection
of rice in stores, did buy up large guantities, which |
they so managed as to increase immensely the sell- |
ing price to the people, for their private gain (p. 143);
and Dr. Moodie, in his Zransactions in India (pub-
lished anonymously in London in 1776, but of
which a copy bearing his name, with many MS. ad-
ditions, is in the possession of the E. I. Cy.), men-
tions the case of a needy English functionary at the
court of the nabob, who made £60.000 in a few months.

|




not that some few persons had had the

forcthnught to make provision for the day of

waut, but that a policy of evident necessity

should have been neglected by the rulers of a

population mainly dependent for subsistence
- on so precarious a staple as rice. The true
- cause of complaint against the Bengal

presidency—and it is a heavy one—rests on

the systematic oppression and utter mis-

government which their own records reveal
- as having existed, despite the orders of the
- directors in England. These again, deceived
by the gross exaggerations of Clive, looked
upon Bengal as a fountain fed by unseen
springs, from which wealth, to an immense
extent, might be perpetually drawn, without
the return of any considerable proportion to
the country from whence it was derived.
Clive, during his second administration, had
promised the company a net income from
Bengal of £2,000,000 per annum, exclusive
of all civil or military disbursements; and
he declared in parliament, in 1772, that
India continued to yield “a clear produce
to the publie, and to individuals, of between
two and three million sterling per annum.”*
It is certain that the Bengal investment
of 1771, amounting in goods alone to
£768,500, was “ wholly purchased with the
- revenues of the country, and without im-

porting a single ounce of silver’t—a fact
. which abundantly confirms the declaration of
Hastings,—that the sufferings of the people,
during the famine, were increased by the

® Malcolm’s Life of Clive, iii., 287.

+ Verelst's State of Bengal, see pp. 81—83.

1 Gleig's Life of Warren Hastings, i., 310.

§ A cotemporary English writer, reviewing the evi-
dence given before parliament in 1772, remarks, that
from 1757 to 1771, it is acknowledged or proved,
that the E. I. Cy. and their servants received be-
tween twenty-nine and thirty millions sterling from
Indian princes and their subjects, besides a sum not
known, arising from trading monopolies.—(Parker’s
Frvidence, 281.) Of the amount above stated, the
company received nearly twenty-four million, and
their servants upwards of five-and-a-half as presents,
which were, however, but one form of what Clive
termed the “long track of frauds under the custo-
mary disguise of perquisites,” which annually brought
lacs to junior servants whose salaries were mere
pittances.—(Life of Clive, iii., 84 ; Life of Hastings,
1, 300.) No estimate could be formed of the for-
tunes thus accumulated, because the prohibition of
the directors to send remittances home, exceeding a
| certain limited amount, by bills drawn on them in
England, led Clive and the whale body of officials
who, at a humble distance, followed in his footsteps,
to invest their wealth in the purchase of dismonds,
or to transmit vast sums through the medium of the
Dutch and French companies, by which means these

inferior settlements had money in abundance, while
i the investments at Calcutta were often procured by

DISTRESS OF BENGAL AGGRAVATED BY INSUFF]CIEN

TCURRENCYJHlE

violent measures adopted to keep up the
revenues, especially by an assessment termed

na-jay, “atax (in a word) upon the surviyors,

to make up the deficiencies of the dead.”t

Besides this, when the immense and abso.
lutely incalculable amount of specie ex-
ported, from the time of the deposition of
_Sur:ga}n Dowlah to the epoch of the famine,
1s considered in connexion with the notorious
deficiency of the circulating medium, and
the abuses and erroneous policy connected
with the coinage,§ it is easy to understand
how fearfully scarcity of money must have
aggravated the evils of failing harvests ; and
how, when rice rose from a standard of
price (already permanently augmented
under British supremacy to four, six, and
even ten times the usual rate), it became of
little importance to the penniless multitudes
whether it might or might not be purchased
for a certain sum, when all they had in the
world fell short of the market value of a
single meal. In England, the rates of labour
are always more or less influenced by the
price of provisions; but when the Bencal
merchants endeavoured to raise the manu-
facturing standard, their attempts were
soon forcibly put down by the local authori-
ties, who well knew that Indian goods,
purchased at a premium consistent even
with a Bengalee’s humble notion of a “ fair
day’s wages for a fair day’s work,” would
not, when sold in the European markets,
indemnify the company for prime cost, for
loans, of which eight per cent. was the lowest interest
taken for a long series of years. Among the charges
brought against Clive, when examined before parlia-
ment in 1772, were frauds in the exchange and the
gold coinage. According to Ferishta, no silver coin
was used in India as late as A.D. 1311 ; and Colonel
Briggs, in commenting on this passage, rema_rk.-_‘.-, that
up to a very late period, the chief current coin in the
south of India was a small gold fanam, worth about
sixpence.—(i., 375.) Since then, however, gold hav-
ing been entirely superseded by silver, measures were
instituted to bring the former again into circula-
tion; and on the new coinage Clive received a heavy
per-centage, as governor. The ill-fated bankers—
Juggut Seit and his brother—had introduced a tax
on the silver currency during the short reign of
Surajah Dowlah, which the English very improperly
adopted. 1t consisted in issuing coins called sicca
rupees, every year, at five 1imr3>._' Lhuzrlm-_m:u_\-ulu_t-,
and insisting on the revenues being paid in this coin
only, during the period of its arbitrary value—that
is, during the year of coinage. ln three years it
sank to the actual value of the silver; but its pos-
sessor, on payment of three per cent,, might have 1t
recoined into a new sicea rupee of the original exag-
gerated value. Vide Dow’s account of this ingenious
method of yearly “ robbing the public of three per
cent. upon the greater part_of their cur‘l'ent specie.

— (History of Hindoostan, 1., Introduetion, p. exlvii.)
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E.I Cy. ON THE VERGE OF

BANKRUPTCY IN 1772.

duties and other expenses, exclusive of the
profit, which is the origitmh'ng motive of all
commercial associations. Now, it 1s a well-
known fact, that many men who, in their
private capacity, would sooner face ruin than
inflict it on the innocent, will, as members
of a senate or corporation (under the influ-
ence of a vague notion of state-necessity or
the good of proprietors, whose interests it is
their acknowledged duty to consult), insti-
tute proceedingws of a character utterly
opposed to the simple principles of action
which guide them in the daily intercourse
of domestic life. Flagrant wrong they
shrink from with unaffected disgust; but
still there are few men who do not, with
strange inconsistency, manifest by their
practice that public affairs require a constant
sacrifice of integrity to expediency, which
once admitted as justifiable in their private
career, must inevitably destroy the mutual
confidence which forms the basis of that
distinguishing national characteristic—an
English home. The ignorance of the L. I.
Cy. of the actual state of aflairs (in great
measure the result of the newness of their
position), was doubtless the leading cause of
their suffering the continuance of many un-
questionably faulty practices, from the diffi-
culty of providing efficient substitutes. The
course of events was well fitted to teach
them the great lesson—that there is no
course so dangerous to rulers as a persis-
tance in tyranny and misgovernment. The
misery of the mass, aggravated by the
shameless extortions of Enghsh function-
aries, necessitated a large increase of mili-
tary expenses :* taxes were literally enforced
at the point of the bayonet; ‘bur-jaut,” or
the compulsory sale of articles at less than
their actual cost, became a notorious prac-
tice ; and, simultaneous with these iniquitous
proceedings in India, were the pecuniary
mvolvements of the company in London;
and, what was yet more disgraceful, the
fierce strife between the proprietors and
directors, and again between both these and
his majesty’s ministers.

While the sums obtained from Meer
Jaffier and Cossim Ali were in process of
payment, the affairs of the company went
on smoothly enough : annual supplies were
furnished for the China trade, and likewise
for the Madras presidency (which was always
in difficulties, notwithstanding the various

* Dow asserts, that “seven entire battalions were
added to our military establishment to enforce the
collections.”—(Hindoostan, i., cxxxix.)

sums obtained from Mohammed Alj, the!
nabob of Arcot), while five lacs or more were |
vearly drawn by the Bombay presidency.f
The dividend of the B. 1. Cy., from Christ-
mas, 1766, to Midsummer, 1772, averaged
eleven per cent. per annum ; during the last-
named year it had reached twelve-and-a-
half per cent., and this notwithstanding the
stipulated payment to government of
£100,000, in return for the continuance of
the charter. Meantime the bouded debt of
Bengal increased from £612,628, in 1771,
to £1,700,000, in 1772 ; and the company,
though most unwillingly, were obliged to
throw themselves upon the mercy of the
ministry (of which the Duke of Grafton and
[.ord North were at the head), and confess
their utter inability to furnish their annual
quota ; and further, their necessity of soli-
citing from the Bank of England a loan of
above a million sterling to carry on the
commercial transactions of the ensuing
season.

T'he government, thus directly appealed
to, had ample grounds for instituting an in-
quiry into the condition of an association
which, notwithstanding its immense trading
and territorial revenues, had again become
reduced to the verge of bankruptey. It
was argued, that the bitter complaints of
venality and mismanagement, freely recipro-
cated by the directors and the servants of
the company, were, on both sides, founded
in truth. Moreover, the representations
made on behalf of Mohammed Ali by his
agents, particularly Mr. (afterwards Sir
Johnj Macpherson, had considerable effect,
not only generally in producing an un-
favourable opinion of the dealings of the

=T

E. 1. Cy. with Indian princes, but specially
by inducing the sending to Arcot of a royal
ambassador, Sir John Lindsay, and sub-
sequently of Sir Robert Harland, between
both of whom and the loecal government the
most open hostility existed. These

pro- |

ceedings have had too little permanent |
effect to need being detailed at length, bat |

they illustrate the state of feeling which

led to the parliamentary investigations of |

1772, and resulted in the first direct con-
nexion of the ministry with the management
of Kast Indian affairs, by the measure com-
monly known as the Regulating Aet of 1773.
A loan was granted to the company of
£1,100,000 1n exchequer bills,T and various

T Original Papers, sent from India and published
in England by Governor Vansittart.—(ii., 74.)

{ I'ne conditions of the loan were, that the sur- |




“REGULATING ACT” FOR INDIAN GOVERNMENT—1773.

distinet provisions were made to amend the
constitution of that body, both at home
and abroad, and to ameliorate the condition
of the native population newly brought
under their sway. A governor-general
(Warren Hastings) was nominated to preside
over Bengal, and to some extent control the
presidencies of Madras, Bombay, and Ben-
coolen (in Sumatra) ; the number of coun-
sellors was reduced to four; and these,
together with the governor-general, were
appointed for five years :* the old Mayor’s
Court at Calcutta was sct aside, and a Su-
preme Court of judicature, composed of a
chief justice and three puisne judges (all
English barristers) established in its place,
and invested with civil, criminal, admiralty,
and ecclesiastical jurisdiction over all British
subjectst resident in the three provinces
(Bengal, Bahar, and Orissa) ; but the gov-
ernoc-general and members of council
were exempted, unless indicted for treason
or felony. Europeans were strictly for-
bidden to enter into the inland traffic in
salt, betel-nut, tobacco, and rice; and the

. governors, counsellors, judges, and revenue-

| whatever.

collectors, were rigidly prohibited all trade
Not only the covenanted ser-
vants of the company, but also the civil and
military officers of the crown, were for-
bidden to receive presents from the na-
tives; and the maximum of the legal rate
of interest in Bengal was fixed at twelve
per cent. per annum. Specific punishments
were affixed to the violation of the above

plus of the clear revenue of the company should be

| paid half-yearly into the exchequer, till the liquida-

tion of the debt; that in the interim, their annual
dividend should not exceed six per cent.; and that
until the reduction of their total bond-debt to
£1,500,000, the dividend should not exceed seven
per cent.—(13 George IIL, e. 64.) Among the
alterations made by this enactment in the internal
arrangements of the association, was a decree for the
annual election of six directors for the term of four
years , the interval of a year to be then suffered to
elapse before the same person could be again eligible ;
whereas the directors had been previously annually
chosen for a single year, at the close of which they
might be at once re-elected. The qualification for a
vote was raised from £500 to £1,000 stock, and re-
gulations were framed to prevent the collusive
transfer of stock for electioneering purposes.

* The salary of the governor-general was fixed at
£25,000 per ann.; the counsellors, £10,000 each;
chief justice, £8,000 ; paisne judges, £6,000 each; to
be received in lieu of all fees or perquisites.

+ Notwithstanding the absolute nullity of any
power in the youth on whom the title of nabob had
been last conferred, the natives of Bengal were not
yet viewed as British subjects; and by the Regulat-

enactments, on conviction before the Su-
preme Court.

The majority of these regnlations were
of a nmature which, from the political cha-
racter of the English constitution, could be
enforced against British subjects only by
the express authority of their national
rulers.] The privity of the Crown thus of
necessity established in the affairs of the
company, was further secured by a proviso,
that all financial and political advices trans-
mitted from India, should, within fourteen
days after their arrival, be communicated to
the administration by the Court of Direc-
tors;;§ and any ordinance of the governor-
general in council might be disallowed by
the Crown, provided its veto were pro-
nounced within two years after the enact-
ment of the obnoxious measure.

The state of Bengal, at the period at
which we have now arrived, has been suffi-
ciently shown in the foregoing pages. The
only events still unnoticed with regard to
the Carcurra Presipency, are the death
of the nabob, Syef-ad-Dowlah, of small-pox ;
the accession of his brother, Mobarik-ad-
Dowlah, a boy of ten years old; and the
departure of Shah Alum from Allahabad
to take possession of his own capital of
Delhi.  After the retreat of the Doorani
invader, the government of this city had
been assumed by Nujeeb-oo-Dowla (the
Rohilla chief frequently alluded to in pre-
vious pages), and, together with such autho-
rity, territorial and judicial, as yet remained

(except upon any contract in writing, where the object
in dispute exceeded 500 rupees in value), unless they
were themselves willing to abide by the decision of
that tribunal. This protective clause was set forth
only in the directions for civil proceedings, and (pro-
bably from inadvertence) not repealed in those which
regarded the penal court. The omission enabled the
chief justice to adjudge the celebrated Nuncomar to
death for forgery, at the suit of a native.

1 The preamble to the act states it to have been
a necessary measure, because several powers and
authorities previously vested in the E. 1. body "had
“ been found, by experience, not to have suflicient
force and efficacy to prevent various abuses which
have prevailed in the government and affairs of the
said company, as well at home as in India, to the
manifest injury of the public credit, and of the com-
mercial interests of the said company.”

§ The regulations and ordinances decreed by the
governor-general in couneil, were invalid unless
duly registered and published in the Supreme Court
of judicature. Appeals against any of them might
he ]lnid before the king in council by any person in
India or in England, if lodged within sixty days
after the publication of the act complained of, either
at the Supreme Court or the E. 1. House, where

ing Act, could not be sued in the Supreme Court, | notices of all such measures were to be afiixed.




314 EMPEROR ENTERS DELHI UNDER MAHRATTA PROTECTION—1771.

connected therewith, was exercised by him
in the name of the young prince, Jewan
Bukht, the eldest son of Shah Alum, who
had been left behind at the period of lhis
father's flight in 1758. The encroachments
of the Jat Rajah, Sooraj Mull, into whose
hands Agra had fallen after the battle of
Paniput, in 1761, resulted in a regular con-
flict between him and Nujeeb-oo-Dowla,
in 1764. The rajah was killed at the very
commencement of hostilities; and the en-

' deavour of his son and successor, Jowher

Sing, to prosecute the war by the assistance
of the Mahratta chieftain, Mulhar Rao
Holcar, proved ineffectual. In 1769, the
peishwa’s army crossed the Chumbul, :}nd
after desolating Rajast’han and levying
arrears of chout from the Rajpoot princes,
they proceeded to overrun the country of
the Jats, which at this time extended from
Agra to the borders of Delhi on the north-

. west, and near to Etawa on the south-east,

and afforded a revenue of nearly £250,000.
The Mahrattas gained a decided victory
near Bhurtpoor, and made peace with the
Jats on condition of receiving a sum of
about £75,000. They then encamped for
the monsoon, intending at its expiration to
enter Rohileund, and revenge on the leading
chiefs the part played by them in concert
with the Afghan victor at the bloody field
of Paniput. Nujeeb-oo-Dowla took advan-
tage of the interval to negotiate a treaty on
behalf of himself and the Rohillas in gene-
ral ; and his overtures were favourably re-
ceived, on account of the mutual need each
party had of the other to obtain an object
desirable in the sight of both, the withdrawal
of the emperor from the immediate influ-
ence of the Euglish, and his re-establishment
in Delhi. The arrangement was marred
by the death of Nujeeb-oo-Dowla, at the
close of 1770. His son, Zabita Khan, who
appears to have inherited the ambition, un-
checked by the loyalty or prudence of his
father, assumed the charge of affairs, and
showed no inclination to procure the return
of his liege lord. In the following vear,
Rohileund was overrun by the Mahrattas

the strong fortress of Etawa fell into their |

hands; Delhi was seized by them, and
Zabita Khan fled to Seharunpoor, the
capital of his own patrimony in Rohilcund.

* Etal Rac .ay encamped on the banks of the
Jumna, when the emperor (then heir-apparent) fled
from Delhi. He received the fugitive with the
utmost kindness.—swore on the holy waters of the
Ganges not to betray him ; and more than redeemed

The prince, Jewan Bukht, was treated with
marked respect, and the emperor given to
understand, that. if he did not think fit to
accept the repeated invitations made to him
to return to his capital, his son would be
formally placed on the throne. In an evil
hour, Shah Alum yielded to a natural desire
of taking possession of the scanty remains
of imperial power which formed his ill-
omened inheritance. The darkest hour he
had hitherto encountered had afforded him
experience of the fidelity of a Mahratta
general ;¥ nor does there seem to have been
any sufficient reason for his anticipating the
mercenary and unprinecipled conduct which
he eventually received at their hands, which,
however, never equalled in treachery the
proceedings of his professed friend and
nominal servant, but most grasping and re-
lentless foe, Shuja Dowlah, the cherished
ally of the English. In fact, the insidious
counsels and pecuniary aid furnished by this
notable schemer, were mainly instrumental
in resolving Shah Alum to quit Allahabad,
which he did after receiving from the Bengal
presidency a strong assurance  of the readi-
ness with which the company would receive
and protect him, should any reverse of for-
tune compel him once more to return to his
provinces.”t The commander-in-chief (Sir
Robert Barker) and Shuja Dowlah attended
the royal march to the frontier of the Corah
district, and then took leave with every de-
monstration of respect and good-will; the
latter declaring that nothing but the pre-
dominant influence of the Mahrattas at
court prevented his ‘proceeding thither and
devoting himself to the performance of the
duties of the vizierat. Shah Alum reached
Delhi in  December, 1771, and entered
its ancient gates amid the acclamations of
the populace. Happily, his enjoyment of
this gleam of prosperity was unmarred by a
knowledge of the almost unexampled mise-
ries which awaited bim during the chief
part of the ensuing six-and-twenty years.
Could but a passing glimpse of coming
sorrows have been foreshadowed to him,
the lowliest hut in Bengal would have
seemed a blessed refuge from the agonies
of mind and body he and his innocent
family were doomed to endure within the
stately walls of their ancestral home,

his pledge, in spite of threats and bribes, by guard-
ing the prince for six months, and then escorting
him to a place of safety.—(Francklin’s Shah Alum.)

T Official Letter from Bengal, 31st August, 1771,
Auber's British Power in India, i., 287




vented from being noticed in chronological

- heavy tax on the E. I. Cy., the net revenue
not sufficing to defray a third of its eivil | with the
- and military expenditure.*®

PRESIDENCIES OF BOMBAY

AND MADRAS—1761—1774..

l

The Bomeay Presipency, so far as its

finances were coneerned, continued to be a |

In the Mapras Presipency, events had |
taken place which the superior importance |
and interest of Bengal affairs have pre-

|
succession. Reference has been made to |
the ill-feeling which sprang up between |
the E. I. Cy. and Mohammed Ali (the
nabob of their own nomination.) The cause
was twofold—first, the English expected to
find the provinee, of which Arcot was the
capital, a mine of wealth, and hoped to
derive from the nabob, wlen firmly estab-
lished there, considerable pecuniary advan-
tage. T'hey soon discovered their mistake
as to the amount of funds thus obtainable,
and still more with regard to the expendi-
ture of life and treasure to be incurred in
establishing the power of a man who, though
of very inferior capacity, was inordinately
ambitious, and yet distrustful—not perhaps
without cause—of the allies, by whose assis-
tance alone his present position could be
maintained, or his views of aggrandisement
carried out. The chief points in the long-
continued hostilities, undertaken by the
presidency to enforce his very questionable
claims to sovereignty or tribute, may be
briefly noted, nor can the painful admission in
justice be withheld—that many expeditions
dispatched under the auspices of Mr. (after-
wards Lord) Pigot, whatever their osten-
sible motive, were really prompted by a
desire to replenish a treasury exhausted by
wilitary expenses, especially by the long
war with the French, which commenced
in 1746, and terminated with the reduction
of Pondicherry i 1761. The miseries of
the native population must have been too
great to admit of much increased exaction.
Since its first invasion by Aurungzebe,t the
Carnatic had been, almost without iterrup-
tion, the scene of rapine and discrganisa-
tion; imperial agents, usurping nabobs, and
chout-collecting Mahrattas had claimed
revenues, and exacted contributions, as each

* In the Report of Select Committee, June, 1784,
the net revenue of Bombay for the year ending April,
1774, is stated at £109,163; civil and military charges,
£347,387 : leaving a deficiency of £238,224.

+ During the nineteen years preceding the death
of Aurangzebe, in 1707, his favourite general, Zul-
feccar Khan, was employed in the Carnatic in cease-
less and destructive hostilities; and it is recorded
that nineteen actions were fought, and 3,000 miles

ling to the urgency of the case.

‘daily sustenance w

by resisting or complying
demands made upon them, accord-

But the
great load of sufiering fell ever on the

unarmed and inoffensive peasantry, whose
. 4 as to be proéurcd by
daily work. This suffering was not of a cha-
racter peculiar to the epoch now under
consideration : it would scem that, from
time immemorial, the working classes of
Hindoostan had practically experienced the
scourge of war; for every one of the multi-
farious languages of the peninsula has a
word answering to the Canarese term Wulsa,
which, happily, cannot be explained in any
Turopean tongue without considerable cir-
cumlocution. The Wulsa denotes the entire
population of a district, who, upon the ap-
proach of a hostile army, habitually bury
their most cumbrous effects, quit their
beloved homes, and all of them, even to the
child that can just walk alone, laden with
grain, depart to seek shelter (if, happily, it
may be found) among some neighbouring
community blessed with peace. More fre-
quently the pathless woods and barren hills
afford their sole refuge, until the withdrawal
of the enemy enables them to return to
cultivate anew the devastated fields. Such
exile must be always painful and anxious:
during its continuance the weak and aged
die of fatigue ; if long protracted, the strong
too often perish by the more dreadful pangs
of hunger. Colonel Wilks affirms, that the
Waulsa never departed on the approach of a
British army, when unaccompanied by In-
dian allies ;I but this is poor comfort re-
garding the measures taken on behalf of
Mohammed Ali, since there is no reason to
suppose his troops more scrupulous than
their fellows, or less feared by the unhappy
peasantry. The fort and district of Vellore
were captured for him, in 1761, from
Murtezza Al,§ with the assistance of the
English, after a three months’ siege; but
the treasure taken there 1ll repaid the cost
of the conquest. The latter part of 1763, and
nearly the whole of the following twelve-

marched by this officer in six months only. TFamine
and pestilence—the direct consequences of prolonged
and systematic devastation—followed, and even ex-
ceeded in their ravages the scourge of war, The terri-
ble sufferings of the people, during this melancholy
period, are affectingly described in many of the me-
moirs com Prismi in the valuable Mackenzie coliection,

I Wilks' History of Mysoor, i., 309.

§ See previous pages, especially Note 1, p. 252.

l

found opportunity ; and the commanders of
districts and forts maintained their often ill-
| gotten authority,
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' months, were taken up in a struggle \}‘itlt
Mohammed FEsoof, a brave and skilful
officer, who had long and farthfully served
the English as commandant of sepoys. He
had been placed in command of L\Iu(.h_n-a, as

' renter; but the unproductive condition of
the country rendered it, he declared, impos-
sible to pa_;' the stipulated sum. The excuse
is believed to have been perfectly true;
but it was treated as a mere cloak to cover
an incipient attempt at independence. An
army marched upon Madura, and Esoof,
fairly driven into resistance, commenced a
desperate contest, which occasioned heavy
loss of life on the side of the BEnglish, and
the expenditure of a million sterling, before
hostilities terminated by the seizure and be-
trayal of his person into the hands of Mo-
hammed Ali, by whom he was condemned
to die the death of a rebel, and actually
executed as such.

His betrayer was a man named Marchand,
who had joined him among a body of French
troops sent to his aid by the Mahratta rajah
of Tanjore, from whom a heavy sum had re-
cently been extorted on the plea of arrears
of tribute due to the general government of
the Carnatic. The acquisition of the Nor-
thern Circars, in 1766, and the treaty made
by Lord Clive with Nizam Ali, has been
| noticed, as also the impolicy of engaging to
| hold a body of troops 1n readiness to do the
will of so belligerent and unscrupulous a
leader. It was not long before the fulfil-
ment of this pledge was insisted on, and the
immediate consequence proved the com-
' mencement of a long and disastrous series of
wars with Hyder Ali. Since his sudden

included in the province of Sera : the former was held
as a jaghire by Abbas Kooli Khan, the persecutor
of Hyder in childhood. Bassalut Jung wished to
exclude this territory from that over which he as-
sumed the right of investing Hyder with authority,—
(a right, says Wilks, which could only be inferred

arrangement at an end, if any interference were
attempted with the gratification of his long-smoulder-
ing revenge. Abbas Kooli Khan fled to Madras,
leaving his family in the hands of his bitter foe; but
Hyder showed himself in a strangely favourable
light; for in remembrance of kindness bestowed on
him in childhood by the mother of the fugitive, he
treated the captives with lenity and honour. This
cenduet did not, however, embolden Abbas Kooli to
quit the protection of the English, or throw himself
on his mercy; and, some years later (in 1769), when
Hyder presented himself at the gates of Madras, he
embarked in a crazy vessel, and did not venture to
land until the hostile force had reascended the
mountain-passes.—{ Wilks' Mysoor, i., 410.)

T The last actual rajah of Bednore died in 1753,

from the act of granting) ; but the latter declared the |

| * The districts of Great and Little Balipoor were |

separation from the French, in 1760, his
road to eminence had been short and san-
guinary.  Forct and fraud, used indif-
ferently, according to the nature of the
obstacle to be overcome, had raised Hyder
to the supreme authority in Mysoor; and a
skilful admixture of the same ingredients,
enabled him gradually to acquire possession
of many portions of Malabar and Canura,
until then exempt from Moslem usurpation.
The strife at one period existing between
Nizam Ali and his elder brother, Bassalut
Jung, induced the latter to make an attempt
at independence, in prosecution of which
he marched, in 1761, against Sera* a pro-
vince seized by the Mahrattas, and separated
by them from the government of the Deccan,
of which it had previously formed a part.
The resources of Bassalut Jung proving
quite insufficient for the projected enter-
prise, he gladly entered into an arrange-
ment with Hyder Ali; and, on receiving
five lacs of rupees, made over his intention
of conquering Sera to that chief, on whom
he conferred the title of mnabob, together
with the designation of Khan Bahadur—
“the heroic lord.” Sera was speedily sub-
dued, and its reduction was followed, in
1763, by the seizure, on a most shameless
pretext, of Bednore,T a territory situated on
the loftiest crest of the Ghauts, 5,000 feet
above the level of the sea, abounding in
magnificent forests, and fertilized by copious
rains, which produce harvests of remark-
able abundance. The sequestered position
of this little kingdom, had hitherto pre-
served 1t from Mohammedan invasion, and
enabled successive rulers to accurmulate

leaving an adopted heir, of about seventeen years of

age, under the guardianship of his widow. The
youth animadverted with severity on the conduct of
the ranee, with regard to a person named Nimbeia,
and the result was his own assassination by a jedfs
or athlete, who watched an opportunity to dislocate
his neck while employed in shampooing him in the
bath. The guilty ranee selected an infant to fill the
vacant thone; but, about five years alter, a pre-
tender started up, claiming to be the rightful heir,
and deseribing himself as having escaped the in-
tended doom by means of a humane artifice practised
by the athlete. Hyder readily availed himself of
the pretext for invading Bednore, though he probably
never entertained the least belief of the truth ef the
story; and the whole army treated the adventurer
with the utmost derision, styling him the “ Rajah of
the resurrection.” So soon as Bednore was cap-
tured, Hyder, setting aside all conditions or stipula-
ticns previously entered into, sent the ranee and her
saramour, with his own pratégé, to a evimon prison
in the hili-fort of Mudgherry, whence they were
liberated on the capture of the place by the Mahrattas
in 1767. 'The ranee died directly after her release,
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much treasure, The mountain capital
(cight miles in circumference) fell an casy
prey to the Mysoorean chief; “and the
booty realised may,” says Colonel Wilks,
“without the risk of exaggeration, be esti-
mated at twelve million sterling, and was,
through life, habitually spoken of by Hyder
as the foundation of all his subsequent
greatness.”*  The subjugation of the coun-
try was not, however, accomplished without
imminent danger to the life of the invader.t

Hyder now assumed the style of an inde-
pendent sovereign, and struck coins in his
own name. Having completed the neces-
sary arrangements for the occupation of the
lesser districts included in his new do-
minions (which comprehended two places
often named in the history of early Euro-
pean proceedings on this coast,—Onore and
Mangalore), he next seized the neighbouring
territories of Soonda and Savanoor, and
then rapidly extended his northern frontier
almost to the banks of the Kistnah. IHere,
at length, his daring encroachments were

* History of Mysoor, i., 452. Mill says—* More
likely it was not a third of the sum” (1., 469);
but native testimonies and the reports of the French
mercenaries in the service of Hyder, with other cir-
cumstances, tend to confirm the opinion of Wilks.
In a life of Hyder Ali, written by the French leader
of his European troops, whose initials (M. M. D.IL.T.)
are alone given, it is stated that two heaps of golc
coined and in ingots, and of jewels, set and unset,
were piled up until they surpassed the height of a
man on horseback. They were then weighed with a
corn measure. Hyder gave a substantial proof of
the extent of his ill-gotten booty, by bestowing on
every soldier in his service a gratuity equal to half a
year's pay.—(History of Ayder Al Khan, Nabob
Bahader; translated from the French: Dublin, 1774.)

t The ministers of the late dynasty entered into
an extensive conspiracy for his assassination and the
recovery of the capital. Some vague suspicions in-
duced Hyder to cause inquiry to be made by his
most confidential civil servants. The persons so em-
ployed were, strangely enough, all concerned in the
plot.  They performed their commission with appa-
rent zeal, and read the result to the dreaded despot
as he lay on a couch shivering with ague. His keen
perceptions were undimmed by bodily infirmity ; but
affecting to be duped by the garbled statements
made by the commissioners, he detained them in
consultation until he felt able to rise. Then, enter-
ing the durbar, or hall of audience, he examined and
cross-examined witnesses until the mystery was quite
unravelled. The commissioners were executed in his
presence, many unhappy nobles of Bednore arrested,
and, before the close of the day, 800 of the leading
confederates were hanging at the different public
ways of the city., Hyder, we are told, retired to rest
with perfect equanimity, and rose on the following
morning visibly benefited by the stimulating effect of
his late exertions. Peace of mind had, however,
fled from him; and, notwithstanding the terrible
perfection which his inquisitorial and sanguinary

DIV, X. 2T
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1

arrested by Mahdoo Rao, the young and
energetic Mahratta, peishwa, who (taking
ad_vantnge of the accommodation with
Nizam Ali, which had succeeded the

partial destruction of Poonah by the latter in
1763) crossed the Kistnah, in 1764, with a
force greatly outnumbering that of Hyder.
A prolonged contest ensued, in which the
advantage being greatly on the side of the
Mahrattas, and the army of Hyder much re-
duced, he procured the retreat of the peishwa,
mn 1765, by various territorial concessions,
in addition to the payment of thirty-two
lacs of rupees. When relieved from this
formidable foe, he forthwith commenced pre-
parations for the conquest of Malabar, which
he succeeded in effecting after an irregular
war of some months’ duration with the proud
and liberty-loving Nairs, or military cast ;
for the disunion of the various petty princi-
palities neutralised the effects of the valour
of their subjects, and prevented any com-
bined resistance being offered. Cananore,
Cochin, Karical—all fell, more or less com.

police system subsequently attained, the dagger of
the assassin was an image never absent from his
sleeping or waking thoughts, save when banished by
the stupor of complete intoxication, which became
to him a nightly necessity. One of his most inti-
mate associates relates, that after having watched
over him during a short interval of convulsive sleep,
snatched in his tent during a campaign, Hyder ex-
claimed on awaking— The state of a yogee (reli-
gious mendicant) is more delightful than my envied
monarchy : awake, they see no conspirators; asleep,
they dream of no assassins.”—( Wilks' Mysoor, 1., 143.)

f The Dutch possessions on the Malabar coast
had been materially lessened during the interval
between the last mention made of them in 1740
(p. 245), and the invasion of Hyder Ali in 1766.
The expensive trading establishments maintained
there proved a heavy drain on the finances of the
company, which Stavorinus, on the authority of
Governor Mossel, alleges to have been occasioned
by the continual disputes and wars in which they
had been engaged with the native princes, * and not
a little by the infidelity and peculation of the servants
who have been employed here.” Mossel declares, * it
would have been well for the Dutch company had
the ocean swallowed up the coast of Malabar an
hundred years ago.” Under these circumstances, the
best thing was to get rid of such unfortunate acqui-
sitions. Cranganore was sold to the rajah of Travan-
core; and Cananore, in 1770, for the sum of 100,000
rupees, to a recently established potentate, styled by
Stavorinus the Sultan of Angediva or Anchediva, a
little rocky isle, two miles from the coast of North
Canara. This chief belonged by birth to the mixed
class, the offspring of intercourse (after the Malabar
custom) between native women and Arabian immi-
grants: they bore the significant appellation of
Moplah or Mapiila (the children of their mothers) ;
but were mostly believers in the Koran. Ali Rajah,
the purchaser of Cananore, had risen by trade to
wealth, and thence to political importance: he took
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pletely, into the power of Hyder ; and Maan

| Veeram Raj, the Zamorin, Or ’I‘_amun ra-
‘! jah of Calicut, disgusted by the faithlessness

<

" of his unprincipled opponent, and terrified

by the cruel and humiliating tortures in-
' flicted on his ministers to extort money,
' set fire to the house in which he was con-
' fined, and perished in the flames.® Shortly
" after this event, Hyder was recalled to
Seringapatam by the alarming intelligence
that the English and Mohammed Ali
' had united with the Nizam in a confede-
racy for the reduction of his dangerous
" ascendancy. Hyder was a complete master
" of every description of intrigue. He suc-
ceeded, by dint of bribery, in withdrawing
Nizam Ali from the alliance into which the
English had unwisely entered, and the very
corps which had accompanied the Nizam
into the dominions of Hyder, sustained in its
' retreat an attack from their united forces.f

|

' Madras was imperilled by the unlooked-for

" appearance of 5,000 horse, under the nomi-
nal command of Tippoo, the eldest son of

Hyder Ali, then a youth of seventeen. The

president and council were at their garden-

houses without the town ; and had the atten-
" an early opportunity of propitiating the fayour of
| Hyder, at the expense of the high-born Hindoo
| princes in his vicinity. When Stavorinus himself
| visited India, in 1775-'8, the Dutch possessions on
| the Malabar coast nominally extended a distance of
about thirty-two leagues; but, excepting the little
island of Paponetty, and a few insignificant villages
on the shore, the company had “no other actual
property in the soil than in that upon which their
fortifications are constructed.”—(Stavorinus’ Foyages,
iii., chapters xiii. and xiv.)

* Several of the personal attendants of the Zamo-
rin being accidentally excluded when the doors were
fastened, threw themselves into the flames, and
perished with their master. This catastrophe had
no effect in softening the heart of Hyder, or inducing
him to show compassion to the ministers. The
Nairs, rendered desperate by his eruelty, rose against
him repeatedly, and were, if captured, either be-
headed or hanged, until the idea struck their perse-
cutor of preserving them to populate certain other
portions of his dominions. 'The experiment proved
fatal to the majority of the unhappy beings upon
whom it was tried : of 15,000 who were subjected to
this forced emigration, only 200 survived the fatigue
and hardships of the way and the change of climate,
which Indians in general—and particularly the na-
tives of Malabar—can ill bear under every possible
circumstance of alleviation.—( Wilks’ Jl[ysor';r, 1.,477.)

t Either from generosity or policy, five English
companies, attached to the Nizam as a guard of
honour, were suffered by him to depart and join
the force under Colonel Smith three days before the
commencement of open hostilities by the new allies.

{ Hyder prevailed on the Nizam to give the order
to retreat, and was himself clearly perceived by the

J

El}g]ish issuing directions for that purpose, in the
midst of a select body of infantry, whose scarlet

tion of the invaders been less absorbed in
the accumulation of plunder, they might
have seized as their prize the whole of these
functionaries, and dictated at leisure the

'terms of general peace and individual ran-

| som.

But they delayed until news arrived
of a decisive victory gained by Colonel Smith,
at ‘I'rincomalee,f over IHyder and Nizam
Ali, which being closely followed by other
advantages on the side of the English (in-
cluding the successful defence of Amboor),§
brought the campaign to an end. Hyder re-
treated within his own frontier, and the Ni-
zam concluded a peace with the English m
February, 1768, by which he agreed to re-
ceive seven lacs per annum for six years, as
temporary tribute for the Circars, instead of
the perpetual subsidy of nine lacs per annum
previously promised. Hyder was himself
equally solicitous of forming a treaty with the
Madras presidency. He did not seruple to
avow his inability to oppose at once both
them and the Mahrattas; and he candidly
avowed that disinclination to make common
cause with the latter people, was the leading
incentive to his repeated overtures for al-
liance with the English. IHis offers were,
dresses, with lances eighteen feet long, of bamboo,
strengthened by bands of polished silver, rendered
them no less picturesque in appearance than for-
midable in reality. The retreat was, for the moment,
delayed by a singular incident. Nizam Ali invari-
ably carried his favourite wives in his train, even to
the field of battle. On the present occasion, directions
were given to the drivers of the elephants on which
they were seated, to decamp forthwith,—an undigni-
fied procedure, which was firmly opposed by the fair
occupant of one of the howdahs. * This elephant,”
she exclaimed, “has not been instructed so to turn;
he follows the imperial standard :” and though the
English shot fell thick around, the lady waited till
the standard passed. A considerable body of cavalry,
roused to action by the sense of shame inspired by
this feminine display of chivalry, made a partial
charge upon the enemy.—(Wilks' Mysoor, ii., 38.)

§ The assault lasted twenty-six days, at the expi-
ration of which time, the besieged were relieved by
the approach of the British army. In honour of the
steady courage there manifested, the 1st battalion of
the 10th regiment bear “the rock of Amboor” on
their colours. Hyder had a narrow escape during this
enterprise; for while examining the fortifications,
under cover of a rock which sheltered him com-
pletely from the direct fire of the fort, a cannon-shot
rebounded from a neighbouring height, and cut in
two his only companion, leaving him unhurt. The
Mysoorean court were, according to Colonel Wilks,
the most unscientific in all India; and being ignorant
of the simple principle by which a ball would rebound
amid the rocks which limited its influence, until its
foree was spent, they attributed the fate of Khakee
Shah to a miracle of vengeance, wrought to punish his
recent offence of taking a false cath on a false Koran,
to aid Hyder in deceiving and entrapping his ancient

| and much-injured patron, Nunjeraj.—( Wilks.)




|
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HYDER DICTATES A PEACE TO THE ENGLIS

however, haughtily rejected. Driven to despe-

ration, he put forth all his powers, ravaged
the Carnatic, penetrated to Trichinopoly,
};}-i{l waste the provinces of Madura and
Finnevelly, and finally, after drawing the
Iinglish army, by a series of artful move-
ments, to a considerable distance from
Madras, he selected a body of 6,000 cavalry,
marched 120 miles in three days, and sud-
denly appeared on the Mount of Saint
Thomas, in the immediate vicinity of the
Snglish capital. The presidency were struck
with consternation. ~ The fort might un-
doubtedly have held out till the arrival of
the army under Colonel Smith, but the
open town with its riches, the adjacent
country, and the garden-houses of the offi-
cials, would have been ravaged and de-
stroyed ; moreover, the exhausted state of
the treasury afforded little encouragement
to maintain hostilities with a foe whose
peculiar tacties enabled him to procure abun-
dant supplies for his troops in a hostile
country, and to surround his enemies with

* Hyder, throughout his whole career, displayed a
peculiarly teachable spirit in every proceeding rela-
tive to his grand object in life—the art of war.
Kunde Rao, a Brahmin, early instructed him in
Mahratta tactics; and by their joint endeavours a
system of plunder was organised, which Sevajee
himself might have admired. The Beder peons
(described by Colonel Wilks as “ faithful thieves™)
and the Pindarries (a description of horse who re-
ceive no pay, but live on the devastation of the
enemy’s country), were among the most effective of
Hyder's troops. The general arrangement seems
to have been, that the army, besides their direct
pay, should receive one-half the booty realised ; the
remainder to be appropriated by their leader; and

the whole proceeding was conducted by a series of

checks, which rendered the embezzlement of spoil
almost impossible. Moveable property of every de-
seription, obtained either from enemies or (if prac-
ticable without exciting suspicion) by simple theft
from allies, was the object of these marauders;—from
convoys of grain, cattle, or fire-arms, down to the
clothes, turbans, and earrings of travellers or vil-
lagers, whether men, women, or children. Kunde
Rao at length became disgusted by the uncontrolled
ambition and covetousness of Hyder. Unwilling
to see the ancient Hindoo institutions of Myscor
swept off by an avowed disbeliever in ali religion,
he went over to the side of the unfortunate rajah, and
was, as before stated, in the hour of defeat (_leli\'er_m]
up to his fierce and relentless i'r')[-.‘\\'lm retained him
two years exposed in an iron cage in the most public
thoroughfare of Bangalore; and even when death
at length released the wretched captive, left his
hones to whiten there in memory of his fate. (See
Wilks' History of Mysoor, i., 434, the French Life
of Ayder, and Dv. Moodie's Transactions in India
jb‘um 17566 to 1783, for an account of this almost
unexampled act of barbarity.) In his later career,
Hyder declared, that the English were bis chief
tutors in military stratagems ; and for Colonel Smith
he expressed particular respect, calling him his pre-
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dcvastatlon. and scarcity in the heart of their
own t.lc"mmn_as.* A treaty was concluded
Wl'th .lum . April, 1769, of which the
principal conditionst were a mutual restora-
tion of conquests and a pledge of alliance,
defensive but not offensive. The distinetion
involved in the latter proviso was, as might
have l)cgzn foreseen, of little avail ; for the
foes against whom Hyder especially desired
the co-operation of the English troops, were
the _I\Ia!ll'attas, who periodically invaded his
territories ; and on the expected approach of
Mahdoo Rao, he urgently appealed to the pre-
sidency for the promised aid, which the
withheld on the plea of complicated political
relations, and thus excited, with too just
cause, the vindictive passions of their ally.
The military abilities of the peishwa were
of no common order: and he approached
with the determination of materially circum-
seribing the power of a rival whose pro-
ceedings and projects, after long under-
valuing, he began to appreciate eorrectly.
Seizing one by one the conquestst of Hyder,
ceptor in the science of war, and having his picture
suspended in the palace of Seringapatam.

t Other clauses provided, that the company were
to be allowed to build a fort at Onore, and to have
the sole right of purchasing pepper in the dominions
of Hyder Ali; payment to be made to him in guns,
saltpetre, lead, gunpowder, and ready money. The
directors strongly reprobated the supply of offensive
implements to so dangerous a potentate, and likewise
the cannon afterwards sold to him, and the shipping
built by his orders,—remarking, that such a procedure
could not conduce to the welfare of the presidency,
although it might suit the views of individuals.

1 The battle of Chercoolee, which oceurred while
the Mysooreans were retreating to Seringapatam,
was attended by some incidents singularly illustra-
tive of the character of Hyder, who, though well able
to be courtly on occasion, was habitually fierce in
his anger and coarse in his mirth, and in either case
equally unaccustomed to place any restraint on his
tongue or hand. When under the influence of in-
toxication, his natural ferocity occasionally broke out
in the most unbridled excesses; but he rarely drank
deeply, except alone and at night. On the eve of
this disastrous battle, the alarms of war prevented
him from sleeping off the effects of his usual pota-
tion; and in a state of stupid inebriety he sent re-
peated messages desiring the presence of Tippoo,
which owing to the darkness and confusion, were
not delivered until daybreak. When Tippoo at length
appeared, his father, in a paroxysm of rage, abused
him in the foulest language, and snatching a large
cane from the hand of an attendant, inflicted on the
heir-apparent a literally severe beating. Burning
with anger, and smarting with pain, the youth, when
suffered to retire, hastened to the head of his divi-
sion, and dashed his sword and turban on the ground,
exclaiming, ¢ My father may fight his own battle; for
I swear by Allah and the Prophet, that I draw no
sword to-day.” Then throwing aside his outer gar-
ment of CiOl'h of gnld’ he tied a coloured .hnn(i.ker-
chief round his head, and assumed the guise of one




he marched onward until the Mysoor state

| shrank into narrower limits than it had

[‘ 590  STATE OF MYSOOR, MAHARASHTRA, AND RAJAST'HAN—1772.
| |

|

|

L

' occupied under the native government at

' the beginning of the century. |
| rity of the usurper tottered ; and the Hindoo

The autho-

rajah, thinking the conjuncture of affairs

" favourable to the assertion of his claims,

strove to open a communication with the

| Mahratta general ; but the proceeding being
' detected, the unhappy prince was imme-

" diately strangled while in the bath.
| Hyder cared mnot, at this ecrisis, openly to

Still

seat himself on the ivory throne of Mysoor:
double governments were in fashion through-
out India, and the brother of the late rajah
was proclaimed his successor. He did not
long survive this perilous distinction; and
Hyder, with unblushing effrontery, aflected
to choose from the children of the royal
lincage, for the next pageant, a boy of sense
and spirit—qualities which would necessarily
unfit him to be the tool of the deadly foe
of his family.* The retreat of the Mah-
rattas was secured on more favourable terms
than could have been expected, by reason

of the fast-failing health of the peishwa,

who, in the same year (1772), died of con-
sumption. Ie left no child, and his widow,

who had renounced the world. After the ensuing
complete victory of the Mahrattas, Tippoo was ad-
vised by his faithful friend, Seyed .\lo{mmmed (who
related the adventure to Colonel Wilks), to make his
way to Seringapatam as a travelling mendicant; and

| they contrived to reach the capital that night, to the

ereat relief of Hyder, who believing his son lost,
had refused to enter the city, and was awaiting

| further intelligence in a small mosque, probably un-

able to bring himself to encounter the burst of

| anger and sorrow to which his wife, the mother of

Tippoo, who had great influence with him, would

| give vent on learning the circumstances which he

knew, and the issue he feared.—(Mysoor, ii., 146.)

* Hyder assembled the children in the royal hall
of audience, which he had previously caused to be
strewn with fruits, sweetmeats, flowers, books, coin,
and toys of all description : each took what struck
his fancy ; ore boy seized a brilliant iittle dagger,
and soon afterwards a lime with the unoccupied
hand. “That is the rajah,” said Hyder; * his first
care is military protection ; his scconh, to realise the
produce of his dominions.”—(Idem. ii., 163.)

t History of the Mahrattas, ii., 237. The actual
revenue of the Malnatta state, at this period (in-
cluding the Lj\nghires of Holear, Sindia, Janojee
BLun;lu)", and Dummajee Guicowar, together with
ml.)ut.c, fees, fines, and extra revenue of every de-
scription),amounted toabout sevenmillion sterling per
ann., including Mahdoo Rao's personal estate which
seldom exceeded £30,000 per ann. He wm: how-
ever, possessed of twenty-four lacs of private )r(’aperl\'
which he bequeathed to the state, and whicL indeed
was much needed. At the time of his accession, a
l;:r{j(i ou.lfll{ung‘mg ‘dc:hl existed ; and although at his

leath, reckoning sums due, the value of stores and
other property, a nominal balance existed, yet the

=

to whom he had been devotedly attached,
burnt herself with hLis body. Maharashtra
is described as having greatly improved
under his sway, and as being, in proportion
to its fertility, probably more thriving than
any other part of India, notwithstanding the
inherent defects of its administrative system,
and the corruption which Madhoo Rao
restrained, but could mnot eradicate. His
death, says Grant Duff, “occasioned 10
immediate commotion : like his own disease,
it was at first scarcely perceptible; but the
root which invigorated the already scathed
and wide-extending tree, was cut off from
the stem ; and the plains of Paniput were
not more fatal to the Mahratta empire, than
the early death of this excellent prince.”

The above sketch illustrates, so far as the
limits of this work will permit, the position
of the three presidencies and of the leading
neighbouring states, at the period when great
and rapid changes were about to be effected
in the whole scope and tenor of Anglo-
Indian policy. The princes of Rajast’han were
engaged in holding their own against the
marauding Jats and Mahrattas, under Hol-
car and Sindia,f who, for their own ends,
thought fit to interfere in a disputed suc-
treasury itself was empty. The ordinary army of
the peishwa comprehended 50,000 good horse ; and
calculating the contingent which Guicowar and
Bhonslay were bound to furnish at from ten to fifteen
thousand, Holear and Sindia’s army at 30,000, and
allowing 3,000 for the Puars of Dhar, his total force
at command must have amounted to about 100,000
fine cavalry, exclusive of Pindarries. No wonder
that Hyder Ali should have been ever solicitous to
shun contact with, and form alliances against, such
a foree under such a leader. By official records, it ap-
pears that of 449 officers under Mahdoo Rao, ninety-
three were Brahmins, eight Rajpoots, 308 Mahrattas,
and forty Mohammedans.—(fdem., p. 270.)

{ Holear and Sindia both acquired valuable terri-
torial possessions (or rather the mortgage of them)
in Mewar, which, like most of the Rajpoot princi-
palities, was about this time a prey to internal
miseries,—its fields, mines, and looms all unworked,
and hordes of * pilfering Mahrattas, savage Rohillas,
and adventurous Franks” let loose to do their
wicked will in its once fruitful valleys. Oudipoor
had nearly fallen before Sindia, but was bravely and
successfully defended by Umra Chund, the chief min-
ister of _Runn Ursi, who, in 1770, succeeded in com-
pelling Sindia to accept a ransom, and raise the
siege. This excellent minister fell a vietim to eourt
intrigues ; but his death, says Tod, “yielded a flat-
tering comment on his life: he left not funds suffi-
cient to cover the funeral expenses, and is, and will
probably continue, the sole instance on record in
Indian history, of a minister having his ohsequies
defrayed by subscription among his fellow-citizens.”
They yet love te descant upon his virtues; and *“an
act of vigour and integrity is still designated Umra-
chunda—evineing, that if virtue has few imitators in
this country, she is not without ardent admirers.”
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cession to the throne of Amber or Jeypoor.
Pretexts, more or less plausible, were put
forth by other Mahratta leaders for the
same course of invasion and plunder. The
state of the Rohillas will be more particu-
larly mentioned in a subsequent page. The
far-distant Seiks had gradually inereased in
number and power, and could now furnish
50,000 men fit to bear arms. They pos-
sessed all the fertile country of the Punjaub
between Sirhind and Attoc.
ADMINISTRATION O0F WaRrREN IlastinGs.
—This celebrated governor superseded Mr.
Cartier in the Bengal presidency in April,
1772. e had accompanied Mr. Vansittart
to England in 1764, and was at that time
in the enjoyment of a moderate indepen-
dence, and a reputation for ability and dis-
iuterestedness of no common order. Presi-
dents and counsellors, commanders military
and naval—in a word, the whole body of
European officials, of any rank in the ser-
vice—are recorded as having received costly
presents from the native princes.  In this list
the name of Warren Hastings is alone want-
ing; and as it is certain his position in the
court of Meer Cossim must have afforded
more than average opportunities for the
accumulation of wealth in a similar manner,
the exception tends to prove that the love
of money formed no part of his “sultan-
like and splendid character.”* On the con-

* Bishop Heber's Journal (London, 1828), i., 330.

t The pedigree of the young writer can, it is
affirmed, be traced back to the fierce sea-king, long
the terror of both coasts of the British channel,
whose subjugation called forth all the valour and
perseverance of the great Alfred; and in tracing the
political career of the Indian governor, one is tempted
to think that not a few of the piratical propensities
of Hastings the Dane, were inherited by his remote
descendant. The more immediate ancestors of
Warren Hastings were lords of the manor of Day-
lesford, in Worcestershire, and retained considerable
wealth up to the time of the civil war in which
King Charles 1. lost his crown and life, and their
existing representative all his possessions, except
the old manor house, which being from poverty un-
able to retain, they sold in the following generation
to a London merchant. "T'o regain the ancient home
of his family was the aspiration of Warren Hastings,
while still a child of seven years old; and the hope
which first dawned on his mind as he lay on the
bank of the rivulet flowing through the lands of
Daylesford to join the Isis, never passed away, but
cheered him amid every phase of his chequered
career, from the time when he learned his daily
tasks on the wooden bench of the village school,
or laboured at a higher description of study at the
next school to which he was sent, where he was well
taught, but so scantily fed, that he always attributed
to that circumstance his stunted growth and emaci-
ated appearance. From Newington Butts he was

trary, he was generous even to prodigality ;
by which weans, a brief sojourn in Eng-
land, surrounded by family claims, reduced
his finances to a condition little above that
in which they had been fifteen vears before ;
when, through the influence of a distant
relative in the L. 1. direction, the 1rnpo-
verished scion of a noble house had been
dispatched, at the age of seventeen, as a
writer to Calcutta.t There, as we have seen,
he had risen from the lowest grade of office

‘to a seat at the council-hoard, aided by gen-

eral talent and application to business, but
especially by the then rare advantage of
acquaintance with the Persian language—the
medium through which official correspon-
dence in India was mainly conducted. The
evidence given by him during the inquiry
instituted by parliament in 1766, regarding
the system of government adopted by the
B. 1. Cy., afforded a fair opportunity for
the exposition of his views on a subject of
which he was well calculated, both by expe-
rience and ability, to form a correct opinion ;
and although the hostility of the Clive party
in the India House, prevented—happily for
Hastings—his being suffered to accompany
his former chief, Mr. Vansittart, in the pro-
Jected mission to Bengal, no objection was
made to his appointment to the station of
second in council at Madras, whither he
proceeded in 1769. Here his measures

transferred to Westminster school, where Churchill,
Colman, Lloyd, Cumberland, Cowper, and Impey, were
fellow-students. His comrades liked and admired
the even-tempered boy, who was the best of boatmen
and swimmers; and so high were his scholarly ac-
quirements, that upon the sudden death of the uncle,
who had placed him at Westminster, Dr. Nicholl,
then head-master, offered to bear the expense of
sending his favourite pupil to Oxford. But the
distant relative on whom the responsibility of the
decision devolved, persisted in sending the youth to
India, and he was shipped off accordingly. Some
seven years after, when about four-and-twenty, he
married the widow of a military officer. She soon
fell a vietim to the climate, leaving Hastings one
child, who was sent to England for health and edu-
cation. The death of this son, to whom he was
fondly attached, was the first intelligence received
by the bereaved father on his arrival in 1764, and it
rendered him more than commonly indifferent to the
management of his pecupiary affairs. On leaving
India, the chief part of his savings remained vested
there, the high rate of interest being probably the
inducement; but greatadvantages of this deseription
are usually of a precarious character, and I[uslin;l,:s
lost both principal and interest. This calamity did
not hinder him from providing liberally for an aunt,
for an only and beloved sister, like himself, the off-
spring of an early and ill-starred marriage, and for
other pensioners, although his own Indian equip-

ment had to be purchased with borrowed money.




were especially directed to improve the
investments on which the dividends of the
company mainly depended, and these ex-
ertions were instrnmental in procuring his
| promotion to the station of governor of the
Bengal presidency.®
Affairs there had reached the last stage
of disorganisation. Seven years had elapsed,
since the acquisition of the dewannee, with-
out the establishment of any eflicient system

for the government of the people, and the
result was the total absence of “ justice or
law, or adequate protection to person or
property anywhere in Bengal, Bahar, and
Orissa, except at Calcutta; the boys of
the service being sovereigns of the coun-
try, under the unmeaning title of super-
visors, collectors of the revenune, adminis-
trators of justice, and rulers, heavy rulers,
of the people.” These youths— whom
Hastings elsewhere describes as “most of
them the agents of their own banyans
(native managers), and they are devils”’—
occupied more lucrative positions than the
governor himself, obtaining from one to
three lacs a-year; but they were a dan-
gerous class to meddle with, being “ gene-
rally sons, cousins, or dives of directors.”
The new governor was not the man to risk
provoking a powerful opposition to his ad-
ministration by their recall, but contented
himself with some indirect and partial at-
tempts to retrench their power, and pave
the way for its gradunal withdrawal.
Meanwhile, the measures dictated by the
Court of Directors were to be carried out,
and the task was one of much greater deli-
cacy and importance than persons imper-
fectly acquainted with the constitution of
Indian society could possibly conceive. The
company were extremely dissatisfied with
the amount of revenues levied by the native
officials, and were well disposed to attribute

* Among the fellow-passengers of Hastings, during
his voyage, was a German baron named Imhoff, who,
in the hope of finding remunerative employment as
a portrait painter, was proceeding to India, accom-
panied by his wife, a very beautiful and accomplished

woman, a native of Archangel, and their children. |

The result of some months of constant intercourse
between two persons of high intellectual acquire-
ments, and feelings stronger than their principles,
may he conjectured. Hastings was taken danger-
ously ill; the lady nursed him (according to the Rev.
Mr. Gleig) “with a sister's care;” and before the
vessel reached Madras, it was arranged that a di-
vorce should be sued for in the Franconia courts
by the baroness, who, during the long years which
| mizht and did elapse pending the decisicn of the
judges, was to continue to live with the baron. This
arrangement was actually carried out-: the Imhoffs
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to their mismanagement and venality the
ruinous condition both of their own finances
and of the trade of the country. This frame
of mind procured a ready reception to the
charges brought before them through irre-
gular channels, by means of the long puarse
and restless intrigues of Nuncomar, against
Mohammed Reza Khan, who, it was alleged,
had been guilty of extensive embezzlements
of revenue, and likewise of an illicit mono-
poly of rice during the recent famine.
Hastings was consequently directed to put
in immediate exccution the resolve of the
company—- to stand forth as dewan, and to
take upon themselves the entire care of the
revenues;”’ and, likewise, to institute a
public examination into the conduct of the
ex-dewan. These instructions were ad-
dressed by the sceret committee of the
company, not to the council, but privately
to the governor, and were received by him
in the evening of the tenth day after his
accession to office. On the following morn-
ing, orders were dispatched to Moorshedabad
for the seizure of Mohammed Reza Khan,
which was effected with the utmost secrecy in
thesilence of midnight. The Mussulman, with
characteristic composure, upon bheing unex-
pectedly made a prisoner, attempted neither
resistance nor expostulation, but bent his
head and submitted to the will of God. It
was considered necessary by the presidency
to subject to a like arrest and examination
the brave Hindoo chief, Shitabroy, whose
distinguished services had been rewarded by
a similar appointment in Bahar to that
given to Mohammed Reza Khan in Bengal,
although the directors had given no order
on the subject, nor was any accusation what-
ever on record against him. The inquiry
into the cenduct of these ex-officials and
their subordinates was delayed for some
months, on the plea of giving time for the
followed Hastings from Madras to Calcutta; and
when the marriage was at length formally dis-
solved, the baron returned to his native country with
wealth to purchase and maintain the position of a
landed proprietor, leaving the governor-general of
India to marry the divorced lady, and adopt her two
sons. Whether from ignorance of these facts, or a
politic desire to overlook the antecedents of the
union of a distinguished public servant, it appears
that Queen Charlotte welcomed Mrs. Hastings with
especial affability to a court remarkalle for its high
standard of female character. It is but justice to
state, that Mr. and Mrs. Hastings remained devot-
edly attached to each other; and that the affectionate
attentions of her son and daughter-in-law, Sir Charles
and Lady Imhoff, were the solace of Hastings under
the many self-sought sorrows of his old age.
t Life of Warren Hustings, pp. 147, 235, 269.
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deposition of complaints. In the mean-
while, the Ahalsa, or government revenue
establishment, was trausferred from Moor-
shedabad to Caleutta; the office of naib-
dewan was abolished both for Bengal and
Bahar; the British council formed into a
board of revenue; and a native functionary
or assistant dewan, under the old Hindoo
title of roy-royan,* appointed to act in the
Khalsa, to receive the accounts in the Bengal
language, and make reports. The great ob-
stacle to an equitable and satisfactory ar-
rangement of the revenues, was the utter
ignorance of the law-makers regarding the
tenure of land; but Hastings, influenced
by the necessity of a speedy decision, and
considering it better ““ to resolve without de-
bate, than to debate without resolving,” cut
the Gordian knot by determining to let the
lands in farm for a period of five years.{
In many instances, the hereditary Hindoo
rulers of districts had sunk into the con-
dition of tributaries, and in that character
had been forcibly included by their Moslem
conquerors in the large class of zemindars
or middle-men, by whom the village autho-
rities of the old system of numerous inde-
pendent munieipalities were gradually sup-
planted in Bengal. By the present regula-
tions, when the zemindars, and other middle-
men of ancient standing, offered for the
lands, or rather land-rents, which they had
been accustomed to manage, terms which
were deemed reasonable, they were pre-
ferred ; when their proposals were considered
inadequate, a pension was allotted for their
subsistence, and the lands put up for sale—a
proceeding which, of necessity, involved the
repeated commission of glaring injustice and
impolicy ; for many men who had nothing to
lose were installed, to the expulsion of pre-
vious zemindars, who only offered what they
could realise with ease to their tenants (for
so these must be called, for want of a proper
term to express a false position) and remu-
neration to themselves. To the ryots, or
actual cultivators, leases or titles were given,
enumerating all the claims to which they

* The roy-royan had before been the chief officer
under the naib-dewan, having the immediate charge
of crown lands, and the superintendence of the ex-
chequer.—(Auber's British Power in India, i., 369.)

t Gleig's Life of Warren Hastings, i., 301.

! Under Mohammed Reza Khan's management,
the system followed was the ruinous one introduced
by Mohammedan nalobs, of farming out the lands
annually.—(Dow’s Hindoostan, vol. i., p- CXXXY.) o

§ No Furopean was permitted, directly or indi-
rectly, to hold lands in any part of the country.

|| Halhed's Digest of Hindoo Laws was drawn up
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were subject, and prohibiting, under penal-
ties, every additional exaction. These ar-
rangements, however fair-seeming in theory,
were founded on incorrect premises, and
proved alike injurious to the interests of
the company and the welfare of the people.§
Regarding the administration of Justice,
Hastings exerted himself with praiseworthy
zeal.  Aware of the intention of the home
government to take this portion of Indian
affairs under their especial consideration,
he feared, not without reason, that their
deliberations might issue in an endeavour to
transplant to India the complicated system
of jurisprudence long the acknowledged
and lamented curse of lawyer-ridden Eng-
land. In the hope of mitigating, if not
averting this evil, he caused digests of the
Hindoo and Mohammedan codes to be pre-
pared under his supervision, and forwarded
them to Lord Mansfield and other legal
functionaries, with an earnest entreaty that
they might be diligently studied ; and in
such changes as the altered state of affairs im-
mediately necessitated, he was careful, by
following the plain principles of experience
and common observation, to adapt all new
enactments to the manners and understand-
ing of the people, and the exigencies of the
country, adhering as closely as possible to
ancient usages and institutions. ||

There was justice as well as policy in this
procedure; and it is only to be regretted
that it was not carried out with sufficient
exactitude.  All attempts to force a code of
laws, however excellent, upon people un-
fitted by antecedent circumstances to receive
the boon, have proved abortive: a heathen
nation must be educated—and that often
very gradually—in the principles of truth
and justice brought to light by the Gospel,
before they can rightly appreciate the prac-
tical character of these virtues.
will not cease to steal, the perjuror to for-
swear, or the corrupt judge abstain from
bribery at mere human bidding ; a stronger
lever is requisite to raise the tone of
society, and produce a radical change in its
in Sanscrit by certain pundits (Hindoo doctors

of law), translated from Sanserit to Persian, and
thence to English. The Mohammedan code, such as
it is, has but one legitimate source—the Koran;
nevertheless, an immense mass had been written on
the subject, of which a digest called the Hedaya,
filling four large folio volumes, was framed by order
of Aurungzebe ; and of this work a précis was now
executed under the supervision of Hastings. The
Brahmins would accept nothing for themselves but |
bare subsistence during their two years’ labour.

Promises were made of endowments for their colleges, l

The thief |
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whole spirit, before publicvirtue could flourish [ries of Mohammed Reza Khan and Shita-
in a moral atmosphere so deeply vitiated as | broy, effected, it is asserted, a clear yearly
that of Bengal. After centuries of oppres- | saving of fifty-seven lacs of rupees, equiva-

sion and venality, the new rulers felt that
| their safest policy was to commence a
course of gradual amelioration, rather than
' of abrupt changes—abolishing only punish-
ments openly at variance with the common
dictates of humanity, such as torture and
mutilation. Stipendiary English magistrates
were appointed to act with native colleagues;
civil and criminal tribunals were established
in each district, under the check of two
supreme courts of appeal—the Suddur De-
wannee Adawlut, and the Nizamut Suddur
Adawlut. In these arrangements one great
error was, however, committed, in over-
looking, or wilfully setting aside, the system
- of punchayets, or Indian juries, which had,
| from time immemorial, been the favourite
and almost unexceptionable method of de-
ciding civil disputes.

The immediate difficulties of the presi-
dency at this period were, how to raise funds
wherewith to provide the investments, which
were expected to be regularly furnished
from the revenues; and to obtain relief from
a bond-debt, varying from a ecrore* to a
crore and a-half of rupees, the interest of
which alone formed an item of ten lacs in

the yearly disbursements. In a pecuniary
| point of view, the cessation of the encrmous
salary of nearly £100,000, paid to Moham-
med Reza Khan, was an advantage. He
had filled, during the preceding seven years,
the double office of naib-subah (properly
subahdar) and naib-dewan; that is to say,

he had been entrusted with the exercise of

all the higher powers of government, judi-
cial and financial (comprehended in the
nizamut), and likewise with the charge of
the education and management of the house-
hold affairs of Mubarik-ad-Dowlah ; the ex-
penditure of the yearly stipend of £320,000
having been entrusted exclusively to him.
Hastings now resolved on reducing the na-
bob’s allowance by one-half—a diminution
which, together with the stoppage of the sala-

but not performed.—(Hastings, iii., 158.) *A
crore of rupees, according to the existing standard,
amounted to much above a million sterling.

_ T The charge of oppressing the people, and apply-
ing the most cruel coercion to delinquent renters,
was certainly not disproved. Dow, who was in Ben-
gal during the early part of the administration of
Mohammed Reza Khan, declares that, on the plea of
their inability to fulfil their contracts being a pre-
tence, many of the zemindars were bound to stakes
and whipped with such unrelenting barbarity, that
“not a few of them expired in agonies under the

lent, at the then rate of money, to be-
tween six and seven hundred thousand
pounds. The youth and inexperience of
Mubarik-ad-Dowlah rendered it necessary
to nominate a new superintendent for his
establishment; and the selection made was
so strange, that it gave rise to much subse-
quent criticism, as to the real motive for
choosing a female, and yet setting aside the
mother of the prince. Hastings thought fit
to appoint to the post of gowvernante Mun-
nee Begum—a person who, previous to her
entrance into the seraglio of Meer Jaflier,
had been a dancing-girl, but who was now
possessed of great wealth; the ostensible
reason for the choice being “ the awe” with
which she was regarded by the mnabob, and
the 1mprobability of her forming any plots
against the English ralers. There were, of
necessity, many aflairs which eastern customs
forbade to be transacted by a woman ; and
the coadjutor chosen for her was Rajah Goor-
dass, the son of Nuncomar, who, because he
inherited neither the ability nor the guile of
his father, would, Hastings alleged, prove a
safe instrument of conferring favour on the
latter, and inducing him to make every
effort for the establishment of the guilt of
Mohammed Reza Khan. The Hindoo,
however, needed no incentive to stimunlate
his deep-rooted animosity against his Mus-
sulman rival ; yet, with all his ingenuity, he
failed to establish the justice of the charges
of embezzlement and monopolyt brought
against the ex-dewan, or to prevent his
acquittal, after prolonged examination before
a committee, over which the governor pre-
sided. The innocence, and more than
that, the excellent conduct, of Shitabroy,
and the great exertions made by him to
mitigate the sufferings of the people during
the famine, were clearly proved at an early
stage of the inquiry. A formal apology was
made for the restraint to which he had been
subjected ; and a sirpak, or costly state
lash ;" and many of the ryots, reduced to despair, fled
the country.—(Hindoostan, 1., exxxvi.) These state-
ments derive corroboration from the reasons given by
the directors for ordering the trial of the dewan. In
the same communication, allusion is made to the re-
peated accusations brought against the agents of
English officials, “not barely for monopolising
grain, but for compelling the poor ryots to sell even
the seed requisite for the next harvest.”—(Letter to
Bengal, 1771.) See Dr. Moodie's Tyansactions in
India for important information regarding the con-
duct of Mohammed Reza Khan during the famine.
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dress, with jewels, and an elephant richly
caparisoned, were presented, to adorn his
trinmphant return to Patna, to fill the office
of roy-royan—the highest to which a native
functionary could, by the recent regulations,
be appointed. No small degree of humilia-
tion was therefore blended with these marks
of returning favour, which, even if unalloyed,
would probably have arrived too late to
repair past wrongs. Ahove a twelvementh’s
detention in the uncongenial climate of
Calcutta, aggravated by the workings of a
proud spirit subjected to unmerited indig-
nity, inflicted a mortal injury on the health
of the brave chief, who died shortly after his
acquittal. The appointment of roy-royan
was, in testimony of his worth, transferred
to his son Callian Sing, to whom the
Iinglish, by the oddest assumption in the
world, thought fit “to confirm the title of
Maha Rajah.”* But the recent changes,
notwithstanding the diminution of expendi-
ture with which they were attended, did
not furnish ready money to cover the cur-
rent outlay of the civil and military ser-
vices of the presidency, which had risen
to an enormous height ; much less to meet
the demands of the company at home.
Hastings was deeply impressed with the
exigencies of the case; and although the
Court of Directors—however strongly they
urged the adoption of measures to procure
relief from the bond-debt by which their
movements were fettered—uniformly stated,
in the most forcible langnage, their desire
for the merciful government of the people
over whom they had assumed sway, and
urged the adoption of an honest and straight-
forward policy on all occasions, yet their
representative, on looking round him, and
perceiving the difficulties attendant on the
strict fulfilment of the various duties en-
Joined, thought it best, whatever else he
slighted, to obey the leading injunction of
getting money, comforting himself with the
belief that his employers would gladly re-
ceive the fruits of his success, without caring
to question the manner in which they had

* Letter from Bengal, Nov.,, 1773. The ancient
title of Maha Rajah (the great king), borne by the
highest Indian potentates before the Christian era,
was not, it appears, usurped by Hindoos in modern
times until the later Mogul emperors took upon them-
selves to confer titles, which their own usurpations
had rendered unmeaning, and which by Hindoo laws
could be obtained only by inheritance. Under the
English, “ Maha Rajahs” became very frequent ; and
Nuncomar held this title, which descended to his
son Goordass. I have been unable to trace the origin
of this celebrated man, or to find the authority upon
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been acquired. In this resolution he was,
no doubt, strengthened by the exceptional
mstance in  which, deviating from their
usual tone of instruction, they suggested
the policy of taking a shameful adv‘iintagc
of the condition of the emperor, by with-
holding from him the annual subsidy of
about £300,000, guaranteed by them in re-
turn for the perpetual grant of the dewan-
nee.t So flagrant an inconsistcncy was quite
enough to inspire Warren Hastings with a
general distrust of the sincerity and good
faith of his employers, and to incite ‘him
to grasp at immediate and unjust gains,
rather than frankly set forth the actual
position of affairs, and trust to the common
sense and humanity of the company to give
him time to develope the resources of the
country, invigorate its wasted trade, cheer the
drooping spirits of its industrious population ;
and, by these legitimate means, together
with reformatory measures for the reduction
of the illicit gains of Buropean officials, to
restore the commerce and revenue of Ben-
gal to a healthy and flourishing condition.

But such a course of conduct required
an amount of sturdy independence—or, better
far, of stanch religious principle—rarely
manifested by public men of any age or
country. Warren Hastings, gifted as he
was in many respects, had no pretensions of
this nature. A long series of years spent
in the company’s service, had rendered
their interest a primary consideration with
him.  Though lavish in his expenditure, he
had, as has been before shown, no avarice in
his composition. “He was far too en-
lightened a man to look upon a great empire
merely as a buccaneer would look on a gal-
leon.”{ The love of power and fame burned
strong within him ; and in taking possession
of the highest appointment in the gift of the
E. I. Cy., he expressed his disgust at the
possibility of the government of Bengal
continuing “to be a mere chair for a trien-
nial succession of indigent adventurers to
sit and hatch private fortunes in;”§ and
urged the advisability of being entrusted
which Macaulay speaks of him as the i head _of the
Brahmins of Bengal.”— (Zssay on Hastings, 36.)

+ As early as Nov., 1768, the select committee, in
a letter to angn], began to speculate on !indiy!g a
plea for breaking faith with the emperor ; remarking,
among other contingencies—**If he flings himself into
the hands of the Mahrattas, or any other power, we
are disengaged from him; and it may open a fair
Op])m'lllni‘l_\‘ of withholding the.tl\vemy-:‘zx _!:w's'_\ve
now pay him.”—(Thornton's British Iw_lm, ii,, 37.)

T Macaulay’s Essay on Warren Hastings, p. 10,

§ Gleig's Life of Hastings, 1., 377.
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resumed in the name of the company; and

with sufficient authority to carry into execn-
" tion, without check or hindrance, the ambi-

tious schemes which filled his mind, and to

the fulfilment of which he was ready to de-
" vote his life. The constitution of the presi-
dency was a subject of grave complaint with
him ; for, saving a certain prestige attached
to the chair, and the single privilege of a
casting vote, the governor had no superiority
over any other member of the board, except
the invidious description of exclusive au-
thority, occasionally conferred by private
communications, as in the case of Moham-
med Reza Khan.
A change was at hand, but by no means
such as Hastings desired; in the mean-
" while, during the continuance of the old
system, the majority of the councillors sided
with him, and enabled him to pursue his
own policy, despite the opposition and re-
monstrances offered by the minority on
various occasions, especially with regard to
his summary method of dealing with the
emperor. The removal of this unfortunate
prince from the immediate sphere of British
protection, was asserted to be sufficient justi-
fication not only for the withdrawal of the
yearly subsidy (to which the faith of the
company had been unconditionally pledged),*
but even for the repudiation of the arrears
which Shah Alum had been previously as-
sured were only temporarily kept back by
reason of the pecuniary difficulties occa-
sioned by the famine. Nor was this all : the
emperor, while at the merey of the arrogant
Mahrattas, was compelled to sign sunnuds,
or grants, making over to them Allahabad
and Corah. The governor left by him in
charge of these districts, knowing that the
order for their relinquishment had been
forcibly extorted, asked leave to place them
under British protection. Hastings agreed
with the Mogul officer in the impropriety of
obeying a mandate issued under compulsion ;
but that same mandate was not the less set
forth by him as conveying a formal renun-
ciation, on the part of Shah Alum, of these
districts, which were forthwith formally

* The very sunnuds which form the title-deeds
of the company, distinetly set forth the annual pay-
ment of twenty-six lacs to the emperor, Shah Alum,
as a first charge on the revenues of Bengal.

t Col. Smith attested that, in 1768, Shuja Dowlah
came to him, expressed his desire to possess Allaha-
bad and Corah, and “proffered four lacs of rupees
in ready money, and to swear secrecy on the Ko-
ran, if he would aid in its accomplishment.” The
same officer bore witness, that the emperor sen-
sibly felt the conduct of the vizier, and had de-
clared, with emotion, that it seemed as if he “ did

as their distance from Calcutta rendered
them too expensive possessions to be re-
tained without an addition of military force
quite disproportioned to the revenue deriv-
able therefrom, they were openly sold to
the man who had once before obtained them
by treachery and murder, and who (p.
287), after his defeat by the English, had
spared neither intrigue nor bribery for their
regainment.t It was an act quite unworthy
the representative of a great English asso-
ciation, to let the paltry sum of fifty lacs
induce him to sacrifice the last remnants of
dominion to which the unfortunate emperor
had been tanght to look as a refuge from
the worst evils that could befall him, to
the ambition of his faithless and ungrateful
servant. Sir Robert Barker remonstrated
carnestly against this procedure, which was
arranged after repeated private conferences
at Benares, held between Shuja Dowlah
and Mr. Hastings, during necarly three
weeks of close intercourse. e declared
it to be a flagrant breach of the treaty
of Allahabad of 1765, by which the dewan-
nee of Bengal was granted to the com-
pany ; and said that the emperor might, and
probably would, if opportunity offered,
bestow the sunnuds on a rival nation.
Hastings treated the possibility with scorn ;
declaring, “the sword which gave us the
dominion of Bengal, must be the instrument
of its preservation:” if lost, he added—
“the next proprietor will derive his right
and possession from the same natural char-
ter.”” Even had the imperial grants been
worth no more than the parchment they
were written on, the company would have
been unjustifiable in withholding the pur-
chase-money they had pledged themselves to
give : but the truth was, the sunnuds had a
real, though not very definite value, of which
Hastings was fully aware, thongh henow chose
to ridicule them as much as his predecessor
Clive had exaggerated their importance ; and
for precisely the same reason—of tempo-
rary expediency.f It is difficult for the
not wish him to have an habitation of his own on the
face of the earth.”—(Auber's India, i., 191-'2))

1 In 1784, when arguing in favour of aiding, in-
stead of oppressing the emperor, Hastings writes,
that he demanded assistance from the English on the
right of gratitude; asserting, “that when the French
and Hyder earnestly solicited his grants of the Car- |
natic, and offered large sums to obtain them, he
constantly and steadily refused them. We know, by |
undoubted evidence, that this is true.” These fir-
mauns had therefore a marketable value very different
to that of *“ waste paper.”"—( Life, iii., 192.)
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English reader to appreciate the feelings
which, in the minds of the Indian popula-
tion, lent a peculiar degree of legality to
grants unquestionably issued by the Great
Mogul. The powerful and arrogant ruler
of Oude ventured mnot on assuming the
style of a sovereign: he knew the temper
of neighbouring communities, and possibly
of his subjects, too well to attempt this
mnovation ; and his successor earnestly so-
licited, and at length with difﬁcult}; ob-
tained frem Shah Alum the title of vizier,
or first subject of an empire which had little
more than nominal existence, while he was
himself undisputed master of an indepen-
dent state as large as [reland.

The sale of Allahabad and Corah was
only one portion of the treaty of Benares.
The counterpart was an arrangement for
the hire of the British force to Shuja Dow-
lah, in the novel and degrading character of
mercenary troops; and this, notwithstand-
ing the repeated orders of the directors to

refrain from all participation in aggressive

warfare, and the recent (July, 1772) and
unanimous declaration of the council, when
called upon to assist their ally against the
invasions of the Mahrattas—* that no object
or counsideration should tempt or compel

- them to pass the political line which they

had laid down for their operations with the
vizier, which were to be defensive only;”

- adding, that “mnot a single sepoy was to
' pass the frontiers of his territories.””*

The people against whom Hastings agreed
to co-operate, in violation alike of the
orders of his employers and the resolutions
of his colleagues, were the Rohilla rulers of
the country lying N.W. of Oude and E. of
the Ganges. The establishment of this mili-
tary colony had been, as we have seen,

. forcibly effected during the decline of the

empire, partly by the retention of lands as
hereditary property, which had been origi-
nally granted on the ordinary jaghire tenure,
but chiefly by the aggressions of Ali Mo-
hammed Khan,t the adventurous leader of
an ever-increasing body of Afghans, whose
title was avowedly that of the sword. Suec-
cessive rulers of the Oude province—them-
selves usurpers of equally short standing—
had made various attempts to subdue Rohil-

* Auber’s British Power in India, i., 385.

+ Ali Mohammed is said to have been the son of
a Hindoo aheer or shepherd, adopted in inl'ur'w_v by
a Rohilla chief, and treated in all respects as his own
child.—(Swyar wl Mulakherin, iii., 20.)

{ The possessions of Hafiz Rehmet Khan joined
the western limits of Oude, and were situated en-

cund, and annex it to their own dominions,
but without any permanent result. The
country was, at the present time, divided into
numerous petty principalities, under inde-
pendent chiefs or sirdars, all of whom de-
rived their origin from the same stock, being
of one tribe—that of Ali Mohammed Khan,
The very nature of their power rendered
their union improbable for any other pur-
pose except temporary coalition against an
invading force; but in that event—if all
were true to the common cause—they could,
it was estimated, bring into the field 80,000
cffective horse and foot. Still it was less
their namber than their bravery, dexterity
with the sword, and skill in the use of war-
rockets, that had heretofore enabled them
to hold their ground against the imperial
troops, the rulers of Oude, and their worst
foes—the Mahrattas. Against the latter
they had fought with relentless fury on the
plains of Paniput ; and though, for a time, the
prudence of Nujeeb-oo-Dowla had averted
the threatened vengeance, the danger was
delayed, not dissipated. The open hostility
displayed by his son, Zabita Khan, to Shah
Alum, and the evident preparations made by
him for war at Seharunpoor, were followed
by the invasion of his territories by the
imperial troops, under a brave commander
named Nujeeb Khan, in conjunction with
the Mahrattas; but the latter contrived to
reap all the benefit of the enterprise.

Shuja Dowlah did not view without un-
easiness the prospect of the subjugation of
Rohileund by the Mahrattas. To have a
territory he had long coveted seized and
occupied by the most dangerous people all
India could furnish for neighbours, was a
calamity to be averted at any hazard; and
he gladly entered into an alliance with the
Rohillas, in 1773, to which the English
became a party, to make common cause
against the invaders. The leading Rohilla
chief, Hafiz Rehmet, whose territories formed
the western boundary of Oude,f though
compelled by dire necessity to consent to
co-operate with the nabob-vizier, as the sole
means of defence against an immediate and
overpowering foe, was so distrustful of his
ultimate designs, that he positively refused
to take the field against the Mahrattas until

tirely on the north side of the Ganges, except Etawa
and one or two straggling districts. Those of Zabita
K han commenced on the Jumna, about fourteen miles
from Delhi, and were bounded by Sirhind on the
west ; and those of Ahmed Khan Bungush, i}:rrdertltl
on the Corah country—Furruckabad being the
capital.—(Auber’s India, vol. i, 189.)
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assured by Sir Robert Barker, on the faith
of the English, that no ungenerous advan-
tage should be taken of his absence from
his own frentier by their mutual ally. This
temporary and precarious confederacy of
powers, strong only if heartily united, did
not prevent the hostile force from crossing
the Ganges and committing great ravages
in Rohilcund ; but their withdrawal was at
length purchased by a bond for forty lacs,
given by Hafiz Rehmet, on behalf of himself
and his fellow-chiefs, to Shuja Dowlah, who
became gunarantee for the gradual payment
The suc-

- ceeding events are very confusedly, and

- even contradictorily, related by different

inconsistent version, is given in the narra-

1
' writers. The native, and apparently least
\'

i
F * Life of Hafiz Rehmet, English
l

tive of the son of Hafiz Rehmet, who states
that the Mahratta leaders, Holear and
Sindia, subsequently negotiated with his
father to join them against Shuja Dowlah,
offering, as an inducement, to surrender to
him the bond given on his behalf, and a
share of such conquests as might be made
in Oude. The Rohiila chief, whom all autho-
rities concur in describing as of upright
and honourable character, refused to listen
to this proposition, and warned his ally
of the intended attack, which, however, the
Mahrattas were prevented by intestine strife
from carrying into execution. The ever-
treacherous and ungrateful vizier, relieved
from this danger, immediately demanded
the payment of the bond which he held
simply as a guarantee against loss, for the
benefit, not of the Mahrattas, but of hLim-
self and the English; and he had the art to
persuade the latter people that the deed in
question had actually been drawn up for the
express purpose of providing for the ex-
penses incurred in resisting the common
foe. Iluﬁ;% Rehmet, however disgusted by
this shameless demand, was not in a con-
dition to offer effectual resistance, having
lost many of his bravest commanders in
the recent hostilities. He therefore for-
warded hLis own share of the required
sum, and entreated his fellow-chiefs to fol-
low his example; but they refused to sub-
mit to such extortion; and after many
meffectual  attempts at compromise, he
reluctantly prepared for the inevitable con-
flict, observing, “that as he must die

Li : abridgment,
published l)_\:‘()rwntnl Translation Fund, pp. 112—
113.  Also Sir Robert Barker's evidence in 1781,

| Thornton's British Empire in India, ii., 44,

some time, he could not fall in a better
cause.”’#

Shuja Dowlah, notwithstanding the pains
he had taken to win over some of the minor
sirdars or governors, the indefensible cha-
racter of the country, and the vast numerical
superiority of his own trcops, was little
disposed to confront, without extraneous
assistance, the small but hardy Afghan
bands, who were resolved to struggle, even
unto death, in defence of their hearths
and homes in the fair valleys of Rohileund.
There were soldiers in India whose steady
disciplined valour might be depended upon
when fighting as hired mercenaries against
such combatants as these. A single English
battalion was to native armies as the steel
to the bamboo: with this addition they
became all-powerful ; without it, the death
of a favourite leader, the outburst of a
thunder-storm, a few wounded and ungov-
ernable elephants, or a hundred other pos-
sible and probable contingencies, might
change in an instant the shout of victory
and the eager advance, into the yell of
defeat and the headlong flight, amidst which
even the commanders would lack presence
of mind to issue any better orders than the
very watchword of panic—chellao ! chellao !
(zet on! geton!)f The deceitful represen-
tations made by Shuja Dowlah regarding
the reason for which he had been intrusted
with the Rohilla bond, was intended to give
the English a plausible pretext to aid him in
punishing an alleged breach of treaty. At
the same time, he was too well acquainted
with the wants and difficulties of the Cal-
cutta presidency, and with the character of
the governor, to feel any necessity for circum-
locution in intimating bis desire of seizing
Rohileund, and his readiness to pay a large
sum for the assistance of a British force in the
accomplishment of the projected usurpation.

Neither regard for the honour of his
nation, nor the dignity of his own position
as the representative of a great commercial
body, nor even for the private reputation
which he often declared “it had heen the
study of his life to maintain unblemished,”
withheld Hastings from receiving this pro-
position with favour, and even encouraging
it by dwelling on the advantages to be
derived by the projector from its execution.
The result was the insertion of a clause in

+ Fide Colonel Wilks" graphic narrative of the
battles of Hyder Ali, especially of his defeat by the
Mahrattas at Chercoolee, and flight to Seringapatam,
—(LListory of Mysoor, ii., 144.)




ENGLISH TROOPS HIRED TO EXTIRPATE ROHILLAS—1774.

329 i{

the treaty of Benares, by which the English | quiet spect

. sho qu ator of the fight, surrounded by
governor agreed to furnish troops to assist | his c 1

the ruler of Oude in “the reduction” or
expulsion of their late allies the Rohillas, for
a gratuity of forty lacs of rupees, to be paid
when the “ extermination” should be com-
pleted, the vizier to bear the whole charge
(computed at 210,000 rupees a month) of the
British force employed in the expedition.*
In the spring of 1774, the second of the
three brigades into which the Bengal army
was divided—viz., that of Allahabad,+ joinea
the forces of Shuja Dowlah, and the com-
bined troops entered the Rohilla country.
The English commander was possibly already
prejudiced against Hastings, on account of
the determination manifested by the latter
to keep the military under the complete
control of the civil authority; but this cir-
cumstance was not needed to deepen the
natural disgust excited by being employed
in an undertaking deservedly stigmatised as
“infamous.” The conduct of the nabob-
vizier was, from first to last, as bad as
cruelty, cowardice, and rapacity could make
it.  The Robillas, astounded by the ap-
proach of English troops, anxiously strove to
make terms of peace; but the demand of
the invader for fwo crore of rupees, evinced
his uncompromising resolve to proceed to
extremities. Hafiz Rehmet took post near
the city of Bareilly, with an army of 40,000
men. The English commenced the attack
by a cannonade of two hours and a-half,
the rapidity and persistance of which de-
feated the frequent attempts of the enemy to
charge; at length, after Hafiz Rehmet} and
one of his sons, with several chiefs of note,
had been killed whilst rallying their dis-
pirited followers, the rest turned and fled.
Shuja Dowlah had heretofore remained a

* Hastings avowed himself “ glad of any occasion
to employ the E. I. Cy’s forces, which saves so much
of their pay and expenses” (Life, i, 359); and
regrets being unable to derive “ some advantage from
the distractions of the Mahratta state.”—(i., 397.

+ The Allahabad brigade, established by Clive,
drew from Fort William no less than two million
sterling in five years. The sum of 30,000 rupees per
month, paid according to agreement by Shuja Dow-
lah, during that period, was scarcely felt as a relief,
for the officers in command contrived to reap the
chief benefit therefrom.—(Gleig's Life of Warren
Hastings, i., 343.)

{ The old warrior, conspicuous from hislong white
beard, stately bearing, and noble charger, when all
was lost, was seen to gallop forward to perish (to
our shame) on English bayonets.—(Heber, 1., 434.)

§ Warren Hastings remarked, that Colonel Cham-
vion had little reason to express indignation regard-
ing the destruction of the villages; and he quoted a

| avalry and a large body of artillery ; \
‘but the fortune of the day being decided,

his troops made up for their past inactivity |
by pursuing, slaughtering, and pillaging the
fugitives and the abandoned camp, “ while
the company’s troops, in regular order in
their ranks, most Justly observed,” (says
their commander), “ we have the honour of
and these banditti the profit.”

the day,
Then followed a fearful destruction of vil-
lages, the whole country being overspread
with flames for three days after the battle.
Colonel Champion vainly besought Shuja
Dowlah to give orders for the cessation of _
|thcsc atrocities; and he also appealed to
| Hastings§ to plead the cause of the unhappy
family of Hafiz Rehmet; but the answer
was, that such interference would probably
aggravate the sufferings it was designed to
alleviate : and this rebuff was accompanied
by an intimation that it was the business of |
Colonel Champion to fight and not to diplo-
matise, and that it was especially incumbent
on him to refrain from any line of conduct
which should afford the nabob-vizier a pre-
text for refusing to pay the forty lacs—lite-
rally, the price of blood. ‘
Thus sharply admonished, Colonel Cham-
pion was compelled to abide by the great
political maxim,” till then utterly disre-
garded in Anglo-Indian policy,—* that no
power which supports another as the mere |
second in a war, has the smallest right to
assume a prominent place in the negotia-
tions which are to conclude that war.”||
Shuja Dowlah was therefore suffered to
finish the affair entirely to his own satisfac-
tion ; which he did by following up the |
slaughter of about 2,000 Rohillas on the |
field of battle, with the expulsion of 18,000

letter written by this officer during the war with the
vizier, in 1764, in which he declared, that according
to his instructions he had been ravaging the enemy’s
country, and had “destroyed upwards of 1,000
villages.”  This barbarous system was unhappily
employed,without scruple, by European commanders;
and Clive especially, as a favourite measure, sub-
sidised bands of Mahrattas for the express purpose
of spreading devastation round the French settle-
ments and encampments. Orme’s work contains
irrefragable testimony of the desolating hostilities of
even Kuropeans, practised at the expense of the
wretched peasantry, who beheld every art of a
boasted civilisation employed in strife and blood- .
shed, and their fields not only ravaged by rival in-
vaders with fire and the sword, but even the mounds | |
reared with unwearied labour thrown dn_“n, and ‘
the waters let loose to destroy the cultivations pre- |
viously frrigated with unavailing toil. I

|| Life of Hastings, i., 439.
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of their countrymen, who, with their wives
and children,* were driven forth to beg,
~steal, or starve. The Hindoo peasantry,
who formed the mass of the population,
were unfavourably affected by the change. It
- was at first attempted to show that they
- had experienced a great benefit by being
delivered from the “ grinding tyranny” of
' the Rohillas; but other and more trust-
. worthy accounts, describe the case differ-
ently, and assert that these people, unlike
their race in general, encouraged agricul-
ture, while in another point they shared the
Afghan characteristic—of freedom from any
passion for the accumulation of wealth. The
population over whom they had usurped
sway, being left in the undisturbed posses-
sion of their religion aud customs, were
therefore probably better situated under
the immediate sway of these independent
chiefs, than beneath the delegated despotism
of the Mogul emperors.t Their expulsion
was, however, not quite complete; for one
chief, Fyzoolla Khan, continued to resist
the power of the usurper, and took post
with the remains of the army on the skirts
of the mountains near Pattir Ghur. After
some ineffectual attempts to dislodge him,
the vizier found his own troops becoming so
discontented from arrears of pay, that he
was glad to bring hostilities to a close, by
entering into an agreement with Fyzoolla
- Khan, who agreed to surrender half the
treasure which he had contrived to carry
off, on condition of receiving a grant of
Rampoor and certain dependent districts in
Rohileund, yielding a revenue of above
- £150,000 per annum.
 This arrangement was, however, hurried
to a conclusion more by a consideration of
the failing health of the vizier, than even
from the discontent of the troops. The
cause of his rapid decline was ostensibly
attributed to a cancerous disease; but the
Mussulman historian of these times alludes
to a current report—that it was the direct
consequence of a wound inflicted by the
hand of the daughter of Hafiz Rehmet, who,
when the murderer of her father filled up
the measure of his crimes by an attempt to
dishonour her, stabbed him with a small
:l‘nggcr she had concealed for the purpose.
The unhappy girl was immediately put to

* Stated by Colonel Champion at 100,000 souls.

t Hafiz ‘liehmcl is said to have been “an excel-
lent sovereign” (Heber, i., 434), and Fyzoolla Khan
“a liberal landlord.”—( Report on Rohileund 1808.)
’ { Siyar wl Mutalherin, iii., 268.
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death; but the wound she had inflicted,
though slight, proved mortal, the dagger hav-
ing been previously poisoned by her mother.
Such is the story told by Gholam Hussein
and his translator. The former denies, the
latter aflirms, its truth, and adduces certain
circumstances —such as the friendship of
the author for the sons of Hafiz Rehmet,
his alliance with the English, and other
causes, for a desire to pass slightingly over
so painful a matter.f This at least is cer-
tain,—that Shuja Dowlah, immediately after
the accomplishment of his much-desired
object, the possession of Rohilcund, was
seized by mortal sickness, while yet strong
in the full energy of middle life; that he
lingered through many months of intense
bodily anguish, and then died, leaving his
usurped dominions to a youth whose addic-
tion to the most hateful forms of sensuality
rendered him an object of general contempt.

The Rohilla war was the last transaction
of importance which marked the career of
Hastings as governor under the old system.
Among the other measures of this epoch,
was one of a quite unexceptionable charac-
ter—the removal of a tax on marriage. He
likewise exerted himself vigorously for the
suppression of gangs of thieves and plun-
derers, who, under the name of decoits,
committed terrible ravages in Bengal.
Troops of senassies, or religious mendicants,
(the pilgrim-gipsies of Hindoostan), did
great mischief under the cloak of fanatical
zeal. The truth was, that during the late
season of anarchy, crime of all descriptions
had been greatly augmented; and many
who had first laid violent hands on food, at
the instigation of ravening hunger, con-
tinued as a trade what they had yielded to
as a momentary temptation. The measures
adopted for suppressing gang-robbery were,
however, of a character so flagrantly unjust,
that no Christian governor could be justi-
fied in adopting, far less in initiating them.
Each convicted criminal was to be executed
in his native village, of which every member
was to pay a fine according to his substance;
and the family of the transgressor were to
become slaves of the state, to be disposed of
at the discretion of government. These
iniquitous regulations were enacted, not-
withstanding the avowed knowledge of the
presidency, that the custom of selling slaves
was alike repugnant to the doctrines of the
Koran and the Shastras. Moreover, it was
at this very time found necessary to take
measures to check the kidnapping of chil-

|
|
|




'l
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dren, and carrying them out of the country
in Dutch and Irench vessels,—a practice
which “had greatly increased since the
establishment of the English government.’’#

Hastings Governor-general. — The great
change in the constitution of the Bengal
presidency, decreed by the Regulating Act
of 1772-°3, was unwelcome intelligence to
the governor, who justly considered the actual
though ill-defined supremacy vested in the
Calcutta presidency, with the high-sounding
but empty title given to its head, poor
compensation for having his movements
fettered by four coadjutors, each one scarcely
less powerful than himself. The ercction
of a Supreme Court of judicature, to be con-
ducted by Englishmen after the national
method, he knew to be an innovation likely
to produce considerable dissatisfaction in
the minds of the natives; and the result
proved his surmise correct: but no small
part of the blame attaches to the individuals
of whom it was composed, their ignorance
of the customs of the people they came to
judge being aggravated by a haughty indif-
ference to the deep-rooted and undeviat-
ing adherence to ceremonial observances
and the rights of sex and caste, which form
so prominent a feature in the manners of
the whole native population, both Hindoo
and Mohammedan. IHastings, indeed, con-
soled himself for the dangerous character of
the new legal courts, because the chief jus-
tice, Sir Elijah Impey, his old schoolfellow
at Westminster, was the best man that
could have been chosen for the office “in all
England.”t Most authorities have formed
a very different estimate of the same person ;
and Muacaulay has not hesitated to declare,
that “no other such judge has dishonoured
the Inglish ermine since Jefferies drank
himself to death in the Tower.”f

Towards the new councillors— General
Clavering, Colonel Monson, and Mr. (after-
vards Sir Philip) Francis§—Hastings wasnot
favourably disposed. They knew this, and
came prepared to resent any semblance of
disrespect. The occasion offered itself be-
fore they set foot in Calcutta: the salute

* Revenue Consultations of April and May, 1774 ;
and official letters from Bengal of this date, quoted
in Auber's British Power in India, i., 432.

T Life of Hastings, i., 471.

| Hssay on Wayrren Hastings, p. 0.

§ Pronounced very decidedly by Macaulay to be
the author of the Zetters of Junius.—(Idem, p. 30.)
The strongest argument on the other side, is the
steady demal of Francis himself, which be reiterated
so late as 1817—that is, the year before his death, at
the advanced age of eighty-eight.
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from Fort William consisted of seventeen,
mmstead of twenty-one, discharges ; and the
expected guard of honour did not await
their landing.
stood the effect of these apparent trifles on
the minds of the natives of all ranks, and
had calculated the degree of respect abso-
lutely necessary to be shown to his colleagues:
s0, at least, they reasoned ; and within six
days after their arrival in October, 1774,
a struggle commenced, which rendered the
council-chamber of Calcutta a scene of
stormy debate for the space of four vears.

Mr. Barwell, the fourth member nomi-
nated by the Regulating Act, was an ex-
perienced Indian official. He had not always
been on good terms with Hastings; but
he now steadily, though with little effect,
adhered to him against the new-comers.
Hastings himself possessed a remarkable
degree of self-control,|| and rarely suffered
the violence of Clavering, the pertinacity of
Monson—or, worse than all, the sharp
tongue and ready pen of Francis—to drive
him from the ’vantage ground of equanimity,
or tempt him to lay aside the quiet tone of
guarded cynicism, to which the eloquent
enthusiasm of his earlier and purer life had
long since given place.

The Benares treaty and the Rohilla war
were the first subjects of discussion. On
the plea of keeping faith with the political
agentq placed by him at the court of Shuja
Dowlah, Hastings refused to produce the
correspondence ; and this cirenmstance, com-
bined with other manifestations of a desire
to crush or evade inquiry into matters in
which he was personally concerned, gave
rise to many grave imputations on his cha-
racter. The Rohilla war was deservedly
denounced by the majority as a shameful
expedient to raise money ; but, unhappily,

The governor-general under- |

party feeling against Hastings alloyed their

zeal, and ensured defeat by its own violence.

In diplomacy, all three combined were no

match for him, as they soon learned with
bitter mortification. The clause in their in-
structions which directed examination to be
made into past oppressions, was ample war-

i In the council-chamber at Caleutta hangs a por-
trait of Hastings, bearing the legend—* Mens equa in
arduts ;” and no better comment need be desired to
accompany the semblance of the pale face, slight
frame, singularly developed brow, penetrating eye,
and thin, firmly-closed lips of the man of whom
it has been said, “hatred itself could deny no
title to glory—exeept virtue.”—(Macaulay’s Zssay
on Warren Hastings, p. 92.)

9 The Mr. Middleton mentioned under such sus-
picious circumstances in the next page.
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rant for the inquiries instituted by them
into various complaints urged by natives of
rank against the governor.* — No doubt,
many of these were well founded ; for it is
not likely that a person, so indifferent to
the common rules of honesty and humanity
in all matters of foreign policy, would be seru-
pulously just in his internal arrangements.
But the most puzzling point in the quarrels
of this epoch, is the repeated accusation
brought against him of venality—urged with
a degree of vehemence which may be illus-
trated by a single extract from the oflicial
records, in which the “gentlemen of the
majority” (as Hastings sarcastically called
them) complain, in plain terms, of the for-
midable combination of reciprocal interest”
which he had established, ‘ by accepting
unwarrantable advantages himself, and con-
niving at those which were received by the
company’s servants.”’+ To this heavy charge
is added :—* In the late proceedings of the
revenue board, there is no species of pecula-
tion from which the honourable governor-
general has thought it right to abstain.”{
' It has been before stated, that Hastings
was not avaricious—far from it: he had
neither taste nor talent for the accumulation
of wealth, and appears to have habitually
I mismanaged his pecuniary affairs. For that
very reason, the high salary attached to his
office proved insufficient to cover his ill-
| regulated expenditure : and this circum-
stance may account for his having availed
' himself of means to recruit his own ex-
| chequer, closely resembling in character
those simultaneously employed by him on
behalf of the company.
! Many specific accusations were urged
i against him. Among others, the extra-
ordinary appointment of Munnee Begum
} as guardian to the nabob, was now distinctly
|

* Among these was the ranee of Burdwan, the
relict of the late rajah, Tillook Chund, whose an-
cestors had governed their rightful heritage as a
zemindarree during the whole period of Moham-
| medan rule. The ranee complained that she had
. been set aside from the government during the mi-

nority of her son, a boy of nine years old, to make
| room for a corrupt agent. Another accusation
| brought against Hastings was that of unduly favour-
| ing his native steward, named Cantoo Baboo (a
| former servant of Clive's), who had been not only
| allowed to farm lands to the value of £150,000 per
| annum, but also to hold two government contracts,
one in his own name, and the other in that of his
son, a boy of ten or twelve years of age, amounting
to a still higher sum.—(Dr,” Moodie’s Zransactions
in India, p. 241.)

T The majority steadily refused even the customary
presents or nuzzurs (of comparatively small value,
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stated to have been purchased by her in the
first Instance, and subsequently retained by
bribery ; and it was alleged in corroboration,
that in the examination of her receipts and
disbursements, a large sum remained unac-
counted for. She was placed under restraint,
and on being closely questioned as to the
cause of the defalcation, she pleaded having
given three lacs of rupees to the governor-
general and his immediate retainer, Mr.
Middleton.§ The receipt of this sum was
not denied; but Hastings vindicated his
own share in the transaction, by asserting
that the lac-and-a-half taken by him had
been used as “entertainment money,” to
cover the extraordinary outlay necessitated
by his visit to Moorshedabad, over and above
the charge of upwards of 30,000 rupees made
by him on the Calcutta treasury for travelling
expenses ; together with a large additional
sum for his.companions and attendants.

This explanation is quite insufficient as re-
gards the exaggerated scale of expenditure
adopted by the governor-general during his
absence from Calcutta ; far less can it justify
so large a deduction from the income of the
nabob, immediately after his allowance had
been cut down to the lowest point. The
result of the investigation was the removal
of Munnee Begum from office, and her
supersession by Rajah Goordass, the son of
Nuncomar, by whom the accusation of col-
lusion between the begum and the governor
had been preferred. The appointment was
the act of the majority, conferred—not, of
course, for the sake of Goordass, who was
deemed incapable of doing much good or
harm—but as a strong mark of the feelings
entertained by them to his father ; although,
at this very time, as Hastings savagely de-
clared,“ the old gentleman was in gaol, and
in a fair way to be hanged.”||

offered by the natives of rank), as a dangerous prac-
tice ; and commented severely on the reasons adduced
by Hastings for receiving and paying them into the
company’s treasury, and by Barwell for receiving and
retaining them.—-( Letter from Bengal, October,1774.)

I Consultations of Bengal Couneil, May, 1775.

§ Of the lac-and-a-half of rupees (which, by the
existing standard, considerably exceeded £135,000 in
value) no account was ever rendered, or defence set
up, by Mr. Middleton.—(Mill's Zndiu, iii., 633.)

[| The concentrated bitterness of this expression
appears in a striking light when contrasted with the
singular moderation of Hastings at the time of the
trial of Mohammed Reza Khan, on the charges of
wholesale plunder and sanguinary oppression. He
then remarked on the little chance of capital punish-
ment being inflicted, let the trial end how it would ;
giving as a_reason—“On ne pend pas des gens qui
ont un million dans leur poche.”—(Life, i., 264.)

|
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The meavs by which the most dangerous
and deadly foe ever enconntered by Hastings
was dashed to the ground at the very moment
when his hand was uplifted to strike, are of
a nature which must ever leave some degree
of uncertainty as to the degree of culpability
attributable to the chief actors.*

The antecedent circumstances require to
be rightly understood before any clear con-
ception can be formed on a matter which
created no ordinary degree of interest in
the mind of the English public, and afforded
to Burke a fitting theme for some of the
most thrilling passages in his eloquent
speeches, in the long subsequent impeach-
ment of Iastings. It will be remembered
that Nuncomar, previous to his appointment
as naib-dewan to Meer Jaffier, had been
detained at Calcutta by order of the direc-
tors, on the ground of being a dangerous

intriguer, whose liberty might endanger the

safety of the state ; and this conclusion was
arrived at mainly through evidence brought
forward by Hastings, who conducted the
examination, and was known to entertain a
very unfavourable opinion of Nuncomar.
At the period of the trial of Mohammed
Reza Khan, the governor-general took great
credit for the manner in which, notwith-
standing his private feelings, he had entered
freely into all the complaints brought for-
ward by the Brahmin ex-dewan against his
Mussulman successor. He even showed
Nuncomar considerable personal attention
until the termination of the affair, when
the accusations not being established,
were pronounced malicious and libellous.
Nuncomar felt that he had been used as a
mere tool ; and, stung to the soul by the
disgrace in which his ambitious schemes
had terminated, he retired into temporary
obscurity, and eagerly waited an oppor-
tunity of revenge.

The dissensions which took place in the
council, speedily afforded the desired op-
portunity ; and just four months after the
establishment of the new government, Nun-
comar presented a memorial to the council,_
which contained a formal statement of
bribes, to a great extent, reccived by the
governor-general from Mohammed Reza
Khan, as the price of bringing the nquiry
into his conduct to a favourable termination.
Francis read the paper aloud: a stormy

* One of the most moderate and unprejudiced
authorities on this subject truly remarks, that
“gpinions may, indeed, differ as to the extent of
Hastings’ culpability ; but he must be a warm parti-
X, 2x

~

altercation followed. Hastings, for once,
lost all temper; called his accuser the bhasest
of mankind ; indignantly denied the right of
the councillors to sit in judgment on their
superior; and, upon the request of Nun-
comar to be heard in person being granted
by the majority, he left the room, followed |
by Barwell. General Clavering took the
vacant chair,—Nuncomar was ecalled in,
and, in addition to the previous charges, he
alleged that two crore and a-half of ru-
pees had been paid by Munnee Begum to
Hastings, and that he had himself pur-
chased his son’s appointment, as her col-
league in office, with another crore.
Hastings felt the ground giving way be-
neath his feet. The arrangement (to use
the most lenient epithet) between him and
Munnee Begum, regarding the “ entertain-
ment money,” would, if other testimony
were wanting, suffice to prove that he had
not scrupled to obtain, in a more or less
surreptitious manner, large sums in addition
to the regular salary (£25,000 per annum),
and allowances attached to his position of
governor-general. The probability was a
strong one, that the various and specific
charges which the vindictive Brahmin was
prepared to maintain at the hazard of his
life, would contain at least sufficient truth
to enable the adversaries of Hastings to
triumph over him, by the ruin of the repu-
tation he had, from early youth, spent
laborious days and anxious nights in aec-

quiring. To lose this was to lose all: he
had no extraneous influence with the

crown, the ministers, in parliament, or even
with the company, sufficient to prop up his
claims to the high position which credit for
personal disinterestedness, still more than
for great and varied talents, had obtained
for him. With a mind depressed by gloomy
apprehension, he prepared for the worst;
and, to avoid the last disgrace of dismissal,
placed in the hands of two confidential
agentst in London his formal resignation, to
be tendered to the directors in the event of
a crisis arriving which should render this
humiliating step of evident expediency.
Meanwhile he met his foes with his usual |
undaunted mien, and carried the war into
the ememy's country, by instituting pro-
ceedings in the Supreme Court against Nun-

'
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comar and two kinsmen, named Fowke, in | |

san, indeed, who will go to the length of declaring

that the hands of the governor-general were alto-

gether clean.”"—(Thornton's British India, i1, T1.) |
+ Col, Macleane and Mr, Graham. ‘



534 NUNCOMAR TRIED BEFORE SIR ELIJAH IMPEY FOR FORGERY

the company’s service, for an alleged con-
spiracy to force a native, named Camul-oo-
deen, to write a petition reflecting falsely
and injuriously on himself and certain of|
his adherents, including his banyan Cantoo
Baboo, on whom he was known to have
conferred undue privileges. Clavering, Mon-
son, and Francis, after hearing the evidence
adduced at an examination before the
judges, placed on record their conviction
that the charge was a fabrication, and had
no foundation whatever in truth. Within
a few days from this time a more serious |
offence was alleged against Nuncomar— |
he was arrested on a charge of forging a
bond five years before, and thrown into the
common gaol. The ostensible prosecutor
was a native of inconsiderable station; but
Hastings was then, and is still, considered
to have been the real mover in the busi-
ness. The majority manifested their con-
victions in the most conspicuous manner :
they dispatched urgent and repeated mes-
sages to the judges, demanding that Nun-
comar should be held to bail; but to no
purpose. The assizes commenced; a true
bill was found; Nuncomar was brought
before Sir Elijah Impey, and after a pro-
tracted examination, involving much con-
tradictory swearing, was pronounced guilty
by a jury of Englishmen, and condemned to |
death.

The animus of the whole affair could not
be mistaken: all classes were infected by a |
fever of excitement; and Clavering, it is |
said, swore that Nuncomar should '

be |
rescued, even at the foot of the gallows.
Impey behaved throughout the trial with
overbearing violence, and not only refused
to grant a reprieve until the pleasure of the
home authorities should be known, but even
censured the counsel of Nuncomar, in open
court, for his laudable attempt to prevail on |
the foreman of the jury to join in recom- |
mending his client to mercy.* Hastings, |
who might, had he chosen, have set his cha-
racter in the fairest light by procuring the
respite of his accuser, remained perfectly

* Thornton’s British India, ii., 84. Burke pub-
licly accused Hastings of having “ murdered Nunco- |
mar, through the hands of Impey.” Macaulay views
the matter more leniently as regards Hastings ; but
d(fez:ns the main point at {ssue quite clear to everyone,
“idiots and biographers excepted,” and considers any
lingering doubt on the subject quite set aside by the
strong language in which Impey was subsequently
described by Hastings as the man “ to whose sup-
port I was at one time indebted for the safety of my |
fortune, honour, and reputation.”—(ii., 255.) But this

quiescent, and thereby confirmed the general

conviction that he dared not encounter the

charges of Nuncomar.

The sufficiency of the evidence by which
the act of forgery was established, is a
question of secondary importance when
compared with the palpable injustice of
inflicting capital punishment for a venial
offence on a person over whom the judges
had but a very questionable claim to exer-
cise any jurisdiction at all.+ Forgery in
India was the very easiest and commonest
deseription of swindling—a practice which
it was as needful, and quite as difficult, for
men of business to be on their guard against
in every-day life, as for a lounger in the
streets of London to take care of the
handkerchief in his great-coat pocket.
The English law, which made it a capital
offence, was just one of those the introduc-
tion of which into Bengal wonld have been
most vehemently deprecated by Hastings,
had he not been personally interested in its
enforcement. The natives, both Mussul-
man and Hindoo, were astounded at the
unprecedented severity of the sentence ;
many of them, doubtless, remembered the
notorious forgery of Clive, and the fate of
Omichund : and now an aged man, a Brah-
min of high caste, was sentenced to a
public and terrible doom for an act, a little
more selfish in its immediate motive, but
certainly far less dreadful in its effects.
The offence which had not barred an Eng-
lishman’s path to a peerage, was now to
doom a Hindoo to the gallows. And yet
not so; the ostensible reason deceived no
one; and even the warmest partisans of
Hastings could not but view Nuncomar
rather as the determined opponent of the
governor-general, about to pay with life the
forfeit of defeat, than as a common felon,
condemned to die for a petty erime. The
Mussulmans were mostly disposed to view
with exultation the fate of the inveterate foe
of Mohammed Reza Khan; but the Hindoos

- waited in an agony of shame and doubt the

dawn of the day which was to witness the

evidence is not unexceptionable, since it is Very pos-
sible that these words referred to the important de-

 cision of the judges, at a subsequent crisis in the ca-

reer of Hastings, when his resignation was declared
invalid, and Clavering reluctantly compelled to relin-

| quish his claim to the position ol guvernor-general.

t Inasmuch as Nuncomar was not a voluntary in-
habitant of Caleuttn at the time when the offence
was said to have been committed, but a prisoner
brought and detained there by constraint, under
the circumstances referred to in the preceding page.



ignominious end of a Brahmin who, by their
laws, could, for the darkest crime ever
pictured by the imagination of man, only
be punished with loss of caste. The fatal
morning of the 5th of August arrived, and
- Nuncomar stepped into his palanquin with
 the dignified screnity so often displayed by

his countrymen when brought face to face

with a violent death, and was borne through
conntless multitudes, who beheld the melan-

choly procession with an amazement which
- swallowed up every other feeling. Calmly
- mounting the scaffold, the old man sent a
- last message to the three councillors who

| 5 . 3
would, he knew, have saved him if possible,

commending to their care his son, Rajah
Goordass. He then gave the signal to the
executioner. The drop fell, and a loud and
terrible cry arose from the assembled popu-
lace, which immediately dispersed—hun-
dreds of Iindoos rushing from the pol-
luted spot to cleanse themselves in the
sacred waters of the Hooghly.

The majority in council, thus publicly
defeated, sympathised deeply with the fate
of this victim to political strife; and the
older Eungiish officials could not but remem-
ber for how many years Nuncomar had

played a part, of selfish intrigue it is true,
but still an important and conspicuous part
in Anglo-Indian history ; for his co-opera-
tion had been gained at a time when gover-
nors and members of council, then mere
commercial factors, paid assiduous homage
to native functionaries.® The feelings of
Hastings may be conjectured from an ex-

* Nuncomar was governor of Hooghly in 1736.
He was induced by the English to take part with
them against his master, Surajah Dowlah, whose
orders of affording aid to the French when besieged
in Chandernagore he disobeyed, to serve his secret
allies, to whom on several occasions he rendered con-
siderable service, and in so doing incurred the sus-

icions of the nabob, and was dismissed from office.
1is subsequent career has been shown in ]H‘e\'in}lﬁ
pages; its termination adds another name to the list
of remarkable deaths which awaited the chief actors
in the conspiracy that was carried into execution on
the field of Plassy. At the division of spoil which
took place in the house of the Seit brothers, l‘ll-.lll.'
persons were present. Of these, three (the Seits
and Roy-dullub) were murdered by Meer Cossim
Ali; the fourth (Clive) died by his own hand; the
fifth (Meeran) perished by lightning; the sixth
(Scrafton) was lost at sea; the seventh (()mlchum?)
died an idiot; the eighth (Meer Jaffier) went to his
grave groaning under every suffering which pecu-
niary difficulties, domestic sorrows, and I:('l(]l]_\'f!ISL:uS('S,
resulting from debauchery, could inflict. Of the
death of Mr. Watts I have seen no record. Gassitee
Begum, and several confederates not present on the
occasion above referred to, were put to death at

EXECUTION OF THE MAHA-
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pression which escaped him many years
later, that he had never been the personal
enemy of any man but Nuncomar,t “ whom
from my soul I detested even when T was
compelled to countenance him.” He like-
wise foresaw the effect the fate of his fallen
foe would produce in the minds of the na-
tives. To contest with a fortunate man, was,
n their sight, especially in that of the Mo-
h‘amm(_‘:dun population, like fighting against
Gor;l hlp:self—as futile, and, in some sort,
as 1mpious. As to the power of the ma-
Jority in council, its prestige was gone for
ever; although, how the right of making
war and peace, levying taxes, and nomi-
nating officials, came to be vested in one
set of men, and the exclusive irresponsible
infliction of capital punishments in another,
was a question quite beyond the comprehen-
sion of the Bengalees. The governor-general
felt relieved from the danger of any more
native appeals, pecuniary or otherwise ;7 and
whilst the air was yet filled with weeping
and lamentation, he sat down to write a
long and critical letter to Dr. Johnson about
the Tour to the Hebrides, Jones’ Persian
Grammar, and the history, traditions, arts,
and natural productions of India.  From
this time he renounced all idea of resigning
his position, and repeatedly declared, in
both official and private communications,
that nothing short of death or recall should
hinder him from seeing the result of the
struggle with his colleagues. That result
may be told in his own words—* his adver-
saries sickened, died, and fled,”§ leaving him

various times.
in obseurity.

t Life, iii., 338. This speech needs qualification ;
for Hastings, on his own showing, entertained for
Francis, Clavering, and many minor functionaries,
a feeling for which it would be difficult to find
any other name than personal enmity. One gentle-
man, appointed by the majority to supersede a fa-
vourite nominee of his own as resident at Oude, he
speaks of as “ that wretch Bristowe ;” and entreats his
old friend Mr. Sulivan {the ancient opponent of Clive,
and the chairman of the Court of Directors) to help
rid him “ from so unworthy an antagonist,” declaring
that he would not employ him, though his life itself
should be the forfeit of refusal.—(ii., 336.)

1 Francis, when examined before parliament in
1788, declared, that the effeet of the execution of
Nuncomar, defeated the inquiries entered into re-
garding the conduct of Hastings; “ that it impressed
a general terror on the natives with respect to pre-
ferring accusations against men in great power;” and
that he and his coadjutors were unwilling to expose
them to what appeared to him and his fellow-coun-
citlors, as well as to the Bengalees, a manifest
danger.—(Mill, iii., 641.)

§ Life of Hustings, iii., 305.

Meer Cossim himself died poor and
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- Hastings, joined to the undeviating support

' 836 HASTINGS REPUDIATES RESIGNATION TENDERED BY HIS AGENT.

the undisputed master of the field. The
first to fail was Colonel Monson, who, after
two months’ sickness, fell a victim to the
depressing influence of climate, and the wear
and tear of faction. The casting vote of

of Barwell, restored his eomplete ascendancy
in councili, which he exercised by reversing
all the measures of his adversaries, displacing
their nominees tc make way for officials of
his own appointment, and by reverting to
his previous plans of conquest and dominion,
of which the leading principle was the
formation of subsidiary alliances with the
native princes, especially of Oude and Berar,
—a policy which, in skilful hands would, he
foresaw, act as a powerful lever wherewith to
raise England to a position of paramount
authority in India. But once again his
ambitious carcer was destined to receive a
severe though temporary check. The ac-
counts sent home by the Clavering party,
furnished both the government and the
directors of the E. I. Cy. with strong argu-
ments for his immediate recall. With the
proprietors he had been, and always con-
tinued to be, a special favourite, and they
vehemently opposed the measure.  Still
there seemed so little chance of his con-
tinuance in office, save for a limited time,
and on the most precarious and unsatisfac-
tory tenure, that his agents and friends, after
much discussion, thought themselves war-
ranted in endeavouring to effect a compro- |
mise, by tendering his voluntary resignation
i return for a private guarantee on the part
of government for certain honours and advan-
tages not clearly stated. The resignation was |
proffered and accepted, but it appears that |
the conditions annexed to it were not ful-
filled; for the mnegotiators sent Hastings
word, by the same ship that brought an
order for the occupation of the chair by
General Clavering (pending the arrival of
the newly-appointed governor-general, Mr. |
Wheler), that they hoped he would not
abide by the pledge given on his behalf,
since the stipulations made at the same time
had been already flagrantly violated

On receipt of this varied intelligence,
Hastings was, or affected to be, at a loss
. " See Letters of Macleane and Stewart.—( Life,
il., 9-3.). 'l h(-"‘ gross breach” of agreement so lmu.ll)'
complained of, was the investment of General Claver-
ing with the order of the Bath. This same “ red
ribbon” created as much spleen and envy among the
English functionaries, as the privilege of carrving
a fish on their banners did among the ancient Mogul

nobility ; and a strange evidence of the consequence,

how to act; but the violence of General
Clavering in attempting the forcible assump-
tion of the reins of government, afforded
him an inducement or a pretext to repu-
diate the proceedings of his representatives
in London, and declare that his instructions
had been mistaken; that he had not, and
would not resign. Clavering insisted that
the resignation which had been tendered
and accepted in Englaud, could not be
revoked in India: he therefore proceeded,
with the support of Francis, to take the
oaths of office, issue proclamations as gover-
nor-general, hold a council, and formally
demand the surrender of the keys of the
fort and the treasury. But Hastings had
the advantage of that possession which an
old adage pronounces to be “nine-tenths of
the law :” he warned the officers of the gar-
rison at Fort William, and of all the neigh-
bouring stations, to obey no crders but his
at their peril, and altogether assumed so
daring an attitude, that his adversaries
shrank from the alternative of civil war,
and counsented to abide by the decision of
the judges. The notorious partiality of the
chief justice left little doubt of the issue;
but apart from any such bias, the deccree

cwas sufliciently wch-gmundcd. The right

of Clavering rested on the resignation of
Hastings, and IHastings would not resign.
In such a case the most reasonable course
was to let things remain as they were, pend-
ing the decision of the home authorities.
The defeated party, and especially Francis,
behaved with unexpected moderation; but
the victor, not contented with his triumph,
strove to prevent Clavering from reassuming
his place in the council, on the ground that
it had been formally vacated, and could not
be reoccupied except with the combined
sanction of the ministers and directors.
This absurd proposition Hastings maintained
with all the special pleading of which he
was an unrivalled master; but the judges
could not, for very shame, support him, and
Clayering was suffered to resume his former
position. These proceedings ocenrred in June,
1777.  They had a most injurious effect on
the health of the high-principled but hasty-
tempered general; so much so, that Hastings’
attributed to the intriguing nabob of Arcot at the
English court, was afforded by the knightly insignia
being sent to him, with authority to invest therewith
General Coote, and the royal ambassador, Sir John
Lindsay.— (Auber’s India, i, 306.) The greatest
wonder is, that the honest and plain-spoken general
did not flatly refuse to receive the honour by the
hand of one he so thoroughly despised.;
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authority he so ardently desired to obtain,
and which, for many reasons, it seemed
advisable to vest in the governor-general.
These considerations procured for Hastings
" a temporary confirmation in office after the
- expiration of the term originally fixed by
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| prophecy that he would soon die of vexa-
 tion, was realised in the following August.#
Mr. Wheler, on his arrival in November,
was compelled to content himself with the
rauk of a councillor, instead of the high
office he had expected to fill. National
difficulties fast following one another, en-
- gaged the whole attention of English poli-
ticians ; and war with America, conjoined to
the hostility of France, Spain, and Holland,
with the armed neutrality of the Baltic,
and growing discontent in Ireland, left the
- ministry+ little inclination to begin reforms
in India, which must commence with the
removal of a man whose experience, energy,
-and self-reliance might be depended upon
in the most perilous emergency for the de-
fence of British interests in India ; although,
in less critical times, his aggressive policy
necessitated an amount of counter-action
inconsistent with the wunchecked

the Regulating Act. In 1779, a new par-
liamentary decree announced that the
£1,400,000 borrowed of the public, having

- been repaid by the company, and their bond-

debt reduced to £1,500,000, they were

authorised to declare a dividend of eight
per cent. The raising of the dividend seems
to have been an ill-omened measure; for
once again it was followed by an increase
of pecunilary distress, which not even the
inventive brain and strong arm of the gover-

nor-general could find means to dissipate,
although the departure of Francis freed
him from the restraining presence of a se-
vere and prejudiced, though public-spirited
censor.
partial and temporary reconciliation took
place, effected under peculiar circumstances,
through the mediation of Mr. Barwell, who,
having amassed an ample fortune, returned
to enjoy it in England in 1780. Unanimity
in the council was indeed of the first neces-
sity to meet a great and instant danger—
namely, the alarming excitement occasioned
among the native population by the perse-

* It was about this period that the news of the

| much-desired divorce arrived, which enabled the

Baroness Imhoff to become Mrs. Hastings. The
Mussulman chronicler, in relating the splendid fes-
tivities with which the marriage was celebrated,
asserts that the governor-general, vexed at the ab-
sence of Clavering, went himself to his house, and

vering attempts of the Supreme Court to
extend its jurisdiction over the whole of the
company’s territory, and to exert a control- |
Ing power even over the council itself. |
Macaulay has drawn a picture of this period
in language too vivid and graphic to be
condensed, and which has a peculiar value
as proceeding from the pen of one who him-
self filled the position of councillor in the
Bengz‘d presidency, in an expressly legal
capacity. In enumerating the evils at-
tending the new tribunal, he states that it
had “ collected round itself,”—

“ A banditti of bailiffs’ followers compared with
whom the retainers of the worst English spunging-
houses, in the worst times, might be considered as
upright and tender-hearted. Many natives highly
considered among their countrymen were seized,
hurried up to Calcutta, flung into the common gaol,
not for any crime even suspected, not for any debt
that had been proved, but merely as a precaution
till their cause should come to trial. There were in-
stances in which men of the most venerable dig-
nity, persecuted without a cause by extortioners, died
of rage and shame in the gripe of the vile alguazils
of Impey. The harems of noble Mohammedans,
sanctuaries respected in the east by governments
which respected nothing else, were burst open by
gangs of bailifis. The Mussulmans, braver, and less
accustomed to submission than the Hindoos, some-
times stood on their defence; and there were in-
stances in which they shed their blood in the door-
way, while defending, sword in hand, the sacred
apartments of their women. Nay, it seemed as if
the faint-hearted Bengalee, who had crouched at the
feet of Surajah Dowlah—who had been mute during
the administration of Vansittart, would at length
find courage in despair. No Mahratta invasion had
ever spread through the province such dismay as
this inroad of English lawyers. All the injustice of
former oppressors, Asiatic and luropean, appeared
as a blessing when compared with the justice of a

Before their final separation, a

Supreme Court.”™ * * * “The lapse of sixty
years, the virtue and wisdom of many eminent
magistrates who have during that time administered
justice in the Supreme Court, have not effaced from
the minds of the people of Bengal the recollection of
those evil days."—(Escay, p. 49.)

The power of the Supreme Court con-
tinued to increase, until 1t seemed as if
every other function of government would
be swept away in the vortex created
by its ever-growing circles. Not satis-
fied with treating with the utmost con-
tempt the magistrates and judges of the
highest respectability in the counary, the
“black agents,” as the chief justice con-
at length brought him in triumph to pay homage to
the bride. The fatigue and excitement, perhaps,
accelerated a crisis, for the general died a few days
later.—(Siyar ul Mutakherin, ii,, 477.)

t The dissolution of the Rockingham min:stry, by
the sudden death of its chief, in 1782, was one of the
circumstances which prevented Hastings’ recall.

—_—
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temptuously termed them,* he at length
fairly ventured upon a distinet assumption
of dominant authority in Bengal, by sum-
moning the governor-general and cpuncil
individually to defend themselves against a |
suit for trespass committed by them in their
official capacity. Hastings could bear much
from his “respectable friend, Sir Elijah
Impey;” but there were limits even to his
tolerance ; and Francis, who had long vehe-
mently remonstrated against the tyranny of
the Supreme Court, willingly shared the
responsibility of releasing various persons
wrongfully imprisoned by the judges, and
of preparing to resist the outrageous pro-
ceedings of the sherift’s officers, if necessary,
by the sword. But before matters had pro-
cceded to the last extremity, a compromise
was effected between the governor-general
and chief justice, by means of an offer which
the former had clearly no right to make,
and the latter no shadow of excuse for ac-
cepting. It will be remembered, that before
the Regulating Act came into operation in
India, a court of appeal had been projected,
under the title of Sudder Dewannee Adawlut,
to consist of the governor-general and
council 1n person; but this arrangement
had not been carried out, because the in-
tended members feared to find their deci-
sions set aside by the overweening authority
assumed by the “king’s judges,” as the
officers of the Supreme Court delighted to
style themselves, in contradistinetion to the
company’s servants. It was precisely this
independence (in itself so just and neces-
sary, though misused in unworthy and in-
discreet hands) that Hastings desired to
destroy; and he did so, for the time at
least, most effectually, by offering Impey,
'in addition to the office already held by
him, that of chief justice of the Sudder De-
| wannee Adawlut, with a salarv and fixed
emoluments amounting to nearly £8,000
a-year, to be held during the pleasure of the
governor-general and council. Franeis and

. Wheler united in opposing this arrange-

' ment, and stated, in plain terms, that the

idea of establishing peace upon the ground |

of adverse claims still unrelaxed, and which
' nothing even appeared to reconcile but the
lucrative office given to the chief justice,
could be maintained only upon suppositions
' highly dishonourable to the public justice

i * Letter of Impey to Lord Weymouth.—(Mill.)

| 1 Report of Committee, 1781,
1 Sir E. Coote,who had taken the place of Barwell,
| seconded Hastings, though with doubt and hesitation.

and to the executive administration of
Bengal. This view of the case was per-
fectly just. Even as far as the rival func-
tionaries (exccutive and judicial) were con-
cerned, it could produce only a temporary
pacification, while its worst eflect was—as a
parliamentary committee afterwards aflirmed
—that it gave the governor-general an as-
cendancy by which he was “ enabled to do
things, under the name and appearance of a
legal court, which he would not presume to
do in his own person.”t The measure was
carried by Hastings and Coote,f in defiance
of Francis and Wheler; and the chief jus-
tice entered on his double functions, and
the receipt of his double salary, with much
alacrity, but considerably diminished arro-
gance, and continued to give undeviating
allegiance to his patron, until news arrived
of an act of parliament, passed in 1782, for
the limitation of the powers of the Supreme
Court of judicature ; accompanied by the re-
call of Impey, to answer before the House
of Commons the charge of having ““accepted
an office not agreeable to the true intent
and meaning of the act 13 Geo. [11.”

The ascendancy of [lastings afforded
some relief to the natives against wanton
outrage, and the subsequent restraint laid
on Anglo-Indian jurisdiction, contributed to
their further relief. But the terrible pres-
tige given by the unwarrantable proceedings
of these times could not easily pass away.
Moreover, even when its first terrors had
been set aside, the labyrinth of innu-
merable and inexplicable forms, aggravated
by the difficulties of a foreign language, in
whichanative found himself surrounded when
brought within the mysterious cirele of an
English court of law, was ecalculated to
deepen rather than remove the prejudices
of persons who might be impelled by suffer-
ing to seek relief from present injury or
redress for past wrongs, by a course of liti-
gation which experience could scarcely fail
to prove so tardy and expensive in its pro-
gress, as frequently to neutralise the benefit
of an upright and unprejudiced decision.
I can speak from personal experience of the
fear entertained, by both Mussulmans and
Hindoos, of being by any hook or handle
involved in the harassing intricacies of a
lawsnit ; and even to the present day, many
natives from the interior habitually fix their
abodes on the safe side of the Mahratta
ditch—the boundary of chancery and other
civil branches of the Supreme Court.

The uncompromising opposition of Francis
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DUEL BETWEEN HASTIN

to the scheme of Hastings, together wiLh!

differences on points of foreign policy, ter-
minated in the renewal, and even Increase,
of former ill-feeling. The governor-general |
recorded, in an official minute, his dishelief |
in the “promises of candour” made by his |
oppornient, and declared his public, like his |
private conduct, “void of truth and honour.”’
Francis, whose health and spirits had been
for some time visibly failing, and who, in

control, and needed to be dealt with like “a
passionate woman,”* could ill bear this un-
merited taunt. After the council had risen,
he placed a challenge in the hands of
Hastings. It had been expected, and was |
immediately accepted. The example had |
been previously given by General Clavering |
(the commander-in-chief) and Mr. Barwell ; |

b
and now the governor-general of India and

|
the words of his opponent, had lost all self-

the senior councillor, with remarkable dis- |

regard for the interests of their employers at
a very critical period (not to speak of higher
principles, which were quite out of the ques-
tion), proceeded to edify an assemblage of
women and children, by fighting a duel, as the
Mussulman chronicler has it, according to
the established custom of the nation.”’+ At
the first exchange of shots, Francis fell,
severely but not mortally wounded. He
recovered slowly, and resumed his seat at
the council board; until, wearied with the
unequal contest, he threw up his position
and returned to England at the close of
1782, leaving to Hastings the undisputed
supremacy.  Wheler had gradually been
relaxing in his opposition. After the de-
parture of his unbending colleague, he
sided almost invariably with the governor-
general, who spared no efforts to coneciliate

him by every possible means, especially by |

““ providing handsomely for all his friends.”” }

Yet, however great the triumph of Hastings, |

and undisguised his delight at the successful
termination of a six years’ conflict, abundant
cause for anxiety remained, on every side,
to lower the exulting tone he might have
otherwise assumed. The ministers of the

* Life of Iastings, ii,, 3584

+ Siyar wl Mutakherin, ii., 518. .

| Wheler's support was not, howe\'or.. quite un-
deviating; and his despotic chief complained of his
attachment to “the lees of Mr. Francis, and his
practice ol a strange policy of iu-aring whatever
any man has to say, and especially against public
measures.”—( Life of Hastings, ii., 384.)

l debt ;
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crown and the directors

suffered his retention of the
]ntlia.simply as a measure of temporary
expediency ; and even his stanch friends, the
proprietors, failed not to give occasional
and qualified censure to the unscrupulous
deeds of the man on whose abilities and ex.

of the company
highest office in

those financial expectations which he had
made it his great object to realise. But the
very uncertainty of his position tended to
encourage his innate propensity for tem-
porising measures, and induced him to pur-
chase golden opinions from his fellow-officials
by conniving at innumerable illicit proceed-
ings, for the interest of individuals, to the
manifest injury of the revenues of the com-
pany and the prosperity of the provinces.
Reforms are generally most unpopular
where most needed ; and Hastings, after
forming plans for a large reduction of ex-
penditure, set them aside until, as he re-
marked, he should be more certain of his
own fate; “for I will not,” he adds,  create
| enemies in order to ease the burdens of my
fsncccmsors.”§ This very natural feeling,
though somewhat inconsistent with the exces-
sive zeal expressed by the writer for the pecu-
niary interests of the company, is quite in
accordance with the unscrupulous manuer
in which he dealt with native princes—
treating their rights and claims as valid or
invalid, as substantial or mere empty-seeming,
just as it suited his immediate object. ||
Such habitual double-dealing, however con-
| venient the weapons it might afford for an
immediate emergency, could not fail to
'render his publicly-recorded opinions a
tissue of the most flagrant contradictions ;
and it tended materially to produce the
evils which he endeavoured to prove had
'resulted solely from the opposition made to
his measures by the ex-majority. Those evils
are thus enumerated by his own pen:—
“An exhausted treasury; an accumulating
a system charged with expensive
establishments, and precluded, by the mul-
titude of dependents and the curse of patron-

emergency,” to impose upon him “the obligation of
a fixed principle.” And one of his ablest and not
least partial advocates, in the present day, admits
that his determination to hold “his post and his
]:urpnst-s" in defiance of lh‘e dircct(‘)rs, lt'-d him ¢ to
devise arguments and assign motives intended to
meet the exigency of the moment, and, therefore,
sometimes as much at variance with themselves as

§ Idem, iii., 31. '
|| He himself acknowledged how little he allowed
an “expression dictated by the impulse of present

were the arguments of those by whom he was so
vehemently and invariably opposed.”—(Professor
Wilson's Note on Mill's India, iv., 30.)

perience they relied for the fulfilment of

|
|
i
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age, from reformation; a government de-
bilitated by the various habits of inveterate
licentionsness ;  a  country 0111)t'03§0:1 'hy
private rapacity, and deprived of its \'1tnl|
resources by the enormous quantities of
current specie annually exported in the
remittance of private fortunes, in supplies
sent to China, Fort St. George, to Bombay,
and lately to the army at Surat, and by an
impoverished commerce; the support of
Bombay, with all its new conquests; the
charge of preserving Fort St. George, and
recovering the Carnatic from the hands of a
victorious enemy ; the entire maintenance
of both presidencies; and lastly, a war,
either actnal or depending, in every quarter
and with every power of Hindostan.”*
Before proceeding to describe the manner
in which Hastings, now alone at the helm,
steered his way through this troubled sea of
dangers and difficulties, and likewise through
personal trials of his own secking, 1t is
necessary to narrate, as briefly as possible,
the leading events which, since his promo-
tion to the station of governor-general in
1772, had taken place in the minor or sister
presidencies of Bombay and Madras.
Bompay, 1772 1o 1780.—The possession
of the little 1sland of Salsette and the fort
of Bassein had long been earnestly coveted
by the E. I. Cy., and in 1768, they strongly
urged on their Indian representatives the
additional security to Bombay to be de-
rived from the annexation of these places;
which, however, they desired to see effected
“rather by purchase than war.” Under
the strong government of Madhoo Rao, the
latter experiment would have been suffi-
ciently hazardous; and the result of nego-
tiations opened in 1772, clearly proved the
small chance that existed of a voluntary
surrender of territories no less valued by
the one party than desired by the other.
The death of the Mahratta peishwa pro-
duced dissensions in the state which, by
destroying unity of interest even in Poona
itself, offered to the English a prospect of
obtaining, in the character of mediators or
partisans, the concessions vainly sought for
.| by more legitimate means. Madhoo Rao,
. always patriotic and unselfish, had diligently
| striven to avert the calamities by which his
early death was likely to be attended. Per-
‘ ceiving his end approaching, he caused his
uncle Ragoba to be released from coufine-
ment, and in the most affecting and im-
* Life of Hastings, ii., 329,
| 1 Grant Duff’s Mahrattas, ii., 249,

PROCEEDINGS OF THE BOMBAY PRESIDENCY—1772.

| teen.

pressive manner entreated him to guard and
guide the person and counsels of his brother
and successor Narrain Rao, a youth of seven-
Ragoba appeared kindly disposed to
the nephew thus committed to his charge,
and the new peishwa was formally invested
by the pageant-rajah with the insignia of
office. But before long, dissensions arose
between the chief ministers of Narrain
(Sukaram Bappoo, Nana Furnuvees, and
others, appointed by Madhoo Rao) and
Ragoba, the result of which was his con-
finement to certain apartments in the palace.
While smarting under the check thus given
to his ill-regulated ambition, Ragoba, stimu-
lated by the evil counsels of his tale-bearing
wife, Anundee Bye, was induced to gratify
the jealous hatred entertained by her against
Gopika Bye, the mother of Madhoo and
Narrain, by giving a written sanction for
the seizure of the young peishwa, which she
wickedly converted into an order for his
assassination, by changing the word dhu-
rawe (to seize) into marawe? (to kill) A
domestic, who had been publicly flogged by
order of the destined victim, was a chief
mover in the plot, which was carried out by
working on the discontent of a body of un-
paid infantry. They had been extremely
turbulent during the afternoon of the 30th of
August, 1773, and in the night the ringleader,
Somer Sing, entered the palace by an un-
finished doorway newly opened to make an
entrance distinet from that of the portion
inhabited by Ragoba. Narrain Rao, on
starting from sleep, fled, pursued by Somer
Sing, to his uncle’s apartments, and flung
himself into his arms for protection. Ragoba
mterfered, but Somer Sing exclaimed— I
have not gone so far to ensure my own
destruction ; let him go, or you shall die
with him.” Ragoba was too deeply com-
promised to give way to remorse: he disen-
gaged himself from the grasp of his nephew,
and got out on the terrace. Narrain Rao
strove to follow him, but was seized by the
leg and flung to the ground by the vengeful
servant before named. At this moment
one of the personal attendants of the peishwa
entered, unarmed, and flew to his rescue ; but
his fidelity cost him his life, for both mas-
ter and servant were dispatched by the
swords of the assassins.t ‘I'he unfortunate
Narrain Rao appears to have manifested a
degree of indecision and timidity, on this try-
ing occasion, remarkable in one of his caste
and nation; but these failings were probably
not radical defects, but rather incidental
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fo an unformed character.* A searching
investigation was instituted into the affair
by Ram Shastree, the celebrated judge,
whose integrity and ability had reflected so
much honour on the administration of his
beloved disciple Madhoo Rao. To him
Ragoba confessed his partial participation
in the erime, and asked what atonement he
could make. “The sacrifice of your own
life,” replied the uncompromising judge ;
“for neither you nor your government can
prosper ; aud, for my own part, I will neither
accept of ~employment, nor enter Poona
whilst you preside there.”+ He kept his
word, and retired to a sequestered village,
from whence he witnessed the fulfilment of
his prediction ; for Ragoba’s “ill-luck” be-
came proverbial, and communicated itself, in
a greater or less degree, to every enterprise
in which he was concerned. At the onset,
the total absence of a rival claimant enabled
him to obtain, without difficulty, the con-
firmation of the rajah of Sattara to his
assumption of the rank of peishwa; but his
title was subsequently rendered invalid by
the posthumous birth of a son, the rightful
heir to Narrain Rao. Considerable doubt
was thrown upon the legitimacy of the child
by the means adopted by the ministers
(Nana Furnavees, Sukaram Bappoo, and
others), to provide a male substitute, in the
event of their influence heing endangered
by the birth of a girl; but, as the case hap-
pened, the manccuvre only served to en-
danger their own cause, and afford Ragoba
a pretext for resisting the claims of the
son of his murdered nephew, who was

* Madhoo Rao, whose generous nature rose su-
perior to the unworthy considerations which induced
the Mogul emperors to treat their near relatives as
dangerous rivals, and confine them from infancy to
state prisons, delighted in cherishing and drawing
public attention to the good qualities of his in-
tended successor. The Mahrattas relate, that the
brothers were witnessing an elephant-fight from a
small hill in the environs of Poona, when one of
the animals becoming excited, rushed furiously to-
wards the spot where they were seated. The com-
panions and attendants of the peishwa, forgetting all
courtly etiquette, took to their heels, and Narrain
Jjumped up to run off with the rest. © Brother,” said
Madhoo Rao, “ what will the ukbars [native news-
papers] say of you?” The boy instantly resumed his
seat, and retained it until the danger, which became
imminent, had been averted by the oravery of a by-
stander, who, arawing nis dagger, sprang in fronut of
the peishwa and turned the animal aside by wound-
ing 1t in the trunk.—(Duff's Malrattas, ii., 251.)

+ History of Mahrattas, ii., 249.  An interesting
feature in the intercourse of Madhoo Rao and Ram
Shastree, is related by Duff. The peishwa devoted
himself, at one period, to the practice of “Jhep” or
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proclaimed peishwa when only
old. The English authorities appear to
have been quite misled by the representa-
tions which accompanied his appeal for |
their assistance ; and even wlhen compelled |
fo recognise the utter futility of attempting |
to establish his supremacy in defiance of the |
general fecling of the Mahratta nation, they
seem never to have rightly understood the
nature of his claims, or the basis on which |
they a®sted. The cession of Bassein and |
Salsette, with the payment of a large sum |
of money, formed the leading stipulations |
on the part of the Bombay authorities ; but |
as Ragoba was very unwilling to consent to
any sacrifice of territory, they took advan- |
tage of the plea afforded by an inclination
manifested by the Portucuese to regain their | |
ancient possessions, to forcibly occupy them
with British troops, protesting, nevertheless, |
that they held them only on behalf of
Ragoba, until he should himself settle the
arrangements of the pending treaty. The
part taken by Sindia and Holecar, in siding
with the ministers, left him no choice but
to comply with the demands of the English ; | '
and, in return for his concessions, | 2,500 men | |
were landed at Cambay, under Colonel Keat- | |
ing, in the early part of the year 1775, to aid | |
his own mob-like assemblage of about 20,000 | |
men. The campaign wassuccessful, though at-
tended with considerable lossof life;§ but pre-
parations for the renewal of hostilities, at the
close of the monsoon, were suddenly arrested
by the interference of the Bengal presidency.
The Bombay authorities were sharply repri-
manded for disregarding the recent regu- | |

y forty days

religious meditation, to a degree which interfered
with his public duties. Ram Shastree told him, |
that if he were inclined to revert to the condition of
devout and austere poverty, which by the Hindoo
doctrine was the especial duty of a Brahmin, he
would gladly do the same; but if, on the contrary,
Madhoo intended to follow the example of his pre-
decessors, and retain the position of an earthly poten-
tate, the duties incumbent on the assumed office
ought to be his first consideration. “The musnud, or
a life of self-denial in the holy city of Benares,—which
you will,” said the honest Mentor; “ I will abide with
you in either station.” Happily for Maharashtra, Mad-
hoo Rao remained its ruler, and Ram Shastree its
leading judge,—an unimpeachable one, for he had
no thirst for power, and all his habits were consistent
with his characteristic rule—to keep nothing more
in his house than sufficed for the day's consumption.

I Ragoba, or Rugonath liao,l}:l.\'ing no other funds,
deposited with the company, jewels valued at up-
wards of six lacs. These gems were, about twenty-
eight years later, freely presented to Bajee lao on
his restoration to the office of peishwa, in 1813.

§ In the smull detachment of Colonel Keating,

222 persons perished, including eleven officers.
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lations, which placed the control in matters of
foreign policy in the hands of the governor-
general and the supreme council; and, he-
sides being blamed for insubordination,
they were informed that an envoy (Colonel
I])ion) would be sent direet from Bengal
to conclude a treaty of peace. This latter
proceeding could not fail to irritate the Bom-
bay officials, and to lower their authority,
and, indeed, that of the English in general,
in the eyes of the Mahratta ministers, than
whom no men living were better able to
appreciate the weakness arising from divided
counsels.  The consequence was, that after
a negotiation conducted, on the part of the
Mahrattas, with more than characteristic
procrastination, Nana Furnavees and the
ministers of the infant peishwa, concluded a
treaty at Poorunder, by which Colonel Upton
promised that the English should relinquish
the cause of Ragoba, and guarantee the dis-
bandment of his army on certain stipulations
quite contrary to the views of that individual.
Of Salsette Island they were to retain pos-
session, but to relinquish certain cessions in
Guzerat, made by the Mahratta chief Futteh
Sing Guicowar. No sooner had this hu-
miliating agreement been entered into than
the home despatches arrived, highly ap-
plauding the conduct of the Bombay autho-
rities, and bidding them, in any and every
case, retain all their late acquisitions, espe-
cially Bassein, if it were included in the
number; which was not the case. The
mandate came late, but its effects were soon
manifested in a partial breach of faith, by
continued though gnarded favour shown to
Ragoba, and a decided inclination to break
with the Poona ministry. Nana Furnavees,
a politician of much ability and more cun-
ning, strove to prevent the renewal of hos-
tilities, by affecting to encourage the pre-
tensions of a French adventurer, named
St. Lubin, who, after imposing upon the
Madras government in the character of an
agent of the court of Versailles, had re-
turned to France, and by exaggerated repre-
sentations of the influence acquired by him
at Poona, had induced the minister of ma-
rine to intrust him with a sort of clandestine
commission, as an experiment for ascertain-
g 1f any footing might be gained (the port
of Choul being especially desired.)

No one had less inclination to suffer the
introduction of French power into Maha-
rashtra than Nana Furnavees; and by the
little favour shown to the avowed agent of
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Poona, it secems that he considered St.
Lubin as a mere impostor, and encouraged
him simply as a means of alarming the
English government by an affected alliance
with I'rance. These proceedings served, on
the contrary, to incite immediate opera-
tions before the anticipated arrival of
French auxiliaries at Poona. Even Has-
tings was dissatisfied with the treaty of
Poorunder ; and notwithstanding the cen-
sure bestowed on the previous “unwar-
rantable” interference of the local authori-
ties, they were now dirccted “to assist in
tranquillising the dissensions of the Mah-
ratta state.” Ostensibly for the promotion
of this object, Colonel Leslie was dispatched,
with a strong detachment, to march across
the centre of India, from Bengal to the
western coast.  The Bombay presidency,
delighted with this indirect admission of the
advisability of their former measures, deter-
mined not to wait the arrival of reinforce-
ments, but to make war at once, upon the
strength of their own resources; and Mr.
Carnae, who had the lead in council, was
himself placed at the head of a committee,
to aid in the direction of military operations.
In fact, despite the oddity of making war
under the superintendence of civilians, the
infirm health and inexperience in Indian war-
fare of Colonel Egerton, the officer on whom
the command devolved by right of seniority,
rendered such a step of absolute necessity
to the carrying out, with any prospect of
success, the wild plan of advancing with a
force (including a few straggling horse under
Ragoba) of less than 4,500 men, to at-
tack the ministerial party in their own
capital.  So bold a design imperatively
needed rapidity in execution; yet, after
crossing the Ghaut (mountain-pass), the
army, without any reason for such ill-timed
tardiness, advanced only eight miles in
eleven days. The enemy had fully prepared
for their reception; and the deliberate
progress of the English was but slightly
opposed, until, at about sixteen miles from
Poona, they found themselves face to face
with the Mahratta host. Mr. Carnac and
Colonel Cockburn (who had taken the lead,
in consequence of the sickness of Colonel
Egerton) seem to have been panie-struck
by the imminent danger which they had
wantonly incurred, and they immediately
issued orders for a silent midnight retreat.
In vain the junior officers and Ragoba,
whose military experience was treated with

another Huropean state (Austria), then at

undeserved contempt, urged that, from the




CONVENTION OF WURGAUM WITH THE MAH

RATTAS—1779. 243

well-known tactics of the enemy, such an
attempt, made in defiance of clouds of
trained cavalry, was more perilous than the
boldest advance. And so the event proved;
I‘:)r t}uz first retrograde movement of the
English gave the signal for attack to the
whole hostile force. The bravery and skill
of Captain Hartley, the oflicer in command
of the rear-guard,® together with his extra-
ordinary influence with the native troops,
conduced materially to save the invading
army from-total destruction. After several
furious charges, the enemy desisted, without
having made a serious impression on any part

of the line. But the loss of 300 men, includ-

ing fifteen officers, had so completely dis-
pirited the military leaders, that they now,
in continued opposition to the arguments and

| entreaties of Hartley and others, declared

advance and retreat alike impossible, and
that nothing remained but to make peace
with the Mahrattas on any terms,—in other
words, to confess themselves caught in their
own trap, and consent to such a ransom
as their captors might dictate. They were
even prepared to give up Ragoba to his

| foes, the ministers ; but he, aware of the un-

generous intention, made private terms of

surrender with Sindia. The almost indepen-
dent power of this chief, and the jealousy
existing between him and the Poona au-
thorities, enabled the English, by a direct

application to him, to obtain more favour-

able terms than might otherwise have been
conceded ; but despite the moderation of the

| victors, the Convention of Wurgaum formed

a fitting ending to one of the few disgrace-

 ful eampaigns recorded in the annals of the

Anglo-Indian army. Every point in dispute
was yielded ; all acquisitions made since the
death of Madhoo Rao (of course including
Salsette) were to be relinquished, as also
the revenue raised by the company in
Broach,{ and even in Surat, which the Mah-
rattas had never possessed. Hostages (Mr.
Farmer and Lieutenant Stewart) were left
with Sindia for the performance of the treaty :
nevertheless, the first act of the committee
by whom the whole affair had been so
terribly mismanaged, on descending the
Ghant in safety, was to countermand the

* Sindia loudly extolled the conduct of the rear-
guard, which he compared “to a red wall, no sooner
beat down than it was built up again."—(Duff.)

+ A petty Mogul nabob held Broach, in subordi-
nation to the Mahrattas until 1772, when 1t was
captured by a British force under General Wedder-
burne, who was killed in the assault.

order dispatched in agreement with the
recent convention forbidding the advance of
the troops from Bengal.t

measure at this discreditable conclusion of
their attempt to show Caleutta what Bombay
could do. Hastings was, on his part, no
less irritated by a series of rashly-planned
and ill-executed measures, which nothine
but ““success, that grand apology for states.
men’s blunders,”§ could excuse. His own
| long-cherished hopes of taking advantace
of the dissensions of the Mahratta state
proved equally fruitless. A mistaken idea
of the connexion of Moodajee Bhonslay,
|thc ruler of Berar, with the house of Seva-
jee, led Hastings to stimulate Moodajee to
|assert his supposed claim to the raj, or
| sovereignty, upon the death of Ram Rajah
in 1777, and the appointment, under the
name of Shao Maharaj, of a distant rela-
tive, adopted as his son, and heir to his
gilded captivity by the deceased prince.
The effort proved fruitless, for Moodajee
retained a lively recollection of kindness

peishwa, and despite the promptings of am-
bition, was reluctant to interfere with the
power of that family. These kindly feel-
ings, one of the Hindoo guardians of the
child (either Nana Furnavees or Sukaram
Bappoo) had taken pains to cherish, by
placing his infant charge in the arms of
young ‘Raghoo, the son of Moodajee, and
styling him the protector of the peishwa.
Hastings himself remarks that acts of this
description establish in the minds of the
Mahrattas “ obligations of the most solemn
kind,” and afford “evidence of a generous
principle, so little known in our political
system.”|| The powerful minister, Nana
Furnavees, was, however, actuated by less
generous principles, his chief object being
to use the little peishwa as an nstrument
for his own aggrandisement and that of his
family, to whom he designed to transmit
his paramount authority over the puppet
minister of a puppet rajah. These designs
were not likely to escape the notice of
his colleagues in office, and dissensions
arose, of which Sindia took full advantage

1 The hostages were, nevertheless, generously re-
leased by Sindia, who did not even demand the parale
of Lieutenant Stewart not to fight against him, but,
on the contrary, said—*Resume your place in the
army; your sword is your subsistence.”—(Wilks.)

§ Dufl’s Mahrattas, ii., 379.

| Life of Hustings, ii., 3G1.

r - . . |
The presidency were indignant beyond | |

received from the grandfather of the infant |
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for the establishment and increase of his
own power, by interfering as much as pos-
sible in the garb of a mediator.* Under
the pressure of external hostilities, internal
disputes invariably gave way to co-operation
for mutual defence ; and such was the imme-
diate effect produced by the repudiation by
the governor-general of the Convention of
Wurgaum, which he declared invalid, inas-
much as the English committee had far
exceeded the powers vested in them. This
was actually the case; and Mr. Farmer had
informed Sindia that they had no power to
enter on any treaty without the sanction of
! : The Mahratta
chief treated this excuse as a mere pretence
to avoid giving an inconvenient pledge, and
scornfully asked, if their authority was so

' limited, by whose order they had ventured

to break the treaty concluded by Colonel
Upton? The question was unanswerable;
the danger imminent; and Mr. Carnac,
consoling himself with the idea that if, after
what had passed, the Mahrattas were duped,
the fault was their own, dispatched a pleni-
potentiary to the camp of Sindia for the
avowed purpose of concluding a treaty,
which he confirmed by every outward mark
of good faith, under a mental reservation
of the invalidity of the whole transaction.
On their return to Bombay, Mr. Carnac,
Colonel Egerton, and Colonel Cockburn (a
brave and steady soldier, but totally unfit
for so arduous a command), were dismissed
the service, and the recall of Colonel Leslie
was only prevented by his death of fever.
The offence of the latter officer was the
* Sukaram Bappoo, the chief rival of Nana Fur-
navees, at length became his victim, and was secretly
removed from one fortress to another, till he perished
miserably under bodily suffering created rather by
the effects of unwholesome food and harsh treat-
ment, than the slight infirmities of a green old
age. Among his various prisons was that of Pertab-
gurh, on the western side of which lay an abyss
formed by 4,000 feet of rugged rock. From the

| eastern side the spot was plainly visible where his

Brahmin ancestor, 120 years before, won over by

| Sevajee, swore the treacherous, midnight oath to

deliver up his master, Afzool Khan, to planned
assassination.— (Dufl’s Mahrattas, ii., 396.)

+ This little principality, situated on the north-
eastern bank of the Nerbudda, was formed by the
usurpations of Dost Mohammed, an Afghan in the
service of Aurungzebe. During the troubles that
succeeded the death of the emperor, he assumed the
title of nawab (anglicé nebob), and rallied round him
bands of adherents whom he had invited from Ben-
gal. His successors contrived to extend their sway,
and, what was more difficult, to gain the good-will of
the intractable Gonds, or people of Gondwarra, the
inhabitants of the southern portion of the Bhopal

URED—1780.

slowness of his march from Bengal, and his
mistaken policy in allowing some Rajpoot
allies of the Mahrattas to engage him in
petty hostilities, and hinder the accomplish-
ment of his main object—mnamely, speedy
arrival at the seat of war. General God-
dard was chosen by Hastings for the com-
mand, and his progress was altogether as
speedy and fortunate as that of his predeces-
sor had been slow and unsatisfactory. After
receiving great kindness, bestowed under
circumstances of much doubt and difficulty
by the Afghan ruler of Bhopal, Goddard
marched boldly on, manifested his good
sense by cordial co-operation with the
Bombay government, carried out their plan
of attacking Guzerat (notwithstanding the
almost independent authority with which
lhe was invested), and having, by extra-
ordinary expedition, avoided the snares laid
to interrupt his progress, crossed the Taptee
on the lst of January, 1780, and before
the end of the month, carried by storm
Ahmedabad, the great but decayed capital
of the province. The famous fortress of
Gwalior} was captured on the night of the
3rd of August, by a force of 2,400 men,
sent direct from Bengal by Hastings; and
the year terminated with the conquest of
Bassein by Goddard. But these successes
were counterbalanced by disasters in other
quarters, which rendered the English anxious
to conclude a speedy peace with the Mah-
rattas on almost any terms. The aspect of
affairs was indeed alarming; for, at this
period, Hyder Al and the Nizam had merged,
for the moment, their mutual animosities,

territory, chiefly through the instrumentality of an
able Hindoo minister, Bejee Ram, and a lady of re-

markable ability, who for more than half a century
greatly influenced, if she did not control, the coun-

cils of the principality, under the name of Mahjee |

Sahiba, the * lady-mother,” an appellation deseriptive
of her benevolent character only, for she was child-
less. Hindoos and Mohammedans agree in cherish-
ing the memory of this beloved princess, and vie
with one another in citing anecdotes illustrative of
her judgment and integrity. She attained the age
of eighty.—(Major Hough's Bhopal Principality.)

i Gwalior, the famous state-prison of Akber and
Aurungzebe, had, upon the dismemberment of the
Delhi empire, fallen into the hands of a Jat chief,
known as the rana of Gohud. It was taken by
Sindia in 1779, and captured, in turn, by the British
troops under Major Popham, the scarped rock on
which the citadel stood being ascended at daybreak
by means of wooden ladders. Hastings had formed
a very exaggerated idea of the power of the rana of
Gohud, to whom he restored Law fortress; but on
discovering his mistake, he changed his policy,
and sanetioned its recovery by Sindia, in 1784-—coen-
duet which formed an artiele in his impeachment.
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- Poona ministers, for the express purpose
' of expelling the English and the nabob
Mohammed Ali from the Carnatic. The
causes which led to this alarming coalition
of Hindoo and Mussulman powers, are
closely interwoven with the history of the—

Mapras PresipENcY From 1769 1o 1780.
—The principles which gnided the counsels
of this government were so avowedly bad,
that their ruinous consequences seem to
have been the natural fruit of the tree they
planted. In 1772, the presidency made
war upon the poligars or chiefs of certain
adjacent districts called the Marawars, not
that they had any quarrel with them, but
simply because the tyrannical nabob had
“made them his enemies, and therefore,””
the Madras councillors add, it is necessary
they should be reduced. It is mecessary,
or it is good policy they should. We do
not say it is altogether just, for justice and
zood policy are not often related.”*  Hosti-
lities were commenced on the above not
“altogether just” grounds, and they were
carried on, to adopt the same smooth-tongued
phraseology, in a not altogether merciful
manner. The poligar of the greater Mara-
war (a boy of twelve years of age), was
taken at the capture of his capital of Ram-
nadaporam, in April, 1772, after brave but
unskilful resistance on the part of its native
defendants (the tribe called Coleries by
Orme.) The poligar of the lesser Marawar
was slain after a treaty of peace had been
actually concluded, owing to a misunder-
standing between the English commander
and the son of the nabob, Omdut-al-Omrah.
The peasantry, as usual, remained passive
during the siege of the various forts: they
expected to be little affected by the change
of one despot for another; but the grinding
exactions of the new conqueror, which are
said to have surpassed even those of Hyder
Ali in the amount of misery inflicted, soon
convinced them of their error ; and on being
turned out of their lands, many took up
arms in sheer despair—the inverted plough

* Parl. Papers, quoted by Mill, iv., 100.

T Mill's India, iv., 103.

{ Col. Wilks describes the sway of Hyder as one
| succession of experiments as to how far extortion
could be practised on the farmer without diminish-
ing cultivation. When his subjects claimed justice
at his hands, he punished the offenders by a heavy
fine, but pocketed the money himself, declaring L‘hat
this appropriation was, by restraining oppression,
| nearly as good for the people, and a great deal better
| for the sovercign. Nevertheless, Wilks states that

and confederated with their sworn foes, the | being the general symbol of revolt. The | |

4 - . |
English officer, Colonel Bonjour, who had | \

been ordered to superintend the settlement
of the country in the manner desired by Mo-
hammed Ali, remonstrated forcibly against l
an object which, being in itself oppressive to 1

|

|
|

the last degree, would require for its accom-
plishment “extremities of a most shocking
nature.”’t For instance, the impossibility of | |
seizing the armed and watchful foe, m-ust, \
he said, be met by such reprisals as the

complete destruction of the villages to which |
they belonged, the massacre of every man | |
in them, and the imprisonment (probably

to end in slavery) of the women and children ; |
with other “severe examples of that kind.”f
Colonel Bonjour received an answer very
similar to that given by Hastings to Colonel
Champion in the case of the Rohillas, to
the effect, that these things were the natu- |
ral consequences of war, and that the worthy
Mohammed Ali must not be affronted by
impertinent interference. In fact, the ma-
jority of the Madras council, at this period,
were the nabob’s very humble and obedient
servants, although some trouble was taken
to conceal the fact from their “honourable
masters” in Leadenhall-street.  Subser-
viency of so manifestly degrading a cha-
racter, could scarcely be the result of any
but the most unworthy motives; and the
simple truth appears to have been, that the
leading English councillors entered upon
the extension of the power of the Moham-
medan mabob of Arcot, as a particularly
safe and promising speculation, since if
their efforts succeeded, great part of the
profit would be their own; and in the event
of failure, the expenses must be borne by
the company. So early as 1769, three
members of council held a large assignment
of territorial revenue, which the Court of
Directors subsequently discovered; and many
official and private persons received from
the nabob, bonds for the repayment of
money lent and not lent, the true conside-
ration given or promised being of a deserip-
tion which neither party cared to specify.

| the misrule of Mohammed Ali ““left at an humble

distance all the oppression that had ever been prac-
tised under the iron government of Hyder."—(My-
soor, ii., 103.) Swartz corroborates this statement
by his remarks on the regularity and dispatch with
which the government of Mysoor was conducted.
“Hyder's economical rule is to repair all damages
without losing an instant, whereby all is kept in

good condition, and with little expense. I'he Euro- | |
peans in the Carnatic leave everything to go to | |
ruin.”—(Zdem, p. 572.)
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' 'When Englishmen of a certain rank “ could
'make open and undisguised offers of their

services to become directors of the E.I1. Cy.,”*
'and even stoop to occupy seats in the Bri-
 tish parliament purchased with his funds,
' avowedly for the promotion of his interests,
little cause for surprise remains that Anglo-

Indian functionaries, placed for the time
| beyond the reach of that public opinion
| which with so many men stands in the
'stead of conscience, should, by degrees,
'lose all sense of shame, and scarcely take
| ordinary pains to conceal their venality.
Even had they been more on their guard,
' the conduct of Mohammed Ali could scarcely
have failed to provoke recriminations calcu-
lated to expose the whole nefarious system.
His love of money, though it fell far short
of his thirst for power, was still excessive:
he never willingly parted with gold, but
accumulated large hoards, giving bonds to
his real and pretended creditors, until they
themselves became alarmed at the enormous
amount of private debts with which the
revenues of Arcot were saddled. Mean-
while, the legitimate expenditure of govern-
ment was narrowed within the smallest
| possible limits; the troops, as usual, were
" in arrears of pay, and the promises made
' to the L. I. Cy. remained unfulfilled. The
booty obtained by the seizure of the Ma-
rawars had only served to whet the appetite
of Mohammed Ali and the party of whom
he was at once the tempter and the dupe.
There was a neighbouring state better worth
attacking—that of Tanjore, a Mahratta
principality against which the nabob of
Arcot had no shadow of claim, except that
of having, by dint of superior strength, ex-
acted from thence an occasional subsidy.
Its late ruler, Pertap Sing, had, it is said,
more than once purchased the mediation of
the leading Lnglish officials by borrow-
mg from them large sums of money at
exorbitant interest: but his son and succes-
sor, Tuljajee, forsaking this shrewd policy,
applied to the Dutch at Negapatam, and the
Danes at Tranquebar, for the means where-
with to pay a heavy sum which he had been
compelled to guarantee to the Arcot autho-
rities as the price of peace, so late as 1771.

* Vide Wilks' Mysoor, ii., 213; and Burke’s ad-
mirable speech on the Carnatic debts, in which he
affirmed that the nabob of Arcot had returned eight
members to one British parliament.

T Lord Pigot went out as a writer to Madras in
1736 ; was promoted to the government in 1754
went home, in 1763, with an immense fortune ; ana
successively obtained the rank of a baronet and of

Some small portion of this agreement re-
mained unfulfilled, and it served to afford
a sufficient pretext for the invasion of Tan-
jore. In fact, such a formality could only
be necessary for the sake of preserving ap-
pearances with the company and the British
public. George I11. had, it was well known,
been prepared, by wilful perversions of the
truth, to take a generous and manly, but
wholly mistaken and prejudiced view of all
matters regarding Mohammed Ali, whom
he had been induced to regard as an in-
dependent sovereign of high principle and
ability, whose plans the English were, in
aratitude and duty, bound to further to the
uttermost. Ixisting disputes between the
governments of Poona, Guzerat, and Berar,
prevented the chiefs of the Mahratta confede-
ration interfering to protect the rajah ; there-
fore, taking advantage of the opportunity,

hostile proceedings were commenced, and
ground broken before Tanjore on the 20th
of August; on the 6th of September a
breach was effected ; and on the following
day, during the intense heat of noon, while
the garrison were for the most part at rest,
in expectation of an evening attack, the
English troops were, with the least pos-
sible noise, marshalled for the assault. The
stratagem was entirely successful ; the fort
was captured almost without loss, and the
rajah and his family fell into the hands of
Mohammed Ali, by whom his dominions
were formally occupied. The indignation
of the company was naturally roused by a
procedure which lacked even the thread-
bare excuse of zeal for their service.  Orders
were issued (though somewhat tardily, owing
to the disturbed state of affairs at home) for
the restoration of the rajah of Tanjore;
and Lord Pigot,t his proved friend, was
sent out as governor, in 1775, for their en-
forcement. This act of justice was not car-
ried through in a purely disinterested man-
ner, for stipulations were made for the main-
tenance of an English garrison within the
citadel, and the payment of tribute to the

nabob. The latter clause failed to reconcile |
Mohammed Ali to the surrender of Tanjore : |
he even formed a plan for its foreible de-
tention,f which was forestalled by the prompt

an Irish peer. A treaty with the rajali of Tanjore, in
1762, was one of his favourite measures, and he felt
naturally annoyed by its shameless violation,

t Vide Wilks’ Mysoor, ii., 225. Mohammed Ali
had secretly ordered a large amount of military
stores from the Danish authorities at Tranque-
bar, but they arrived too late for the purpose de-
signed. The Danes had no great reason to rejoice
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| the secret correspondence
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and decisive measures of Lord Pigot, who
proceeded in person, in the spring of 1776,
to reinstate Tuljajee in his former dignity.
The council took advantage of his absence
to consider the delicate question of the pecu-
niary claims of individuals, especially those
of Mr. Paul Benfield. The case of this in-
dividual may serve to illustrate the character
of the nabob’s debts, the majority of which
were similar in kind, though less in degree,
in proportion to the opportunities, audacity,
and cunning of the parties concerned. Mr.
Benfield was a junior servant of the com-
pany, with a salary of a few hundred pounds
a-year, which, as all old Indians know, could
leave little margin for extravagance; never-
theless, this clever adventurer, having in
his own scheming brain a talent for money-
making scarcely inferior to that vested in

the fairy purse of Fortunatus, contrived
not cnly to support a splendid establishment
and equipages, unrivalled at Madras even
in those days of luxury and ostentation, but
also to obtain certain assignments on the
revenues of Tanjore, and on the growing
crops of that principality, to the enormous
extent of £234,000, in return for £162,000
ostensibly lent to the nabob of Arcot, and
£72,000 to individuals in Tanjore. Such
ras the leader of the party arrayed on the
side of Mohammed Ali, who had actually
siened bonds to the amount of nearly a
million and a-half sterling, backed by as-
sienments on the revenues of Tanjore; and
the very nature of these claims caused

and violence. In Caleutta, the character
of the majority by whom Hastings was at
this very time so fiercely opposed, was wholly
different to that with which Pigot had to
struggle. Clavering, Monson, and Francis
might be reproached with party spirit, but in
all pecuniary matters their reputation was
unblemished, and their public proceedings
were, consequently, free from the baneful

in the transaction, for Hyder made them pay a fine
of £14,000 sterling for furnishing his inveterate foe
with warlike weapons; and Mohammed Ali, despite
his desire to keep the affuir quiet, liquidated but a
small portion of the stipulated price. The whole
matter came to light in 1801, when the E.1. Cy. took
possession of the Carnatic, and on the production of
with the nabob, paid the
Danish Cy. a balance of £42,304.—(Wilks, ii., 10.)

* The scale on which bribery was carried on, may
be conjectured from the fact, that Admiral Pigot
declared in the House of Commons, in 1778, r.h;ll_lus
brother, the late governor, had been offered a bribe,
amounting to £600,000 sterling, only to defer for a

o

and marrowing influence of self-interest. |
At Madras the case was wholly different;
the majority consisted of men of dccplv! l
corrupt character, who, in return for accn'-‘ |
sations of venality in abetting the aggressions | |
of the nabob, reciprocated the charge against ]
all the upholders of the rajah, from the
governor downwards* The previous career |
of Lord Pigot did not facilitate the per- |
formance of the invidions task he had under-
taken. Like Clive, he had formerly accumu- |
lated an immense fortune by questionable |
means, and had returned to root up abuses |
which, at an earlier stage, might have been |
nipped in the bud.  Even his present visit to |
Tanjore, and the part played by him in the
struggle for the appointment of a resident | |

at that government, was far from l)(:iug!'

free from all suspicion of private ends and |
interests, either as regarded him&elf or his
immediate retainers. But, however alike in
their views and motives, the positions of Clive
and Pigot were very different. The latter, |
instead of possessing supreme authority, was |
subordinate to a governor-general by mo |

means inclined to afford cordial support to | l
any rcformatory measures, save of his own | |

introduction ; and Lord Pigot, trusting too |
much in his own strength, by a haughty |
and violent line of conduct,t soon brought |
matters to a crisis he was wnprepared to |
meet. The imprisonment of Sir Robert |
Fletcher, with the attempted suspension of |
two of the leading members of council, was |
retaliated by his own arrest, performed in |
a very unsoldier-like style by the temporary
commander-in-chief of the army, Colonel |
Stuart, with the aid of a coachman in the 3
pay of Mr. Paul Benfield.f Having thus |
unceremoniously disposed of their chief, the |

majority proceeded to enact a series of legal, | |

or rather illegal forms, and assumed the
whole power of government.§ They did not
long enjoy their triumph; for the home
authorities, astonished and alarmed by such

+ Swartz, commenting on the proceedings of \\:}:E'cli
he was an eye-witness, remarks .—* Probably his in-
tentions were laudable, but he began not with God.”

{ Col. Stuart was on terms of close intimacy with
Lord Pigot; had breakfasted and dined with him on
the day of the arrest, and was ostensibly on the way
to sup with him, when the carriage of the governorn, |
in which they were both seated, was, by the appoint- |
ment of the colonel himself, surrounded and stopped
by the troops.—(Mill, iv,, 134.) The governor was
dragged out, made a prisoner, and thrust into Ben-
field’s chaise.—( Fide Abstract of Trial of Stratton,
Brooke,Floyer, and Mackay. Murray; London, 1 .'.80.‘)

§ Hastings * persuaded his colleagues to acquiesce

time the reinstatement of the rajah of Tanjore.

in the new arrangements.”—(Zife, ii., 106.)
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GOVERNOR PIGCT DIES A PRISONER--MADRAS-—1777.

strange excesses, recalled both the de-
posed governor and his opponents, that the
whole matter might be brought to light.
Before these orders reached India, Lord
Pigot had sunk under the combined effects
of mental suffering and imprisonment for
nine months in an ungenial climate. His
death terrified all parties into a compro-
mise. The chief civil servants concerned
in the affair returned to England; the four
members of council paid the to them very
trifling fine of £1,000 each, and the su-
bordinates crept back into the service.
Colonel Stuart was tried by a court-martial,
and, unhappily for the company, acquitted.
The new governor, Sir Thomas Rumbold,
reached Madras in 1778, and applied himself,
with much energy, to the improvement of his
private fortune. The council cheerfully fol-
lowed so pheasant an example ; and unwonted
tranquillity prevailed within the presidency,
the predominant feature being wilful blind-
ness to the storm gathering without. Yeteven
Mohammed Al beheld with alarm that the
utterly inconsistent, hesitating, yet grasping
policy long persisted in, was about to issue
in the conjoined hostilities of Hyder Ali,
the Nizam, and the Mahrattas, to each of
whom distinet oceasions for quarrel had been
given; and to these dangers the fear of
French invasion, owing to the outbreak of
European war, was added. Hyder Al their
most formidable foe, had been made such by
their own misdoings. He had earnestly de-

|
|
!

* Hyder entered Coorg in 1773. The rajah (Di-
vaia) fled, and was afterwards captured; but the
people hastily assembled on a woody hill, which was
immediately surrounded by the enemy. Seating
himself with much state, Hyder proclaimed a reward
of five rupees for each head that should be brought
to him. After receiving about 700, two were de-
yosited on the heap of such singular beauty, that,
Iouking earnestly at them, he ordered the decapita-
tion to cease. 'The remaining Coorgs were not, how-
{ ever, disposed to submit tamely to the usurper
notwithstanding the tribute paid to the finely-formed
heads of their murdered countrymen; and when he
proceeded to raise the assessment on produce from
the ancient tenth to a sixth, they rose as one man, but
| were again reduced to submission by a sweeping mas-
| sacre of nearly every individual of note.—(Wilks.)
T Gooty is almost impregnable under ordinary
| circumstances ; but the number of refugees from the
| town, and the quantities of cattle driven into the
citadel, had exhausted the reservoirs of water; and
Morari Rao, after above three months’ siege, was re-
luctantly compelled to treat for peace, which Hyder
| guarenteed on condition of receiving eight lacs of
rupees in coin, or that amount in jewels, immediately,
and a hostage for the subsequent payment of four
‘L more. ‘The hostage, a brave but Iinexperienced
! youth, won by the praise bestowed on his chief and
. himself by the conqueror, imprudently boasted that
I

sired to keep the Mahrattas at bay by means
of an alhance with the English, whose enmity
he dreaded, fearing, above all things, the
unseen resources of the K. I. Cy. The
Madras government temporised with him
for years, and he bore all manner of neglects
and shghts, waiting, in sullen silence, an
opportunity of revenge. After the death
of Madhoo Rao, he regained his previous
conquests, and largely increased them. The
little principality of Coorg,* and Gooty,
the eagle’s nest of Morari Rao, fell suceces-
sively : the first, before a sudden invasion,
most barbarously carried through ; the other
under peculiar circumstances of treachery.f
The Mahratta chieftain soon perished under
the influence of the insalubrious climate of
a hill-fort, called Cabal Droog, aggravated
by food of so unwholesome a character as to
be almost poisonous.  His family, being sub-
jected only to the first of these evils, survived
him fifteen years, and then perished in a gene-
ral massacre of prisoners, ordered by Tippoo,
i 1791.

At the close of the year 1770, Hyder con-
templated with delight the fertile banks of the
Kistna, newly become the northern boundary
of the empire he had erected; but still
unsatisfied with its extent (as he would pro-
| bably have been bad it comprised all In-
| dia), he proceeded in person to besiege the
| fortress of Chittledroog,] which, amid the
chances and changes of previous years, had
fallen into the hands of a brave Hindoo

nothing short of being reduced to three days’ water
would have induced Morari Rao to capitulate.
Hyder forthwith resumed the blockade, which he
maintained until the garrison, in an agony of thirst,
consented to an unconditional surrender, and then
such as escaped with life and liberty were robbed
of every other possession; even the women being
despoiled of their accustomed ornaments, for the ex-
clusive benefit of the perfidious invader.

{ The second siege of Chittledroog lasted three
months, and was attended with immense loss of life.
The garrison believed the place invested with super-
natural strength as the site of a famous temple dedi-
cated to the goddess Cali, so long as her rites were
duly performed. Unlike Hindoo deities in general,
Cali was supposed to delight in blood, and conse-
quently her worshippers, despite the rashness of such
a proceeding, regularly sallied forth, after performing
their devotions, on every successive Monday morn-
ing during three months; and notwithstanding the
warning to the besiegers, given by the loud blast of a
horn as the signal for the outburst, and the fore-
knowledge of all except the exact point of attack,

the specific number of heads to he offered to their
tutelary deity, upon whose shrine about 2,000 of
these bloody trophies were found ranged in small
pyramids after the fall of the place.—(Colonel Wilks’
L istory of Mysaor, ii., 182.)

the Beders never once returned without carrying off
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poligar or chief. The native garrison de-
fended the place with the fearless zeal of fana.
ticism, but were betrayed by a corps of Mo-
hammedan mercenaries, whom Hyder found
means to corrupt through the medium of
l their spiritval instructor, a hermit of reputed
sanctity, who resided unmolested on the
plain below, near the hostile encampment.
The natives of the surrounding territory
(chiefly of the Beder tribe) had manifostml.
unconquerable attachment to the fallen chief.
In vain Hyder had scized all the visible
property, and consumed all the provisions on
which his practised pilferers could lay hands;
neither these measures, nor the infliction |
of the most cruel punishments on every |
person engaged in the conveyance of sup-
pliesto the besieged, could deter men, women, |
and even children from sacrificing their lives,
in continued succession, in the attempt to
support the garrison.  Hyder at length de-
termined to sweep off the whole remainder
of the population, whose fidelity to their be-
sieged countrymen had alone prevented their
following the general example of flight to the
woods, or other provineces. About 20,000
were carried away to populate the island of
Seringapatam ; and from the boys of a cer-
tain age, Hyder formed a regular military
establishment of captive converts, in imita-
tion of the Turkish janissaries (new soldiers.)
These regiments, under the name of the
1 “ Chelaly”# battalions, were extensively em-
'ployed by Tippoo Sultan. The reduction
of the small Patan state of Kurpa and
several minor places, next engaged the at-
tention of the Mysoorean. One of these
expeditions nearly cost him his life, by
rousing the vengeance of a party of Afghan
captives, who having overpowered their
guards in the dead of night, rushed to his
tent, and the foremost having succeeded in
effecting an entrance, aimed a deadly blow
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Springing from his couch, he performed the
favourite feat of the nursery hero, Jack the
Giant-killer, by stealthily laying his lone
pillow in the place of his own h&]y. Then |
catting a passage through the side of the ‘
tent, he effected a safe and unsuspected re- |
treat. The wretched Afshans were slain or
disarmed ; those taken alive were reserved
for various cruel deaths, such as having their
hands and feet struck off, or being dragged |
round the camp tied to the feet of elephants, |
until, and even long after, life had left their ‘
mangled bodies. }
Such was the barbarous character of the |
foe whom the English had so long brayed |
with impunity, that, from the sheer force of |
habit, they continued to treat him with con. | |
temptuous superiority, even after the unpro-
mising state of their own affairs, in various
quarters, rendered it obviously ad#sable to
adopt a conciliatory policy. The renewal of
BEuropean war, would, it was probable, prove
the signal for an attempt, on the part of the
French, to regain their lost possessions in
India, by the co-operation of some of the
more powerful native states. It wasnotorious
that St. Lubin and other adventurers, had es-
sayed to ingratiate themselves as representa-
tives of their nation, with the Mahrattas and
also with Iyder. But both these powers
were bent on avoiding any intimate con-
nexion with European states, whose tendency
to become supreme they justly dreaded, |
though they were ever desirous to purchase, = |
at a high rate, the services of foreigners to :
discipline their troops. Hyder especially @ |
dreaded the effect of French influence, and
would certainly have had no dealings with |
that government, save as a counterpoise to
the English and Mohammed Ali, whom
he cordially detested. Affairs were in a very
precarious condition, when intelligence of
the renewal of war in Europe reached Ben- |

at the rich coverlid which wrapped what he
took to be the body of the sleeping despot. |
But Hyder himself had escaped to the protec- |
tion of the nearest corps. On first hearing the |
uproar he guessed its cause; for it was a por- |
tion of his earthly punishment that, sleeping :
or waking, the dagger of the assassin wasnever
absent from his thoughts. Despite the bur-
den of advancing years, his mental ~and
physical energies were wholly unimpaired.
* Chelah was a softened name for slave ; first em-
sloyed by Akber, who disliked the haish term,
{ruL not the odious thing denoted. Slavery has, |
however, habitually assumed a milder form in the |
East than the West Indies, under Hindoo and Mo- |
hammedan, than under Christian masters; and the |
DIV, X, 2z

gal (July, 1778); and, though somewhat
premature in character, Hastings thought |
the information sufficiently authentic to
warrant the immediate seizure of the whole
of the French settlements before reinforce-
ments should arrive from England, or time
be given for the adoption of any concerted
plan of defence. Chandernagore, with the
factories at Masulipatam and Karical, sur-
rendered without resistance. Pondicherry

bondsmen of the palace, even beneath the sway o'I"
Hyder, had so much the air of “children of the house,
that the good missionary, Swartz, praises the care
evinced for orphans, in total ignorance that ]I'\'ders.
protection had been purchased by the severance of |
every natural tie of family, country, and creed. |
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‘port of Mahé alone remained

' Hyder; “he will not deceive me.”*
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was captured after a combined attack by sea
and land. The French squadron, under M.
| Tronjolly, was worsted by the English admiral

| Sir Edward Vernon, and quitted the coast
' by night; but the garrison, under M. Belle-

combe, held out bravely, and availed them-
selves of every advantage derivable from the
strong defences, which had been restored
since their destruction in the course of the
last war. A breach having been effected,
and a combined assanlt planned by the
troops under Sir Heector Munro, in con-
junction with the marines and seamen, fur-
ther resistance became hopeless; the place
capitulated, and its fortifications were
razed to the ground. The fortress and
to the
French. The territory in which they were
sitnated (on the Malabar coast), beside
being inMuded in the recent conquests of

- Hyder, was the depdt for the military stores

which he obtained from the Mauritius; he
was therefore extremely anxious for its re-
tention by its French possessors, and dis-
patched a vakeel (ambassador or envoy) to
Madras, threatening the invasion of Arcot
i the event of any hostile attempt on Mahé.
The fortress was nevertheless besieged and
taken in March, 1779, although the colours
of Mysoor were hoisted on the walls with
those of the French, and its troops assisted
in the defence. 'The presidency were not
without misgivings regarding the hazard
incurred by these multiplied provocations,
and Sir Thomas Rumbold made an effort
to discover the intentions of Hyder, by dis-
patching to his court the missionary Swartz,
the only ambassador he would consent to
receive. ““Send me the Christian,” said
The
reward of the envoy was to be some bricks

* Swartz had exerted his great personal influence

very successfully for the peaceful and equitable set-
Hyder had probably heard

much in his favour ; and his own opinion, formed from

subsequent observation, was forcibly shown by the
order issued in the Carnatic war, “to permit the
venerable Father Swartz to pass unmolested and
show him respect and kindness, for he is a holy
man, and means no harm to my government.”

t Private resources Swartz had none; little help
could be expected from the Europeans of Madras,
who, he says sorrowfully, could contribute 10,000
pagodas for a playhouse, “but to build a pray-
house Yenplc had no money.” The immorality of
nominal Christians, he considered the most serious

| obstacle to the conversion of the heathen ; especizlly

in the case of the rajah of Tanjore.—(Wilks, ii., 569.)

t Perhaps two more opposite characters never en-
gaged in familiar converse than when the vindictive,
ambitious,and merciless Hydersat and talked with the

and mortar, to build a church, from the
stores at Tanjore.4+ These had been already
promised for service rendered to govern-
ment in  his capacity of a linguist, but
withheld from time to time. Hyder, who
had ever been distingnished by discrimi-
nation of character, fully appreciated the
singlemindedness and unaffected piety of
his visitor, with whom he held frequent in-
tercourse,] and suffered him to convey reli-
gious instruction to the BEuropean soldiers
in his serviee, and to hold unrestricted com-
mnnication, not only with them, but also
with the native troops, through the medium
of the Persian, Tamul, Mahratta, and Hin-
doostanee languages. Swartz refused to
accept any gift from Hyder, even for his
church, and on taking leave, stated with
earnestness, that a desire for the prevention
of war was the sole motive that had induced
him to undertake a political mission, which,
under the ecircumstances, he considered as
in nowise derogatory
minister of God, who is a God of peace.
“Very well, very well,”” said Hyder; it

concord, I shall not withdraw mine.”

Swartz returned to Madras and related
the verbal assurance, which qualified the
written communication of which he was
the bearer, wherein the various grievances
sustained by the Mysoorean state, as well as
by Hyder personally, from the time of the
breach of faith regarding Trichinopoly 1n
1754, down to the recent offence of attempt-
ing to march an army, without even asking
his sanetion, through his recently acquired
territory of Cudapah to that of Bassalut
Jung at Adoni, were enumerated ; with the
ominous conclusion— I have not yet taken
revenge ; it i1s no matter.”

gentle, self-denying, peace-loving missionary, in one
of the stately halls of the palace of Seringapatam,
overlooking gardens adorned with fountains, eypress
groves, trees grafted so as to bear two kinds of fruit,
and every refinement that luxury could suggest.
Hyder appears to have made no attempt to disguise
his barbarous system of administration ; for Swartz
speaks with horror of the dreadful tortures inflicted
on the collectors of revenue if they failed, under any
circumstances, to collect the stated revenue. ¢ Al-
though Hyder sometimes rewards his servants, yet
the principal motive is fear. Two hundred people,
with whips, stand always ready to use them. Not a
day passes on which numbers are not flogged.
Hyder applies the same cat to all transgressors
alike,—gentlemen, horsekeepers, tax-gatherers, and
his own sons;” but they are not dismissed, but con-
tinued in office; for Hyder, adds Swartz, “seems to
think that almost all people who seek to enrich

themselves are void of all principles of honour.”

to the office of a |

the English offer me the hand of peace and |



The authorities, immersed in the deadly
. stupor of indolence and venality, conducted
themselves as if wholly indifferent to the
threat thus significantly conveyed. Swartz
found that he had been a mere tool, and
that Hyder had appreciated more justly
- than himself the selfish duplicity of Sir
' Thomas Rumbold and his colleagues.  Still
persevering in the insulting affectation of
- a desire to preserve amity, thev actually
- sent to the magnificent court of Mysoor—
| to a sovereign enriched with the spoil of
- principalities and provinces—a private per-
' son of no note as ambassador (Mr. Gray),
| bearing with him an ill-made English saddle
(hogskin to a Mussulman !) and a rifie which
loaded at the breech. The presents were
declined as unworthy the giver or intended
receiver ; neither would Hyder grant a pri-
vate andience to the envoy ; but on learning,
through one of his nobles, the desire of the
presidency to form an alliance with him, he
sent word that he had at one period ear-
nestly and repeatedly solicited it without
effect, but was now strong enough to stand
alone.

The most alarming part of this defiant
message is said to have been withheld by
Sir Thomas Rumbold,® whose policy was
at the time directed to carrying off an
immense fortune safe to England. Taking
' leave of the council, he congratulated them

on the prospect of peace at a moment when

every nerve ought to have been strained to
prepare for defence against invasion, and
took his departure in time to avoid the
receipt of the recall then on its way to

India.+ Among the political errors urged

against him was the offence given to Nizam

Ali, by compelling his brother and subject,

Bassalut Jung, to make over the Guntoor

Circar to the company in 1779, instead

of suffering him to enjoy it for life, as

agreed upon by the treaty of 1768; and
| then using this extorted concession as a
means of gratifying the cupidity of Mo-
hammed Ali, to whom this fine district was
to be let in farm. Both the London direc-
' tors and the Bengal authorities strove to
assuage the anger of the Nizam at conduct
. which he was both able and willing to resent ;
but the Madras officials persisted in justify-
ing their conduct in this respect, and aiso
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* Vide Captain James Munro’s (,'m'oum‘m{c! Coast,
p. 130. Dr. Moodie’s MSS,, in library of E. L. Cy.

+ A criminal prosecution was commenced against
him in 1782, in the House of Commons, but ad-
journed from time to time, and eventually dropped.

|
n endeavouring to repudiate the arrears of
pesheush, or tribute, due for the other Circars,
as warranted by their pecuniary necessities,
and far less faulty in principle, than the
breach of faith committed in withholding
the tribute pledged to the emperor as a first |
charge upon the revenues of Bengal. i
Hyder Ali had spies everywhere. e '
was perfectly aware of the ill-feeling exist-
ing between the controlling and subordinate |
governments, and made no secret of the hos- |
t1l.c Intentions and utter contempt he enter- ,
tained towards the latter. The extraordi- |
nary apathy of the majority of the council, | |
together with the violent measures used to |
stifle the representations of the few who
advocated the adoption of immediate mea- |
sures for the defence of the Carnatic, gave |
weight to his assertions that the time had |
arrived for all Indian powers to ugite in ex- | |
pelling the one great European state which i 1
threatened to engulph every other. Now,in |
its moment of weakness, when the reins of | |
authority were vested in incapable and selfish | |
hands, a short and decisive struggle might, |
by the conjoined strength of Mohammedans |
and Hindoos, brought to bear against the
common foe, be attended with such com- | |
plete success as “ to leave not a white face in | |
the Carnatic.” The confederacy advocated |
by Hyder was actually formed, and a plan |
laid down which, if all parties had carried |
out their pledge as he did his, might have |
gone far to realise the desired object. Mo- |
hammed Ali, for once a true prophet, fore- |
told the coming storm; but in vain. The
presidency persisted in declaring that the |
dark clouds which they could not deny
overshadowed the political horizon, would |
pass away or be dissipated by the precau-
tions of the Bengal council ;—days, weeks, |
months elapsed, at a time when even hours |
of continued peace were of incalculable im- |
portance, without any attempts for reinforc-
g weak garrisons in important positions,
or for making arrangements for the pro- |
visioning of troops, notwithstanding the |
obvious necessity of the latter measure 1 |
all cases of threatened invasion, especially |
by a foe whose desolating and destruc- |
tive mode of warfare was proverbial. Yet
the verv man who had once before dictated
terms at the gates of Madras, was treated
as a mere braggart, even after he had |
actnally crossed the frontier, and was ap-
proaching, with his two sons, at the head
of above 80,000 men, supported by a large |

train of artillery and a considerable body of |
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Europeans (chiefly French), constituting,
without doubt, the best-disciplined army
ever marshalled by a native Indian power.
At length the burning of Conjeveram, the
largest village in the Carnatic (sixty miles
from Fort St. George, and thirty-five from
Arcot), and the testimony of numerous ter-
rified and bleeding fugitives, closely followed
by the sight of the much-dreaded predatory
horse of the foe, prowling about amid the
garden-houses round Mount St. Thomas,
changed doubts, sneers, and cavils into un-
speakable dismay, which the tidings of every
successive hour tended to increase. Hyder
pursued his favourite policy of creating a
desert about the places he desired to con-
quer. Round Fort St. George he drew a
' line of merciless desolation, extending from
thirty to thirty-five miles inland, burning
every town and village to the ground, and
inflicting indiscriminate mutilation on every
individual who ventured to linger near the
ashes. The wretched peasantry, victims of
the quarrels of usurping powers, whose
~actions they could neither understand nor
influence, were sacrificed by thousands by
fire or the sword, while multitudes, doomed
to more protracted suffering, were driven
off in a whirlwind of cavalry into exile or
slavery, frequently to both united ;—the
father torn from his virgin daughter; the
husband from the wife; the mother borne
away in the torrent, unable so much as to
snatch her shrieking infant from the tramp-
ling hoofs of the snorting horses. Yes!
Hyder was indeed at hand: dense clouds
of smoke, mingled with flame, were the sure
harbingers of his approach. The country-
people fled, wild with terror, to Madras;
and no less than 300,000 were suffered to
take up their abode in the black town in
the space of three days.

The assembling of the troops was evi-
dently of the first importance. There was
no lack of men or ammunition; but a
grievous deficiency of discipline, and gene-
ral discontent, engendered by the severe
suffering inflicted by the non-payment of
arrears.* A strong and united effort, by
the local authorities, to relieve their wants

* The force of the nabob alone, in 1776, was stated
by Col. Matthews, before a Parl. Committee, to
amount to 35,000 effective men. That of the presi-
dency comprehended about 30,0005 but even the Eng-
lish forces were on the brink of mutiny for want of
pay. In 1777, a regiment completely equipped for
service, and stationed a few miles from Hyder's
frqnller, seized Captain Campbell and their other

1 officers, and were only brought to release them by

and inspire confidence, was, however, all
that was needed to restore their wonted
efficiency; but so far from any decisive
measures being taken, delays and disputes
arose ; for the commander-in-chief, Sir
Hector Munro, could not be spared to take
the head of the army, because his vote
alone insured the supremacy in council of
his own opinions and those of the president,
Mr. Whitehill. Lord Macleod,t who had
recently arrived from England with a high-
land regiment 1,000 strong, was desired to
assume the command, but he positively
refused to accept the responsibility of car-
rying out the hazardous plan devised by
Munro, of uniting the main body with that
absent in the Guntoor Circar, under Colonel
Baillie, at the distant sitc of Conjeveram,
and strongly urged the adoption of the more
reasonable course suggested by the minority,
of marshalling the forces with the least pos-
sible delay on St. Thomas’ Mount. Munro,
wedded to his project, determined to take
the field in person, and actually proposed
and carried that he should appoint a
nominee to occupy his seat in counecil so
long as it continued vacant. The opposi-
tion members indignantly reprobated this
arrangement ; and one of them (Mr. Sad-
| leir) so provoked the majority, that they
decreed his suspension, which was followed
up by a challenge from Sir Hector.

The subsequent conduct of the campaign
corresponded with this inauspicious com-
mencement. In the very face of the enemy,
when from Cape Comorin to the Kistna
all was plunder, confusion, and bloodshed,
the civil and military authorities continued
to quarrel with each other. Munro per-
sisted in attempting the junction of the
troops in the centre of a country occupied
by an enemy. He marched to Conjeveram
with the main body, which comprised 5,209
men, of whom 2,481 were European infantry
and 294 artillery, and there awaited the
arrival of Colonel Baillie, whose force con-
sisted of about 150 KEuropeans and 2,000
sepovs. Hyder was at the time engaged in
besieging Arcot; but his invariable policy—
from which the English general might have

Trichinopoly, who made himself personally respon-
sible for the utmost extent of arrears he could pro-
vide funds to meet. The European officers and na-
tive troops under Colonel Fullarton, were, at a
subsequent period, twelve months in arrear, and
obtained their very food on credit.

+ Lord Macleod afterwards quitted India, in con-
! sequence of Col. Stuart being placed over him,

the interference of Col. James, the commandant of |



|

m

| passage.

. service of Hyder.

learned a useful lesson—of directing his
chief encrgies to the most prominent
danger, induced him to send the flower of
the army, under Tippoo, to intercept the
detachment under Baillie, which was ac-
complished at a spot about fifteen miles
distant from Conjeveram,

After a severe conflict of several hours,
Baillie succeeded in repelling his assailants,
but with so much loss, that he sent word to
the general he could not join him unless
reinforced in such a manner as to be capable
of resisting the opposition of the enemy.
He suggested that Munro himself should
advance to the rescue; instead of which,
the general thought fit again to divide his
small army by sending forward a detach-
ment under Colonel Fletcher, to strengthen
that threatened by Tippoo.

The intelligence of Hyder regarding the
plans and proceedings of the English, was
as speedy and reliable as their information
concerning him was tardy and misleading.

His plot to surprise and destroy Colonel |

Fletcher on the march was, happily, neu-
tralised by the discreet change of route
ordered by that officer ; and it is considered,
that had the junction of the detachments
been followed up, after a few hours’ rest,
by speedy movement, the conjoined troops
might have made their way safely to Conje-
veram. But needless delay gave time for
Tippoo to fix cannon at a strong post on
the road, and, worse still, for Hyder him-
self to advance in person and oppose their
The little band, both Iuropeans
and sepoys, sustained furious and repeated
assaults with extraordinary steadiness, in-
spired with the hope that Munro would
take advantage of the opportunity to relieve
them by attacking the foe in the rear.
Hyder was not without apprehensions on
this score, which were heightened by the
representations of the French officers in his
service, especially of Lally and Pimorin*
The fate of the day hung in suspense until
two of the tumbrils blew up in the Enghsh
lines, and at once deprived them of ammu-
nition, and disabled their guns; they never-
theless maintained the contest for another
hour and a-half. At the end of that time
but 400 men remained, many of them
wounded . yet they still rallied round their

* Lally was the commander of a small body of
Turopean mercenaries who had successively served

Nizam Ali and Bassalut Jung, before entering the
A Pimorin was a French officer.
+ Of eighty-six officers, thirty-six were Kkilled,

' thirty-four wounded, and sixteen surrendered unhurt.
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the hostile ranks or perish in the attempt.
B}lt Colonel Fletcher lay dead on the field
of battlc,_ and Colonel Baillie, willing to
save t'hf: lives of his brave companions, and
des]):_nrmg of relief from head-quarters, held
up ‘]ns ].landkerclncf' as a flag of truce. An
mtimation of quarter being given, the Eng-
lish laid down their arms; but had no
sooner done so than a fierce onslaught was
made by the enemy, and the whole of
_thcm .would have been slain in cold blood,
including even the native women and chil.
dren who had accompanied the detachment,
but for the interference of the French mer-
cenaries.  Baillie was brought, stiff with
wounds, into the presence of his barbarous
conqueror, and eventually perished in the
prison of Seringapatam. About 200 Euro-
peans were taken, of whom fifty were offi-
cers.t - They were destined to linger long
years in a captivity more terrible than death.

When tidings of this disaster reached
Conjeveram, Munro threw his heavy guns
and stores which could not be removed,
into a tank, and retreated from that place
to Chingleput, where he hoped to procure a
supply of rice for the army; but being dis-
appointed by the conjoined effect of Hyder’s
alertness and his own want of precautionary
measures, he retreated to Madras. Here
general consternation and alarm prevailed,
aggravated by the utter want of provisions,
military stores, or funds even to pay the
troops, Buropean or native; the latter, in
the service of Mohammed Ali, deserted
in whole regiments simply for that reason.
The state of things seemed hopeless, when
the vigorous measures of the supreme gov-
ernment at Bengal gave a new turn to
affairs. The unfaltering courage and clear
perceptions of Hastings were mnever ex-
erted more advantageously than at this
crisis. He had already institnted a nego-
tiation with the Nizam for the restoration
lof the Guntoor Circar, the chief bone of
contention; and he maintained a correspon-
"dence with the Mahratta ruler of Berar,
' Moodajee Bhonslay, which had the effect
of rendering that chief unwilling to co-
' operate actively with his countrymen against
' the English, though he did not care openly
to refuse joining the general confederacy.
But these measures were manifestly insufli-
cient to meet the present crisis. Hyder
had followed up his success at Conjeveram
by the siege and capture of Arcot. Wan-
dewash, Vellore, Chingleput, and other bul-

leader, desiring to cut their way through |
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warks of the Carnatic, were wretchedly
provisioned and closely blockaded ; while
the numerous forts under the direct control
' of the nabob, Mohammed Ali, were, for the
“most part, surrendered without a blow, from
the various and often concurrent causes of

| disgust at an incapable and extortionate

' master, corruption, and despondency.

Such
was the news brought to Calcutta by a swift-

' sailing ship, flying before the south-west

In twenty-four hours the gov-
Supplies

monsoon.
ernor-general’s course was taken.

of every deseription—of men, money, and |

provisions—were gathered in, and dispatched
under the charge of the veteran general
Sir Eyre Coote, whose very name was a
host, and to whom the sole conduct of the
war was to be entrusted; for Hastings,
rightly decming the emergency a justifica-
tion for exerting the utmost stretch of

| authority, took upon himself to suspend
' Mr. Whitehill, the venal and incapable

governor of Fort St. George.

On reaching Madras, Coote found at his
disposal a force numbering altogether 7,000
men, of whom only 1,700 were Europeans.
Despite the manifest disparity of numbers,
he earnestly desired to bring Hyder to a
regular engagement, believing that the
danger to be incurred by such a proceeding
would fall far short of that resulting from
the waste of resources and dispiriting effects
of the harassing hostilities carried on by his
opponent in a country already desolated.
The wary Mysoorean well knew the foe with
whom he had now to cope, and neither taunts,
threats, nor maneuvring, could induce him
to risk a pitched battle. This very circum-
stance enabled the English to relieve Wan-
dewash,* Permacoil, and other besieged
places; but {only for a time: the indefati-
gable foe marched off uninjured to bloc-
kade a different fortress, and Coote followed
till his troops were well-nigh worn out.f
At length a seeming evil procured the long-
desired engagement ; for Hyder, encouraged
by the presence of a French fleet on the
coast, intrenched his army in a strong post
near Cuddalore, close to the village called
by Europeans Porto Novo, and strove to

* Wandewash was most gallantly defended by
Lieut. ¥lint, who, notwithstanding very deficient re-
sources, and without a single artilleryman, not only
held his ground during seventy-eight days of open
trenches against the flower of IHyder's army, but
raised a little corps of cavalry, and procured provi-
sions for his garrison and supplies for the main army.

+ When urged by the British commander to de-
cide the fortune of war by a pitched battle, Hyder

intercept and cut off the supplies of the
Inglish, who had recently been repulsed
in an attack on the pagoda of Chillambrum.
Coote advanced boldly, and having dis-
covered a means of approach for a portion
of the troops by a passage through a ridge
of sand-hills, formed by Hyder for his own
use, the general contrived, by a series of
simple yet skilful and admirably executed
movements, to marshal his forces in the
face of several heavy batteries, and finally
succeeded, after a close and severe contest,
in foreing the line of the enemy and fairly
putting them to flight. 3

At the commencement of the battle
(about nine o’clock on the morning of the
st July, 1781), Hyder took up his position
on a little hill commanding the scene of
action, and there he sat until four in the
|afternoon, cross-legged, on a low stool,
'watching every movement made by or
against the English, and so enraged by the
‘unexpected progress of affairs, as to become
| stupid with vexation. Fourteen years be-
| fore, when defeated by Colonel Smith,] he
had been observed by the Enghish officers,
with cool self-possession, issuing orders for
a retreat, in the manner of one who could
afford to wait and bide his day of triumph.
But Hyder was an old man now; a pam-
pered tyrant, accustomed to tread on the
necks of his fellow-beings; and he believed
the time at length arrived to triumph over
the power of the people by whom he
had been long braved with impunity. The
cup of revenge was at his lips; was it to
be flung to the ground almost untasted?
Considerations of this nature shut out {rom
view all thought of personal danger, and
rendered him deaf to the arguments offered
to induce him to quit a position rapidly be-
coming extremely perilous. The nobles in at-
tendance were silenced by the obscene abuse,
always lavishly bestowed by their imperious
master when out of temper; their horses
and servants had disappeared in the general
flight before the advancing foe; but Hyder
remained seated until a groom, who through

is said to have replied—* What! put my chargers,
worth more than one hundred rupees each, in com-
petition with your cannon-balls, that only cost a
few pice (halfpence.) No, no: you
me often, but see me never. I will keep you march-
ing until your legs are as big as your bellies, and
your bellies the size of your legs ; and then you shall
fight when I choose, not when you please.”

i 1 At Trincomalee, in 1767. (See p. 318.)

shall hear of

long and faithful service was in some
sort a privileged man, came forward, and |



Irawing the legs of Hyder from under him,
thrust his slippers on his feet, and with
blunt fidelity prevailed on him to rise,
saying, “we will beat them to-morrow ; in
the meanwhile mount your horse.” Hyder
complied, and was out of sight in a few
- moments, leaving the discomfited group,
"around his stool of repentance, to save
| themselves as they best could. Tuckily
for them, the English had no cavalry where-
with to carry on the pursuit. The vietory
was, however, franght with important con-
sequences. It induced the hostile foree to
fail back upon Jreot. Sir Eyre Coote fol-
lowed, and encouraged by previous success,
ventured to attack Hyder uear Polliloor,
in a position which, hesides great natural
advantages, was held by the superstitious
Mysoorean in particular estimation as a
lucky spot, being that on which he had cut
off the detachment under Baillie in the
previous year. The British troops became
furious at the sight of the unburied re-
mains of their fallen comrades; but insur-
mountable obstacles retarded their advance.
They could not get at the enemy; two tum-
brils broke (

and to make the confusion greater, Sir
Heetor Munro, having received a hasty

(as on the previous oceasion) ;

beneath the only tree in the plain, and
refused to issue a single command. The
loss of the English was ahout 500 killed,
inclnding some officers ; and the action would
' probably have terminated in a defeat, had
their wily adversary suspected the existence
of the dissension and confusion which tem-
porarily prevailed in an army characterised
by united action and steady discipline. The
campaign ended with the surprise of the
Mysooreans at the pass of Sholingur, on
the road to Vellore : their loss was estimated
at 5,000 men; while that of the English
fell short of 100,

Meanwhile, an important change had taken
place at Madras in the nomination of .uf)l'll
J | Macartney as governor and president of Fort
| St. George.  The appointment of a man of
’ | acknowledged talent and strict integrity was,
doubtless, a great step towards abolishing

graced the presidency; and the carnest and
straightforward manner in which the new

ruler applied himself to his arduous and in-
| vidious task, justified the expectations en-
' tertained on his behalf. But the difficulties

! - which surrounded him were great beyond
u

expectation.  Disastrous news awaited his | tions had been made through the instrumen-

| PN /ol AN

rebuke from Coote, sullenly seated himself

the systematic venality which had long dis- |

BATTLE OF POLLILOOR—MACARTNEY REACHES MADRAS—178]. |

o
2D

arrival in June, 1781. First, that the Carnatic,
_wluch Sir Thomas Rumbold had represented
1n a most peaceful and promising condition,
was actually ocenpied by a ruthless foe ;
sccondl_v., that the means of defence had
bc?cn vainly sought for by men possessed
of the local experience in which he was of
necessity wholly deficient; and thirdly, that
the increasing scarcity which prevailed
throngh the Carnatie, threatened to termi-
nate n a terrible famine. Macartuey was
called on to decide how best to meet these
difficulties without clashing with the extra-
ordinary powers vested in the brave and in-
defatigable, but pecvish and exacting General
Coote, and still more with the supreme
authority wielded by the seemingly concilia-
tory, but really dictatorial and jealous
Hastings. T
Lord Macartney brought to India intel- ;
ligence of war with Holland ; and despite the
objections of Coote, who desired to see the |
whole force concentrated for the reconquest of
Arcot, the Dutch settlements were attacked ;
Sadras, Pulicat, and Negapatamn successively
taken ; after which the troops of Hyder be-
gan to evacuate the forts which they had
occupied in Tanjore. But these successes
were soon followed by renewed disasters,
A French fleet arrived on the Coromandel |
coast in January, 1782, and after intercept-
ing several vessels bound to Madras with
grain, landed 3,000 men at Porto Novo,
where Tippoo speedily joined them with a
large body of troops. An English and |
native detachment, about 2,000 strong, sta- |
tioned in Tanjore, under Colonel Brathwaite, |
misled by a system of false information car- |
ried on by the spies of Hyder, were surprised |
by a conjoined force under 'lippoo and |
Lally, and after maintaining a desperate re- |
sistance for six-and-twenty hours, against an
encmy who outnumbered them twenty to
one, were at length completely surrounded,
and either slain or captured. The conclu- |
sion of a peace with the Mahrattas being
officially announced at Madras in the month
of June, gave an opportunity for opening a
similar negotiation with Hyder. The terms
on which it had been obtained were not,
however, of a nature to induce so wary a
politician to make important concessions.
The English, he well knew, had purchased
peace by the surrender of almost all they
had been fighting for—that is, by reverting
to the terms of the indignantly repudiated |
treaty of Poorunder; and even these condi-

F
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Ctality of the formidable and intriguing
Sindia.* But Hyder desired an interval of
tranquillity in which to settle a plan of com-
bined operations with the Irench admiral
Suffrein; he therefore proceeded to treat
with Sir Eyre Coote, who remained in sus-
'pense until the vakeel from Mysoor was
suddenly withdrawn, and the old general
“discovered that his whole stock of provisions
‘had been consumed, while the troops were
kept in a state of inactivity by the artifice
of Hyder. The subsequent attempts of the

| Enghsh to force a battle were unavailing ;
'and matters grew from bad to worse, until
'towards the close of the year, Coote, who

' ' had previously sustained a fit of apoplexy,
'now suffered a fresh seizure, which compelled
‘him to resign the command to general

| Stuart, and retire to Bengal. Madras was
by this time reduced to a terrible condition.
The ravages of famine, after spreading over
'the whole Carnatic,t at length became felt
‘in the presidency, and increased with alarm-
ing rapidity, until the number of deaths
amounted to, and continued for several

| weeks, at from 1,200 to 1,500. The French
appear to have been ignorant of the state of
affairs; for they made no attempt to bloc-
kade the coast; and supplies from Bengal
and the Northern Circars came in time to
ald in preventing the scourge of pestilence
from following the ravages of famine. Hyder
Al had ever been accurately informed re-
garding the condition of every leading Eng-
lish seitlement, and would doubtless have
not failed to take advantage of the condition
of the capital of the presidency, but that his
!mar\’cilous energies of mind and body, so
'long vouchsafed, so terribly misused, were
! fast failing.  Iis health had been for some
time decliniug, and, in November, symptoms

* The price paid to Sindia was the surrender of
| the city of Broach and its dependencies. The ar-
| rangements referred to (commonly known as the
Treaty of Salbye) were concluded in May, 1782.

T An eye-witness pathetically describes the man-
ner in which the netives, “whose very excess and
luxury, in their most plenteous days, had fallen short
of our severest fasts—silent, patient, resigned without
sedition or disturbance, almost without complaint,”
perished in multitudes.—(Mecodie's Lransactions.)

1 It ie said that Hyder, like Hamilcar, swore his
son to wage incessant war against the English ;
but the truth of this assertion is doubtful.

§ The age of Hyder is very differently stated.
Wilks (the best general authority regarding My-
soor) states that he was seven years old in 1728,
which would make him about sixty at the time of
his death ; but Mill and other writers unanimously
speak of him as attaining a far more advanced
age; and the careful and accurate Thornton

appeared of a mortal disease described as
peculiar to natives of high rank, and there-
fore called the raj-poora, or royal hoil. He
died at Chittore, in December, 1782, 1 leaving
Tippoog to prosecute hostilities with the Eng-
lish. The defalcation of the Mahrattas had,
it is said, led him to regret the confederacy
he had formed, and even to regard it as the
most impolitic act of his whole career. <1
have committed a great error,” he exclaimed
with bitterness; “ T have purchased a draught
of seandee| (worth about a farthing) at
the price of a lac of pagodas. 1 can ruin
their resources by land, butgl cannot dry up
the sea.”9 It would have been well for his
successor had he profited by this dear-bought
experience ; but Tippoo, fierce, headstrong,
and bigoted, was the last person in the
world to gain wisdom on such easy terms.
A leading characteristic of Hyder had been
perfect toleration to every religious sect.
Though quite capable of respecting the
genuine piety of such a man as Swartz, he
appears to have been himself devoid of any
belief whatever; and alternately counte-
nanced and joined in the ceremonial obser-
vances of the Mohammedans and Hindocs,
and even the grossest forms of idolatry, super-
stition, and magical incantation performed
by the latter, simply from motives of poliey.

His cruelties, great and terrible as they
were, resulted from the same cause, except-
ing only those prompted by his unbounded
sensuality. Tippoo Sultan, on the contrary,
had all the insatiable ferocity of the wild
beast whose name he bore, when the fear-
ful relish for human blood has once been
acquired ; and none of his victiins could have
suggested a more appropriate badge than
the stripe of the royal tiger, which formed
part of his insignia.** With him, the fiendish

describes him as little younger than Aurungzebe.

[| Date wine, a cheap but very intoxicating liquor.

€] Mysoor, ii., 373. Col. Wilks gives this strange
confession on the authority of Poorrea, the Hindoo
minister, to whom it was addressed. Hyder, it must
be recollected, had no ally on whom he could rely.
The Mahrattas had forsaken him, and from the
French he could only receive very partial aid, since
he had predetermined, under no circumstances, to
admit them in force to Mysoor.—( Idem, 374.)
very critical period (March, 1782), Hyder resented
the attempt of a French officer to take possession of
Chillambrum, by turning him out of the fort, and
the troops, having no bullocks, were actually com-
pelled to drag their artillery back to Porto Novo!

** Tippoo Sultan is thought to have been named
after a famous ascetic for whom Hyder Ali had a

Ata |

regard, and who had assumed this strange designa- |

tion to signify sovereignty obtained over the tiger-
like passions of the flesh.—(Wilks' Mysoor, 11., 567.)
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delight of inflicting pain and degradation,
physical and moral, seems to have heen an
instinet developed even in early hoyhood.

In vain the stern reprimauds of his
dreaded father were frequently sounded
in his ears; in vain the repeated infliction
of corporal punishment by the long whips,
which Hyder declared to be better security
for good government than all the rcaclin:::
and writing in the world ;—Tippoo could
never be restrained from indulging the
vicious tendencies which subsequently found
vent in the form of religious persecution. He
persisted in inflicting the outward mark of
Islam on such Christians as fell in his
power,* and insulted the peaceful Hindoo
subjects of his father by wantonly defiling
their places of worship, and slaying the
animals they hold most sacred, especially
the sacred bulls, which he recommended to
his associates as the best possible beef. Yet
Tippoo, stanch Mussulman as he deemed
himself, and sworn foe to idolatry, was not
the less a slave to the gross superstitions of
which the Brahminical ereed of modern
times is so largely composed ; and, like Hyder
himself, he rarely failed, in commencing a
difficnlt and dangerous undertaking, to have
the jebbum—a strange species of magical
incantation—performed on his behalf by
the Hindoos, simultaneously with the offer-
ing up of prayers for suceess in the mosques.t
Add to these characteristics that of an irre-
pressible tendency for pilfering and lying,
and we have, perhaps, about as detestable a
person as can well be conceived. In acti-
vity in battle, he is said to have surpassed
his father, and to have equalled him in
personal daring; but in every other more
needful capacity of a despotic ruler, he was
immeasurably inferior.  His uucontested
succession was ensured by the manauvres of
two Brahmins, the chief ministers of Hy-
der,f who concealed the death of the
sovereign as long as possible, in order to
give his heir time to return from his post on
the western frontier of Mysoor, whither he

* When a youth, his father punished him severely
for having inflicted circumeision on an English sol-
dier, at a time when he was anxious to conciliate
the good-will of the Madras presidency.

+ The Jebbum, though purely a Hindoo cere-
monial, was frequently resorted to by Mohamme-
dans; one, of which the details are on record, is
said to have cost Mohammed Ali £5,000, which he
did not grudge, since ¢ killed Lord Pigot; and
another, after several failures, produced the death
of Hyder himself.—(Wilks’ Mysoor, ii., 255.)

1 The chief ministers, relatively speaking; for Hy-
der was himself the acting head of every department. |

D1V, X. 3 A

had proceeded to repel the incursions

of the English under Colonel Humber-

stone.  Lord Macartney, on learning the

]atc_cvent, earnestly pressed the comman- |
der-in-chief (General Stuart) to take im-
mediate advantage of the confusion likely

to arise from a change of ruler. But |
here again the spirit of disunion, which pre- |
vailed to so remarkable an extent in the |
Madras presidency, forbade speedy and com-
bined action. The general claimed to be
allowed to exercise the same independent au-
thority bestowed by the supreme government
on Sir Eyre Coote, and the governor con-
tended, as Hastings had done in Bengal,
for the entire subordination of the military
to the civil authority. The general, to vin-
dicate his alleged right, took the course
natural to an opiniated and narrow-minded
man, of acting in direct opposition to the
instructions given by the presidency; and
during the remainder of this the first war
with the new ruler of Mysoor, the very
spirit of discord ruled in the senate, the
camp, and the field, neutralising every suc-
cess, and aggravating every disaster. By
the urgent solicitations of Hastings, Coote
was again induced to return to the Carnatic;
although, before his departure from thenece,
some serious disputes had taken place be-

tween him and Lord- Macartney, notwith- |
standing the care evinced by the latter to act |

in the most conciliatory manner. But the
ill-defined authority vested in the Supreme
Couneil of Bengal, in conjunction with the
personal misunderstanding which unhappily
existed between Hastings and Macartuney,$
tended to mingle personal feelings with
public questions; and the dissensions be-

tween them increased in violence, until the |

governor-general took the resolve not only |

of delegating to Sir Eyre Coote the uncon-
trolled conduct of the war, but also, in the

event of determined resistance at Fort St. |

George, of enforcing that measure by the
deposition of the president. The death of
Coote, four days after landing at Madras

§ The spotless integrity of Lord Macartney was a
standing reproach to Hastings, who in dealing with
him completely lost his temper. 'Thus, in a commu-
nication dated 13th of April, 1783, he desires Lord
Ma artney to explain some misunderstanding which
had arisen on an official subject, adding as a reason,
“if you consider the estimation of a man [the gov-
ernor-general of India writing to the head of a
subordinate presidency!] so inconsiderable as I am
deserving of attention.”—(ZLfe, ii.. 63.) 3

| During the voyage, Coote was chased for two
days and nights by a French ship of the line; and
the agitation caused thereby accelerated his death.

I
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perhaps prevented intestine strife ; for Lord
' Macartney, though courteous and moderate,
| was by no means inclined to submit tamely
' to the lot of his predecessor, Lord Pigot. In
all other respects the loss of the experienced
general was a severe calamity. Despite the
irritation and excitability consequent on 1ll-
health, with other failings less excusable—
such as extravagance as a commander, and
covetousness in his private capacity—he pos-
sessed a degree of activity, precision, and
experience far beyond any of his compeers;
besides which, a frank soldierly manner,
aided by the charm of old association, and
his own strong attachment to the troops,
rendered him beloved by the army in gene-
ral, and especially by the native soldiers.
Many a white-haired sepoy, in after times,
loved to dwell on the service they had seen
under “Coote Bahadur;” and offered, with
glistening eye and faltering voice, a grateful
tribute to his memory, while making a
military salutation to the portrait of the
veteran, suspended in the Madras exchange.
The death of Coote was nearly simultaneous
with the arrival of M. de Bussy. He had
been long expected ; but his plans had been
twice disconcerted by the capture of the
convoy destined to support him, by Admiral
Kempenfelt, in December, 1781. A similar
disaster occurred in April, 1782; and when,
after much delay, he reached the Carnaticin
the following June, he found a conjuncture of
affairs awaiting him by no means favourable
to his views. Hyder was dead, and Tippoo
absent on an expedition for the recovery of
Bednore, which had surrendered to an Eng-
lish force under General Matthews. This
enterprise, which unforeseen circumstances
alone rendered successful, had been under-
taken for the express purpose of withdraw-
g the Mysooreans from Arcot. The object
was accomplished, but the expected advan-
tages were greatly lessened by the previous
ill-advised destruction of the forts of Wan-
dewash and Carangoli, which had been
demolished by the for once united decision
of Lord Macartney and General Stuart,
although almost every military opinion,
from that time to the present, has pro-
nounced the measure premature, if not

* The governor was a chelah, or slave, named Sheik
Ayaz, to whom Hyder had been so strongly attached,
that he repeatedly declared he wished he had be-
gotten him instead of Tippoo. The consequence was,
Tippoo cordially hated Ayaz, and had arranged to
put him to death; but the letter being intercepted,
the intended victim hastened to make his escape,

+ Bernadotte, afterwards Crown Prince of Swe-

BEDNORE CAPTURED FROM, AND REGAINED BY, TIPPOO—1783.

acquisitions were expected to be realised
| from the capture of Bednore; but these an-
|tici]mtions proved delusive,—whether owing
to the large sums carried off' by the native
governor (himself the intended victim of
Tippoo),* or whether from the peculation
of English officers, is a disputed question.
The place was only retained about three
months, at the end of which time it was
captured by Tippoo, who having (by his own
account) discovered that the English officers,
in violation of the terms of capitulation dic-
tated by him, were carrying away treasure
and jewels to a large amount, caused them
all to be marched off in irons to different
prisons, where they endured a rigorous and
dreary captivity, terminated, in the case of
Matthewsand several others, by acruel death.

Meanwhile Bussy, disappointed in the hope
of joining the main body of the Mysoorean
army under Tippoo, concentrated his force
at Cuddalore, which was subsequently in-
vested by General Stuart. It was of evident
importance to use the utmost expedition in
order to forestal the large reinforcements ex-
pected from France, and which did eventnally
arrive. Nevertheless, Stuart, although com-
pelled to some degree of obedience to the Ma-
dras government, contrived to neutralise their
plans by marching at the rate of three miles
a-day, and thus occupied forty days, instead
of the usual period of twelve, in reaching
Cuddalore. The siege,t when commenced,
proved long and sanguinary; and in an
attack which took place on the 13th of June,

] 7‘).)

I wholly inexpedient. Considerable pecuniary

strengthen the garrison; but Stuart had
recklessly determined to carry out the
commands of the presidency as literally as
possible; and all the British troops en-
trusted to his charge, including a detach-
ment under Colonel Fullarton, which had
marched to his aid from Tanjore, would
probably have been sacrificed to the spleen
of one unprincipled man, but for the arrival
of orders for the immediate cessation of
hostilities, in consequence of the peace
newly concluded between France and Eng-

den, was captured in a midnight sally made by the
garrison. He was treatad with great kindness by
General Wangenheim, commandant of the Hano-
verian troops in the English service; and in later
life, when their relative positions were strangely
altered, the general had ample reason to remember,
with satisfaction, the compassion he had evinced
towards the wounded sergeant.—(Wilks, ii., 442.)

|

3, the Iinglish lost upwards of 1,000
men. M. de Sufirein arrived shortly after,
and landed a body of 2,400 men to




land. This intelligence, at an equally oppor-
tune moment, reached the troops engaged in
the defence of Mangalore, which, though
a place of very inferior strength, had stood a
siege of fifty-six days, the defence being
directed by Colonel Campbell, the attack
by Tippoo himself, who had proceeded
thitber with the main body after taking
Bednore. The French envoy, Peveron, is
accused of having kept back the intelli-
gence he came to bring, in order to enable
Tippoo to retain the aid of Cossigny (the
French engineer), Lally, and Boudenot. The
declaration could, at length, be no longer
withheld.  Cossigny quitted the Mysoor
army, and insisted on his companions with-
drawing likewise. Tippoo was bevond mea-
sure enraged by what he considered nothing
short of treacherous desertion; and his late
allies, as the sole means of escaping unhurt
by his resentment, were glad to avail them-
selves of the protection of the English.
After some unsuccessful attempts to carry
the place by his own unassisted strength, he
agreed to an armistice, to extend over the
coast of Malabar. One leading condition

ras the supply of astated monthly allowance
of provisions to Mangalore, sufficient for the
use of the garrison without trenching on their
previous stock. This stipulation was broken
by his furnishing articles deficient 1 quan-
tity and deleterious in quality : no salt was
sent, and many of the sepoys, Colonel Wilks
affirms, became actually blind, as well as
affected by various other ailments, in conse-
quence of being compelled to eat rice in its
simple, undigestible state, without the addi-
tion of any of the usual coudiments. The
Madras government were extremely anxious
to conclude a peace; and to this circum-
stance, as also to the want of union among
those in command, may be attributed the
supineness of General Macleod and the
scruples which prevented his effective inter-
position for the succour of Mangalore, which,
after nearly a nine months’ siege, fell before
its cruel and perfidious foe. Colonel Campbell
died soon after, overwhelmed with fatigue
and disappointment. Tippoo had succeeded
in his immediate object of proving to the
native Indian powers his sufficiency to
Leffect that which had baffled the skill and
‘discipline of his French auxiliaries: in every
‘other respect he had little reason to con-
'gratulate himself on the conquest of an in-
'considerable place, purchased by a long and
'costly siege, which, besides having hindered
'his attention to the affairs of his own

PEACE SIGNED WITH TIPPOO SULTAN—MAY, 1784. 3

clo‘rninirms., had left the Eunglish free to
gan Cf:l‘lslder_ahlc advantages in other quar- |
ters. ”1(}‘ misconduct of General Stuart, in l
the expedition to Cuddalore, had filled the |
measure of his offences, and induced thcL
governor and council to order his arrest and |L
fOI:Clb]C embarkation for England.* After |
this decisive measure matters took a differ- |
ent and far more favourable turn. ]
The abilities of Mr. Salivan, the resident ;
at Tanjore, and of colonels Lang and Ful- l
larton, had been successfully exerted in |
various ways. Caroor and Dindegul, Pal- %
gaut and Coimbatore, were captured; and
Colonel Fullarton was even preparing to as-
cend the Ghauts and march on Seringapa-
tam, when he received tidings of a treaty of
peace concluded between Tippoo Sultan and
the Madras government, on the basis of a
mutual restoration of conquests. The so-
called peace was, however, but a hollow
truce, to which nothing but fear of the |
Mahrattas and the Nizam had driven the
sultan. Throughout the whole of the ne-
gotiations he behaved in the most insulting |
manner to the British commissioners,t |
who had been inveigled to his court to be |
held up in the light of suitors for peace;
and even when the treaty was concluded, |
the fulfilment of his pledge of restoring his
captives to liberty, gave fresh occasion for |
resentment, by revealing the treatment to |
which they had been subjected. Hyder
had shown little humanityin his dealings with
English prisoners, whom he kept in irons,
chained in pairs, because “they were unruly
beasts, not to be kept quiet in any other |
way.”  But Tippoo Sultan far surpassed his
father in barbarity, and the English learned,
with horror and indignation, that many
officers distinguished by rank, skill, or
bravery, had been poisoned or assassinated
in their dungeons ; that others, especially the
younger of these unfortunates, had suffered
torture and ignominy of a revolting descrip- |
tion; and that even the most fortunate among |
the captives had sustained close confinement
in loathsome dens, their beds the damp
ground ; with food so miserably insufficient,
as to give scope for the untiring fidelity and
self-devotion of their native companions in
affliction, to show itself by the frequent |
sacrifice of a portion of the scanty pittance |

* One of the sons of Mohammed Ali expressed his

| view of the matter in broken English, by declaring

“ GGeneral Stuart catch one Lord [Pigot], one Lord
[Macartney] catch General Stuart.” |
+ Messrs. Sadleir, Staunton, and Hudleston.
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|
l:11!0“70(1 for their maintenance, in return for
'unremitting labour, to mend the fare of the
' European soldiers.®

The treaty entered into with Tippoo by
'the Madras authorities was transmitted to
Bengal, and signed by the Supreme Council,
on whom the full powers of government had
'devolved, owing to the absence of Mr.
Hastings at Lucknow. On his return to
Calcutta, Hastings found much fault with
the treaty, especially because it made no

mention of the nabob of Arcot. He drew
up a new one, and peremptorily commanded
the Madras authorities to forward it to
Tippoo. Macartney positively refused com-
pliance ; Hastings could not compel it ; and
so the matter ended.

Crose or HasTiNGs’ ADMINISTRATION.—
Before the commencement of the war with
Hyder, the financial condition of every one of
the three presidencies had become seriously
embarrassed. In August, 1780, the Supreme
Council had been under the necessity of
contracting a new debt, and when to this
heavy burden on the Bengal revenues an
'additional one was added by the costly
military operations required for the defence
of the Carnatic, the governor-general felt
compelled to announce to the directors the
probability of a total suspension of the in-
vestment, unless the purchase-money were
sent from England. Nothing short of the
most absolute necessity could, however,
\induce Hastings to endanger his standing
| with the Court of Proprietors, by the execu-
' tion of so unpopular a measure, while any
source of supply remained available; yet
such as there were had been already severely
taxed. The nabob of Oude and the rajah of
| Benares were tributary princes. Viewed in
this light, they were bound in all cases of
diffieulty to furnish assistance to the superior
and protecting state. The degree of co-
operation to be afforded was an open ques-
tion, which Mr. Hastings, who now held un-
disputed sway in Bengal, thought fit to
' decide in person, and, with that intent, pro-
ceeded to the wealthy, populous, and venera-
' ted city of Benares. The rajah, Cheyte Sing,
was the son and successor of Bulwunt Sing,
whose alliance the English had courted
- during the war with Shuja Dowlah. The

* Their exemplary conduct is the more deserving
| of admiration fromthe severe trials to which their
| fidelity had been recently exposed, as recorded in
the pages of Wilks, Fullarton, and other military
authorities. The mismanagement of the finances of
the Carnatic had told fearfully on the condition of
the army; even veteran sepuy.-s', who had served un-

usurping nabobs of Oude had asserted the |
claim of the sword over the district of which |
Benares forms the capital, on the plea of its |
being a district dependent on their govern-
ment. DBulwunt Sing made common cause
with the English; and on the conclusion of
peace, an article was expressly inserted to
secure him from the vengeance and cupidity
of the nabob-vizier. This proved increas-
ingly difficult; until at length, in 1774, it
was proposed by Mr. Hastings, as the sole
mode of protecting the rajah, to insist on
his being declared independent of Oude, and
tributary to Bengal. A stated sum was
fixed to be paid annually, and the Supreme
Council unanimously decreed that no more
demands of any kind should be made upon
him on behalf of the company. Cheyte
Sing forwarded the tribute to Patna with
remarkable regularity ; nevertheless, in 1 778,
the necessities of the presidency were consi-
dered to justify a demand for a heavy con-
tribution (five lacs of rupees) to be furnished
immediately.  The rajah pleaded poverty,
and asked for time; but troops were sent
against him, and he was compelled to furnish
the sum originally demanded, with a fine of
£2,000 for military expenses. He had, un-
happily, incurred the personal enmity of the
governor-general, by courting Clavering and
Francis during their brief day of power; and
the offence was one Hastings was little dis-
posed to let pass unpunished. In 1780, the |
system of exaction commenced against Cheyte |
Sing, was continued by a new demand of
five lacs, from which he endeavoured to gain
relief by arguments and supplications, en-
forced by a private offering of two lacs,
which Mr. Hastings accepted, not as a part
of the contribution, but as a distinet item,
and then proceeded as before to exact the
five lacs, with an additional mulet or fine of
£10,000, for the trouble of compelling pay-
ment. In 1781, the unfortunate rajah was
again importuned for supplies of money and
troops; but this time unreasonable demands
appear to have been made, simply with the
object of provoking conduct which was to
serve as a plea for the complete confiscation
of his whole possessions. The amount now de-
manded was not to be less than fifty lacs, with
a contingent of 1,000 men. The rajah be-
der Clive, were but imperfectly, if at all provided for.
Colonel Fullarton expressly states, that the natives
under his command were nearly twelve months in
arrear, and that many were driven to such extremities
as 1o be compelled 1o sell their children into slavery ‘
to save themselves from starvation.—( Fiew of Eng-

lish Interests in India, 1782 to 1784; pp. 98—201.)
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haved with remarkable moderation: hedoubt-
less gnessed the views entertained by Has-
tings-—either the seizure of his forts with
their contents, or the sale of his dominions
to the ruler of Oude; and he left no means
untried to avert, by submission, evils which
it was hopeless to combat by force. On the
approach of the governor-general, he went
to meet him with every demonstration of
respect ; and, in token of entire submission,
laid his turban on the lap of the reserved
and impassive Englishman, the last act of
humiliation in a country, where, to be bare-
headed, 1s considered unspeakable degrada-
tion. This conduct did not check, per-
haps it accelerated the extreme measures
adopted by Hastings, who asserted that be-
sides falsely pleading poverty, the rajah was
really plotting to become perfectly indepen-

. dent of the presidency ; but to this charge

his youth and inexperience afford the best
contradiction, when viewed in conjunction
with the unresisting manner in which he
suffered the governor-general to take pos-
session of Benares, though attended by a
very slender escort, and even to go the
length of arresting and confining him to his
own palace. The two companies of sepoys
placed on guard there, were not provided
with ammunition, so little was any resis-
tance anticipated on the part of this incipient
rebel.  The people were expected to witness,
with indifference, the change of rulers. On
the contrary, they were rendered desperate
by an aggression which involved the downfall
of one of their own race and religion, to be
followed by the transfer of the sacred city
and its fertile environs into the hands of
aliens, who had no sympathies with their
creed, and no interest in their welfare.
Gireat crowds assembled round the palace
and blocked up all the avenues; and before
reinforcements with ammunition could ar-
rive to support the sepoy guard, a furious
attack had been made, in which the greater
part perished. The rajah, so far from com-

- ing forth to head the mob, took advantage

of the confusion to make his escape, and
was let down the steep bank of the Ganges,
by means of turbans tied together, nto
a boat which conveyed him to the oppo-
site shore. The multitude rushed after
him, leaving the palace to be occupied by
the English troops. Had they at once pro-
ceeded in search of Iastings, no effective re-
sistance could have been offered, since he had
no protection beyond that of the thirty gen-
tlemen of his party and fifty armed sepoys.

I
Cheyte Sing had, however, no thought of |
organised operations against his persecutor, |
and he sent repeated apologies, and offers
of the most complete submission, all of |
which were treated with contemptuous dis- |
regard. The numbers of the insurgents & |
continued toincrease ; the building in which | |
the Inglish party had taken up their abode | |
was blockaded, and the sole means of con- | |
veying intelligence to Bengal was by the 1
subtlety of native messengers, who, t'nking_g 3
advantage of the custom of laying aside in | |
travelling their large golden earrings, becaunse
tempting to thieves, placed on this occasion
not the ordinary quill or roll of blank paper

in the orifice, but dispatches from Has-
tings to the commanders of British troops to
come to his rescue. Before these orders
could be executed, affairs assumed a still
more menacing aspect. A slight skirmish,
brought on by a premature attack made
by an English officer, at the head of a
small body of men, on Rammnagur, a for-
tified palace beyond the river, terminated
in the death of the leader, and many of his
followers by the hands of the people of Be-
nares. The survivors retreated ; and Has-
tings, alarmed for his own safety, fled by
night to the fortress of Chunar, leaving the
wounded sepoys behind. The excitement |
spread for hundreds of miles ; the husband-
man quitted the field, the manufacturer his
loom, and rallied round Cheyte Sing; the
oppressed population of Oude rose against
the misgovernment of Asuf Dowlah and his
English allies ; and even Bahar seemed ripe
for revolt. The rajah at length assumed a
haughty and defiant tone; but the absence
of skill or discipline rendered the tumul-
tuary force thus voluntarily assembled utterly |
incapable of taking the field against a Euro-
pean army, and the troops, under Major
Popham, were everywhere victorious. The
fastnesses of the rajah were stormed, his
adherents, to the number of 30,000, forsook
his standard, and returned to their ordinary
avocations, while their late ruler quitted the
country for perpetuzl exile. Benares was
annexed to the British dominions. To
save appearances, a relation of the banished
ruler was appointed rajah, but, like the
nabob of Bengal, he became a mere stipen-
diary, removable at the pleasure of the pre- | |
sidency. This tyrannical procedure com-
pletely failed in promoting the avowed ob- |
ject of Hastings—the attainment of a ]a}'gc
sum of ready money ; for, notwithstanding
the indignities used in searching even the
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persons aswell as the wardrobesof themother,
’ wife, and other females of the family of Cheyte
' Sing (in violation of the articles of capitula-
| tion), the booty realised was not only un-
' expectedly small (£250,000 to .-QS()(J,OOO),
| but was wholly appropriated as prize-money
' by the army.* Thus the immediate effect
[of' the expedition was to enhance the diffi-
| culties it was intended to relieve, by the
' expenses attendant on putting down a re-
'volt wantonly provoked; and so far from
'meeting the approbation of the company,
the conduct pursued towards the rajah was
denounced as “improper, unwarrantable,
and highly impolitic.” Nevertheless, the
war into which Cheyte Sing had been driven
was held to justify his expulsion from Be-
nares ; and the positive declaration of Has-
tings, that an order for the reinstatement of
the rajah would be regarded by him as the
signal for his own instant resignation of
office, probably prevented any step being
taken to make amends for past wrongs.

The next expedient adopted to fill the
empty treasury of Calcutta, was more suc-
cessful in its results, but, if possible, more
disereditable in character.  Asuf-ad-Dow-
lah, the successor of Shuja Dowlah, was
a young man, not devoid of a certain
description of abilityt and kindly feeling ;
but his better qualities were neutralised
by an amount of indolence and sensuality,
which rendered him a political nobody in
the sight of the presidency, and a severe
scourge to his subjects by reason of the ex-
tortions and cruelty perpetrated in his name

by unworthy favourites. Already sundry
concessions (such as the Benares tribute)
had been extorted from him, which IHas-
tings would never have so much as pro-

posed to his father; and these, together |

with general misgovernment and extrava-
gance, had reduced the treasury of Oude
to a condition which left its master little to
fear from the rapacity of his neighbours.
Continued drought had heightened his dis-
tress, by diminishing the power of the
people to meet the heavy taxation demanded

* Hastings would seem to have outwitted himself
in this matter. The wife of Cheyte Sing was a per-
son of high character, much-beloved and esteemed,
and safety and respect for her person, together with
those of the other ladies of the family of the ill-fated
rajah, were among the express terms of capitula-

| tion. Yet Hastings was unmanly enough to ques-
tion the “expediency of the promised indulgence to

:he‘ralwe.” and to suggest that she would “ contrive
to defraud the captors of a considerable portion of the
booty, by being suffered to retire without examina-

I from them ; and he found himself unable to
pay any portion of the arrears of his own
mutinous troops, much less to maintain the
costly detachment and the long train of
officials, eivil as well as military, forced
upon him by the English.

In an evil hour he sought counsel with
the governor-general at Chunar, pleaded
poverty, and gave as one, among many
reasons for inability to fulfil the heavy con-
ditions into which he had been led to enter,
the large proportion of his father’s wealth
bequeathed to his mother and grandmother.
These princesses had been uniformly treated
by Shuja Dowlah with the highest con-
sideration and respect: his wife, especially,
had won his entire confidence by repeated
evidences of energetic and devoted affection.
During his lifetime the chief direction of
his pecuniary affairs had been entrusted to
her management, and, after his death, the
two ladies remained in possession of certain
extensive jaghires, with other property, to a
large extent; not for their exclusive use,
but for the maintenance of the rest of
his family and those of preceding mnabobs,
amounting (including female retainers of all
kinds) to about 2,000 persons. The profli-
gate prince had early coveted the inheri-
tance of his relatives, and he continued to
exact contributions from them, until his
mother, wearied and alarmed by his impor-
tunities and injurious treatment, consented to
surrender an additional sum of thirty lacs, on
condition of his signing a formal pledge, gua-
ranteed by the Supreme Council of Bengal,

ther persecution.

through the mediation of Bristowe, the
English resident at Limcknow, was approved
of and confirmed by the majority then
| dominant in Caleutta. Hastings disap-

proved, but being in the minority, could |

offer no effective opposition. In 1781, when
his authority became again (for a time) su-

former promises by empowering the nabob

tion.” The intimation did not pass unheeded. The de-
fenceless ladies were subjected to the insulting searvch
of four females, but with what effect does not ap-
pear ; and their persons were further insulted by the
licentious people and followers of the camp. " But
the officers and soldiery maintained that Hastings
had expressly made over to them the whole profits of
this nefarious transaction, and would not so much as
lend a portion to government. The share of the com-
mander-in-chief was £36,000.—(Mill, Moodie, &¢.)
t Vide the charming stanzas translated by Heber,

i

that she should be permitted to enjoy |
her jaghires and effects exempt from fur- |
This covenant, effected |

preme, he scrupled not to set aside all|
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to take possession of the jaghires of both
princesses, as a means of paying his debts
to the company; and, as a further assistance,
the IEnglish troops, whose maintenance
pressed heavily on the Oude revenues, were
to be withdrawn. Mr. Iastings asserted,
in justification of his conduct, that the
begums had evinced an inclination to take
part with Cheyte Sing; but the aceusa-
tion is improbable in itself, and unsup-
ported by any reliable evidence : their other

| .
alleged fault —of embarrassing the gov-
- ernment of the nabob—was contradicted by

the statements repeatedly forwarded by the
English resident, of the persecutions endured
by them at the hands of the local authori-
ties.  Asuf-ad-Dowlah (who, ever since the
covenant signed in 1775, had been repeatedly
violating it in different ways) was at first
delighted at having his re(ractory relatives
deprived of the protection to which they
had constantly appealed; but on quitting
Chunar, and regaining his own dominions,
he began to consider the matter in a dif-
ferent light. Unsupported by the plausible
reasoning of Hastings, the proposed plan of
despoiling his mother and grandmother
appeared fraught with ignominy; and Mr.
Middleton (who had been recently restored
to the position of British resident) described,
m the strongest terms, the almost uncon-
querable repugnance evinced by the nabob
towards the violent measures agreed on at
Chunar. IHe was peremptorily informed,
that in the event of his continued refusal, the
seizure of the jaghires and personal property
of the begums would be accomplished by
the English without his co-operation. The
weak and vacillating prince, fearful of the
effect such an assumption of authority by
foreigners might produce on the minds of
his subjects, reluctantly consented to ac-
company the expedition sent to attack the
princesses in their own territory, in the

* Middleton's defence. TFide House of Commons
Papers, March, 1781 ; and Mill's Zndia, vol. iv.

+ The account of these disgraceful proceedings is
very fragmentary, but amply sufficient to warrant the
assertions made in the text. Three principal facts
are on record. The first is a letter from Middleton
to the English officer on guard, dated January, 1782,
desiring that the cunuchsshould “be put inirons, kept
from all food,” &e. The second is a letter from the
same officer to the president, pleading the sickly
condition of his prisoners as a reason for temporarily
removing their chains, and allowing them to take a
little exercise in the fresh air. This was refused,
and the captives were removed to Lucknow. The
third communication, addressed still by one com-
pany’s servant to another, is a direct order ft'u' the ad-
mission of torturers to  inflict corporal punishment”

commencement of the year 1782. The
town and castle of Fyzabad (the second
place in Oude) were occupied without blood-
shed, the avenues of the palace blocked up, |
and the begums given to understand that |
no severities would be spared to compel | |
the complete surrender of their property. | |
But here a serious obstacle presented itseif,
Even Middleton doubted what description | |
of coercion could be effectually adopted,
without offering an offence of the most un- |
pardonable description to the whole native
population ; for the ladies were hedged in
by every protection which rank, station, and
character could confer, to enhance the force |
of opinion which, on all such occasions, is |
in the east so strong and invariable, ¢ that
no man, either by himself or his troops, can |
enter the walls of a zenana, scarcely in the
case of acting against an open enemy, much |
less the ally of a son acting against his own
mother.”* In this dilemma it was deemed
advisable to work upon the fears and sym- |
pathies of the begums in the persons of
their chief servants, two eunuchs, who had | |
long been entrusted with the entire manage- |
ment of their affairs. There 1s, perhaps, no
page in Anglo-Indian history so deeply
humiliating to our national feelings, as that
which records the barbarities inflicted on
these aged men, during a period of nearly
twelve months. Certainly no other instance
can be found equally illustrative of the false
varnish which Hastings habitually strove
to spread over his worst actions, than the
fact that, after directing the mode of dealing
with the eunuchs—by rigorous confinement
in irons, total deprivation of food, and,
lastly, by direct torture; after inciting
the indirect persecution of the princesses
and the immense circle of dependants left
to their charge by the nabob-vizier, by |
cutting off’ their supplies of food and neces-
saries ;J-—after quarrelling with and dismiss-

|
|

l
|
i
l
|

on two aged prisoners accused of excessive fidelity to
their mistresses; and lest the feelings of a British
officer should rise against the atrocities about to be
inflicted, an express injunction was added, that the
executioners were to have * free access to the pri-
soners, and to be permitted to do with them what- |
ever they thought proper.”—(Zdem.) |
1 The women of the zenana were at various times |
on the eve of perishing for want ; and on one oceasion
the pangs of hunger so completely overpowered the |
ordinary restraints of custom, that they burst Ina
body from the palace and begged for food in the
public bazaar, but were driven back with blows by
the sepoys in the service of the . I Cy.—(Dr. |
Moodie’s Zransactions, p. 455.) Major Gilpin, the |
commandant of the guard, humanely advanced |
10,000 rupees for the relief of these unfortunates. |
J




" an accession of £600,000 to their exhausted

. 364 PARTIAL RESTORATION OF THEIR JAGHIRES T

ing his favourite employé Middleton, for hav-
' ing been backward in conducting a business
| from which a gaoler of Newgate prison
might turn with disgust,—he, nevertheless,
when it became advisable to adopt lenient
measures (since no further payments could be
extorted by cruelty), had the consummate
hypocrisy to remove the guard from the palace
of the begums, and release the eunuchs, on
the express understanding that their suffer-
ings had proceeded from the nabob and
'his ministers, but their release from his
own compassionate interference. The pre-
vious ill-fecling justly entertained by the
princesses and their adherents against Asuf-
ad-Dowlah, probably lent some counte-
nance to this untruth ; and the commanding
officer by whom the eunuchs were set at
liberty, described, in glowing terms, the
lively gratitude expressed by them towards
their supposed liberator. “The enlargement
of the prisoners, their quivering lips and
tears of joy, formed,” writes this officer, “a
truly affecting scene.” IHe adds a remark,
which could scarcely fail to sting the pride,
if not the conscience, of one so susceptible
of censure in disguise—“If the prayers of
these poor men will avail, you will, at the
last trump, be translated to the happiest
regions in heaven.”* 1In the benefits to be
derived from the recent despoliation, |
Hastings hoped to share largely, for he
expected that the E. 1. Cy., in gratitude for

treasury, would cheerfully assent to his
appropriation of the additional sum of
£100,000, which he had actually obtained
honds for from Asuf-ad-Dowlah at Chunar.
An extortion like this, committed at a time |
when the excessive poverty and heavy debts |
of the nabob-vizier,  the clamours of his
unpaid troops, and the sufferings of the
mass of the people, were held forth in ex- |
tenuation of the oppression of his motheri
and grandmother, together with other acts |
of tyrannous aggression, needs no comment.
The directors positively refused to permit |
his detention of the money, and, morcover, |
commanded that a rigorous investigation |
should be instituted into the charges of
disaffection brought against the begums;
and that, in the event of their innocence
being proved, restitution should be made.

* Parl. Papers, quoted by Mill, iv., 438.
t Letter of Hastings to council, 1784. They gave
rich gifts to Mrs. Hastings, in the form of chairs

O THE BEGUMS.

Hastings strongly deprecated this equitable
measurc. e urged that the evidence
offered under such circumstances would be
sure to be favourable to persons whose cause
should be so manifestly upheld by the com-
pany ; and supported his views on the sub-

ject by many characteristic arguments, such

as its being unsuitable to the majesty of
justice to challenge complaint. A compro-
mise was effected; the nabob, at his own
urgent desire, was permitted to restore the
jaghires wrested from his relatives; while
the ladies, on their part, thankful for even
this scanty justice, “made a voluntary con-
cession of a large portion of their respective
shares’” of the newly-restored rents. |

This transaction 1s the last of any impor-
tance in the administration of Warren
Hastings.] Various causes appeared to have
concurred to render him as anxious to re-
sign as he had once been to retain his post.
The absence of his wife, to whom he was
tenderly attached, and his own faling
health, had doubtless their share in ren-
dering him weary of a task, the difficulties of
which had been lately increased by a change
in the council-board caleulated to destroy
the despotic power essential to the policy of
a ruler, whose measures, however cleverly
planned and boldly executed, were rarely of
a character to bear impartial, much less
hostile criticism. Beside these reasons, his
opponents suggested that of recent private
extortions from the nabob-vizier ; and it can-
not be forgotten, that although he pleaded
urgent necessity as an inducement for the
directors to suffer him to appropriate the
bonds obtained at Chunar, yet, about three
years later, he was enabled, notwithstand-
ing his habitual extravagance, to bring

'home a fortune avowedly not far short of

£100,000, apart from the costly jewels
exhibited by Mrs. Hastings, and the well-
furnished private purse which there are
grounds for believing her to have possessed.

The prolonged administration of Hastings,
his winning manner, and conversance with
native languages, together with the im-
posing cffect of the state by which he had,
from motives of policy, thought fit to sur-
round himself, made a deep impression on
the minds of the Indian population. I have
myself met with ballads, similar to those
alluded to by Heber and Macaulay, which
commemorate the swift steeds and richly-
caparisoned elephants of ¢ Sahib Hushting;”
they likewise record his victory over Nun-

and couches of exquisitely croved ivory, &c.

{ Except a heavy exaction from Fyzoolia Khan.

' comar who refused to do him homage.




person, and unquestioning obedience to his

HASTIN

The Indian version of the

however, no mention of the accusation of |
forgery, but resembles rather the seripture |
story of Ilaman and Mordecai, with a differ- ‘
ent ending. The Bengalees possibly never
understood the real and lasting injury done |
them by Hastings, in fastening round their |

‘necks the chains of monopoly, despite the |

' opposition of his colleagues,
to the orders of the company

' was in general popular.

and contrary |
Once fully |
in operation, the profits of exclusive trade
i salt and opinm* became so large, that its
renunciation could spring only from philan-
thropy of the purest kind, or policy of the
broadest and most liberal character, With
his countrymen in India, Warren Hastings
It had been his
unceasing effort to purchase golden opinions ;
and one of the leading accusations brought
against him by the directors, was the wilful
increase of governmental expenses by the
creation of supernumerary offices to provide
for adherents, or to encourage those already
in place by augmented salaries. His own
adraissions prove, that attachment to his

commands, were the first requisites for
subordinates; and the quiet perseverance
with which he watched his opportunity of |
rewarcing a service, or revenging a “ per-
sonal liurt,” is not the least remarkable fea-
ture in his character.

He quitted India in TFebruary, 1785.
Notwithstanding the unwarrantable mea-
sures adopted by him to raise the revenues
and lessen the debts of the company, he
failed to accomplish these objects, and, on
the contrary, left them burdened with an
additional debt of twelve-and-a-half mil-
lion, and a revenue which (including the
provision of an KEuropean investment) was
not equal to the ordinary expenses of the
combined settlements.t Doubtless, great
allowance must be made for the heavy drain
occasioned by the pressing wants of the
Bombay and Madras presidencies, and de-
cided commendation awarded for the ener-
getic steps taken to avert the ruin in which
the Mahratta war and the invasion of Hyder

* The 12th article of impeachment against Has-
tings set forth, “that he granted to Stephen Sulivan,
son of Lawrence Sulivan, chairman of the Court of
Directors, a contract for four years for the provision
of opium; that in order to pay for the opium so pro-
vided, he borrowed large sums at an interest of eight
per cent., at a time when he declared the drug could
not be exported with profit; and yet he sent it to
China, which was an act of additional eriminality, as
he knew that the importation of opium was prohibited
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story makes, | threatened to involve these

ate possessions : |
but it is equally true, that the double-faced |

and grasping policy of the governor-general
tended to neutralise the benefit of his cou-
rage and decision, and, as in the case of
Lord Pigot, fomented, instead of allaying, |
the evils of dissension and venality, which |
were more destructive to the interests of
the E. I. Cy. than any external opposition. |

Had Hastings resolved to abide by the
conviction which led him on one occasion to
exclaim, that he “ wished it might be made
felony to break a treaty,” the consequences
would have been most beneficial both to
India and to England, and would, at the
same time, have saved him long years of
bumiliation and anxiety. He little thought
that the Rohilla war, the sale of Allahabad
and Oude, and the persecution of the begums,
would rise in judgment against him on
his return to his native land,—bar his path to
titles and offices of state, and compel him to
sit down in the comparatively humble posi-
tion which had formed the object of his
boyish ambition, as master of Daylesford,
the ancient estate of his family.

But Francis, now a member of parliament,
had not been idle in publishing the evil
deeds which he had witnessed without power
to prevent; and Burke, whose hatred of
oppression equalled his sympathy for suffer-
g, brought forward the impeachment as a
question which every philanthropist, every-
one interested in the honour of England or
the welfare of India, was bound to treat as
of vital importance. Political motives, of
an exceptionable character, on the part of
the mimsiers, favoured the promoters of the
trial ; and after many tedious preliminaries,
Warren Hastings appeared at the bar of the
House of Lords, and knelt before the tri-
bunal of his country, in presence of one of
the most remarkable assemblages ever con-
vened in the great hall of William Rufus.
Of the brilliant aristocracies of rank, talent,
wealth, and beauty, of which England then
boasted, few members were absent. The
gqueen and princesses had come to witness
the impeachment of a subject known to

by the Chinese.” Sulivan sold the contract to a Mr.
Benn for £40,000; Benn toa Mr. Young for £60,000;
and the latter reaped a large profit.—(Mill.)

t A comparison of the receipts and disbursements
of the year ending April, 1786, exhibited a deficit
of about £1,300,000. The arrears of the army
amounted to two million ; and * the troops at Madras
and Bembay were in a state of utter destitution,
and some of them in open mutiny.” The ascertained
Bengal debt alone was about four million sterling.
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366 DEATH OF HASTINGS—CORNWALLIS’S ADMINISTRATION—1786.

;have enjoyed no ordinary share of royal
against him by the thrilling eloquence of
Burke, the solid reasoning of IFox, and
' the exciting declamation of Sheridan. The
;trial commenced with a strong feeling
'on the part of the public against the ac-
' cused ; but it dragged on, like most state
proceedings, until people ceased to care how
it ended. At length, after seven years
spent in law proceedings of a most tedious
character, the wrongs inflicted in a distant
clime, and at a distant period, became
almost a matter of indifference : a sort of
sympathy, such as is often felt for acknow-
ledged criminals, took the place of lively
indignation ; and when the inquiry ended
in the acquittal of Hastings, he was
generally believed to have been sufficiently
punished by the insuperable obstacles which
his peculiar position had imposed to prevent
his selection for any public office, and by
the ruinous condition to which his finances
had been reduced by the costly expenses,
legitimate and illegitimate, of the painful

ordeal through which he had passed. The
law charges alone exceeded £76,000. Pro-

bably still larger sums were expended in |
vrious kinds of secret service—“1in bribing |
newspapers, rewarding pamphleteers, and |
circulating tracts;”’* beside £12,000 spent
in purchasing, and £48,000 in adorning,
Daylesford: so that Hastings, when finally
dismissed, turned from the bar of the louse
of Lords an absolute pauper—worse than
that—an insolvent debtor. The company
came to his relief with an annuity of £4,000
a-year, and a loan of £50,000, nearly half
of which was converted into a gift; and
they continued to aid him at intervals, in
his ever-recurring difficulties, up to the
period of his death, in 1818, aged eighty-six.

| * Macaulay’s Essay on Hastings, p. 100,

+ Lord Macartney, on taking possession of the
office of president of Madras, made a formal state-
ment of his property, and on quitting oftice presented
to the company a precise account of the increase
effected during the interval. The E. I. Cy. met him
in the same frank and generous spirit by the gift
of an annuity of £1,500. Itis to be regretted that

| he lent the sanction of example to the vice of duel-
ling, then frightfully prevalent, by a meeting with a
member of council (Mr. Sadleir) with whom a mis-
understanding had arisen in the course of official
daty. On his return to England he was challenged
by General Stuart, and slightly wounded. The
seconds interfered, and the contest terminated, though
Stuart declared himself unsatisfied.

1 The establishment of a Board of Control, with
other important measures, respectively advocated by
Fox or Pitt, will be noticed in a subsequent section.

'ApMmiNisTrATION OF LorD CORNWALLIS.— |

favour, and to listen to the charges urged | The government of Lord Macartney terrai- |

nated in Madras about the same time as
that of Mr. Hastings in Bengal ; and a high
testimony to the ability and unsullied integ-
rityt of the former gentleman, was afforded
by the offer of the position of governor-
general, which he deelined accepting, unless
accompanied by a British peerage. This
concessiou was refused, on the ground that,
if granted, it would convey to the publc
an impression that a premium was neces-
sary to induce persons of consideration in
England to fill the highest office in India,
and the appointment was consequently con-
ferred on Lord Cornwallis. To him was
entrusted the charge of carrying into exe-
cution some important alterations contem-
plated by the act of parliament passed in
1784; and by means of an express provision
in the act of 1786, the powers of com-
mander-in-chief were united in his person
with that of the greatly enlarged authority | |
of governor-general.f He arnived in Cal- | |
cutta in the autumn of 1786, and immediately = |
commenced a series of salutary and much- |
needed reforms, both as regarded the collee-
tion of revenue and the administration of
justice. Mr. Macpherson, the senior member |
of council,§ who had temporarily presided
over the affairs of government, had success-
fully exerted himself to diminish the waste
of the public finances connived at by his
predecessor; and Lord Cornwallis set about
the same task with a steadiness of principle
and singleness of motive to whick both Eng-
lish officials and Indian subjects had been
long unaccustomed. The two great measures
which distinguish his internal policy, are the
establishment of a fixed land-rent through-
out Bengal, in exact accordance with the
opinions of Francis; and the formation of a

§ Mr. Wheler was dead.. Mr. (afterwards Sir
John) Macpherson went to India, in 1766, as purser
in a vessel commanded by his uncle, contrived to |
ingratiate himself with the nabob of Arcot, and re- |
turned to England as his agent. After a strange
series of adventures, which 1t is not necessary lo
follow in detail, he rose to the position of acting
governor-general, in which capacity he obtained for
the company the valuable settlement of Penang ov |
Prince of Wales’ Island, by an arrangement with the |
King of Queda. His brief administration was like-
wise marked by a duel with Major Brown (on the
Bengal establishment.) The Court of Directors, tired | |
of witnessing the peace of their tervitories endangered
by such proceedings, unanimously affixed the penalty
of dismissal from the company’s service to any person
who should send a challenge on account ol inutters
arising out of the discharge of their official duties.—
(Auber's Briish India, ii., 39.)




IMMENSE DESTRUCTION OF LIFE BY TIPPOO SULTAN—1785.

judicial system to protect property. The
necessity of coming to some speedy settle-
ment regarding the collection of territorial
revenue, whether under the denomination
of a rent or a tax, is the best apology for the

- necessarily imperfect character of the system
framed at this period on the sound principle

of giving a proprietary right in the soil ; but
even a brief statement of the different views

 taken by the advocates of the zemindarree
- settlement, and of the opposite arguments

of those who cousider the right in the soil

vested in the ryots or cultivators, would

mar the centinuity of the narrative.

The foreign policy of the governor-general
was characterised by the novel feature of the
reduction of the rate of tribute demanded
from a dependent prince. Asuf-ad-Dowlah
pleaded, that in violation of repeated trea-
ties, a sum averaging eighty-four lacs per
annum had been exacted for the company
during the nine preceding years; and his
arguments appeared so forcible, that Lord
Cornwallis consented to reduce this sum to
fifty lacs per annum, which he declared suffi-
cient to cover the “real expenses” involved
in the defence of Onde. Negligent, profuse,
and voluptuous in the extreme, the nabob-
vizier was wholly dependent on foreign aid to
secure the services of his own troops or the
submission of his own subjects; he had
therefore no alternative but to make the best
terms possible with the English, and might
well deem himself fortunate in finding the
chief authority vested in a ruler whose ac-
tions were dictated by loftier motives than
temporary expediency ; and influenced by
more worthy considerations than the strength

| or weakness of those with whom he had to

deal. The extreme dissatisfaction openly
expressed by Englishmen in India, regard-
ing the peace of 1784, and the insulting
conduct of Tippoo, led the Mahrattas and
the Nizam to believe that the E. 1. Cy would
gladly take part with them in a struggle
against one whose power and arrogance were

" alarmingly on the increase; but their over-

tures were met by an explicit declaration,

' that the supreme government (in accor-
" dance with the recent commands of the

British parliament) had resolved on taking
no part in any confederacy framed for pur-
poses of aggression.  Tippoo and the Mah-
rattas therefore went to war on their own

* Wilks’ History of Mysoor, ii., 530.
4+ Mohammed Toghlak. See page 79. )
t Tippoo, in his celebrated production, the Swul-

| taun-u-Towareekh, or King of Histories, expresses
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resources, and continued hostile operations
for about a year, until the former was |
glad to make peace, on not very favourable -
terms, in order to turn hisundivided attention
to a portion of the territories usurped by his
father, and enact a new series of barbarities
on the miserable inhabitants of the coast of
Malabar.  The first measure by which this
barbarian signalised his accession to despotic
sway, was the deportation of upwards of
30,000 native Christians from Canara. The
memory of the deeds of Cardinal Menezes,
and other stanch supporters of the * Holy
Inquisition,” had not passed away; and

Tippoo affirmed, that it was the narrative of |

the intolerance exercised by the  Portu-
guese Nazarenes” which caused “the rage
of Islam to boil in his breast,”* and induced
him to vent his wrath upon the present in-

nocent generation, by sweeping off the whole |
of both sexes and every age into slavery, |

and compelling them to observe and re-
ceive the external rites of the Moslem creed.
Of these unfortunates, not one-third are be-
lieved to have survived the first year of exile
and degradation. The brave mountaineers
of Coorg drew upon themselves the same
fate by the constant struggles for liberty, to

which they were incited by the odious tyranny |

of the usurper. Tippoo at length dealt with

them in the manner in which a ferocious |

and half-crazed despot of early times did
with another section of the Indian popula-
tion.t The dominant class in Coorg had as-
sembled together on a hilly, wooded tract,
apart from the lower order of the peasantry
(a distinct and apparently aboriginal race.)
Tippoo surrounded the main bedy, as if en-
closing game for a grand circular hunt ; beat

up the woods as if dislodging wild beasts ; and |

finally closed in upon about 70,000 persons,
who were driven off, like a herd of cattle,
to Seringapatam, and “ honoured with the
distinction of Islam,”{ on
selected by their persecutor to assume sove-
reign, or rather imperial sway, by taking
the proud title of Padsha, and causing his
own name to be prayed for in public in
place of that of the Mogul Shah Alum, as

was still customary in the mosques all over |

India.

The Guntoor Circar, to which the English
had become entitled upon the death of
Bassalut Jung, in 1782, by virtue of the

great detestation for the immorality of the Coorgs,

the very day |

who, he truly affirmed, systematically pursued a most |

extraordinary system of polygandria, by giving to
several brothers one and the same woman to wife.
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treaty of 1768, was obtained from Nizam

in 1788. The cession was expedited
a recent quarrel between him and Tippoo
Sultan, which rendered the renewal of the
treaty of 1768 peculiarly desirable to the
¢ inasmuch as it contained a proviso
that, in the event of his requiring assistance,
a British contingent of infantry and artil-
lerv should march to support him against any
power not in alliance with the E. I. Cy.;
the exceptions being the Mahrattas, the na-
bobs of Arcot and Oude, and the rajahs of
Tanjore and Travancore. The Nizam would
fain have interpreted the revived agreement
as warranting a united attack on Mysoor;
but his schemes were positively rejected by
Lord Cornwallis, on account of the recent
engagement entered into with that state,
which was still professedly at peace with the

English. Yet it was evident to every power
in India, that the sultan only waited =

favourable opportunity to renew hostilities.
The insulting caricatures of many of the
company’s servants, held up to mockery
and coarse jesting on the walls of the liouses
of Seringapatam, might have been an idle
effusion of popular feeling ; but the wretched
captives still pining in loathsome dungeons,
in violation of the promised general release
of prisoners, and the enrolment of a num-
ber of English children as domestic slaves
to the faithless tyrant, afforded, in con-
junction with various rancorous expressions,
unmistakeable indications of his deadly
hatred towards the whole nation.* The
inroad of the Mysooreans on the territory
of the rajah of T'ravancore, brought matters
to an issue. The rajah, when menaced by
invasion from his formidable neighbour,
appealed to the B.I: Cy. for their promised
protection, and an express communication
was made to Tippoo, that an attack on the
lines of defence formed on the Travancore
frontier, would be regarded as a declaration
of war with the English. The lines referred
to, construected in 1775, consisted of a broad
and deep ditch, a strong bamboo hedge, a
slight parapet, and a good rampart, with
bastions on rising grounds, almost flanking
one another. They extended a distance of
thirty miles (from the island of Vaipeen to
the Anamalaiah range), but were more im-
posing than effectual, as it was hardly pos-
sible to defend so great an extent. Tippoo
approached this barrier in December, 1789,
. Cu']. Fullarton, writing in 1784, accuses Tippoo
of having caused 200 English to be forcibly circum-
cised and enrolled in his service.—( Fiew, 207.)

and proceeded to erect batteries. An un-
suspected passage round the right flank of
the lines, enabled him to introduce a body
of troops within the wall, and he led them
onward, hoping to force open the nearest | |
' gate, and admit the rest of the army. The
attempt proved, not merely unsuccessful,
'but fatal to the majority of the assailants.
‘ They were compelled to retreat in confusion,
|

and, in the general scramble across the
ditch, Tippoo himself was so severely bruised,
| as to limp occasionally during the remainder
;of his life. His palanquin fell into the
'hands of the enemy, the bearers having
|hceu trodden to death by their comrades ;
and his seals, rings, and personal ornaments
remained to attest his presence, and contra-
dict his reiterated denial of having borne
any part in a humiliating catastrophe, which
had materially deranged his plans. More
than this, alarm at the probable conse- | |
quence of a repulse, induced Tippoo to
write, in terms of fulsome flattery, to the
English authorities, assuring them that the
late aggression was the unauthorised act of
his troops. Lord Cornwallis treated these
assertions with merited contempt, and
hastened to secure the co-operation of the
Nizam and the Mahratta ministers of
Poona, to which he would gladly have
added that of Sindia, had not the price de-
manded been the aid of British troops for
aggressive warfare in Rajpootana, which was
unhesitatingly refused. He proceeded to
make vigorous preparations for a campaign,
by assembling troops, collecting supplies,
and meeting financial difficulties in an open
and manly spirit. Further outlay for a Eu-
ropean investment he completely stopped,
as a ruinous drain on resources already
insufficient to meet the heavy expenditure
which must inevitably be incurred in the
ensuing contest, the avowed object of which
was to diminish materially the power of the
sultan ; for, as Lord Cornwallis truly de-
clared, in a despatch to General Medows, if
this despot were “suffered to retain his
present importance, and to insult and bully
all his neighbours, until the French should
again be in a condition to support him, it
would almost certainly leave the seeds of a
future dangerous war.” Meanwhile, Tippoo |
confirmed these convictions, and justified |
the intended procedure by a renewed at-

tempt upon Travancore, and succeeded in |
razing the defences and spreading desola-

tion over the country. The invasion of

Mysoor compelled him to return for its

|




defence; and the system of intelligence
established by his father, together with his
own activity, enabled him to take advantage
of the separation of the Lnglish army into
three divisions, to attack them in Eletnil,
break through their chain of communica.
tion, and transfer hostilities to the Carnatic.
These reverses were partially compensated
by the success of a fourth detachment from
Bombay in obtaining possession of the
whole of Malabar. The second campaign
was opened in February, 1791, by Corn-
- wallis in person. Placing himself at the
head of the army, he entered Mysoor by
the pass of Mooglee, and in the commence-
ment of March, laid siege to the fortress of
Bangalore. Though the troops had been
little harassed by hostile operations, they
were much enfeebled by the fatigues and
privations of a tedious march; the cattle
were worn to skeletons, and their supplies,
 both of food and ammunition, nearly ex-
hausted. The arrival of a Mahratta re-
inforcement had been long and vainly ex-
pected ; and affairs were in a most eritical

state, when the successful assault, first of

the town, and subsequently of the citadel
of Bangalore (carried by a bayonet charge),
relieved the mind of the commander-in-
chief from the gloomy prospect involved in
the too probable event of defeat. Never-
theless, difficulties and dangers of no ordi-
nary character remained to be combated.
At the close of March the army moved
from Bangalore northward, for the purpose
of forming a junction with the auxiliary
corps of cavalry expected from the Nizam.
When, after being repeatedly misled by false
information regarding the vicinity of the
Hyderabad troops, the desired union was
at length successfully effected, it proved a
fresh source of trouble and disappointment ;
for the 10,000 light troops so anxiously
awaited, instead of rendering good service
in the field, were so ill-disciplined and un-
trustworthy, as to be incapable of conduct-
ing even a foraging expedition, and there-
fore did but augment the distress and
anxiety they were sent to lessen.®
Though surrounded on every side by

* Their commander is said to have been influenced
| by intrigues carried on between the mother of Tippoo
- and the favourite wife of the Nizam. The former
lady successfully deprecated the wrath excited by
the gross insults lately offered by her son, in return
to solicitations addressed by some female members
of the family of Nizam Ali when in peril at Adoni.

t Twenty English youths, the survivors of the un-
happy band whom Tippoo, with malicious wantonness,
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circumstances of the most d

: _ epressing cha-
racter, Cornwallis,

with undaunted courage,
made such preparations as the possession of
Bangalore placed in his power for the siege
of Seringapatam. An earnest desire to
bring to a speedy close hostilities, the pro-
lougatlon of which involved a grievous
sacrifice of life and treasure, added to the
alarming information constantly arriving in
India regarding the progress of the French
revolution, induced him to advance at once
upon the capital of Mysoor, despite the
defective character of his resources. The
troops marched, in May, to Arikera, about
‘ninc miles distant from Seringapatam,
' through a country which, in anticipation of
' their approach, had been reduced to the
' condition of a desert. Tippoo Sultan took
‘up a strong position in their front, from
| whence he was driven by Lord Cornwallis—
 forced to action, defeated, and compelled to
retreat and take refuge under the works of
 his capital, for the safety of which he now
became seriously alarmed. Recognising too
late the folly of wantonly provoking the
 vengeance of a powerful foe, he gave orders
 that the caricatures of the English should
' be carefully obliterated from all public
places; at the same time taking the savage
precaution of slaughtering, without distine-
tion, such prisoners as he had privately de-
tained, lest they should live to afford incon-
trovertible evidence of his breach of faith
and diabolical cruelty.

Lord Cornwallis was, however, quite un-
‘able to pursue his recent success. The
]dcp]orablc condition of the army, in which
Jsumilpux was now raging, with diseases
|
|

immediately resulting from insufficient food
and excessive fatigue under incessant rains,
compelled him to issue a reluctant order for
retreat. It seemed madness to remain un-
der such circumstances in such a position,
still more to hazard further advance, on the
chance of the long-delayed succour expected
from the Mahrattas; and after destroying
the battering train and other heavy equip-
ments, which the loss of cattlef prevented
them from carrying away, the English, in
deep disappointment and depression, com-

had caused to be trained and dressed like a troop of
Hindoostanee dancing-girls, were first sacrificed to |
his awakened fears; but there were many OIth'!“\'lC- |
tims, including native state prisoners. A few Eng-
lishmen contrived to effect their escape, an(l.one of
them wrote an account of the treatment received.—
(See Captivity of James Seurry ; London, 1824.)

1 Nearly 40,000 bullocks perished in this disastrous
campaign.—(Mill's India, v., 396.)
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meneced their homeward march.  Orders
'were dispatchied to General Abercromby
| (governor of Bombay), who was advancing
| from the westward, to return to Malabar;
'and Lord Cornwallis, having completed these
' mortifying arrangements, was about six miles
en route to Bangalore, when a party of horse
unexpectedly rode in upon the baggage
flank. They were taken for enemies, but
proved to be forerunners of the despaired-of
Mahratta force, under Hurri Punt and Pur-
seram Bhow. In answer to the eager in-
terrogatories poured in upon them on all
sides, they replied that numerous messengers
had been regularly sent, at different times,
with accounts of their approach; every one
of whom had been cut off by the unsleeping
vigilance of the light troops of the enemy.
Their tardy arrival was in some measure
accounted for by the time spent by them in
co-operation with a detachment from Bom-
bay under Captain Little, in the siege of
Darwar, one of the great barriers of Tip-
poo’s northern frontier. The place held out
against the unskilful and dilatory operations
of the assailants for twenty-nine weeks,
when the arrival of news of the capture of
Bangalore induced its surrender, which was
followed by the easy conguest of all the
possessions of the sultan north of the
Toombuddra.

The Mahrattas now declared themselves
unable to keep the field, unless the English
could give them pecuniary support; and
Lord Cornwallis, unable to dispense with
their aid, was compelled to advance them a
loan of twelve lacs of rupees, to obtain which
he took the bold measure of ordering the

| Madras authorities to coin the bullion sent

' out for the China trade into rupees, and for-

ward it without delay. The ample supplies of
draught cattle and provisions, together with
the innumerable miscellaneous contents of
the bazaar of a Mahratta army,* afforded a
most welcome relief to men half-famished

‘, and wretchedly equipped. Still the advanced

season, and the return of General Aber-
cromby, compelled the continuance of the

* The Mahrattas commenced by asking exor-
bitant prices for their goods; but when compelled
by the diminished purses of the purchasers to reduce
their demands or stop the sale, they took the former
alternative; but still continued to realise immense
profits, since their whole stock-in-trade had been ac-
cumulated by plunder. Their bazaar is deseribed by
Col. Wilks as comprising every imaginable article,
from a web of English broadeloth to a Birmingham
penknife ; from the shawls of Cashmere to the
secondhand garment of a Hindoo; from diamonds
of the first water to the silver earring of a poor

NDROOG AND OTHER HILL FORTS—1791.

retreat to Bangalore; which was followed
up by the oceupation of Oossoor, Rayacot-
tah, and other forts, whereby communica-
tion between the presidency and the Carnatic,
through the Policade Pass, was laid open.
By this route a convoy reached the camp from
Madras, comprising 100 elephants laden with
treasure, marching two abreast; 6,000 bul-
locks with rice ; 100 carts with arrack; and
several hundred coolies with other supplies.
The war was viewed by the British par-
liament as the inevitable consequence of
the eruelty and aggression of Tippoo. The
encrgetic measures of Lord Cornwallis were
warmly applauded, and reinforcements of
troops, with specie to the amount of
£500,000, sent to assist his operations.
Comprehensive arrangements were made for
provisioning the troops, by taking advantage
of the extensive resources and experience of
the Brinjarries,¥ or travelling corn-mer-
chants, who form a distinct caste, and enjoy,
even among the least civilised native states,
an immunity for life and property, based on
the great services rendered by these neutral
traders to all parties indiseriminately, from
a very remote period. Measures were like-
wise adopted for the introduction of a more
eflicient system of intelligence. The gen-
eral campaign which opened under these
auspicious circumstances, was attended with
complete success. The intermediate opera-
tions were marked by the capture of the
hill-forts of Nundydroog, Savendroog, and
Ootradroog.  All three were situated on
lofty granite rocks, and deemed well-nigh in-
accessible—especially Savendroog (fke ruck
of death); and so implicit was the con-
fidence placed by Tippoo in the strength
of its natural and artificial defences, that he
received with joy the tidings of the assault,
making sure that the malaria for which the
neighbouring jungle had acquired a fearful
celebrity, would fight against the English,
and slay one-half, leaving the other to fall
by the sword. But the very character of
the place diminished the watchfulness of its
garrison, and tempted them to witness with
plundered village maiden; from oxen, sheep, and
poultry, to the dried salt-fish of the Concan. The
tables of the moneychangers, overspread with the
coins of every country of the east, were not wanting
in this motley assemblage; and among the various
trades carried on with remarkable activity, was
that of a tanner, so that the English officers were
enabled to obtain, by means of ambulatory tan-pits,
what theiv own Indinn capitals could not then pro-

duce, except as European imports—excellent sword-
belts.—(Mysoor, iii., 158-'9.)

t A Persian compound, designating their office.
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LORD CORNWALLIS LEADS THE ATTACK ON SERINGAPATAM—1792.

an |

contemptuous indifference the early ap-
proaches of the besiegers, who, after 2 series
of Herculean labours (in which the utmost
excrtions of human strength and skill,
were aided in an extraordinary manner by

~ the force and sagacity of some admirably-

trained elephants), at length succeeded in
effecting a practicable breach in what formed
the lower wall of the rock, although it rose
1,500 feet from a base of above eight
miles in circumference. Lord Cornwallis
and General Medows stood watching with
intense anxiety the progress of the assault,
which commenced an hour before noon on
the 21st December, 1791. The band of the
52nd regiment played ¢ Britons, strike
home;” and the troops mounted with a
steady gallantry which completely unnerved
the native forces assembled to defend the
breach. A hand-to-hand encounter with
men who had already overcome such tre-
mendous obstacles, was sufficient to alarm
the servants of a more popular master than
Tippoo, and they fled in disorder, tumbling
over one another in their eager ascent of
the steep and narrow path which led to the
citadel. The pursuers followed with all
speed ; but the majority of the fugitives had
effected their entrance, when a sergeant of
the 7lst regiment shot, at a distance, the
soldier who was closing the first gate. All
the other barriers the English passed together
with the enemy, of whom about 100 were
slain, while many others perished among
the precipitous rocks, in endeavouring to
escape. This 1mportant enterprise, which
the commander-in-chief had contemplated
as the most doubtful operation of the war,
was effected in twelve days from the first
arvival of the troops. The casualties were
not numerous, and the actual assault only
lasted an hour, and involved the loss of no
single life on the side of the besiegers. It
was well-timed ; for even so much as half-an-
hour’s delay would have sufficed to bring
to the scene of action the Mysoorean de-
tachment, then fast approaching to aid

| their comrades.

The counter-hostilities of Tippoo were

* In detaining the garrison close prisoners, not-
withstanding a proviso for their liberation. Bad
faith was the notorious characteristic of Tippoo,
who, says Col. Wilks, could not be made to appre-
ciate the value of truth even as a convenience.
Among his letters, translated by Col. Kirkpatrick, is
one in which he desires the commander of an at'tnck
on a Mahratta fortress to promise an_\'l!ni.ng until he
got possession, and then to put every living thing—
man, woman, child, dog, and cat—to the sword, ex-

cept the chief, who was to be reserved for torture.

e

|
feebly conducted ; but the irrepressible ten- | l
dency of the Mahrattas for freebooting on
their own account, led them again to de-
range the plans of Lord Cornwallis, by neg-
lecting to support General Abercromby, and
their misconduct facilitated the conqﬁest of
the fort of Coimbatore by the Mysooreans.
The flagrant violation of the terms of sur-
render® (a besetting sin on the part of Tip-
poo), afforded a reason for rejecting his |
overtures for peace; and on the 1st of Feb- |
ruary, 1792, Lord Cornwallis, in conjunc-!
tion with the Hyderabad and Poona armies, |

]
1

|
]
1

1

advanced to the attack of Seringapatam, |
under the walls of which the sultan, with his |
whole force, lay encamped. Aware of his |
inability to compete in the field with the
formidable confederacy by which he was
opposed, Tippoo hoped to be able to hold
out against their combined efforts in his

island-capital,t by keeping them at bay | |

until the want of supplies, in an already
exhausted country—or, in any case, the
recurrence of the monsoon—should compel
their retreat. The dilatory and unskilful
tactics of the native troops would probably
have contributed to realise these anticipa-
tions; but the English commander-in-chief
correctly appreciated the danger of delay,
and chose to incur the charge of rashness by
attempting to surprise the tiger in his den,
rather than waste strength and resources
in the dispiriting operations of a tedious and
precarious blockade. It was deemed inad-
visable to await the arrival of expected
reinforcements from Bombay, or even to
divulge the plan of attack to the allies, who,
on the night of the 6th, were astounded by
the news that a handful of infantry, un-
supported by cannon or cavalry, were on the
march to attack the dense host of Tippoo,
in a fortified camp wunder the walls of
his capital ; and that Lord Cornwallis, in
person, commanded the division destined to
penetrate the centre of the hostile forpe;
having gone to fight, as they expressed it,]
like a private soldier. The sultan had
just finished his evening’s repast when the
alarm was given.y He mounted, and beheld

t+ Seringapatam is situated on an island formed by
two branches of the Cauvery, which after separating
to a distance of a mile and a-half, again unites about
five miles below the point of division. A “bound
hedge” of bamboo and other strong shrubs sur-
rounded the capital, and Tippoo's encampment 0¢-
cupied an enclosure between this hedge and the xiver.

1 There were two other columns, lcumzuun(led by
General Medows and Colonel Maxwell.

§ The Indians usually attack at midnight or day-
break. ’



taken refuge.

72T
by the light of the moon an extended column
passing rapidly throngh his camp, driving

before them a cloud of fugitives, and making
divectly for the main ford of the stream
which lay between them and the capital.
This movement threatened to cut off the
retreat of Tippoo, who perceiving his danger,
hastened across the ford in time to elude
the grasp of his pursuers and take up a
position on a commanding summit of the
fort, from whence he continued to 1issue
orders till the morning. Ilis troops had
already deserted by thousands. One band,
10,000 strong (the Ahmedy Chelaks, com-
posed of the wretched Coorgs), wholly dis-
appeared and escaped to their native woods,
accompanied by their wives and children ;
and many of the Assud Oollakees (a similar
description of corps) followed their example.
A number of Europeans, forcibly detained
in the service of Tippoo Sultan, likewise
fled to the protection of the Inglish, in-
cluding an old Frenchman, named Blévette,
who had chiefly constructed the six re-
doubts which offered the most formidable
obstacles to the assailants. Two of these
were captured and retained by English de-
tachments, at the cost of much hard fight-
ing. The night of the 7th afforded an
interval of rest to both parties, and time to
ascertain the extent of their respective losses.
That of the British was stated at 535 men,
including killed, wounded, and missing ; that
of the enemy at 23,000, of whom 4,000
had fallen in the actual contest. On the
following morning operations were com-
menced against the strong triangular-shaped,
water-washed fort, in which the sultan had
His gorgeously furnished
garden-palace was turned into an hospital
for the wounded English, and the magnificent
cypress groves, and other valuable trees, cut
down to afford materials for the siege. Gen-

- eral Abercromby arrived in safety with the

Bombay army, having perfected a line of
communication with the Malabar coast ; the

' Brinjarries maintained such abundance in

the camp of Cornwallis as had not been

known since the commencement of the war ; |

and the soldiers, stimulated by the hope of
speedily liberating, with their own hands, the
survivors of their murdered countrymen,
worked with unflagging energy at the breach-
ing batteries. Tippoo, seriously alarmed,
-made overtures for peace, and after much
~delay, occasioned by his treacherous and
unstable policy, and his unceasing efforts to
gain time, was at length compelled to sign a

PPOO PURCHASES PEACE WITH HALI HIS KINGDOM

—1792.

preliminary treaty, the terms of which in-
volved the cession of half his territories to

the allies, and the payment of about three |

million and a-half sterling. Two of his sons,
boys of eight and ten years of age, were
delivered up to Lord Cornwallis, as hostages
for the confirmation and fulfilment of the
agreement ; but despite this guarantee, Tip-
poo showed evident signs of an inclination
to renew hostilities, on finding that the
English insisted on his relinquishment of
Coorg, the rajah of which principality he
had hoped to seize and exhibit as a terrible
instance of vengeance.
who appears to have acted throughont the
war with equal energy and moderation,
endeavoured to conciliate him by the sur-

render of Bangalore—a fortress and dis- |

trict which, in a military point of view, far
surpassed Coorg in value ; but on the latter
point he took decided ground, justly deem-
ing it a clear duty to reward the good ser-
vice rendered by the rajah, by preserving
him from the clutches of his relentless foe.
Preparations for a renewed siege at length
brought matters to an issue.
arrangements were formally confirmed by
Tippoo on the 19th of March, and the treaty

delivered to Lord Cornwallis and the allies |

by the royal hostages.

The total territorial revenue of the
sultan, according to the admitted schedule,
averaged from about two-and-a-half to three
million sterling, one-half of which was now
made over to the allies, to be divided by
them in equal portions, according to the
original terms of the confederation. By the
addition now made to their possessions, the
boundary of the Mahrattas was again ex-
tended to the river Toombuddra. The
allotment of the Nizam reached from the
Kistna beyond the Pennar, and included the
forts of Gunjecotah and Cuddapah, and the
province of Kurpa. The British obtained
Malabar and Coorg, the province of Dinde-
oul (a valuable accession to their southern
territory), together with Baramahl and the
Lower Ghauts, which formed an iron boun-
dary for Coromandel. The Anglo-Indian
army were ill-pleased with this termination
of the war. They had set their hearts on
nothing less than the storming of Seringa-
patam ; and when, in consequence of Tippoo’s
overtures for peace, orders were given to
desist from further operations, they be-
came, says an otlicer who was present,
“dejected to a degree not to be described,
and could with difficulty be restrained from

Lord Cornwalls, |

The previous




THE GREAT MOGUL BLINDED

continuing their work.” Their dissatisfac- |
tion was increased by the miserable artifice |
of Tippoo, who, desirous of assuming before
his own troops a defiant attitude, although
really a suitor for peace, gave seeret ordors
to fire on the English soldierv, hoth with
cannon and musketry. Under such eireum-
stances, it needed all the weight of the public

and private character of Lord Cornwallis, to

enforce the admirable precept with which
the general orders to the victorious troops
concluded,—*“ that moderation in success 18
no less expected from brave men than gal-
lantry in action.” In acknowledgment of
their excellent conduct, a donation, equal to
twelve months’ batta, was awarded them, out
of the money exacted from the sultan. The
disinterestedness of the commander-in-chief

and of General Medows was displayed in
 their refusal to accept any portion of this

~sum, or of the prize-money.

Their cordial
co-operation and perfeet confidence in each

| other’s zeal and integrity, had been con-
- spicuous throughout the war, forming a
~ pleasing contrast to the divided counsels and

| pany.

personal quarrels which had, of late years,
diminished the efficiency of the military and
civil services of the officers of the com-
This unanimity enabled Lord Corn-
wallis to take full advantage of the influence
he possessed over the Nizam and the Mah-
rattas. Their mutual distrust, combined
with the respect inspired by the Inglish
commander-in-chief, led them to entrust
to him the sole control of the late opera-
tions. These were no sooner terminated by
the treaty of Seringapatam, than occasions
of quarrel reappeared among the allies.
The Nizam, by far the weakest of the three
powers, petitioned to be allowed to retain
the services of a British detachment. His
request was granted, greatly to the annoy-
ance of the Mahrattas, whose discontent at
finding him thus favoured, was aggravated
by the refusal of Lord Cornwallis to suffer a
similar stipendiary force to be permanently
annexed to the army of the peishwa, or
rather of his ambitious guardian, Nana
Furnavees. In this case the concession

* De Boigne was a Savoyard by birth, and had

| been an ensign in the service of the E. I. Cy.

t Among the few who faithfully adhered to the
cause of Shah Alum, was the widow of the notorious
Sumroe, who had entered the imperial serviee, or

| rather that of Nujeef Khan, after quitting Oude, and

married the daughter of an impoverished Mogul

noble. The “ Begum Sumroo” received Christian bap-

tism, at the request of her husband. After his {'.t‘.‘lEh,

in 1778, she was suffered to retain the jaghire
D1V, XTI, 3¢
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Df )

BY ROHILLAS—1788.

must have provoked immediate hostilities
with Mahadajee Sindia, since it was to
oppose his large and formidable corps of
regular artillery (under De Boigne* and
other European officers), that the services of
an English detachment were especially de-
sired.  Such a procedure would have been
inconsistent with the pacific policy by which
it was both the duty and inclination of Tord
Cornwallis to abide; and Sindia was there-
fore suffered to retain, without interference
on the part of the only enemy he feared,
the dominant position which the time-serving
policy of Hastings had first helped him to
assume, as vicegerent of the Mogul empire.
His power, before reaching its present height,
had received a severe check, from the efforts
of other ambitious chiefs to obtain posses-
sion of the person, and wield authority in
the name, of the hapless Shah Alum,t who,
from the time of the death of his brave
general, Nujeef Khan, in 1782, had heen
tossed about, like a child’s toy, from one
usurper to another—a tool during their
prosperity, a scape-goat in adversity. Sindia
became paramount in 1785; but having
engaged in war with Pertab Sing of Jey-
poor, advantage was taken of his absence by
Gholam Kadir Khan, the son of Zabita
Khan, the Rohilla, to gain possession of
Delbi in 1788. This he accomplished
through the treachery of the mazir or chief
eunuch, to whom the management of the
imperial establishment was entrusted. The
inmates of the palace were treated by the
usurper with a degree of malicious barbarity
which it is hardly possible to conceive any
human being evincing towards his unoffend-
ing fellow-creatures, unless actually pos-
sessed by an evil spirit.  After cruelties
of all descriptions had been practised to
extort from the members and retainers of
the imperial family every article of value
which still remained in their possession,
Gholam Kadir continued to withhold from
them even the necessaries of life, so that
several ladies perished of hunger; and others,
maddened by suffering, committed suicide.

tal)

The royal childreni were compelled to

granted to him for the support of five battalions of
disciplined sepoys and about 200 Europeans, chiefly
artillerymen, whose movements she directed from
her pafuuquin. even on the actual field of battle.
An imprudent marriage with a German, named
Vaissaux, for a time endangered her influence; but
after his seizure by the mutinous troops, and death
by his own hand, she regained her authority.

I The Shahzada, Prince Jewan Bukht, had taken
refuge at Benares. lord Cornwallis granted him a




LORD CORNWALLIS SUCCEEDED BY SIR J. SHORE—I1793.

erform the most humiliating offices ; and | declaration of war.

when Shah Alum indignantly remonstrated
Cagainst the atrocities he was compelled to
witness, the Rohilla sprang upon him with
the fury of a wild beast, flung the venerable
monarch to the ground, knelt on his breast,

"and, with his dagger, pierced his eye-balls

through and through. The return of
Sindia terminated these horrible scenes.
Gholam Kadir took to flight, but was cap-
tured by the Mahratta chief, who cut off
his nose, ears, hands, and feet, and sent
him in an iron cage to Shah Alum—a fear-
ful example of retributive barbarity. He
perished on the road, and his accomplice,
the treacherous nazir, was trodden to death
by an elephant. The condition of the im-
perial family, though ameliorated, l‘emamcd‘
barely tolerable during the supremacy of
Sindia; for the stated allowance for the
support of the emperor and his thirty chil-
dren, though liberal in its nominal amount,

- was so irregularly paid, that the royal

life.

household often wanted the necessaries of

The arrogance of Mahadajee increased
with his power ;* and not only the Nizam
and the Poona ministry headed by Nana

' Furnavees, but even the English, began to

contemplate an approaching struggle as in-
evitable; when their apprehensions were
unexpectedly removed by his death, of fever,
in February, 1794, aged sixty-seven. He
left no male issue, but bequeathed his ex-
tensive territorial possessions to his great-
nephew and adopted son, Dowlut Rao, then
a vouth of fifteen.

The administration of Lord Cornwallis
ended in the preceding year; its concluding
feature being the capture, once again, of
Poundicherry and all the French settlements
in India, in consequence of the national

yearly stipend of four lacs (promised, but not paid,
by the vizier of Oude), which, after the death of the
prince, was continued to his family by the E. I. Cy.

* What a blow would have been inflicted on the
pride and bigotry of Aurungzebe, could it have been
foretold that one of his dynasty would be compelled,
by a Mahratta, to sign a decree forbidding the
slaughter of kine throughout the Mogul dominions.
Yet this was enforced by Sindia on Shah Alum.

t In the year ending April, 1793, the receipts of
the company in India amounted to £8,225,628; the
total expenses to £7,007,050 : leaving a surplus of
£1,218,578 clear gain. In the outgoings, were in-
cluded the interest of Indian debts (the principal of
which amounted to £7,971,665), and money sup-
plied to Bencoolen and other distant settlements ;
making a drawback of £702,443. The debts in
England, exclusive of the capital stock, were

The charter of the
E. 1. Cy. was at the same time (1793)
renewed for a term of twenty years.f Ar-
rangements were made for the relief of the
financial difficulties of Mohammed Al.

The management of the revenues of the |

Carnatic, which had been temporarily as-
sumed by Lord Cornwallis during the war,
was partially restored to the nabob at its
conclusion, and the payments to his eredi-
tors reduced from the twelve lacs of pagodas
(conceded to them most improperly by the
Board of Control in 1785), to somewhat
more than six lacs. Attempts were like-
wise made, but with little success, to induce
the profligate Asuf-ad-Dowlah to adopt
reformatory measures, to stay the ruin which
seemed about to overwhelm the fair province,
or rather kingdom, of Oude.

ADMINISTRATION OF SIR JOHN SHORE.—
This gentleman (afterwards TLord Teign-
mouth) had been many years in the service
of the company, and was selected for the
high post of governor-general,] expressly on
account of the ability and perseverance
which he had brought to bear on the in-
tricate and little understood guestion of
Indian revenue. His pacific disposition
was likewise viewed as affording a guarantee
for the fulfilment of the strict injunctions of
the British parliament—to shun every de-
seription of aggressive warfare on behalf of
the company, whether in the character of a
principal or an ally. Upon the death of
Mahadajee Sindia, preparations for hostili-
ties against the Nizam were carried on by his
young successor, Dowlut Rao Sindia, with the
co-operation of the Poona authorities and
all the leading Mahratta chieftains.§ The
attempts of Sir John Shore at friendly
mediation were treated with insulting indif-
ference by the Mahrattas, so soon as they
in 1789, from four to five million, on which sum a
dividend of ten-and-a-half per cent. was now paid.

1 General Medows had been offered the position
on the expected resignation of Lord Cornwallis; but
he declined it, declaring his intention of staying in
India just long enough “to lead the storming party
at Seringapatam, or until the war is over:” and no
longer. He adds, that he had saved £40,000 out of
the liberal appointments of the company, and should
feel amply compensated if they pronounced “ the la-
bourer worthy of his hire.”—(Auber’s Indiu, ii., 121.)

§ Tookajee MHolcar and the rajah of Berar, with
the representative of the Puar and other influential
families, took the field; while the Guicowars from
Guzerat, and ntl.m ¥, sent detachments to join the gen-
eral assembly of Mahrattas, gathered together for the
last time under the nominal authority of the peishwa,
Madhoo Rao Il., who was himself completely con-

£10,983,618. The capital stock had been increased | trolled by Nana Furnavees.—(Duff, iij., 111.)
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perceived his determination of preserving a
strict neutrality. The Nizam advanced to
Beder, where the enemy hastened to give
him battle. After an indecisive action, he
retreated by night to Kurdla, a small fort
surrounded by hills.  He was besieged,
closely blockaded, and compelled to pur-
chase peace by the most ignominious con-
cessions, which, if carried out, would have
completely erippled his resources, and left
him at the mercy of his old foe, Nana
Furnavees. But at this erisis the “ Mah-
ratta  Machiavelli”  overreached himself.
The severity and excess of his precautionary
measures wrought upon the high spirit of
the young peishwa (then one-and-twenty
years of sage) with unexpected violence,
and, in a moment of deep depression,
caused by the indignity to which he was
subjected, he flung himself from a terrace of
the palace, and expired in the course of
two days, after expressing a strong desire
that his cousin, Bajee Rao, should succeed

| to the authority of which he had bheen

defranded.®* This arrangement would have
been generally popular ; for Bajee Rao, then
about twenty years of age, bore a high cha-
racter for skill in manly and military exer-
cises, and was besides deeply read in ancient
Brahminical lore, and a studious follower of
the intricate observances of caste. Beneath
this fair surface lay, as Nana Furnavees
truly declared, the weakness of his father

. Ragoba, and the wickedness of his mother

Anundee Bye, as yet undeveloped.

The talents of Bajee Rao, even had they
been likely to be used for good instead of
for evil, would probably have been equally
opposed to the views of the minister, who
wanted a mere puppet to occupy the musnud
on public occasions, and then return to his
gilded prison. With this intent he caused
the widow of the late Madhoo Rao 1I.
(herself a mere child) to adopt an infant,
whom he proclaimed peishwa.  Sindia
espoused the cause of Bajee Rao, and the
dissensions which followed enabled Nizam
Ali to procure a release from three-fourths
of the cessions and payments stipulated for
by the treaty of Kurdla.

The remaining events during the admin-
istration of Sir John Shore may be briefly

* Bajee Rao had endeavoured to open a secret in-
tercourse with Madhoo Rao, which being discovered
by Nana Furnavees, drew severe reproaches and
more strict surveillance on both cousins.—(Duff.)

+ In this year the Calcutta bench, and orientalists
in general, sustained a heavy loss in the l!(‘.’ll]l'f\r‘lhe
upright judge and distinguished scholar, Sir William

noted.  Fyzoolla Khan, the Rohilla ruler of
Rampore and its dependent districts, died in

794+ His eldest son, Mohammed Alj,
succeeded to the government, but was
seized and murdered by his younger brother,
Gholam Mohammed Khan, who was in turn
deposed by the conjoined troops of the
English and the vizier. A jaghire of ten
lacs of revenue was conferred on Ahmed
Ali, the youthful son of the murdered ruler ;

provision was made for the maintenance of |

(Gholam Mohammed, who came to reside at
Benares, under the protection of the Bri-
tish government; and the treasures and
remaming terrifory of the late Fyzoolla
Khan, were delivered up to the wasteful
and profligate Asuf-ad-Dowlah.

Mohammed Ali, of Arcot, died in 1795,
aged seventy-eight, and was succeeded by
his eldest son, Omdut-al-Omrah.
same year the English effected the com-
plete reduction of the Dutch settlements
i Ceylon, Malacca, Banda, Amboyna,
Cochin, and the Cape of Good Hope.T Asuf-
ad-Dowlah died in 1797. A dispute con-
cerning the succession arose between his
brother Sadut Ali, and his alleged son
Vizier Ali, a youth of seventeen, said to be
of spurious descent.§ Sir John Shore
eventually decided in favour of the former,
with whom he entered into a new treaty, by
which the fort of Allahabad was made over
to the English, the annual subsidy increased
to seventy-six lacs of rupees, twelve lacs
cuaranteed by the vizier as compensation
money for the expenses incurred in the
recent interference, and an annunal pension
of a lac and a-half of rupees settled on
Vizier Ali, beside other arrangements re-
garding the support of the company’s troops,
deemed necessary for the defence of Oude.

In the beginning of 1798, the governor-
general, who had been raised to the peerage
with the title of Lord Teignmouth, resigned
his position on account of ill-health, and
returned to England. Despite his high
character as a financier, the pecuniary re-
sults of his four years’ sway were disastrous,
and the scourge of war was but temporarily
delayed. Tippoo evidently waited an oppor-
tunity to renew hostilities; and the expen-
sive f)t(:pnrMiOHS made to invade Mysoor, in
Jones, aged forty-eight. He was the first president
of the Asiatic Society of Bengal, Warren Hastings
the patron, and Charles Wilkins a member.

t These conquests were mainly effected through
the zeal of Lord Hobart, governor of Madras.

§ On inquiry, it appeared that th‘c.n!lr;_:ud children
of Asuf-ad-Dowlah were all supposititious.

In the
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the cvent of his taking part with the Dutch,
' together with the requirements of the presi-
dencies of Madras and Bombay, obliged the
supreme government, in 1796, to open the
treasury for a loan bearing twelve per cent.
interest. In the following year, increasing
involvements compelled a considerable re-
duction in the investments—a step mever
taken, it will be recollected, except under
the stern pressure of necessity.
ApministratioNn oF Lorp MorNiNGTON
(Marquis WEeLLESLEY.)— An impending
war with Mpysoor, intricate political rela-
tions based on the temporary interest of
other native powers, an exhausted trea-
sury, and an increasing debt,—such were
the difficulties that awaited the successor of
Lord Teignmouth. After some delay, the
choice—happily for England and for India—
fell upon a nobleman no less distinguished
for decision of purpose than for deliberation
and forethought in counsel, gifted with a
mind alike capable of grasping the grandest
plans, and of entering into the minute de-
tails so important to good government.
Lord Mornington was but seven-and-thirty
when he was selected for the arduous office
of exercising almost irresponsible authority
over British India; but he had been early
called to play an important part in public
life, and had, from circumstances, been led
to regard Indian affairs with peculiar interest,
even before his appointment as one of the
six commissioners of the Board of Control,

* The Earl of Mornington (afterwards Marquis
Wellesley) was descended from an ancient family,
whose founders went over to Ireland with Strong-
bow, and held (on the tenure of bearing the royal
standard “ quando opus fuerit”) the castle and manor
of Dangan, in the county Meath, where the future
governor-general of India was born in 1760. The
name of his father fills an honoured place in the
musical annals of England, as the composer of some
of the finest chants and glees in the language : his
mother, the Countess of Mornington, was highly
gifted both in person and in intellect, and especially
remarkable for force of character, which she retained
unimpaired even to advanced age, and transmitted
to at least three of her sons—the subject of this
notice, “the Iron Duke,” and Baron Cowley. The
death of Lord Mornington, in 1781, arrested the
college studies of his young successor, and called
him when scarcely of age, to relinquish the classic
pursuits by which he might else have become too
exclusively engrossed, for the severer duties of pub-
lic life. Close intimacy with the Cornwallis family,
doubtless contributed to direct his attention to In-
dian affairs ; and the influence of the Eton holidays
regularly passed with Archbishop Cornwallis at Lam-
beth Palace, from 1771 to 1779, had probably its
effect in producing, or at least strengthening the love
of justice and high sense of honour for which the

| young lord became distinguished, as well as in im-

in 1793.*% In this position he continued
for the ensuing five years, attending sedu-
lously to its duties, and availing himself to
the utmost of the opportunities it afforded
of becoming intimately acquainted with the
condition of the K. I. Cy., the mode of gov-
ernment adopted in the three presidencies,
and the position and history of neighbouring
powers. The subject was, to the highest
degree, attractive to a statesman who con-
sidered that “the majesty of Great Britain
was her trade, and the throne of the com-
merce of the world the fittest object of her
ambition.” The able and indefatigable, but
prejudiced historian of India, was probably
but imperfectly acquainted with the cha-
racter and antecedents of Lord Morning-
ton, when he remarked that he came out
as a war-governor: still less ground existed
for the assertion, that his lordship had
“ possessed but little time for acquainting
himself with the complicated affairs of
India, when all his attention was attracted
to a particular point.”’+ The remarkable
letter, addressed to Lord Melville from the
Cape of Good Hope, in 17981 abundantly
attests the extraordinary amount of infor-
mation already accumulated by the writer,
as well as the profound and far-sighted
views which he had been enabled to form
therefrom. The mental qualifications of
Lord Mornington wererendered generally at-
tractive by the dignified and courtecus bear-
ing, and the sweet, yet powerful utterance

planting the deep and clear views of religion which
formed the solace of his honoured age. His first
care was the voluntary liquidation of his father's
debts; the next, a most liberal provision for the edu-
cation of his brothers and sisters, especially for that
of Arthur, whose capacities he early appreciated. A
brilliant career in the Irish House of Parliament,
was speedily followed and surpassed by his success
as an orator in the British House of Commons, where,
strangely enough, his first speech was in reprobation
of the conduct of Lord North in making Warren
Hastings governor-general of India, after his un-
principled conduct regarding the Rohillas. The
opinions delivered by him on the questions of war
with the French republic, the disputes regarding the
regency, the abolition of the Irish parliament, and
Catholic emancipation, have their page in history ; but
none occupy a higher place in the memory of those
who cherish the name of the Marguis Wellesley,
than his unwavering and indignant denunciation of
the slave-trade, which he declared to be an “ abomi-
nable, infamous, and bloody traffic,” the continuance
of which it was a disgrace to Great Britain to sanc-
tion, even for an hour. (Fide Debate on motion
of Mr. Dundas for gradual abolition, April, 1792.)

+ Mill's India ; edited by Prof. Wilson, vi., 73.

{ Despatches, Minutes, and Correspondence of the
Marquis  Wellesley ; edited by R. Montgomery

Martin, i., 1—15. Murray: London, 1836.
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which enhanced the effect of his rare elo-

- quence. His small but perfectly symmetrical
figure, formed a worthy model for the chisels

of Bacon and Chantry; while the easel
of Lawrence rendered the delicate hut clearly
defined outline of the nose and mouth, the
soft, gazelle-like* eyes and dark arched
brows, in contrast with the silver locks
which clustered round his lofty forehead—
scarcely less publicly known, in his own
time, than the remarkable profile and eagle-

eye of his younger brother are at present.

On his arrival in Madras, in April, 1798,
Lord Mornington was accompanied by his
younger brother Henry, afterwards Lord
Cowley, in the capacity of private secre-
tary. The future duke, then Lt.-Col. Wel-
lesley, with his regiment (the 33rd), had
been already some months in India. After
a brief stay at Madras (of which presidency
Lord Clive, the son of the hero of Arcot,
was appointed governor), Lord Mornington
proceeded to Calcutta, and commenced a
series of civil reforms; but his attention
was speedily arrested by the intrigues of
Tippoo and some Irench adventurers, who,

- though in themsclves of small importance,

might, he well knew, at any moment give

- place to, or acquire the rank of powerfully

supported representatives of their nation.
In fact, schemes to that effect were in pro-
cess of development ; though the suceess of
the British by sea and land, the victories of
Nelson on the Nile, and that of Acre by Sir
Sidney Smith, in conjunction with Lord
Mornington’s own measures, eventually pre-
vented Buonaparte from putting into execu-
tion his cherished plan of wresting from Eng-
land her growing Indian empire. The re-
publican general and his great adversaries,
the brothers Wellesley, had a long series of
diplomatic hostilities to wage in distant
hemispheres, before the last fierce struggle
which convulsed the European continent
with the death-throes of the usurped au-
thority of the citizen emperor!  Their
battle-fields and council-chambers, as yet,
lay wide apart; but the letters of Buona-
parte to Tippoo Sultan and to Zemaun Shah,
the successor of the fierce Doorani conqueror
of Paniput, who had threatened to renew
the incursions of his grandsire in Hindoo-
stan, served to convey an impression to the

* This expression may savour of exaggeration or
affectation to persons unacquainted with Lord Wel-
lesley. Those who have watched him while speak-
ing on subjects which touched his feelings, will, on the
contrary, consider the comparison a poor compliment

native princes that a European power did |
exist, eagerly waiting its opportunity to fight |
the English with their own weapons.  So
strongly impressed was Tippoo with this con-
viction, that he sent ambassadors to the
French governor of the Mauritius (M. Ma-
lartic), with proposals for an offensive and
defensive alliance against their mutnal rival,
offering to bear the whole expenses of the
French auxiliary force to be sent to his as-
sistance, and to furnish them with every ac-
customed allowance except wine and spirits,
with which he declared himself entirely un-
provided. The truth was, that Tippoo, in
laudable conformity with the ordinance of
his standard of action, the Koran, forbade
his subjects to use any description of intox-
icating plants or beverages; and, as far as
possible, caused the white poppy and the
hemp-plant to be destroyed even in private
gardens. Those only who, like Colonel Tod
and other travelled historians, have had the
opportunity of searching out for themselves
authentic records illustrative of the condi-
tion of the people of India at different
epochs, can fully appreciate the political
importance of this measure, and its proba-
ble effect in tending to stay the moral and
physical degradation which the abuse of all
intoxicating compounds never fails to pro-
duce, especially of that valuable medicine,
but when misused, detestable drug, opium.
The offer of the sultan was warmly wel-
comed by the French governor, and a small
detachment{ of volunteers sent to Malabar,
and received as an earnest of further assist-
ance. Lord Mornington addressed repeated
remonstrances to Tippoo respecting this no-
torious breach of faith; and received, in re-
turn, the same empty professions of good-will
which had been previously made to Lord
Cornwallis. There was but one course to
be taken with a man who met all argu-
ments regarding the hostile operations in
which he was engaged by positive denial
or wilful silence; and the governor-general,
despite the exhausted treasury and financial
involvements which even a peace-governor
had been unable to avoid, now found him-
self compelled to prepare for the renewal of
war. He proceeded to Madras, where, by
infusing his own spirit into this heretofore
venal and incapable presidency, he procured

to eyes gifted with the power of reflecting every vary-
ing phase of thought and feeling, but ever tender
and gazelle-like in repose. s

+ About 150; composed of convicted criminals and
the refuse of the rabble of the island.—(Despatches.)
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the adoption of measures for the complete |

equipment of the armies on the coasts of
Coromandel and Malabar. The conduct of
Nizam Ali, the subahdar of the Deecan,
afforded much ground for uneasiness. The
refusal of Sir John Shore to suffer the Eng-
lish subsidiary detachment to fight against
the Mahrattas, had induced him to raise
a large corps, trained and officered by
French adventurers, under the immediate
superintendence of a M. Raymond, who was
justly suspected of being in communication
with’ Tippoo. Lord Mornington felt that
the course of events might render this
body a nucleus for all powers and persons
jealous or envious of British supremacy.
He therefore hastened to make overtures
for a closer alliance with the Nizam ; and on
the 1st of September, a new treaty was con-
cluded, by which the subsidiary detachment
in his service was increased from two to six
battalions, and the E. I. Cy. became pledged
for his protection against any unjust de-
mands on the part of the Mahrattas. The
Nizam consented to the immediate dis-
bandment of Raymond’s corps, and the
surrender of their officers as prisoners of
war; but as he manifested some hesitation
regarding the fulfilment of these stipula-
tions, the French cantonments were unex-
pectedly surrounded by the whole English
force, in conjunction with a body of the
Hyderabad cavalry. The men, already dis-
affected,* upon a promise of continued
employment and the payment of arrears, laid
down their weapons; the officers were
quietly arrested, and, in a few hours, 14,000
men, possessing a train of artillery and a
well-supplied arsenal, were completely dis-
armed and disorganised.  The private
property and arrears due to the officers were
carefully secured to them by the governor-
general, and arrangements made for their
honourable treatment and speedy transport
to their own country.

The primary importance of neutralising
the danger of French influence at the court
of the Nizam, did not blind Lord Morning-
ton to the advisability of avoiding hostilities
with the Mahrattas. The supremacy of

* M. Raymond, a man of considerable talent, died
a few months before these events, and a struggle for
ascendancy had induced disunion among the troops,
who, it may be added, were avowed red republicans.

+ Words of Lord Cornwallis.

I Wellesley Despatehes, v., 15.

§ The army assembled at Vellore exceeded 20,000
men, including 2,635 cavalry, and 4,381 Buropeans ;
to which was added the 6,500 men serving with Llu_:

798.

Nana IFurnavees and his baby peishwa, had
oiven place to that of Sindia and Bajee
Rao, with whom Nana had become partially
reconciled ; and through his influence, a
pledge of co-operation, in the event of a
war with Mysoor, was given by them, but
apparently with the most treacherous intent.

These precautionary measures concluded,
Lord Mornington felt himself in a position
to bring matters to an issue. The ““violent
and faithless”’+ character of the sultan, ren-
dered it necessary to take summary steps
for the reduction of his power and arro-
eance, which had again become alarming.
The abandonment of his French connexions
was at first all that was desired ; but the ex-
pense of military preparations having been
incurred—the cession of the maritime pro-
vince of Canara, with other territory and a
large sum of money, the establishment of ac-
credited residents on the part of the E. 1. Cy.
and their allies at his capital, and the expul-
sion of all Frenchmen from his service and
dominions, were now demanded. Tippoo
resorted to his old plan of evasion, hoping to
procrastinate until the season for attacking
Seringapatam should be past; and when hard
driven, wrote a tardy consent to receive an
English envoy to negotiate terms of more
intimate alliance with that nation, while, at
the same time, in his capacity of citizen and
wearer of the red eap of liberty, he dispatched
an embassy to the IFrench Directory, solicit-
ing speedy assistance “to attack and anni-
hilate for ever our common enemies.”{

As on a previous occasion, his duplicity
was met by a declaration of war; and on the
5th of March, the British force, under
General (afterwards Lord) Harris, and that
of the Nizam under his son Meer Alum,
entered the Mysoor territory, with the intent
of marching directly upon the capital. Lord
Mornington truly declared, “that an army
more completely appointed, more amply and
liberally supplied in every department, or
more perfect in its discipline and in the
acknowledged experience, ability, and zeal
of its officers, never took the field in India.””§
The very abundance of the cquipments of
the invaders formed, in some sort, an im-

Nizam, and a large body of Hyderabad cavalry.
The army of the western coast, assembled at Cana-
nore, under General Stuart, amounted to 6,420
men, of whom, 1,617 were Furepeans ; while a third
corps, under Colonels Read and Brown, from the
southern districts of the Carnatic, at once threat-
ened the enemy in flank, and secured abundance of
provisions to the main body of the invaders. A Bri-
tish fleet, under Admiral Rainier, lay off the coast.

N
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pediment to {heir speedy progress; and
this circumstance, together with the cum-
brous baggage of the Nizam’s troops, and
the innumerable camp followers, tended to
produce so much confusion, that the forces
were repeatedly compelled to halt, and
destroy a part of the mass of stores with
which they were encumbered ; until at
length, the loss of powder, shot, and other
military stores, became sufficiently con-
siderable to excite alarm. Nearly the whole
of the draught and carriage bullocks, com-
prising upwards of 60,000, died in the
march to Seringapatam, although it was
scarcely retarded a day by the opposition of
the enemy. In the meantime, General
Stuart, with the force from Bombay, had
crossed the western frontier, and been at-
tacked on the 6th of March, by the sultan
with a superior force, near Periapatam.
After a brisk action, in which the rajah of
Coorg effectively seconded the Knglish
general by personal bravery and commis-
sariat supplies,* Tippoo, being worsted,
drew off' his army, and hastened to meet
the main body of the enemy under General
Harris. This he accomplished near Mala-
velly, on the Madoor river, but was again
defeated with heavy loss.  His subsequent
attempts to impede or harass the progress
of the invaders, were frustrated by their un-
expected changes of route; and he learned
with dismay, that the battering train, with
the last of the army, had actually crossed
the Cauvery fifteen miles east of Seringapa-
tam, while he was yet at a distance, keep-
ing guard in an opposite direction,—an
indubitable proof how greatly his system
of intelligence fell short of that maintained
by his father. Deeply disappointed, he
summoned his chief officers to his pre-
sence. “We have arrived,” he said, “at
our last stage; what is your determina-
tion?”  “To die with you,” was the unani-
mous reply; and the assembly separated,

* The rajah of Coorg had collected 6,360,000 lbs.
of rice, and 560,000 lbs. of grain, for the use of the
troops; and his whole conduct during the present
war, warranted praise equal to that awarded him on
the previous occasion, of having been ““the only _lzLIIy
who had performed all his obligations with fide-
lity, efficiency, and honour."—(Mysoor, iii., 247.)
Itis no disparagement to the acknowledged merits
and peculiarly chivalrous character of the rajah, to
add, that he had the deepest wrongs, both as re-
garded family and nnlionn[ relationship, to avenge
The reduction of Coorg
had been at first effected by Hyder, through trea-
cherous interference, during a contested succession.
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after a tearful farewell, having resolved to
intercept  the expected passage of the
‘nglish across the stream to the island on
which Seringapatam is situated, and make
death or victory the issue of a single battle.
The equipments of the sultan were in order,
and his troops well placed to contest the
fords; but the advancing foe did not ap-
proach them, but took up a position on the
south-western side of the fort, on the 5th of
April, exactly one month after crossing the
Mysoor frontier, having advanced at the
rate of not seven miles a-day on hostile
ground, and not five from the commence-
ment of the march. The consequence of
this unexpected tardiness, and of great loss
of stores, was, that despite the extraordi-
nary supplies assembled by the governor-
general, 1t was ascertained, on the 18th of
April, that but eighteen days’ provision for
the fighting men, at half allowance, re-
mained in store.t The siege was of necessity
carried on with the utmost diligence. The

sultan made overtures for peace, but re-
Jected the terms of the preliminary treaty
now proposed—namely, the surrender of
his remaining maritime territories, and of
half his entire dominions, with the pay-
ment of two crore of sicca rupees, and the
total renunciation of French auxiliaries.
Every hour’s delay rendered the position of
the allies more critical ; and on the 28th,
when the sultan renewed his proposals for a
conference, he was informed that no ambas-
sadors would be received unless accom-
panied by four of his sons and four of his

Of the two families, one was destroyed; the repre-
sentative of the other (Veer Rajunder) escaped

generals (including Seved Ghofar) as hostages,
with a crore of rupees, in token of sincerity.

No answer was returned. Tippoo’s he-
reditary aversion to the English had been
raised to the highest pitch by the represen-
tatives of the French adventurers about his
person. Naturally sanguine, he had buoyed
himself up with expectations of the arrival
of succours direct from France, from Egypt,
from the hands of Tippoo, and upon the out-
break of the previous war, hastened to join the Eng-
lish. Notwithstanding the ruthless manner in which
the population and resources of his country had
been treated, he was able, by his intelligence and
activity, to aid materially the operations of the
Bombay army. Mill, who is little inclined to bestow
praise on Indian princes, speaks of him as possess-
iIng a remarkable “enlargement of mind, and dis-
playing a generosity and a heroism worthy of a
more civilised state of society.”—(v., 453.) Col.
Wilks narrates many actions which confirm this tes-
timony. So, also, does Major Dirom's Narrative.

t There must have been, also, much disgraceful
Jjobbery, the effects of which were happily neutral-
ised by a public tender of 1,200 bullock-loads of rice.

|
|

|

|
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or from the Mauritius; and when at length
the progress of the siege drew from him a
sincere attempt at uegotiation, his haughty
spirit could not brook the humiliating con-
ditions named as the price of peace, and he
suffered hostilities to proceed, comforting
himself with the idea that Seringapatam
was almost invineible; that the failure of
supplies would probably even now compel
the enemy to withdraw; and that, at the
worst, ‘it was better to die like a soldier,
than to live a miserable dependent on the
infidels, in the list of their pensioned rajahs
and nabobs.”  Despite the manliness of
Tippoo’s words, his deeds evinced a strange
mixture of indecision and childish credulity.
For years he had shown himself the bigoted
and relentless persecutor of his Hindoo
subjects ; and so effectual had been his
measures, that only two Brahminical tem-
ples remained open throughout his domi-
nions. Yet mnow, those very Brahmins,
whom he had compelled to violate the first
rules of their creed, by fleshing their
weapons on the bodies of sacred animals,
were entreated to put up prayers on his
behalf, and the jebbum* was performed at
great cost by the orders of a Mussulman
sovereign, to whom all kinds of magical
incantation were professedly forbidden,
and who simultaneously put up earnest
and reiterated prayers in the mosque, re-
questing thereto the fervent wmen of his
attendants. Then he betook himself to the
astrologers, and from them received state-
ments calculated to deepen the depression
by which his mind was rapidly becoming
unhinged. The evident progress of affairs
might well furnish them with a clue to
decypher the predictions of the stars, and
a set of diagrams were gravely exhibited as
warranting the conclusion, that so long as
Mars should remain within a particular
circle, the fort would hold out: he would
touch the limit on the last day of the lunar
month, the 4th of May; then it would be
advisable to offer the oblations prescribed by
law to deprecate an expected calamity. It
1s possible that the true movers in this
singular scene may have been certain faith-
ful servants of Tippoo Sultan, who, as the
danger increased, beheld with grief his
accustomed energy give place to a sort
of despairing fatalism, alternating with
bursts of forced gaiety, which were echoed

* See previous p. 357.

 Baird was taken prisoner with the survivors of

Col. Baillie's detachment, and not released until 1784,

STORMING OF SERINGAPATAM—MAY 4rn, 1799,

| back by the parasites by whom he had
become exclusively surrounded.  Seyed
Ghofar was one of the most zealous and
‘able of the Mysoorean commanders. Al-
' though wounded at an early period of the
siege, he did not relax his exertions for the
defence of the capital, or his efforts to
awaken its master to action, despite the
despairing exclamation— He 1s surrounded
by boys and flatterers, who will not even
let him see with his own eyes. I do not
wish to survive the result. 1 am going
about in search of death, and cannot find
it.”>  On the 3rd of May, a practicable
breach (100 feet wide) was effected. On
the morning of the 4th, the sultan offered
the oblation before arranged; and after an
attempt to ascertain the aspect of his des-
tiny by the reflection of his own face in a
jar of oil, returned to his accustomed
station on the fortifications. Seyed Ghofar,
seeing the trenches unusually crowded, sent
word that the attack was about to com-
mence; but the courtiers persuaded their
infatuated lord that the enemy would never
dare the attempt by daylight; and he re-
plied, that it was doubtless right to be on the
alert, although the assault would certainly
not be made except under cover of night.

Exeited by such mistaken security, the
brave officer hastened towards the sultan.
“1 will go,” said he, ““and drag him to the
breach, and make him see by what a set of
wretches he is surrounded: I will compel
him to exert himself at this last moment.”
The arrival of a party of pioneers, to cut off
the approach of the foe by the southern
rampart, induced him to delay his intention
for the purpose of first giving them their
mstructions; and, while thus engaged, a
cannon-ball struck him lifeless to the
ground, and saved him from witnessing the
realisation of his worst anticipations.

Tippoo was about commencing his noon-
day repast, when he learned with dismay
the fate of his brave servant. The meal was
scarcely ended before tidings were brought
of the actual assault, and he hastened to the
breach along the northern rampart,

The leader of the storming party was
Major-general Baird, who had, at his own
request, been deputed to head the attack on
the fortress, within whose walls lic had been
immured in irons for three years and a-half.+
The hope of releasing captives treacherously
detained, and of preventing such faithless

outrages for the future, would, apart from
less commendable feelings, have been suffi-




cient to excite to the utmost a less ardent |
temperament.  Mounting the parapet of
the breach, in view of both armies he drew
his sword, and, in a voice which thrilled
through every heart, called to the columns
into which the assaulting force* had been
divided, “to follow him and prove them-
selves worthy the name of British soldiers.”
A forlorn hope, composed of a sergeant
and twelve men, led the van of either
column, followed by two subaltern detach-
ments, and were met on the slope of the
breach by a smzll but resolute body of My-
sooreans. Nearly the whole of the first com-
batants perished, but their place was rapidly
supplied by the forces led by Baird; and in
six minutes after the energetic call to arms,
the British colours were planted on the
summit of the breach. This important step
accomplished, much danger and difficulty
remained ; for the traverses, especially along
the northern rampart, were stronger than
had been expected, and the sultan in
person animated the exertions of his de-
fenders.  After much hard fighting, the
British columns overcame all intermediate
obstacles, and menaced Tippoo and his sup-
porters both in front and rear. The confu-
sion then became complete : the Mysooreans
fled in various directions; some through a
gateway in the rampart opening on the
palace, some over the fortifications, and others
by a water-gate leading to the river. The
sultan, after long fighting on foot, being
slightly wounded, was seen to mount his
horse, but what he had next done, no one
knew. It was conjectured that he had taken
refuge within the palace; and the chief per-
sons admitted to his confidence during the
last few perilous days, alleged that obscure
hints had escaped him of an intention to fol-
low the ancient Indian custom, by putting to
death the females of his family, destroying
certain private papers, and then sallying
forth to perish on the swords of his foes.
According to instructions previously framed,
Major Allan was deputed to proceed to the
palace with a flag of truce, and offer protec-
tion to Tippoo and every one in it, on the
proviso of immediate and unconditional sur-
render. The major laid aside his sword, n
evidence of his peaceable intentions, and
prevailed upon the attendants to conduct
him and two brother officers to the presence

* Comprising 2,494 Europeans, and 1,852 natives.
+ The fact was subsequently ascertained by ex-
huming the bodies. The rumour being in itself
sufficiently probable, may palliate, but cannot justify,
DIV, XI. 3D
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of th: two eldest sons of Tippoo, from whom
he with difficulty obtained warrant for the
occupation of the palace, within which
many hundred armed men were assembled ;
while, without the walls, a large body of
troops were drawn up, with General Baird
at their head. The fierce excitement of a
hard-won field had been increased by the
horrible and only too well authenticated
iformation of the massacre of about thir-
teen Huropeans taken during the siege;t
vet the torrent of execration and invective
was hushed in deep silence when the sons of
the hated despot passed through the ranks as
prisoners, on their way to the British camp.
The royal apartments were searched, due
care being taken to avoid inflicting any
needless injury on the feelings of the ladies
of the harem, by removing them to distinct
rooms ; but still the important question re-
mained unanswered—what had become of
the sultan?

At length it was discovered that private
intelligence had reached the killedar, or
chief officer in command, that Tippoo was
lying under the arch of the gateway open-
ing on the inner fort. General Baird pro-
ceeded to the spot, and searched a dense
mass of dead and dying, but without suc-
cess, until a Hindoo, styled Rajah Khan,
who lay wounded near the palanquin of
the sultan, pointed out the spot where his
master had fallen. Tippoo had received two
musket-balls in the side, when his horse
being wounded sank under him. Rajah
Khan, after vainly striving to carry him
away, urged the necessity of disclosing his
rank as the sole chance for his preservation.
This Tippoo peremptorily forbade, and con-
tinued to lie prostrate from the loss of blood
and fatigue, half-buried under a heap of
his brave defenders, until an English soldier
coming up to the spot, strove to seize the
gold buckle of his sword-belt, upon which
he partly raised himself, seized a sabre that
lay beside him, and aimed a desperate blow
at his assailant, who, in return, shot him
through the temple. _

Thus perished Tippoo Sultan, in the
forty-seventh year of his age. The body,
when eventually dragged forth, was found
to have been rifled of every ornament except
an amulet on the right arm, immediately
below the shoulder. The head was un-

the threats used by General Baird to the princes and
others, who had surrendered on the faith of the
assurances of Major Allan, to draw from them the

whereabouts of Tippoo.—(Thornton’s India, iii., 59.) | |
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' covered, and, despite the ball which had

entered a little above the right ear and
lodged in the cheek, and three wounds in
the body, the stern dignity of the counte-

' nance,* its glowing complexion, the expres-

sion of the dark full eyes unclosed and sur-
mounted by small arched eyebrows marred
by no distortion, were altogether so life-
like, that the effect, heightened by the rich
colouring of the waistband and shoulder-
belt, almost deceived the bystanders; and
Colonel Wellesley and Major Allan bent
over the body by the uncertain and flicker-
ing glare of torch-light, and felt the pulse
and heart, before being convinced that they
were indeed looking on a corpse.f The
remains were deposited beside those of
Hyder Ali, in the superb mausoleum of Ldll
Baug, with every ceremonial demanded by
Mussulman usage. The minute-gun and
other military honours, practised by Euro-
peans, were paid by order of the com-
mander-in-chief, a ceremonial which, how-
ever well intended, was misplaced. It
would have been better taste to have suf-
fered the bereaved family of the sultan,
who had died in defence of his capital, to
bury their dead, undisturbed by the presence
of his triumphant foes. Terrific peals of
thunder and lightning,{ to an extent re-
markable even in that tempestuous district,
burst over the island of Seringapatam, and
formed a fitting close to the funereal rites
of the second and last representative of a
brief but blood-stained dynasty. The pre-
diction of Hyder was fulfilled: the empire
he had won his son had lost, and with it
life itself. The romantic circumstances
attendant on the death of Tippoo may tend
to throw a false halo over his character ; but
admiration for his personal bravery, or even
better-grounded praise for his excellent

* The sultan was about five feet ten inches in
height, had a short neck and square shoulders; his
limbs were slender, feet and hands remarkably small,
and nose aquiline. His dress consisted of a jacket of
fine white linen, loose drawers of flowered chintz, a
crimson girdle, with a handsome pouch slung over
his shoulder by a belt of red and green silk.

+ This expression, says Col. Wilks, was noticed
only by those who saw Tippoo for the first time; it
wore off the more speedily owing to his excessive
garrulity and harsh, inharmonious voice.

{ Two officers and several privates were killed.

§ History of Mysoor, iii., 269.

|| On the 4th of May, there were in the fort
13,739 regular troops, and 8,100 outside and in the
mtrenchments, with 120 Frenchmen, under the com-
mand of a chef de brigade, M. Chapuis. In the as-
sault, 8,000 ,\If'sourcans were killed, including twenty-
four principal officers killed and wounded, beside

measure in striving to put down the use of
|intoxicating preparations, which had become
|a very curse to India, must not be permitted
to disguise the fact that, with few excep-
tions, his career was one of blood and rapine,
beside which that of Hyder appears just and
compassionate.

Tippoo manifested remarkable industry in
his endeavours to establish the reputation
of a reformer; but the regulations framed
for the government of his dominions, were
enforced by penalties of so revolting a cha-
racter, as alone to prove the lawgiver
unfit to exercise authority over his fellow-
men; equally so, whether these were
prompted by diabolical wickedness, or the
aberrations of a diseased intellect. © His-
tory,” says Colonel Wilks, “exhibits no prior
example of a code perverting all possible
purposes of punishment as a public example,
combining the terrors of death with cold-
blooded irony, filthy ridicule, and obscene
mutilation—the pranks of a monkey with
the abominations of a monster.”§ Such a
despotism, based on usurpation and fraud,
and exercised with unparalleled ferocity,
Britain may well rejoice 1n having been per-
mitted to abolish.

The total military establishment of
Tippoo was estimated at about 100,000,
including matchlockmen and peons (revenue
officers or police); his field army at 47,470
effective troops. The granaries, arsenals,
and magazines of all kinds in Seringapatam,
were abundantly stored ;|| but a very exag-
gerated 1dea had, as is commonly the case,
been formed of the amount of his treasure
in gold and jewels, the total value of which
did not reach a million and a-half sterling,
and was entirely appropriated by the con-
quering army. In acknowledgment of the
energy and forethought displayed by the
numbers of inferior rank. 7The total loss of the
British, during the siege, was twenty-two oflicers
killed and forty-five wounded (twenty-five of these
in the storming of the citadel) ; rank and file—Furo-
peans, 181 killed, 622 wounded, twenty-two missing :
natives, 119 killed, 420 wounded, and 100 missing.
In the fort were found 929 pieces of ordnance (373
brass guns, sixty mortars, eleven howitzers, 466 1iron
guns, and twelye mortars), of which 287 were mounted
on the fortifications : there were also 424,400 round
shot; 520 lbs. of gunpowder, and 09,000 muskets,
carbines, &c. Within the fortress were eleven large
powder-magazines ; seventy-two expense magazines ;
eleven armories for making and furnishing small
arms; three buildings with machines for baring
guns ; four large arsenals, and seventeen other store-
houses, containing accoutrements, swords, &c.; and
many granaries abundantly filled with provisions of
every description.—(Beatson's Wur with Tippoo.)




resources of British India to one point, and
thus, humanly speaking, ensuring success
in a single campaign, he was raised a step in
the peerage,* and informed that, by the con-
current authority of his majesty’s ministers
and the Court of Directors, a portion of the
spoils of Seringapatam, to the value of
£100,000, would be directed to be appro-
priated for his use, the remainder to be
divided among the troops. Lord Wellesley
was far from rich, but he unhesitatingly
refused this tempting offer, as an encroach-
ment on the claims of the army, and, more-
over, as being an injurious precedent, likely
to afford the future arbiters of peace and
war, in India, pecuniary temptations to a
belligerent policy. A star and badge of the
order of St. Patrick, composed of some of
Tippoo’s jewels, was all that he accepted
at the time. In 1801, an annuity of £5,000
was settled on him by the company.
Unfortunately, this memorable example
of disinterestedness did not prevent some
very discreditable proceedings with regard
to the distribution of the prize-money ; and
the commander-in-chief (IHarris) and six
general officers  (Floyd, Baird, Popham,
Bridges, Stuart, and Hartley), were con-
sidered by the home authorities to have
appropriated to themselves a very undue
proportion ; General Harris, in particular,
having received one-eighth instead of one-
sixteenth part of the whole. The command
of Seringapatam was entrusted by Harris
to Colonel Wellesley, much to the displea-
sure of General Baird, who exclaimed—
“ Before the sweat was dry on my brow, I
was superseded by an inferior officer I The
governor-general showed his conviction of the
propriety of the measure, by subsequently
investing his brother with the superinten-
dence of the civil government of Mysoor.
As, despite his strong family affection, Lord
Wellesley is universally acknowledged to
have been distinguished for a judicious and
impartial selection of particular men for
particular positions, perfect reliance may be
placed on his own assertion, that, despite
the jealousy to which the appointment made

* Rather a doubtful advantage in the sight of the
receiver, who was wont to allude to the merging of
an English earldom into an Irish marquisate, as hav-
ing changed his English ale into Irish buttermilk.

+ Baird could not be trusted with such :mlhor_:l_\'.

I Tippoo left three legitimate and seventeen ille-
gitimate children ; twenty-four died hc:urv.lnm.

§ The chiefs of districts submitted cheerfully to the

('oﬁqum'ors. The only opposition offered was that of
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governor-general, in directing the whole | by Iarris would give risc among the senior
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officers, he confirmed, and would himself
have originated it if necessary, simply be-
cause, from his “knowledge and experience
Qf thg discretion, judgment, temper, and
integrity” of Colonel Wellesley, he con-
snl(]cr,cd him “the most proper for the ser-
vice.”t The generous warmth with which
Lord Wellesley cherished the abilities of his
younger brothers, was, it may be thought,
part of his private rather than public cha-
racter; but it was closely allied with the
active benevolence which formed the main-
spring of his whole career. The cadets of
the service found themselves, for the first
time, the objects of almost parental serutiny.
Talent, zeal, and industry were found to
ensure a better welcome at government-
house, under an administration celebrated
for a singular union of oriental magnifi-
cenee, patrician refinement, and scholastie
lore, than patronage, high birth, or the yet
more congenial aristocracy of talent could
obtain, unsupported by meritorious service.

The disposition made by Lord Wellesley
of the newly-conquered territory, was warmly
approved in England, and excited in India
a general feeling of surprise at its equity
and moderation. The fortress of Vellore,
in the Carnatic, was fitted up for the family
of Tippoo,f and an allowance made for their
support, more liberal than that previously
assigned by him; his chief officers were all
provided for by jaghires or pensions, dis-
pensed with a well-considered munificence,
which furnished a striking contrast to the
parsimonious dealings of their late master.
The affections of the Hindoo population
were conciliated§ by an unlooked-for act of
generosity.  Cham Raj, the pageant-sove-
reigu placed by Hyder on the throne of
Mysoor in 1772, died of smallpox in 1796.
He had been regularly exhibited in public
at the annual feast called the Dussera; but
Tippoo chose to dispense with the cere-
mony of nominating a successor, and caused
the son of Cham Raj, a child of two years
old, to be removed with his great-grand-
mother (a woman of above ninety), his grand-
mother, aud other female relatives, from the

Dhoondea Waugh, a Mahratta, who after serving
under Tippoo, set up for himself as leader of a pre-
datory band, was taken prisoner, and remained in con- |
finement for years in the fortress of Seringapatam.

Amid the general confusion of the assault he managed |
to escape, and soon collected round him a daring
band of freebooters; nor was it until after several
months’ hostilities, that he was at length defeated and

slain in a charge of cavalry led by Col. Wellesley.
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. ancient Hindoo palace to a miserable hovel,
' where they were found by the English
authorities, in 1799, in a state of deep
poverty and humiliation. Their sorrow was
turned into joy and gratitude on being in-
formed that the conquerors had resolved,
not simply to restore them to liberty, but
to place the young prince Kistna Rayj
Oodaveer on the throne* of his fathers,
in their ancient capital of Mysoor, with
a revenue exceeding that of the former
Hindoo kingdom. The English reserved to
themselves, by treaty, the right of inter-
posing with paramount authority, in ‘the
event of any financial or political questions
arising similar to those which had long
distracted the Carnatic; but so far from
employing their unquestioned supremacy to
vest (as had been the case on former occa-
sions) all power and profit in English func-
tionaries, nearly every office, civil and
military, was left to be filled by the natives
themselves. Poornea, the experienced and
trustworthy Hindoo chief minister under
the usurping dynasty, was continued in
office with the decided approbation of the
female guardians of the young rajah. Colo-
nel Wellesley, in all respects, but especially
by judicious abstinence from needless inter-
ference, justified his selection for military
commandant ; while the rectitude and abili-
ties as a linguist, of Colonel (afterwards
Sir Barry) Close, facilitated his satisfactory
fulfilment of the delicate position of politi-
cal resident. The result was, that the
Marquis Wellesley, at the close of his memo-
rable administration, was enabled to declare,
that the actual success of the arrangement
of Mysoor had realised his most sanguine
expectations.

* Literally so, for he was seated on the ancient
ivory throne, which Aurungzebe is said to have ex-
pressly sanctioned his ancestor in using, and which
was found in a lumber-room of the palace after the
._Hir:ge. _'I'hc throne of "I‘ippoo was taken to pieces,
its various parts forming splendid trophies of vic-
tory. The ascent to the musnud was by small silver
steps on each side, its support a tiger, somewhat above
the natural size, in a standing attitude, entirely cov-
ered with plates of pure gold, the eyes and teeth being
represented by jewels of suitable colours. A gilded
pillar supported a canopy fringed with pearls; from
the centre was suspended an image of the Uma,
a bird about the size and shape of a small pigeon,
formed of diamonds, rubies, and emeralds inlaid in
gold, and valued in India at 1,600 guineas. It was
presented to King George I11., as a fitting tribute to
royalty, being generally regarded in the East as the
harbinger of victory and sovereign power to the
favoured individual whom it deigned to overshadow.
By a singular coincidence, a bird of this “august”
species (for such, according to M, d'Herbelot, is the

Of the usurpations of Hyder, besides
those restored to the Hindoo dynasty, to
the value of thirteen lacs of pagodast per
annum ; and after liberal provision for the
families of Hyder and Tippoo, and their
chief officers, a large overplus remained,
the division of which, between the English
and the Nizam, formed the basis of a new
treaty. The former took possession of the
fortress, city, and island of Seringapatam,
the districts of Canara, including all the
sea-coast of Mysoor, together with Coim-
batore and Daramporam, the intervening
country between the territories of the K.
I. Cy. on the Coromandel coast, and on that
of Malabar ; of the forts and posts forming
the heads of the principal passes above the
Ghauts, on the table-land of Mysoor, and
the district of Wynaad. To the Nizam were
siven territories yielding an equal revenue
with those appropriated by the English in
the districts of Gooty, Goorumecondah, and
the tract of country situated along the
military line of Chittledroog, Sera, Nundi-
droog, and Colar, but without the forts,
which it was considered would strengthen,
to a dangerous extent, the position of a
fluctuating and doubtful ally. The course
to be adopted with regard to the Mahrattas,
was a difficult question. The peishwa had
wholly failed in his engagements of co-opera-
tion against Tippoo;§ nevertheless, the gov-
ernor-general deemed it politic to offer him
a share in the conquered territory on cer-
tain conditions, which he looked upon as
necessary preliminaries to the establishment
of a solid and satisfactory peace; especially
the reception of an English subsidiary force,
and an amicable adjustment, according to
English arbitration, of the claim of chout

meaning of its Persian name) built its nest in a grove
of trees, under the shade of which the governor-
general dictated his despatches while resident at
Madras, for the purpose of more conveniently super-
intending the conduct of the war. The natives
hailed with delight the prosperous omen, and re-
ceived the tidings of the capture of Seringapatam as
confirmation of the victorious augury conveyed by
the presence of the Uma, which the marquis was
subsequently empowered to add to his crest, with
the motto, “ Super Indos protulit Tmperium.”

+ A pagoda was then above eight shillings in value.

t The whole of Tippoo's annual revenue was esti-
mated at 50,40,000 pagodas. 'I'o the rajah of Mysoor
was assigned 13,60,000; to Nizam Alj, 5,30,000; to the
E. I. Cy. 5,37,000; for the maintenance of the families
of Hyder and Tippoo (in charge of the British gov-
ernment), 2,40,000; and for Kummur-u-Deen, com-
mander of Tippoo's cavalry, and his family (in charge

of the Nizam), 7,00,00 |lmgmlus.——(]Juﬂ', 1., 177.)
§ Bajee Rao hadactuallyaccepted a heavy bribe from
Tippoo to break faith with the English.—(Duff.)
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SUBSIDIARY SYSTEM PROMOTED BY THE MARQUI

long urged against the Nizam. These sti-
pulations were peremptorily rejected ; and
the reserved districts of Harponelly, Soonda
above the Ghauts, and others, equal in value
to between one-half and two-thirds of the
previously described portions, were thereupon
shared agreeably to the articles of the parti-
tion treaty by the company and Sadut Ali.
A fresh contract was entered into between
the latter parties in October, 1800, by which
the Nizam, who was notoriously in'cnpablc
of defending himself against the Mahrattas,
purchased the services of additional troops
from the company and the promise of their
aid against every aggressor, by the cession
of all acquisitions made from the dominions
of Tippoo, either by the late treaty or that
of Seringapatam in 1792. The proposition
originated with the minister of the Nizam ;
and the governor-general prudently hastened
to close an arrangement which placed the
maintenance of the previously subsidised, as
well as additional troops, on a more satisfac-
tory footing than the irregular payments
of a corrupt government. The countries
thus ceded yielded a revenue of about
1,758,000 pagodas. By this arrangement,
says Mill, ‘““the English acquired a small
territory, with the obligation of defending a
This 1s not correet, inasmuch
as the company were previously bound, hoth
by considerations of honour and policy, to
protect their ally in time of need ; and by

the new compact they did but secure them-

selves against pecuniary loss in so doing.
Circumstances again altered their relative
positions ; or, to speak more plainly, the Bri-
tish power, increasing in an eddying circle,
manifested in this as in other cases, its inhe-
rent tendency to absorb the misgoverned and
unstable principalities which sought and
found in its strength temporary support,
being driven by necessity, or induced by
ignorance or recklessness, to adopt a pro-
cedure caleulated to induce eventually their
political extinction. Lord Wellesley, like
many other great statesmen, anticipated but
very imperfectly the result of his fm'fm.nte
measure. He hoped to find the subsidiary
system instrumental in mitigating the
turbulence of the native states of India,
by controlling the sources of dissension, and
encouraging and enabling minor chiefs to
cultivate the arts of peace in the indepen-
dent enjoyment of their respective rights.*
But, in truth, the first elements of stability
were wanting; and although the personal
* Wellesley Despatehes, iv., 151.

rectitude and ability of a nabob or a rajah,
or their chief ministers, might for a time
hold together the incongruous elements of
Moslem and Hindoo communities, under
an efficient rule, distinet, so far as internal
regulations were concerned, from the para-
mount power, provided that were exercised
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with rigid moderation ; vet the more fre- |

quent consequence of hecoming subsidiary,
was utter indifference on the part of the
sovereign to the progress of a principality
over which he had lost all absolute control ;
and, on the part of his subjects, contempt
and 1ndifference for his diminished power.
The oriental idea of authority is identified
with despotism ; exercised in every variety
of form, from the homeliest phase of patri-
archal sway, to the unapproached grandeur
of Solomon : still the same in essence—the
delegated government of God. In the
Christian world, despite the blinding in-
fluence of our sins and imperfections, we do
recognise, by the light of the Gospel, the
inestimable worth of civil liberty. The law
of the land, apart from the individual who
dispenses it, 1s the basis on which the
nationality and independence of every Eng-
lish and American subject rests securely.
But to Asiatics this is still a hard saying,
and must remain so, until the same source
from which we learned to realise its prac-
tical importance, be laid open to them also.
If British supremacy prove, indeed, the in-
strument for the spiritual and moral rege-
neration of India, thrice blessed will be hoth
giver and receiver. Yet whatever be the re-
sult, the immediate duty 1s clear—to spread
the Gospel as widely as possible, and to en-
deavour by good government, by just laws
honestly administered, by lenient taxation
equitably assessed, to show our native sub-
jects the value of the tree by its fruits.

To return to the affairs of the subsidiary
states. The turbulent and dangerous cha-
racter of Vizier Ali, the rival candidate for
the dominion of Oude, rendered it advisable
to remove his residence from Benares to
Caleutta. The youth remonstrated strongly,
but without effect; and while visiting, by
appointment, the British resident M.
Cherry, he spoke in violent terms of the
hardship of the threatened coercion. The
resident is represented to have behaved with
much moderation ; but Vizier Ali, giving
vent to rage, started up and made a
thrust at him with his sword; an example
which, according to eastern custom, was

immediately followed by his attendants.
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' likewise formed his excuse for not personally

| were one crore, thirty-five lacs, 23,474 rupees.

Mr. Cherry was killed while attempting to es-
cape th rough a window, an'd‘ two of his com-
panions shared his fate. Jhc.assassms, ap-
parently in the hope of heading a general
insurrection, hurried to the 1'051(]0110(:.0[' the
English magistrate,® who, after sending his
wife and family to the terrace on the top of
the house, seized a long spear, took up his
position on a narrow staircase, and d(tlz!yvd
their ascent until a party of horse arrived
and put them to flight. Vizier Ali sought re-
fuge in the woody country of Bhootwal, and
being joined by several disaffected zemin-
dars, soon mustered a considerable preda-
tory force, wherewith to make incursions on
Oude. The parsimonious and timid admin-
istration of Sadut Ali had rendered him
extremely unpopular; and he urgently en-
treated that the English troops might be sta-
tioned immediately about his person to pro-
tect him, if need were, against his own
army, whose faithlessness and disaffection

taking the field, in co-operation with his
allies, against their joint foe. His assistance
was not needed ; Vizier Ali soon found him-
self abandoned by his followers, and was, in
December, 1800, delivered over by the rajah
of Jeypoor to the British government, and
detained prisoner in Fort William.f

At the close of hostilities, the marquis
pressed on the nabob the propriety of dis-
banding a foree which, by his own showing,
was worse than useless. This proposition,
Sadut Ali met by a declaration of his
desire to resign a position which he found
full of weariness and danger. On the fur-
ther development of his views, it appeared
that the abdication in question was to be in
favour of his son; and that in quitting the
musnud, he intended to carry away the trea-
sures and jewels inherited from Asuf-ad-
Dowlah, leaving his successor to pay the
arrears due to the L. I. Cy. and the native |
troops as best he could. These conditions
were promptly rejected, and a long discus-

. - - - O -
sion ensued, which terminated in the dis-
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bandment of all the native troops (their ar-
rears being first wholly liguidated), and the |
substitution of an additional European force |
(numbering, in all, 13,000 men), in return for ‘
which, the provinces of the Doab and Rohil-

* Mr. Davis, father of the present Sir J. Davis.

t Vizier Ali was afterwards removed to Vellore,
where his family were permitted to join him. He |
lied there, a natural death.—(Davis's Memoir.)

{ The gross revenues of the ceded provinces

cundt were conceded in perpetuity. To
adjust the provisional administration of the
ceded districts, three of the civil servants of |
the company were formed into a hoard of
commissioners, and the Hon. Henry Wel-
lesley nominated president and lieutenant-
governor. For this appointment Lord Wel-
lesley was blamed by the directors, as an
evidence of partiality towards his brother,
at the expense of the covenanted officials;
but the propriety of the seclection (as in
the case of Colonel Wellesley in My-
soor) was amply justified by the result;
and the disinterestedness (as far as regarded
pecuniary motives) of both nominee and
nominator was apparent, from no emolu-
ment being attached to the delicate and
onerous office. By the late treaty, the tri-
bute paid to the ruler of Oude by the nabob
of Furruckabad (the Patan chief of a district
in the province of Agra), was transferred to
the B.1.Cy., and an arrangement made—itis
said with his perfect acquiescence—by which
he renounced political power, and was added
to the growing list of titled stipendiaries.
Several of the more powerful zemindars of
the ceded territories resisted the proposed
alterations, and made attempts at indepen-
dence ; especially Bugwunt Sing, who pos-
sessed the forts of Sasnee and Bidjeghur;
the rajah Chutter Sil; and the zemindar
of Cutchoura: but they were all overpowered
in the course of the years 1802—1803, and
compelled to seek safety in flight.

The character of Sadut Ali was strikingly
evinced, in the course of his negotiations with
Lord Wellesley, by an attempt to win from
the latter a sanction similar to that given
to his half-brother (Azuf-ad-Dowlah), for
the plunder of the begum, the grandmother
of both these hopeful rulers. The mtima-
tion was met with merited disdain; but the
old lady, fearing to be exposed to continuous
indirect persecution, took the prudent step
of ensuring the peaceable enjoyment of her
personal property, by offering to constitute
the company her heir—a proposition which
was gladly accepted.

While these changes were taking place in
Oude, others of a similar character were
carried out in Tanjore and Arcot. Rajah
Tuljajee died in 1787, leaving his adopted
son and heir, Serfojee, a boy of ten years
old, under the public tutelage of his half-
brother, Ameer Sing, and the private guar-
dianship of the missionary Swartz. Ameer
Sing succeeded for a time in persnading the
English authorities to treat the udoptibn of
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ASSUMPTION OF TANJORE, CARNA’

his young ward as illegal, and caused him
to !Je confined and cruelly ill-treated. The
vigilance and untiring exertion of Swartz*
occasioned a searching investigation, and
the evidence brought forward on the matter
led both Lord Cornwallis and Sir John Shore
to consider the claims of Serfojec as well
founded. The oppression exercised by
Ameer Sing over the widows of the de-
ceased rajah, was accompanied by general
maladministration. During the first war
with Tippoo, the management of Tanjore
had been assumed by the English, as the
sole means of rendering its resources avail-
able against the common foe; and on the
conclusion of peace, a prolonged discussion
arose concerning the propriety of restoring
to power a ruler whose legal and moral
claims were of so questionable a character.
The supreme government, fearing to incur
the imputation of excessive rigour, replaced
Ameer Sing in his former position: but the
home authorities do not appear to have
approved of this decision ; for in June, 1799,
they expressly instructed Lord Wellesley
not to relinquish possession of the territories
of Arcot and Tanjore, which, in the event
of hostilities with Tippoo, would “of course
come under the company’s management,”
without special orders to that effect. The
measure thus taken for granted by the di-
rectors, had not been adopted by the
governor-general, who deemed the brief and
decisive character of the war a sufficient
argument against a step the immediate
effect of which “would have been a con-
siderable failure of actual resources, at a
period of the utmost exigency.” The
disputed succession afforded a better plea
for the assumption of the powers of govern-

* Swartz spared no pains in implanting religious
principles, or in cultivating the naturally gifted in-
tellect of Serfojee. The death of the good mis-
sionary, in 1798, prevented him from witnessing the
elevation of his grateful pupil, who honoured the me-
mory of his benefactor, less by the erection of a stately
monument, than by his own life and character.
Bishop Heber, in noticing the varied acquirements of
Serfojee, states that he quoted Fourcroy, Lavoisier,
Linneus, and Buffon fluently; that he had “formed
a more accurate judgment of the merits of Shaks-
yeare than that so felicitously expressed by Lord

yron,” and was “much respected by the English
officers in the neighbourhood, as a real good judge
of & horse, and a cool, bold, and deadly shot at a
tiger."—(Journal, ii., 459.)

+ The key to the cypher was found among the
private papers of the sultan. The Lnglish were de-
signated by the term new-comers; the .\Jr.am, by
that of nothingness ;: the Mahrattas, as despicable.
Tn commenting on the disclosure of these proofs .01
faithlessness on the part of the nabobs of the Carnatic,

ment ; Ameer Sing was deposed, and Serfo-
jee proclaimed rajah, in accordance with the
terms of a treaty, dated October, 1799, by
which he renounced all claim to political
authority, in return for nominal rank, and
the more substantial advantage of a pension
of one lac of star pagodas, with a fifth of
the net revenues. The assertion of com-
plete authority over the Carnatic, was expe-
dited by the discovery, consequent on the
capture of Seringapatam, of a secret corre-
spondence, in cypher,{ carried on between
Mohammed Ali and his successor, Omdut-
al-Omrah, with Tippoo, in direct violation of
the treaty of 1792. The conduct of the
nabob during the late war, in withholding
promised supplies, had given rise to suspi-
cions of treachery which were now confirmed.
His failing health induced Lord Wellesley

to delay the contemplated changes; but on
his death, in 1801, the dispositions made by
him in favour of his illegitimate son, Ali
Hoossein, a minor, were set aside in favour
of Azim-ad-Dowlah, a nephew of the late
prince, who made over to the company all
claim to real power, on condition of receiving
the title of nabob, and the allotment of «
fiftth part of the net revenues of the Car-
natic for his support. The company further
engaged to provide for the family of the
preceding nabobs, and to pay their debts.
The government of the extensive and
populous, though dilapidated city of Surat,
was assumed by the company in 1800 ; the
Mogul nahob, or governor, resigning his
claims on receipt of a pension of a lac of
rupees annually, in addition to a fifth of the
net revenues guaranteed to him and his
heirs.

The commencement of the nineteenth

as favouring the views of the directors, Mill exclaims,
« Nothing surely ever was more fortunate than such
a discovery at such a time.” Yet, although plainly
intimating the possibility of fabricating evidence to
prove a lie, he 1s compelled, by his own truthfulness,
to bear witness to the character of the great man,
against whom he appears to be, on the whole,
strangely prejudiced. # With regard to Lord Wel-
lesley,” he adds, “ even his faults bear so little affinity
with this species of vice, and his most conspicuous
virtues are so directly opposed to it, that we may safely
infer it to be as unlikely in his case as in any that
can well be supposed, that he would fabricate evi-
dence to attain the objects of his desire.”—(vi., 312.)

1 The governor-general was disposed to confirm
the will of the late nabob in favour of Ali Hoossein,
despite his illegitimaey ; but his refusal (too l:-m_-
withdrawn) to accept the terms offered on behalf of
the E.1. Cy., occasioned his being altogether set aside.
He was carried off by dysentery in the !hllimvlng.."“ar'
Ameer Sing, the deposed rajah of Tanjore, died a

natural death in the commencement of 1502,
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century, thus strongly marked by the ex- |
tension of British power in India, is no less
memorable for the bold and decisive mea-
sures of foreign policy, planned and executed
by the governor-general. The threatened in- ’
vasion of Zemaun Shah had been no vague
rumour. A letter addressed by the Afghan
leader to Lord Wellesley, peremptorily de-
manding the assistance of the English and
their ally, the nabob vizier, in rescuing
Shah Alum from the hands of the Mah-
rattas, and replacing him on the throne of
his ancestors, had furnished ample reason
for precautionary measures against the re-
newed incursions, under any pretext, of the
dreaded Afghans. To avert this evil, there
appeared no surer method than to form a
close alliance with Persia ; and for this pur-
pose Captain (afterwards Sir John) Malcolm
was dispatched as British envoy, in Decem-
ber, 1799, to the court of Teheran, attended
by a magnificent embassy. The result was
completely successful. Ali Shah engaged
to lay waste the country of the Afghans
if ever they should invade India, and
to permit no Irench force to form a
settlement on any of the shores or islands of
Persia; the English, on their part, pro-
mised to aid the Shah in the event of inva-
sion, whether from France or Cabool. In-
ternal dissension between Zemaun Shah and
his brother Mahmood, rendered the 1ssue of
the above negotiation of less importance as
regarded the Afghans, whose turbulence
found vent in civil war; but the danger of
French encroachments still pressed severely
on the mind of the governor-general. The
injury inflicted by the privateering force of
the Mauritius and Bourbon upon the Indian
coasting trade, and even upon that with
Europe, was of serious magnitude. Between
the commencement of hostilities and the
close of 1800, British property, to the amount
of above two million sterling, had been car-
ried into Port St. Louis. Lord Wellesley
resolved to attempt the extinetion of this
fertile source of disasters, by the conquest
and occupation of the French islands; and,
with this intent, assembled at Trincomalee#
in Ceylon, a force comprising three royal
rr‘f-‘gi“llillt_s :u‘u] 1,000 Bengal volunteers. |
lh(:‘pr(:‘_]cct fell to the ground through the
pertinacity of Admiral Rainier, who declared
that he could not lawfully take part in the

ANGLO-

* Trincomalee was taken from the Dutch in 1796,
T Lord Wellesley, with his usual foresight, gave
rders for the occupation of Perim, a small island in
the straits of Bab-el-Mandeb, the possession of which

INDIAN ARMY JOIN BRITISH IN INDIA—I180I.

proposed expedition, without the express
sanction of the king. The favourable oppor-
tunity was lost; and French privateers con-
tinued, during several subsequent years, to
harass and plunder the commercial naviga-
tion of the ecastern seas. The troops as-
sembled by the zeal of Lord Wellesley, found
useful and honourable employ. IHe had
repeatedly suggested to the home govern-
ment the propriety of dispatching an Indian
armament for the reinforcement of the
British force in Egypt; and on the receipt
of orders to that effect in 1801, 1,600 native
infantry were added to the body already
raised, and forwarded to Mocha as fast
as transports could be provided for them.+
Sir David Baird had command of the land
troops ; Rear-admiral Blankett, of a squad-
ron of the company’s cruisers, sent on with
a small detachment as an advance guard,
but Sir Home Popham was dispatched from
England to direct the raval part of the ex-
pedition. The struggle was well nigh ended
before their arrival, by the defeat of the
French in Egypt on the 21st of March, with
the loss to the victors of their brave leader,
Sir Ralph Abercromby. General Baird
marched from Suez to Rosetta, at the head
of 7,000 men, in the hope of contributing
to the capture of Alexandria; but the treaty
of surrender was already in progress; and
with its ratification, hostilities were brought
to a close. The striking demonstration of
the power of England, made by bringing
together numerous and effective arma-
ments from the east and west, to fight her
battles upon the banks of the Nile, was
doubtless calculated to “enhance her re-
nown, and confirm her moral as well as
political strength.” Still, it is well added by
Mill, that had the Anglo-Indian army been
permitted to accomplish the purpose for
which it was first designed by the governor-
general, the conquest of the Mauritius and
Bourbon would have been a more sub-
stantial though less brilliant service.

Upon the restoration of Pondicherry (in
accordance with the treaty of Amiens), mea-
sures were taken by Buonaparte which
amply proved the wisdom of the energetic
precautions of the Marquis Wellesley against
attempts for the revival of French influence
in India. Seven general, and a proportionate
number of inferior officers, were sent from
would have effectually shutupthe F'rench forces in the

Red Sea, even had they passed through Egypt. The
Earl of Elgin, then ambassador to the Porte, effec-

tively co-operated with the marquis in various ways, |
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France with 1,400 regular troops, and
£100,000 in specie. The renewal of war
i Burope afforded a reason for the reoccu-
pation of Pondicherry in 1803, and enabled
the I8, 1. Cy. to direct undivided attention to
the complicated hostilities then carried on
with the Mahrattas, the only Indian people
possessing in themselves resources to main-
tain unaided a long contest. The most
vulnerable part of the British frontier lay
contiguous to the country possessed by
Sindia. The death of Nana Furnavees, in
1800, left this enterprising chief no formi-
dable rival at the court of Poona; and
Bajee Rao the peishwa, appeared little
less entirely under his control than the
pageant-emperor of Delhi. In the event,
therefore, of a struggle for supremacy,
arising out of the numerous causes of quar-
rel abounding on both sides, the Mahratta
confederacy, including the rajah of Berar,
the representative of the Holcar family in
Malwa, and the Guicowar of Guzerat, with
other leaders of minor rank, led by Sindia
and the peishwa, and aided by the skill
and science of IFrench officers, could collect
a force against their European rivals which it
would require a costly sacrifice of blood and
treasure to repel. The best mode of avert-
g this dangerous possibility appeared to
be the formation of a strict alliance with one,
at least, if mot with the whole of the
Mahratta chiefs. The error of IHastings, in
sanctioning the aggressions of Sindia in
Hindoostan Proper, had furnished expe-
rience which strengthened the convictions of
~ Lord Wellesley with regard to the policy of

' forming connexions with native powers, only
on conditions calculated to secure an ascen-
dancy, more or less direct, in their councils.
- Perfect neutrality amid scenes of foreign
~and domestic warfare, venality, extortion,
and bloodshed, could scarcely have been
recommended by considerations of duty or
of policy ; and such a course, even supposing
it to have been practicable, must have in-
volved the infraction of old as well as
recent treaties, offensive and defensive,
with the Nizam and others. As for Lord
Wellesley, his clear and statesmanlike view
of the case, formed after careful examination
of the actual state of DBritish power in
India, was never marred by doubt or hesi-
tation in the moment of action. Fettered
by the parliamentary denunciation against
the extension, under any circumstances,
of the Anglo-Indian empire, yet, convinced
that its foundations must be largely in-
3B

creased before a state of secure and tranquil | |

authm:ity could be reasonably expected, he
was (Jit_('u driven to adduce secondary causes
to justify measures, which might have been
s.uﬂiciuutl_v vindicated on the score of poli- |
tical necessity, since they involved no moral |
wrong.  The wretchedness of the people of
the Carnatic and Oude, abundantly excuse
the steps taken to place them under the im-
mediate superintendence of the company,
in preference to employing, or rather con-
tinuing to employ, the military force of
England in riveting the chains of a foreign
despotism, founded on usurpation of the
worst kind, that of sworn servants betraying
their master in the hour of weakness. There
were no lawful heirs to these states; or, if
there were, they should have been searched
for in the ancient records of the Hindoos :
the Mohammedans were all intruders in the
first instance, and the existing leaders of
every denomination, with few exceptions,
rebellious subjects. Why, each one of the
African chiefs, whom English colonists and
Dutch boors have so unserupulously exiled
from their native territories, had more of
hereditary right and constitutional privilege
on his side than all the Indo-Mohammedan
dynasties put together. The case of the
Hindoos is widely different; but in excuse, or
rather in justification, of the conduct of the
company, it may be urged that they found
the great majority of the native inhabitants
of India, under Moslem rulers, a con-
quered and much-oppressed people; and
that, if England do her duty as a Christian
state, they will, and—with all her errors and
shortcomings, it may be added, they have
materially benefited by the change.

The Rajpoot states were the only ones
which, although brought in collision with
the Mogul empire, were never wholly ab-
sorbed in it. The Mahratta confederation
had been founded on the ruins of the vast
dominion won by the strong arm of Aurung-
zebe, and lost through persecuting bigotry
and the exactions consequent on unceasing
war. Sevajee and Bajec Rao (the first usurp-
ing peishwa, or prime minister) built up Mah-
ratta power. Madhoo Rao I. arrested its
dissolution; but Mahadajee Sindia, prompted
by overweening ambition, enlarged his
chiefdom until its overgrown dimensions
exceeded in extent the whole remainder of
the Mahratta empire, and threatened speedily
to destroy the degree of independence still
existing in Rajpootana. Dowlut Rao pos-
sessed equal ambition and energy with his |

i
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predecessor, but far less
ration. )
of the experienced and unprejudiced lttmlt‘l'
of the European trained bands, De Boigne,
and the accession to authority of a French
leader named Perron, with strong national
feelings, gave a decidedly anti-Iinglish bias
to the counsels of Dowlut Rao. The peishwa

Bajee Rao, knew this, and had, in the time

of Sir John Shore, courted the protection

of the supreme government, as a means of
securing to himself some degree of authority.

The danger of provoking war, by giving

offence to Sindia, induced the refusal of

this request. The accession to office of

Lord Wellesley was attended with a reversal

of the policy of both parties. Perceiving

the great advantage to be derived from the
permanent settlement of a subsidiary force
at Poona, the governor-general formally
offered the services of a body of the com-
pany’s troops, for the protection of the
peishwa and the revival of the energies of
his government. The very circumstance of
| the boon, once urgently sought, being now
| pressed on his acceptance, would have sufficed
to ensure its rejection by so capricious and
distrustful a person as Bajee Rao: but other
reasons—especially the meditated departure
of Sindia, to superintend his own disaffected
troops in Hindoostan, and the impending
war between Tippoo and the English—were
not wanting to confirm his determination.
The conquest of Mysoor again changed the
aspect of affairs; but Bajee Rao, in ae-
cordance with the sagacious counsels of
Nana Furnavees,* even after the death of
the wary minister, continued to reject the
alliance pressed on him by the English,
until an unexpected chain of events com-
pelled him to look to them exclusively for
help and protection.

Sinp1a axp Horcar.—A new actor had
recently come forward on the stage of
Mahratta politics, whose progress seemed
likely to diminish the authority of Sindia,
and enable Bajee Rao to exercise unques-
tioned supremacy at Poona. Of these
anticipated results only the former was
realised ; the predatory chief in question,
Jeswunt Rao Holcar, proving strong enough
not only to harass but to defeat the

" I\';mn Fumavees was imprisoned by Sindia ;
but being released in 1798, on payment of ten lacs of
rupees, he accepted office under Bajee Rao.

T When the power of Ahalya Bye became es-
tablished, the beautiful but wicked wife of Ragoba

sent a female attendant to bring her an account of

the personal appearance of a princess so highly cele-

judgment and mode- | troops of Rao
The retirement to Burope, in 1796, | his capital. The founders of the Sindia and

Sindia, and drive Bajee Rao from

Holear families were, it will be remembered,
men of humble origin ; they became distin-
guished as leaders of Pindarries, a class
of the lowest freebooters who had from early
times infested the Deccan. Bajee Rao 1.,
though always ready to avail himself of their
services for the invasion of Mogul provinees,
took care to exclude such dangerous subjects
from Maharashtra, by habitually stationing
them in Malwa, where the power of the two
leaders became paramonnt. The progress
and history of Mahadajee Sindia has been
incidentally told in previous pages; but of
Mulhar Rao Holear little mention has been
made since the battle of Paniput, in 1760,
when he was named as one of the few
leaders who escaped the carnage of that day.
Having retreated into Central India, he em-
ployed himself, during the remaining years
of his life, in settling and consolidating his
possessions in Malwa and the Deccan. Ie
had established considerable influence in
Jeypoor, and obtained from the rajah an
annual tribute of three lacs and a-half of
rupees. A considerable part of the province
of Candeish had been allotted to him for
the maintenance of his troops ; heside which,
several villages were granted, by the peishwa
and the Nizam, to the females of his family.
The only lineal descendant of Mulhar Rao,
a vicious youth of unsound mind, succeeded
his grandfather in 1766, but survived him
only nine months. IHis mother Ahalya
(pronounced Alea) Bye, a singularly gifted
woman, declared her intention, as the sole
representative of both the deceased rulers,
to select a successor. Ragobat attempted
to interfere ; but Madhoo Rao, with charac-
teristic chivalry, directed his uncle to desist
from further opposition to the projects of a
person whose right and ability to manage
affairs were alike indisputable. With the
entire approbation of the leading military
commanders in the army of her deceased
relatives, Ahalya Bye took the reins of power
in her own hands. The Mohammedan cus-
tom of rigid seclusion had happily not been
imitated by Mahratta females; Ahalya Bye
had therefore no conventional impediment
of any kind to check the free exercise of
brated, and so universally beloved. The deseription
of a small slight woman, with irregular features, but
“a 13[4:1\'01;[)’ light on her countenance,” set the fair
intrigante at rest as to any rivalry in the attractions
by which she set most store; and, without noticing
the last part of the description, Anundee Bye re-
marked, “ But she is not handsome, you say.”




her physical or mental powers.  Still there
were duties inconsistent with a woman’s
sphere of action ; and to ensure their fulfil-
ment, she formally adopted as her son,* and
elected as commander-in-chief, Tookajee Hol-
car, the leader of the household troops ; of the
same tribe, but no otherwise related to Mullar
Rao. Like our great Elizabeth, the fitness of
her ministers proved the Judgment of the se-
lector. The conduct of Tookajee, during a
period of above thirty years, justified the
confidence reposed in him. Ahalya Bye
died, aged sixty, worn out with public cares
and fatigues, aggravated by domestic sor-
rows ; but without having had, during, that
long interval, a single misunderstanding with
her brave and honest coadjutor. The his-
tory of the life of this extraordinary woman,
given by Sir John Malcolm, affords evidence
of the habitual exercise of the loftiest virtues;
and it is difficult to say, whether manly
resolve or feminine gentleness predomi-
nated, so marvellously were they blended in
her character. The utter absence of vanity,
whether as a queen or a woman ;t the fear-
less and strictly conscientious exercise of
despotic power, combined with the most

- unaffected humility and the deepest sym-

-Ahalya Bye at twenty; yet—despite the

pathy for suffering; learning without pe-
dantry, cheerfuluess without levity, im-

maculate rectitode with perfect charity and

' tolerance ;—these and other singular combi-

nations would almost tempt one to regard

' Ahalya Bye as too faultless for fallen and

sinful humanity, but for the few draw-
backs entailed by her rigid adherence to
almost every portion of the modern Brahmin-

AIIALYA BYE.—SUTTEE OF HER DA UGHTER, MUCHTA BYE. 391

but had lived to protect her children and
establish the independence of the IHolear
principality.  Now, flinging herself at the
feet of Muchta Bye, she besonght her child,
by every argument a false creed could sanc-
tion, to renounce her purpose. The reply
of the daughter was affectionate but de.
cided. “You are old, mother,” she said,
“and a few years will end your pious life.
My only child and hushand are gone, and
when you follow, life I feel will be lnsup-
portable ; but the opportunity of termi-
nating it with honour will then have passed.”
Every effort, short of coercion, was vainly
practised to prevent the intended  sutfee 1
but the unfaltering resolve of the devoted
widow remained unshaken, and her wretched
parent accompanied the procession, with
forced composure, to the funeral pyre: but
when the first vivid burst of flame told of
the actual conswmmation of the sacrifice,
self-command was lost in anguish; the
agonising shrieks of their beioved ruler
mingled with the exulting shouts of the
immense multitude; and excited almost to
madness, the aged princess gnawed the hands
she could not liberate from the two Brah-
mins, who with difficulty held her back
from rushing to die with her child. After
three days spent in fasting and speechless
grief, Ahalya Bye recovered her equanimity
so far as to resume ler laborious round
of daily occupatious, including four hours
spent in receiving ambassadors, hearing pe-
titions or complaints, and transacting other
business in full durbar or court; and she

ical creed, in which, happily, persecution has
still no part, though self-inflicted austerities
and superstitious observances have gained a
most undue prominence. The declining
age of the princess was saddened by the reso-
lution taken by her only surviving child,
Muchta Bye, of self-immolation on the grave
of her hushand. The battle-field had widowed

modern heresy of the Hindoos, that the
voluntary saerifice of life, on the part of the
bereaved survivor, ensures immediate re-
union between those whom death has di-
vided, and their mutual entrance into the |
highest heaven, she had not been tempted
by this lying doctrine to commit suicide,

* Although Tookajee always addressed her by the
name of “mother,” he was considerably her senior. |
T A Brahmin wrote a book in her praise. Ahalya
Bye, after patiently hearing it read, remarked,

that she was * a weak, sinful woman, not deserving

seemed to find solace in erecting a beautiful
monument to the memory of those she
lamented, and in inecreasing the already
large proportion of the revenues devoted to
religious purposes and public works. Her
charity was not bounded by the limits of
the principality : it began at home (for she
fed her own poor daily), but it extended to
far-distant lands. The pilgrim journeying
to Juggernaut in Cuttack, in the far north
amid the snowy peaks of the Himalaya, or
south almost to Cape Comorin, found cause
to bless the sympathy for individual suffer-
ing, as well as the reverence for holy shrines,
manifested by Ahalya Bye with royal mu-
nificence; while the strange traveller, with-

out claimn of creed or country, was arrested

such fine encomiums,” directed the book to be
thrown into the Nerbudda, which flowed beneath
her palace window, and took no farther notice of the
author.—(Malcolm’s Central India, i., 193.)

i Suttee or sati, denotes the completed sacrifice.
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judgment of the most impartial inquirer,

‘was mentioned, except the large sums be-

on his weary, dusty road, by water-bearers |
stationed at intervals to supply the wants of
the passer-by; and the very oxen near her
dwelling  at Mhysir, were refreshed 1))’
cooling draughts brought by the domestic
servants of the compassionate princess.

The beasts of the field, the birds of the
air, the fishes of the sea, had all their
allotted share of her bounty; and however
puerile some of her minor arrangements
may sound to European ears, or fanatical
the habits of a sovereign who never dis-
carded the plain white weeds of Hindoo
widowhood, or touched animal food; yet,
probably, these very traits of character con-
spired to add to the reputation her govern-
ment retains in Malwa as the best ever
known, the personal reverence paid to her
memory as more than a saint, as an Avatar,
or incarnation of the Deity.

A blessing rested on the efforts of Ahalya
Bye, despite the fettering power of hea-
then darkness. Indore grew, beneath her
sway, from a village to a wealthy city;
bankers, merchants, farmers, and peasants,
all throve beneath her vigilant and foster-
ing care. Malcolm states, that he made
inquiries among all ranks and classes in the
countries she had governed, and could elicit
no information calculated to detract, in the

from the effect of the eulogiums, or rather
blessings, poured forth whenever her name

stowed on Brahmins, and the expenditure
of state funds in the erection and mainte-
nance of public works on foreign soil.  The
remarks made by one of her chief min-
isters, when commenting on what Sir John
considered misdirected bounty, afford a
suggestive text alike to eastern and western
potentates. He asked, “ whether Ahalya
Bye, by spending double the money on an
army that she did in charity and good
works, could have preserved her country
for above thirty years in a state of pro-
found peace, while she rendered her sub-
jects happy and herself adored? No person
doubts the sincerity of her piety; but if
she had merely possessed worldly wisdom,
she could have devised no means so admi-
rably calculated to effect the object. Among
the princes of her own nation, it would have
been looked upon as sacrilege to have become
Ler enemy, or, indeed, not to have defended
her against any hostile attempt. She was
considered by all in the same light. The
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Nizam of the Deccan and Tippoo Sultan

granted her the same respect as the peishwa,

and Mohammedans joined with Hindoos in |

prayers for her long life and prosperity.”’#
After the death of Ahalya Bye, in 1795,
the sole authority centred 1n Tookajee

Holear, who survived his excellent mistress |

about two years.
sons, Casee and Mulhar Rao.
was of weak intellect and deformed person ;
the younger, able and active. Ahalya Bye
and Tookajee had hoped that the example
of their unanimity would be followed by
the brothers in the joint exercise of autho-
rity, but neither of the princes were capable
of the self-denial and lofty rectitude neces-
sary for such a course; and preparations for
a war of succession were at once commenced,
but abruptly terminated by the treacherous
interference of Dowlut Rao Sindia, who
having inveigled Mulhar Rao to his camp,
caused him to be shot through the head;
and retaining possession of Casee Rao, not
only compelled him to pay the heavy price
stipulated for the murder of his brother,
but reduced him to the condition of a mere
tool. An avenger arosec unexpectedly to
scourge the unprineipled ambition of Sindia.
Two illegitimate sons of [Holear, Jeswunt
Rao and Etojee, survived their father; the
latter was seized and imprisoned by Sindia
and Bajee Rao. He escaped and joined a
body of freebooters; but being recaptured,
was trampled to death by an elephant in
the city of Poona. Jeswunt Rao sought
refuge at Nagpoor with Ragojee Bhonslay
of Berar. His confidence was betrayed;
and through the intrigues of Sindia and
the peishwa, he also was made a captive,
but succeeded in eluding his guard, and
reaching Candeish about a year and a-half
after the death of Mulhar Rao. Resolved to
make an effort to rescue the possessions of
his family from the hands of Sindia, he
took the name of assertor of the rights of
Kundee Rao, the infant son of Mulhar
Rao, then a prisoner at Poona, and assem-
bled a heterogencous force of Pindarries,
Bheels, Afghans, Mahrattas, and Rajpoots.
In 1798, he joined his fortunes with those
of Amecer Khan, a Mohammedan adven-
turer, less daring and reckless, but quite as
unprincipled as himself, on whom he sub-
sequently conferred the title of nabob. A
terrible series of hostilities ensued between
Sindia and Holear. From the appearance
of the latter chief, in 1800, the natives of
Central India date the commencement of
* Malcolm’s Central India 189.

y Loy

e left two legitimate |
The elder |
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an epoch of cighteen years’ duration, which
they emphatically designate ““the time of
trouble.” The trained battalions of Sindia
were defeated, and his capital, Oojein, and
other chief places, captured and rifled by
Holear and Ameer Khan, with a barbarity
which was horribly revenged on the wretched
inhabitants of Indore by the instrumentality
of Sirjee Rao Ghatkay, the father-in-law of
Sindia, and the prompter as well as exe-
cutor of his worst actions. Between four
and five thousand persons are said to
have perished by the sword, or under tor-
tures inflicted by the ferocious Pindarries,
for the express gratification of their dia-
bolical leader; and the wells within the
limits of Indore were actually choked up
by the bodies of females, who had rushed
on death to avoid the lust and cruelty which
reigned unchecked for a period of fifteen
days, and ended only with the slaughter or
flight of almost every citizen, and the demo-
lition of every house, Jeswunt Rao, with
Indore, lost his only means of giving regular
pay to his soldiers.  Without attempting

- disguise, he told them the actual state of
~ the case, and bade such as chose follow his
fortunes in quest of plunder.

The invita-
tion was accepted with acclamation, and
Jeswunt Rao became avowedly the leader
of an army of freehooters, whose worst licen-
tiousness he directed rather than curbed,
and whose turbulence he bent to his will
by the habitual display of the dauntless
courage which formed the distinguishing
characteristic of his family, and by the coarse
humour and inimitable cajolery peculiar to
kimself.* His declared object was the restora-
tion of Mahratta supremacy over India by a
revival of the predatory system of Sevajee;
but of this there was never any reasonable
prospect. Jeswunt Rao was not the man to
found a state even on the most precarious
basis; he was “terrible as a destroyer,” but
powerless to erect or consolidate dominion.
The marauding force increased daily.
Sindia renounced the cause of Casee Rao
(who became thenceforth a dependent on
* The following anecdote indicates that, with all his
vices, Jeswunt Rao was not what a modern writer de-
signates a sham. At an early period of his eareer, the
accidental bursting of a matchlock deprived him of the
sight of an eye. When told of the irreparable injury
inflicted, he exclaimed, in allusion to the Indian pro-
verb that one-eyed people are always wicked—“ I was
had enough before, but now I shall be the very Gooroo
(high-priest) of rogues.” He had no religious seru-
ples, but would plunder temples and private dwellings
with equal indifference. The madness in which his ca-

his half—brothcr), and would have willingly '
purchased peace by the surrender of the | |
mfant Kundee Rao; but Holear knew his |
strength, and had, besides, gone too far to
recede with safety. A desperate contest |
took place between the two chiefs near |
Poona, in October, 1802, when the per- |
sonal exertions of Jeswunt Rao, who had
stgkcd his all on the event, with the deter-
mination of not surviving defeat, resulted
in a complete victory. By turning his own
guns on the ungovernable Patans of Ameer
Khan, who was quite unable to check their
violence, Holcar saved the city from indis-
criminate pillage; not, however, from any
motive of justice or compassion, but only
that he might be enabled to plunder it
systematically and at leisure, for the pay-
ment of the arrears of his troops and the
replenishment of his private coffers.  After
committing every deseription of extortion,
and giving, in his own person, an example of
hard-drinking, by unrestrained indulgence
in_his favourite liquors, cherry and rasp-
berry brandy, he left Amrut Rao (Ragoba’s
adopted son) in charge of the government,
and marched off to pursue his marauding
avocations in Central India.

The triumph of Holear completely changed
the relative position of Bajee Rao and the
English.  Surrounded by a select body of
troops, the peishwa waited the result of the
contest ; and when it was decided, fled from
Poona, leaving with the British resident a
draft treaty for the company, requesting
the permanent establishment of a subsi-
diary force within his dominions, and prof-
fering in return the assignment of a certain
amount of territory, and a pledge to hold
no intercourse with other states, except in
concert with the English. The treaty of
Bassein, arranged on this basis, was con-
cluded in 1802. It entailed the subjection
of the claims of the peishwa on the Nizam,
and on Anund Rao Guicowar, the chief
of Baroda in Guzerat, with whom the
English had recently become closely allied ;
their interference having been solicited in

+ Ameer Khan had little personal courage. After
the battle of Poona he came to Jeswunt Rao, who
was tying up his wounds, and boasted of good for-
tune in escaping unhurt; “ for, see!” he said, point-
ing to the feather mounted in silver, which adorned
his horse’s head, *“ my khuljee has been hroken by a
cannon-ball.” “ Well, you are a fortunate fellow,”
retorted the Mahratta, with a burst of incredulous
laughter; “for I observe the shot has left the ears
of your steed uninjured, though the wounded or-
nament stood betwixt them.” — (Central India,

reer ended, is regarded as the punishment of sacrilege. | i., 229.)



|
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" favour of the legitimate heir in a case of
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disputed succession. These concessions in-

' volved a heavy sacrifice of political power;

but they were slight compared with those
which would have been exacted by Sindia

' or Holear; and Bajee Rao could scarcely

fail to fall into the hands of one or other
of these leaders, if not upheld by extranecous
support.  Like his father, he had few per-
sonal friends, and so little deserving the
name of a party at Poona, that the governor-
general, on discovering his unpopularity, ap-
pears to have doubted what course to pursue
. with regard to his reinstatement on the
musnud. The treaty had been entered
upon in the belief that the majority of the
jaghiredars, and the great mass of the
nation, would co-operate with the Inglish

for the restoration of the peishwa.

But if

his weakness or wickedness had thoroughly
aliecnated their confidence, the case was dif-
ferent ; and Lord Wellesley plainly declared,
that  justice and wisdom would forbid any
attempt to impose upon the Mahrattas a
ruler whose restoration to authority was
adverse to every class of his subjects.”

In the absence of any general manifesta-
tion of disaffection, Bajee Rao was escorted
by an English force to the capital from
whence he had fled with so little ceremony.
Amrut Rao retired on learning his approach,
and eventually became a state pensioner, re-
sident at Benares. Tranquillity seemed
restored. There could be no doubt that
Holcar, Sindia, and Ragojee Bhonslay of
| Berar, would all feel mortified by a treaty
which gave the English that very ascen-
dancy in the councils of Poona they, or at
least Sindia and Holear, individually coveted.
Still Lord Wellesley considerved that their
mutual deep-rooted enmity would prevent
a coalition for so desperate an object as
war with the English. Perhaps the result
would have realised these anticipations had
Bajee Rao been true to his engagements ;
instead of which, he behaved with accus-
tomed duplicity, and corresponded with both
Sindia and Ragojee Bhonslay, to whom he
represented his recent voluntary agreeraent
as wholly compulsory, and endeavoured to
incite them to hostilities, trusting to the
chapter of accidents for the improvement
of his own position.  Yet, when the moment

* The day after the taking of Poona, Col. Close,
the British resident, was sent for by Holcar, whom
he found in a small tent unklv-dcvﬁ in mud, with a
spear wound in the body and a sabre-cut in the

head ; which last he had received from o

v artillery-

for action came, his schemes were lost 1n
timidity and indecision: he would not trust
others ; he could not trust himself. i

Holear had heretofore expressly disavowed
any unfriendly feeling towards the English ;%
and they would willingly have mediated
between him and the peishwa, had the ran-
corous animosity of the latter suflered '
them to enter upon the negotiation. Sindia |
courted the co-operation of Holcar through |
the instrumentality of Ragojee Bhonslay, ;
and went so far as to surrender the child |
Kundee Rao, and acknowledge Mulhar
Rao as the representative of the Holcar |
family, surrendering to him their territories
in Malwa, and recognising his various claims
throughout Hindoostan.  Despite these con-
cessions, the robber-chief hung back; and
when pressed by the confederates to unite |
his army with theirs in the Deccan, with a
view to making war upon the E. I. Cy., he
asked who was to take care of Northern
India? and withdrew to pillage the de-
fenceless provinces of friend and foe.

The gathering storm did not escape the
observation of the governor-general. IHos-
tile preparations were commenced in every
part of British India, and a declaration of his
intentions demanded from Sindia ; who re-
plied curtly, yet candidly, that he could not
give any until after an approaching interview
with the Bhonslay ; but would then inform
the resident ““whether it would be peace or
war.”  This pledge was not redeemed ; the
meeting took place, and was followed by
vague and general professions of good-will to
the British government, mingled with com-
plaints against the peishwa for an undue
assumption of authority in signing the treaty
of Bassein. The ecivil expressions of the
chiefs 1ll accorded with the hostile and
menacing attitude occupied by their armies
on the frontiers of Oude. Major-general
Wellesley, to whom his brother had dele-
gated full powers, political as well as mili-
tary, either for negotiation or war, brought
matters to an issue with characteristic
frankness, by proposing as a test of the
amicable intentions of the two chiefs, that
they should respectively withdraw their
forces, pledging himself to do the same on
the part of the English. The offer being
rejected, the DBritish resident was with- |

man while leading a charge on the guns of the
enemy. He expressed a strong wish to be on good
terms with the English, and, with reluctance, per-
mitted the withdrawal of the resident, after which
the worst outragés were committed at Poona, |
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drawn, and preparations made on both sides
for an appeal to arms.

Manrarra War.—The governor-general
well knew that the finances of his employers
were in no condition to endure the drain of
protracted warfare, and he resolved to follow
out the policy so brilliantly successful in the
Mysoor campaign, of bringing the whole
force of British India to bear on the enemy ;
not, however, by concentration on a single

~ point, but by attacking their territories in

every quarter at the same time.
The army, by his exertions, was raised to
nearly 50,000 men. The troops in the

- Deccan and Guzerat numbered 35,600, of

whom 16,850 formed the advanced force
under General Wellesley; in Hindoostan,
10,500 men were under the command of
General (afterwards Lord) Lake ; 3,500 were
assembled at Allahabad to act on the side
of Bundeleund; and 5,216 were destined
for the invasion of Cuttack. The armies

- of Sindia and Ragojee were estimated at

about 100,000 men, of whom halt were
cavalry; and 30,000 regular infantry and
cavalry, commanded by Europeans, chiefly
T'rench, under M. Perron, the successor of
De Boigne. Himmut Bahadur, an influ-
ential Mahratta chief of Bundelcund,®
sided with the English against the rajah,
Shumsheer Bahadur. The campaign opened
by the conquest, or rather occupation, of
Ahmednuggur, the ancient capital of the
Ahmed Shahi dynasty, on the Ist of
August, 1803. The army under Major-
general Wellesley, by whom 1t was accom-
plished, after much marching and counter-
marching, fought the famous battle of
Assaye, so named from a fortified village
(near the junction of the Kailna and Juah
rivers, 261 miles north-west of Hydrabad),
before which the confederates had encamped
21st August, 1803. They numbered 50,000
men, and were supported by above a hundred
pieces of artillery. The British counted but
4,500 men; and their leader beheld with
anxiety the strength of the foe, even though,
on finding the Mahrattas at length drawn up
in battle array, the exulting remark re-echoed
through the ranks—* They cannot escape
us.”  While the British lines were forming,
the Mahrattas opened a murderous can-

* The ancient Hindoo dynasty of Bundeleund, of
which Chutter Sil was the last efficient representa-
tive, was overwhelmed by the Mahrattas about 1786.

nonade. The 74th regiment sustained heavy
loss, and were charged by a body of the
encmy’s horse. The 19th light dragoons
drew only 360 sabres, but they received the
order for a counter-charge with a glad
huzza; and being manfully seconded by
native cavalry, passed through the broken
but undismayed 74th amid the cheers of
their wonnded comrades, cut in, routed the
opposing horse, and dashed on at the in-
fantry and guns. The troops of the line
pressed on after them, and drove the enemy
mto the Juah at the point of the bayonet.
The victory was complete, but dearly pur-
chased ; for one-third of the conquerors lay
dead or wounded at the close of this san-
guinary action. Of the Mahrattas, 1,200
were slain; the bodies of the fallen were scat-
tered around in dense masses, and ninety-
eight pieces of cannon remained on the field.
Ragojee Bhonslay fled at an early period of
the action, and Sindia soon followed his
example. The cavalry evinced little incli-
nation to out-stay their masters; but the
infantry behaved with greater steadiness;
the artillerymen stood to the last, and
eight of the trained battalions of De
Boigne manifested unflinching determina-
tion. When resistance became hopeless,
the majority surrendered.

In the meantime, sucecess still more bril-
liant in its results had attended the army
under Lake, who was himgelf the very
model of a popular commander, as brave
and collected in the front of the battle as
in a council of his own officers. The de-
struction of Sindia’s force under Perron,
the capture of Agra and Delhi, with the
person of the emperor—these were the
leading objects to which he was to direct
operations ; and they were all so per-
fectly fulfilled, that the governor-general
declared, his most sanguine expectations
having been realised, he was unexpectedly
called on to furnish fresh instructions.
General Lake first came in sight of the
enemy’s cavalry at Coel, near the fort of
Alighur, whither they retired after a slight
skirmish, Alighur, the ordinary residence
of M. Perron, was, in his absence, bravely
defended by the governor, M. Pedrons. It
was well garrisoned, and surrounded by a

+ The fidelity of these mercenary troops is ren-
dered more remarkable by the fact, that a politie
proclamation, issued by the governor-general at the

Shumsheer Bahadur was an illegitimate descendant | commencement of the war, had had the effect of in-

of the first peishwa, Bajee Rao. Himmut Bahadur,
by a not unfrequent combination, was a gosaen

(religious devotee) and a soldier of fortune.—(Duff) :

ducing the British part of the Turopean officers to
quit the service of Sindia, on condition of the con-
tinuance of the pay previously received from him.
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deep and wide moat, traversed by a narrow
causeway, which formed the sole entrance
to the fort, and for which, by some strange
neglect, a drawbridge had not been sub-
stituted. One of the British officers who
had come over from the service of Sindia,
offered to head an attack on the gateway.
The daring enterprise was carried out. Of
four gates, the first was blown open by
troops exposed to a heavy fire; the second
casily forced ; the third entered with a mass
of fugitives; but the fourth, which opened
immediately into the body of the place,
resisted even the application of a 12-pounder.
In this extremity, a party of grenadiers, led
by Major M‘Leod, pushed through the
wicket and mounted the ramparts. Oppo-
sition soon ceased, and the British found
themselves masters of the fortress, with the
loss of 278 men killed and wounded, in-
cluding seventeen European officers.  Of

' the garrison, about 2,000 perished ; many

of whom were drowned in the ditch while
attempting to escape.

From Alighur, Lake marched to the
north-westward, and on the 11th of Septem-
ber, encamped within six miles of Delhi.
The tents were scarcely fixed, when the
enemy appeared in front. Perron had just
quitted the service of Sindia, In conse-
quence of the well-founded jealousy mani-
fested towards him by that chief and the
leading native officers. M. Bourquin, the
second 1n command, took his place; and on
learning the advance of the British against
Delhi, crossed the Jumna with twelve
battalions of regular infantry, and 5,000
cavalry, for the purpose of attacking Gen-
eral Lake, whose force, after providing for
the safety of his baggage, amounted to about
4,500 men. Bourquin took up a position
on rising ground, with swamps on either
side, defended in front by seventy pieces of
cannon, half-buried amid long grass. Irom
thissecure station he was withdrawn by afeint,
which, with less highly disciplined troops,
would have been very hazardous. Lake
advanced to reconnoitre, and after having a
horse shot under him, fell back with the
cavalry in regular order upon the infantry,
who had been meanwhile ordered to ad-
vance. The enemy followed the retreating
cavalry, until the latter, opening from the
centre, made way for the foot to advance
to the front. Perceiving the trap into which
he had fallen, Bourquin halted, and com-
menced a deadly fire of grape, round, and
canister ; amidst which the British troops
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moved on without returning a shot until
within one hundred yards of the foe; they
then fired a volley, and charged with the
bayonet. Sindia’s infantry, unequal to a
hand-in-hand encounter, abandoned their
guns, fled, and were pursued as far as the
banks of the Jumna, in which river numbers
perished. The total loss of the Mahrattas
was estimated at 3,000 ; that of the British
at 585, including fifteen European officers.
After being seventeen hours under arms,
the troops took up fresh ground towards
the river, and next morning encamped
opposite the city of Delhi. In three days
every show of resistance ceased, the fort
was evacuated, Bourguin and five other
French officers surrendered as prisoners of
war, and the unfortunate Shah Alum thank-
fully placed himself under the protection of
the British commander, September 10th,
1803.% General Lake next marched against
Agra, where all was strife and confusion.
The garrison had been under the command
of British officers, who, on the breaking out
of the war, were confined by their own
troops. Seven battalions of Sindia’s regular
infantry were encamped on the glacis, but
the besieged feared to admit them, on ac-
count of the treasure which they wished to
reserve for themselves. The battalions were
attacked on the 10th of October, and de-
feated after a severe conflict; three days
afterwards, those who remained came over
in a body, and were admitted into the
B. 1. Cy’s service. The siege of the fort
was then commenced, and a breach effected,
when further proceedings were arrested by
the capitulation of the garrison, the im-
prisoned officers being released, in order to
make terms with their countrymen. The
surrender was accomplished on condition of
safety for life and private property, leaving
treasure to the amount of £280,000 to be
divided among the troops as prize-money.
It is almost impossible to sketch a cam-
paign carried on simultaneously by different
widely-separated armies, without losing the
thread of the narrative, or interfering with
the chronological succession of events.
Choosing the latter as the lesser evil, it
may be mentioned that, towards the close
of October, General Lake quitted Agra in
pursuit of a large force, composed of fifteen

“teneral Lake found Shah Alum seated under a
small tattered canopy, his person cmaciated by in-
digence and infirmity, and his countenance dis-
figured with the loss of his eyes, and bearing marks of
extreme old age, joined to a settled melancholy.




regular battalions, dispatched by Sindia
from the Deccan to strengthen his northern
carmy ; of which there now remained but
two battalions, the wreck of the Delhi
troops. The total was, however, formidable ;
- being estimated at about 9,000 foot and 5,000
horse, with a numerous and well-appointed
train of artillery. Their design was sup-
posed to be the recovery of Delhi; but as
the British advanced, the Mahrattas re-
treated; and Lake, fearing they would escape
his vigilance, and suddenly reappear in some
unlooked-for quarter, followed with his cav-
alry by forced marches, until, on the 1st of
November, he found himself, after a night’s
journey of twenty-five miles, in face of an
enemy in apparent confusion, but advan-
tageously posted, and refreshed by rest.
- After an ineffectual and disastrous attempt
at attack, the British general was compelled
to withdraw his brigade out of reach of
cannon-shot, and await the arrival of the
infantry. The details of this portion of the
action are somewhat vaguely told. The
76th regiment, which was chosen to head
the attack, with some native infantry,* who
bad closed to the front, first reached the
point from which the charge was to be made,
and stood alone, waiting until the remainder
of the column should be formed by their
comrades, whose march “ had been retarded
by impediments in the advance,”t the nature
of which is not stated. So galling was the
fire opened by the enemy, that Lake, who
conducted in person every operation of the
day, and had already had one horse shot
under him, resolved to lead the van to the
assault, sooner than stand still and witness
its destruction. At this moment his second
horse fell, pierced by several balls. His son,
who officiated as aide-de-camp, sprang to the
ground, and had just prevailed on the general

| to take the vacant seat, when he was struck

down by a ball. Lake had a singularly
affectionate nature; the fall of his child,
severely if not mortally wounded, was well
calculated to unnerve, or, in his own phrase,
“unman” him ; but he knew his duty, and
loved the troops, who, he writes with un-
affected modesty, “at this time wanted
every assistance I could give them.”f
Leaving Major Lake on the field, the gen-
eral rode on with his gallant band, until, on

* The second battalion of the 12th native infantry,
and five companies of the 16th.—(Thornton, iii. 338.)

+ Despatech of Lake to the governor-general.—
(Wellesley Despatches, vol. iii., 443.)

1 Wellesley Despatehes, iii., 446.

§ Idem, p. 446, General Lake, habitually so ready
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arriving  within reach of the canister-shot
of the foe, their ranks were so rapidly thinned
as to render reguiar advance impr'acticable
and tempt the Mahratta horse to charge.
But this “handful of heroes,” as they
were gratefully termed by Lake, him- |
selt “le brave des braves,” repulsed their |
fi.?sallants, who withdrew to a little distance. |
The order to the British horse to charge |
in turn, was brilliantly executed by the 29th |
dragoons. They dashed through both lines |
of the opposing infantry, wheeled round upon |
the cavalry, and, after driving them from

the field, turned the rear of the enemvy’s

second line. The British foot failed not to

take advantage of the opportunity thus
afforded. The whole force had by this

time arrived on the field of battle, and the

issue soon ceased to be doubtful ; yet the

hardy veterans of De Boigne’s regiments,

though deprived of almost all their experi-

enced officers, would not surrender. About |
2,000 of them were broken, surrounded |
and made prisoners, but the majority fell |
with weapons in their hands. ¢ Thc.gun-
ners,” writes the victorious general, “stood
by their guns until killed by the bayonet:
all the sepoys of the enemy behaved exceed-
ingly well; and, if they had been com-
manded by French officers, the event would |
have been, I fear, extremely doubtful. I

never was 1 so severe a business in my

life, or anything like it ; and pray to God I

never may be in such a situation again.

* & % These fellows fought like devils, or
rather heroes.”§

The battle of Laswaree was in all respects
memorable. It completed the overthrow of
the Buropean disciplined brigades, and gave
to England undisputed mastery over Delhi
and Agra, with all Sindia’s districts north
of the Chumbul. These advantages were
gained at a heavy sacrifice of life. The
English loss amounted to 172 killed and
652 wounded : that of the Mahrattas was |
estimated at 7,000.|| ‘

The detached expeditions had likewise
successfully accomplished their respective
missions.  All Sindia’s  possessions 1in
Guzerat were captured by a division of the
Bombay troops under Lieutenant-colonel
Woodington. Broach was taken by storm
on the 29th of August; and the strong hill-
to praise others, barely notices his own gallant deeds |
or those of his son : but he mentions, the day after the
battle, that parental anxiety rendered him “ totally |
unfit for anything.” Happily, Major Lake’s wound |
roved less severe than was at first expected.

|| Memoir of the Campaign; by Major Thorn.

|
|
|
v I
[

|
|
|
|




’ 308 TREATY OF DEOGAUM WITH RAGOJEE BIHONSLAY—DEC., 1803.

| 17th of September. _

{  The seizure of Cuttack was accomplished
j‘ by detachments of the Madras and Bengal
| forces under Licutenant-colonel IIarcourt.;
| The Brahmins of Juggernaut placed their|
famous pagoda under the protection of the |
British on the 18th of September; and the |
fall of Barabuttee, the fort of Cuttack, on
the 14th of October, completed the reduc-
tion of the whole province.

In the subjection of Bundelcund, Lieute-
nant-colonel Powell was materially aided by
Himmut Bahadur, the Hindoo leader pre-
viously mentioned, who joined the British
| detachment in the middle of September,
| with a force of about 14,000 men. The
| army of Shumsheer Bahadur made but feeble
| resistance, and on the 13th of October was
| driven across the river Betwa. Their chief
eventually became a British stipendiary.

The concluding operations of the war
were performed by the army under Major-
general Wellesley and Colonel Stevenson.

A detachment under the latter leader took
- possession of Boorkanpoor on the 15th of

October, and two days after marched to

besiege Aseerghur, called by the natives

“the key of the Deccan.” The fortress

surrendered on the 21st, and with it the

conquerors became masters of Sindia’s Dec-
cani possessions, including several depen-
dent districts in Candeish. After a short
time spent in pursuing the rajah of Berar,
who retreated to his own dominions, and
in receiving some overtures for peace, of an
unsatisfactory character, from Sindia, Gen-
eral Wellesley descended the Ghauts on
the 25th of November, with the intention of
assisting Stevenson in the projected siege of

Gawilghur. The junction was effected on

the 20th of August, near the plains of

Argaum, where the British commander, on
| reconnoitring, perceived with surprise the
main army of the Berar rajah, comprising
| nfantry, cavalry, and artillery, regularly

drawn up, about six miles from the spot

where he had himself intended to encamp.

Sindia’s foree, cousisting of one very heavy

corps of cavalry, a body of Pindarries, and
- other light troops, supported those of Berar,

It was late in the day, and the English were

wearled with a long march under a burning

|

|

| * The defence had been gallantly conducted by
two Rajpoot leaders, whose bodies were found amid
a heap of slain. Their wives and daughters were

intended to have all shared their fate; but the ter-

fort of Powanghur, which overlooked the|sun; yet their leader thought 1t best to
town of Champaneer, surrendered on the | take advantage of the opportunity rarely

afforded of meeting the Mahrattas in a
pitched battle. Forming two lines of in-
fantry and cavalry, Major-general Wellesley
advanced to the attack. A body of 500
foot, supposed to have been Persian mer-
cenaries, rushed upon the 74th and 78th
regiments with desperation, and were de-
stroyed to a man. Sindia’s horse charged
the British sepoys, but were repulsed ; after
which the ranks of the enemy fell into con-
fusion and fled, pursued by the British
cavalry, assisted by auxiliary bodies of My-
soor and Mogul horse. The loss of the
victors, in killed, wounded, and missing,
was 546 men; that of the Mahrattas is
nowhere stated, but must have been very
considerable.

The siege of Gawilghur, invested on the
5th of December, involved no ordinary
amount of labour and fatigue, in conse-
quence of the difficulty of carrying the guns
and stores to the point of attack. The
outer fort was taken by storm on the 15th;
the inner fort was escaladed by the light
company of the 94th, headed by Captamn
Campbell, who opened the gates and ad-
mitted the rest of the assailants.*

The confederate chieftains had by this
time become extremely solicitons for the
termination of war. The rajah cf Berar
dispatched vakeels or envoys to the
British camp the day after the battle of |
Argaum ; but in consequence of the invete-
rate manceuvring and proerastination of the
Mahrattas, even when really desirous of |
concluding a treaty, affairs were not finally |
arranged until the 17th of December. By |
the treaty of Deogaum, then signed, the
rajah consented to surrender the province of
Cuttack, including the district of Balasore, |
to the company, and to relinquish to the
Nizam certain revenues extorted from him |
on various pretences. He further pledged
bimself to submit all differences which
might arise between him and the Nizam or
the peishwa to British arbitration, and pro- |
mised to receive into his service no Euro-
pean or American subject of any state at
war with the English, nor even any English-
man, without the express sanction of the
governor-general.

Sindia had now no alternative but to

rible order had been imperfectly performed with steel
weapons, instead of by the usual method of fire; and
though several died, the majority being carefully
tended, recovered of their wounds.—( Wellesley Desp.)




| efforts were steadily directed to the sup-
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mwake peace on such terms as the con-
querors thought fit to grant; and on the
30th of December he signed the treaty of
Surjee Anjengaum in the British camp, by
which he ceded his rights over the country
between the Jummna and the Ganges (in-
cluding the cities of Delhi and Agra), and
to the northward of the Rajpoot principali-
ties of Jeypoor and Joudpoor; also the forts
of Ahmedabad and Broach, with their de-
pendent districts.  On the south he yielded
Ahmednuggur to the peishwa, and some
extensive districts to the Nizam. Inreturn,
the leading places conquered during the
war, not above named, were restored to
him. Shortly after this arrangement, Sindia
entered the general alliance of which the
British government formed the dominant
portion, and agreed to receive a subsidiary
British force, whose expenses were to be
furnished from the revenue of the territories
already ceded.

The leading objects of the war had been
fully carried out, in accordance with the
plans of the governor-general. Among the
less conspicuous but important services ren-
dered by Lake, were the formation of alli-
ances with the rajahs of Jeypoor, Joudpoor,
Boondi, and Macherry ; with the Jat rajah
of Bhurtpoor, the rana of Gohud, and
Ambajee Inglia, the unfaithful successor of
Perron in the service of Sindia.* Tord Wel-
lesley was anxious to maintain the indepen-
dence of the Rajpoot principalities against
Mahratta aggressions, both as a matter of
justice and poliey. Their territories were
guaranteed to them against external ene-
mies, with immunity from tribute; but they
were not to receive European officers into
their service without the sanction of the
British government, and were to defray the
expense of any auxiliary force required to
repel invaders from their dominions.

War witn Hovcar.—Despite so many
brilliant victories, attended with such sub-
stantial results, the British armies could not
quit the field. During the recent hostilities,
Holcar had remained m Malwa, levying
enormous contributions upon the adjoining
provinces. The success of the British arms
seems to have convinced him of his mistake
in neglecting to co-operate with chiefs of
his own nation against a power whose

* Sindia seized the Gohud province, and gave it
in chasge to Ambajee Inglia, who went over to the
English.  They kept Gwalior, and divided the rest
of the province between the rana and Inglia.

pression of the predatory warfare by which
he .h:ul reached, and could alone (::Epect to
maintain, his present position. When too
late he bestirred himself to negotiate with the
Rajpoots, the Bhurtpoor rajah, the Rohillas,
the Seiks, and finally with Sindia, whom he
recommended to break the humiliating treaty
he had recently formed, and renew the war.
But Sindia had suffered too severely in the
late hostilities to provoke their repetition ;
and being, morecover, exasperated by the | |
time-serving policy of Holear,7 he commu-
nicated these overtures to Major Maleolm, ]
then resident in his camp. The inimical feel-
ings entertained by Holear, had been already
manifested by the murder of three British
officers in his service, on a false charge that
one of them had corresponded with the
commander-in-chief. Still it seemed highly
improbable that he could seriously intend
flinging the gauntlet at a nation whose
military achievements had become the
theme of every tongue in India; and the
English authorities, anxious to bring matters
to a speedy and amicable conclusion, invited
him to send commissioners to their camp, to
explain his views and desires. The Mah-
rattas are ever apt to treat conciliatory |
measures as symptomatic of weakness; and
Holcar was probably influenced by some
such consideration in framing the condi- @ |
tions for which his vakeels were instructed | |
to stipulate with General Lake as the terms | |
of peace, and which included leave to col- | |
lect chout according to the custom of his
ancestors, with the cession of Etawa and
various other districts in the Doab and
Bundelcund, formerly held by his family.
Holear had not without reason blamed
Sindia for too exclusive attention to the
rules of European discipline, and the neglect

of the guerilla warfare which Sevajee and
Bajee Rao had waged successfully against
Aurungzebe. This was the weapon with
which he now menaced the English, in the
event of non-compliance with his demands. @ |
« Although unable,” he said, ““to oppose
their artillery in the field, countries of
many coss should be overrun, and plundered,
and burnt; Lake should not have leisure to
breathe for a moment, and calamities would
fall on lacs of human beings in continued
war by the attacks of his army, which would | |
overwhelm like the waves of the sea.” [ |

+ Ameer Khan was actually dispatched by Holear | |
to co-operate Wwith Sindia; but the news of the |
battle of Assaye reached him on the march, 5111(1 [ |
he returned as he came.—(Ameer Khan’s Memoirs.) ‘
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| Such a menace, from one of the most
" reckless and powerful marauders by whom
" the timid peasantry of Hindoostan were ever
scourged, was tantamount to a declaration of
war—a formality which, it may be remarked,
forms no part of Mahratta warfare. Yet it
was not till further indications appeared
of his intention to commence hostilities
at the first convenient moment, that the
negotiation, which Holcar desired to gain
time by protracting, was broken off, and
Lord Lake and Major-general Wellesley
directed to commence operations against
him both in the north and the south. The
governor-general entered on this new war
with unaffected reluctance. Once com-
menced, it could not be arrested by an
accommodation such as that entered into
with Sindia ; for a predatory power must,
he thought, be completely neutralised, in
justice to the peaceable subjects of more
civilised governments. It was important to
secure the cordial co-operation of the sub-
sidiary and allied states against the common
foe ; and this was effected by the declaration
of Lord Welleslev—that all territory con-
quered from Holcar should be divided among
the British auxiliaries without reserve.

The opening of the campaign was dis-
astrous.  Major-general Wellesley could
not advance in consequence of a famine
which prevailed in the Deccan. Lake,
after storming the fort of Rampoora (16th
May, 1804), was compelled to withdraw the
main army into cantonments for the rainy
season, leaving Colonel Monson, with five
sepoy battalions and 3,000 irregular horse,
to watch the movements of the foe. The
proceedings of this commander were most
unfortunate. Though “brave as a lion,”
he wanted decision of purpose and con-
fidence in the native troops. After making
an ill-advised entrance into the dominions
of the enemy, he became alarmed at the
reported approach of Holear in person; and
fearing the probable failure of supplies
before the British could join the Guzerat
force under Colonel Murray, he retreated
forthwith. A retrograde movement on the
part of British troops was proverbially more
hazardous in native warfare than the boldest
advance. Holecar eagerly followed, attacked
and defeated the irregular cavalry left in
 the rear to forward intelligence of his pro-
ceedings, and summoned the main body to
surrender. This being indignantly refused,
‘funou_s and reiterated onsets were made
by him on the sepoy battalions at the

ZALIM SING OF KOTAH, THE NESTOR OF INDIA.

Mokundra pass, which they resisted with
steadiness and success, till, at evening,
their assailants drew off a few miles.
Monson, not considering his position ten-
able, continued the retreat; the mnative
troops behaved admirably, and, though
harassed by the enemy, and exposed to
heavy rains, reached Kotah in two marches.

Kotah was a Rajpoot principality, ori-
ginally formed of lands separated from
Boondi. It remained for above a century
and a-half of secondary importance, until it
fell beneath the sway of Zalim Sing, a Raj-
poot of the Jhala tribe, who governed under
the name of regent—it would appear, with
the full consent of the rightful prince or
rana, Omeida Sing. Zalim Sing played
a difficult part with extraordinary ability,
and by dint of consummate art, perfect
self-control, and unfailing energy, so steered
the vessel of state, that while every other
Rajpoot principality tottered wunder the
effects of the furious attacks or undermin-
ing intrigues of the encroaching Mahrattas,
Boondi, though ever first to bend to the
storm, raised her head as soon as it had
passed over, as if strengthened by the trial.
Excessive humility and moderation formed
the disguise beneath which the regent at-
tained the position of a general arbitrator
in the never-ceasing disputes of neighbour-
ing governments, which he fostered under
pretence of mediation. His deep duplicity
did not preserve him from incurring strong
personal hostility ; and Tod, after narrating
no less than eighteen attempts at his assas-
sination, represents him as sleeping in an
won cage for security. At the time at
which we have now arrived, “the Nestor
of India” was about sixty-five years of age.
His position was one of peculiar difficulty.
To keep peace with Holcar he had paid
dearly, both in money and character, having
stooped to form an intimate alliance with
Ameer Khan as a means of averting the
scourge of indiscriminate plunder from the
fertile fields of Boondi, great part of which
were cultivated for his exclusive benefit ; yet
Colonel Monson, on his arrival with the
weary and half-famished troops, demanded
from the regent nothing less than their ad-
mission into the ecity, which could not be
granted without creating great confusion
and insuring the deadly vengeance of the
Mahrattas. To the English, Zalim Sing was
yet more unwilling to give offence. Their
paramount authority was heing daily aug-
mented and consolidated; nor could he
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doubt that Kotah, like other native prinei-
palities, would eventually do well to find in
a dependent alliance on the dominant power,
an aiternative from complete extinction.*
Even now, he was ready to make common
cause with the retreating and dispirited
troops, or to do anything for their succour,
to the extent of his ability, outside the
walls of Kotah; but the pertinacity of
Monson in demanding admittance was un-
availing, and the detachment marched on
to Rampoora, throngh an inundated country
barely traversable for the troops, and im-

practicable for cannon and stores, which
were consequently destroyed and aban- |
doned. A reinforcement sent with supplies
by General Lake, gave temporary relief to |
the harassed soldiers, but could not remedy |
the incapacity of their commander; and
after many more struggles and reverses,t
attended with a complete loss of baggage
on the road to Agra, the confusion of one
very dark might brought matters to a
climax ; the troops fairly broke and fled
in separate parties to the city, where the
majority of the fugitives who escaped the
pursuing cavalry, found an asylum on the
31st of July, 1801.

These proceedings increased the rabble
force of Holear tenfold. Adventurers and
plunderers of all descriptions (including
the wreck of the armies of Sindia and the
Bhonslay) flocked to his standard ; and after
making the regent of Kotah pay a fine of
ten lacs for his partial assistance of the
English,f the Mahratta chief invaded their
territories, at the head of an immense army, §

in the character of a conqueror. At his|
approach the British troops abandoned

Muttra with its stores; but the fort was

reoccupied by a detachment sent by Gen- |

eral Liake, who had marched hastily from
Cawnpore, in hopes of bringing the enemy
to action. He was, however, completely
outwitted by Holcar, who oceupied the
attention of the British general by ma-
neeuvring his cavalry ; while his infantry, by

* When Colonel Tod was employed in forming
an alliance between the supreme government and the
Kotah principality, he took an opportunity of assuring
Zalim Sing that the English desired no more terri-
tory. The old politician smiled, as he answered—*1
believe you think so; but the time will come when
there will be but one sicea (stamp of sovereignty on
coin) throughout India. You stepped in at a lucky
time; the plfoot (a sort of melon, which bursts
asunder when fully matured) was ripe, and you had
only to take it bit by bit. It was not your power so
much as our disunion that made you sovereigns, and

will keep you so."—(Rajast'han, 1., T66.)

|

|
a rapid movement, succeeded in investing [
Delhi.  The city, ten miles in circum- |
ference, had but a ruined wall, with scarcely ]
more than 800 sepoys, for its defence; never- ‘
theless, these troops, headed by Licutenant- |
colonels Ochterlony and Burn, after nine
days’ operations, compelled a force of 20,000 \
men to raise the siege.| THolcar, with his {
cavalry, withdrew to the Doab, whither he ‘
was followed by Lake, who, after a long pur-
suit, by marching fifty-three miles in twenty- 1
four hours, eventually came up with the |
encmy on the 17th of November, under |
the walls of TFurruckabad. The Indian ‘1
horse mnever could stand a charge in the |
field ; their leader knew this, and was him- |
self the first to fly, followed by his panic- |
struck adherents, of whom 3,000 were cut
to pieces by the victors, and the rest escaped l
only by the superior swiftness of their horses.
The Mahratta chief made his way to Deeg, a \
strong fort belonging to Runjeet Sing of
Bhurtpoor, a Jat leader, who, after the defeat
of the detachment under Monson, had quitted
the English, and joined the opposite interest.

The determined proceedings of Lake
induced the confederate chiefs to evacuate
Deeg and retreat to Bhurtpoor, a city not
very formidable in appearance, of six to
eight miles in circumference, defended by a
high mud wall, and a broad ditch not
easily fordable. But the rajah was skilful
and desperate. Holcar had little to boast of ;
for while himself heading a defeated army
in the field, his strongholds, in various
quarters, had been reduced by the English ;
and a detachment of troops from Guzerat
had occupied Indore, and were preparing to
intercept his retreat. Still he was a ma-
rauder by profession, whose kingdom was in |
his saddle; whereas the Jat rajah truly
declared he had no home but in his castle—
every hope was bound up in its battlements.
The defence was most determined; and
even when a practicable breach had been
effected, attempts to take the place by
storm were neutralised by the ready inven-

+ When the younger European officers were heart-
sick, and well-nigh sinking with fatigue, the sepoys
were frequently heard bidding them be of good cheer; |
for they would carry them safely to Agra.—(Duff.) |

T Zalim Sing and Holear (both one-eyed men) met
in boats on the Chumbul, each fearing treachery.

§ According to Malcolm, Holear's army comprised
92,000 men (66,000 cavalry, 7,000 artillery, 19,000
infantry), with 190 guns.—(Central India, 1., '..’.'ib;)‘
|| The sepoys were on duty day and night. To |
keep up their spirits under incessant fatigue, Ochter- |
lony had sweetmeats served out, and promised them |
half a month’s pay when the enemy was repulsed.
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tion of the besieged. Stockades and bul-
warks rose as if by magic to blockade the
breach ; the moat was rendered unfordable
by dams; and, during the attack, pots filled

" with combustibles, and burning cotton-bales

steeped in oil, were flung upon the heads of
the assailants. The British were four times
repulsed, with a total loss of 3,203 men in
nor did even their

" highly-prized military reputation escape un-

| impaired.

On one occasion, the famous
76th, in conjunction with the 75th, refused
to follow their officers after the 12th Bengal
sepoys had planted the colours on the top
of the rampart. The bitter reproaches of
their general recalled them to a sense of
duty, and, overpowered with shame, they
entreated to be led to a last attack, in which
they displayed much desperate but unavail-
ing courage. The operations of the siege
were for a time intermitted to procure
further reinforcements. The rajah, con-
vinced that his destruction, however tempo-
rarily retarded, was but a question of time,
offered twenty lacs of rupees, with other
concessions, as the price of peace, and the
proposal was accepted, although at the risk
of leaving on the minds of the natives a
dangerous example of successful resistance.
The advanced state of the season, the fear
of the hot winds, together with the me-
nacing attitude of Sindia, then under the

influence of his father-in-law, the notorious

Shirjee Rao Ghatgay, were suflicient rea-
sons for refraining from engaging the flower
of the British army, at a critical period, in
a contest with a desperate man, who, if
mildly treated, might be neutralised at
once. The son of the rajah of Bhurtpoor
was therefore taken as a hostage for the
fidelity of his father, and the restoration of
the fortress of Deeg held forth as its reward.
The force of Holear had been reduced by
desertion, more than by actual loss, to less
than a fourth of its number at the opening of
the campaign. The separate treaty entered
into by the rajah of Bhurtpoor left him no
hope but in the co-operation of Sindia, who
affected to be desirous of mediating with
the British government on his behalf. The
power of both chiefs was, however, broken,
and few obstacles remained towards a
general pacification, on terms very advan-
tageous to the LEnglish; when their whole
policy was abruptly changed by the passing
of the office of governor-general from the
hands of the Marquis Wellesley into those
of Lord Cornwallis, in 1805.

M.—INDIA-BUILT SHIPPING.

| As early as January, 1802, Lord Welles-
ley had signified to the Court of Directors
his desire of quitting India. The motives
(for the proffered resignation were various.
' They included several acts, on the part of
the directory, which the marquis deemed
derogatory to the reputation of himself and

of Madras; but the chief ground of com-

favourite scheme of founding a college at
Calentta, for the express instruction
young civilians in the description of know-
ledge absolutely requisite for the fulfilment
of their allotted duties. The glaring igno-
rance of native languages evinced by Euro-
pean rulers, had long been a manifest hin-
drance to the good government of the people
of India, as well as a bar to the kindly in-
tercourse which might otherwise have sub-
sisted. It was this primary defect which
the marquis hoped to rectify, and at the
same time to infuse into the youths of the
service something of the esprit de corps,
which he remembered with such vivid plea-
sure to have existed at Eton. The College
of Fort William was his favourite project.
The company did not deny the want of
systematic instruction, which was daily
more painfully felt; but they could not be
brought to consent to the expenditure which
Lord Wellesley deemed absolutely needful
to fulfil the double object of educating
Luropeans and affording encouragement to
native talent. The Board of Control sup-
ported the views of Lord Wellesley; but
the project was, after all, but very imper-
fectly carried out, so far as the Indian popu-
lation was concerned: for the instruction
of civilians destined to serve the E.I. Cy.,
a college (Haileybury) was founded in Eng-
land a few years later. Another cause
which rendered the governor-general un-
popular with his employers, was his delibe-
rate and avowed opinion in favour of the
extension of trade with England to India-

to the chartered vessels of the K. I. Cy.
Despite the obvious policy, as well as jus-
tice, of this measure, as the only means of
preventing Indian commerce from finding its
way to Burope by more objectionable chan-
nels, “the shipping interest,”
predominant in the counsels of the com-

should trench on their monopoly, and con-
trived, in many ways, to render Lord Wel-

__'__ﬁj

his brothers, as well as to that of his |
stanch coadjutor, Lord Clive, the governor |

plaint was the disfavour shown to his |

of |

built shipping, instead of confining it solely |

then greatly |

pany, violently opposed any alteration which |
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lesley sensible of their unfriendly feelings.
Nevertheless, his proffered resignation was
deprecated by an entreaty to remain at least
another year, to settle the newly-acquired
territories, and concert with the home
authorities the foundation of an efficient
system for the liquidation of the Indian
debt. The renewal of war with the Mah-
rattas, despite the brilliant success with
which it was attended, could not but involve
an increase of immediate expenditure, though
compensated by a more than proportionate
augmentation of territory. But the invest-
ments were impeded ; and a failure in the an-
nual supplies was 1ll borne by the company,
however advantageous the promise of ulte-
rior advantages; consequently, a clamour
arose against the marquis as a war-governor,
which decided his recall at the time when
all material obstacles were removed, and his
whole energies directed towards the attain-
ment of a solid and durable peace. IHe
had been sent out for the express purpose
of eradicating French influence, an object
which he had completely accomplished,
though, of necessity, at the cost of much
war and more diplomacy.”

The Wellesley administration—from 1798
to 1805—formed a new era in the annals
of the E. I. Cy. Principles of honour and
publiec spirit were engrafted which bore
much fruit in after days; and many a friend-
less cadet of the civil and military service
found in rapid promotion the direct reward
of talent and integrity. Nay, more; there
are honoured veterans still with us, who,
after the lapse of half a century, (lt,l]"]lt to
attribute their success to the generous en-
couragement or kindly warnings of the
good and gifted Marquis W Ll]ChlL‘_‘.’.‘l’

Perfect toleration was his leading rule;
nevertheless, he did not hesitate to interfere
for the suppression of such heathen customs
as were manifestly incompatible with the
spirit of a Christian government; such as
the frightful amount of infanticide annually

* Into his minor measures, especially the restric-
tions placed on the liberty of the press, it is not
practicable to enter: the motives for some of them
were purely political—to check the conveyance of
dangerous information, or lying rumours to foreign
states ; while the edict f'mimldm'r the puhllmt:un
of newspapers on Sundays, had the double object
of revercnce for the sabbath and a desire to show
the nations, that not only the missionaries, but the
Furopeans in general had a religion—a fact which
might well have been doubted.

+ The rising talent of the civil service was called
out in a I)L‘(.Lllhll manner by Lord Wellesley. The
youths of the three presidencies, who bad distin-

|

Py J.

committed at the mouth of the Ganges.
Neither was he withheld, by timid or sec-
tarian views, from aﬂm(lmﬂ' liberal encou-
ragement to the able Lmd zealons men
(Buchanan and Carey, for instance) who
had devoted themselves to the ofhce of
Christian missionaries. To all around him ‘
engaged in the cause of religion or frood
government, he extended cordial sy mpatlly
as fellow- \mihcrs and if a shadow of blame
can be cast on his ever- diseriminating |
praise, it would be that of having been |
sometimes too liberally bestowed, But the |
full measure of love and confidence he gave | |
so freely, was returned into his own bosom. | ‘
Military and civil officials, of all ranks and | |
classes—from the Earl of Elgin, at Con- |
stantinople, and Lord Clive, at Madras, to |
the humblest clerk—vied in affording the |
fullest and most correct information for the |
use of the governor-general; and the mer- ‘.
chants and bankers seconded his measures |
in the most effective manner by furnishing |
government loans on the lowest possible |
terms. At the close of the administration |
of Sir John Shore, it had been difficult to |
raise money on usurious interest; but the |
Marquis Wellesley, on the eve of a hazardous
war, found men who could appreciate the |
policy of his measures, and make them prac- |
ticable, even at considerable pecuniary risk.i |
The general feeling in India was, unhap-
pily, not '1})1)1'ccmtcd or shared in Lufﬂand

|

|
|
|

The marquis returned, after an arduous and | 1
brilliantly successful administration, to find | |
the uncertain tide of popular feeling turned
against him. The British public were well |
acquainted with the aggressive and grasp- |
ing policy of Hastings, and the manner in
which he had made the weakness or wicked-
ness of native princes conduce to the ag-
grandisement of his employers or his own
personal interest. It was a very natural
conclusion to be arrived at by persons ig-
norant of the general disorganisation of
India, that a governor who had added hun-

guished themselves in their examinations at the |
collvge of Fort Willizm, were placed in the secre-
tary’s office of the governor-general, and educated
under his immediate care for the respective depart- |
ments, for the duties of which they were best fitted. |
Of those thus brought forward, three (Metealfe, J
Adams, and Butterworth Ba\lc\) became acting | |
governors-genel ral; and the majority attained high
positions in India and in England.

1 Mr. (nltornards Sir Charles) Forbes, the head of
the well-known firm at Bombay, was the chief of those |
who, by taking up government paper at par, as well

as 1urm:,1uu;: snpjyhu restored the confidence of the
wealthy natives in the stability of the E. L Cy. :
\
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dreds of mllcs and thousands of snluccts

to an empire, which Hastings had been

stigmatised as an usurper and oppressor for

increasing by units and tens, must have
bCCll ""ll]lt\' Ut t}lC same S]HS 11 an ﬂ."’"la-
vated dc-nec Besides, the au«rmcntuh(m of
territory and pnpu!dmou had been effected
in the tecth of a parliamentary prohibition
of the most decided character. The oldest
and ablest Indian politicians vainly strove to
show the utter impracticability of neutrality,

' and argued that England, now the dominant
- power, could not relinquish her high posi-

tion in measure, but must, of necessity,
abandon territorial sovereignty and com-
mercial advantage in almost equal degree.

- The company were smarting bcueath the

expenses of a war, which a Tittle patience
would have blought to the most satisfactory
conclusion, by the prostration of the pre-
datory power, which was equally opposc(l
to all’ regular governments, foreign or native.
But no! an unmedmte compromise was the
order of the day; the withdrawal of the

' plundering Mahrattas from the company’s

territories was a relief to be obtained upon
any terms, even by a direct violation of the
pledge voluntarily given to the Rajpoot states
to maintain their independence against their
marauding foes. What matter if all Rajast’-
han were overrun by these eastern Goths.
The company’s investments would go on
meanwhile; and when Sindia and Holear
had quite exhausted all outside the magic
circle, it would be time enough to devise
some other sop wherewith to engage them.
This selfish policy, disguised by the few who
understood the real state of the case by
much abstract reasoning regarding the ad-
mitted justice of non-interference in general,
deceived many good men and raised a
strong, though short-lived clamour, against
the champion of the opposite system. The
feeling of certain leaders in the directory,
joined with party politics of a very discre-
ditable description in the ministry, found a
channel in the person of a ci-devant trader
named Paull, who, having accumulated a
large fortum, n Indm, came to Lngland
and entered parliament in the character of
impeacher of the Marquis Wellesley, to
whom, by his own account, he owed heavy
obllgatlons, and Lntertamcd, in  common
with the generality of Anglo-Indians,
“the highest respect.” The leading accu-
sations were aggressions on native bta.tes
extravagance and disregard of home autho-
rities, —at peculation or venality, not even

nlumnv dm‘cd }nnt The first ('h'lrn'e re-

garding Oude was thrown out by the House

of Commons, and the accuser died by his

own hand, prompted by vexation or remorse.

Lord Folkstone strove to carry on the im-

peachment by moving a series of condemna-

tory resolutions, which were negatived by a

majority of 182 to 31, and followed by a
general vote of apptobatmn Thus ended,

in May, 1808, a persecution which cost the
noble marquis £30,000, and excluded him
from office during its continuance; for,

with rare delicacy, he refused repeated soli-
citations to re-enter the service of the Crown
until the pending question should be satis-
factorily settled. e lived to see the gene-
ral recognition of the wisdom of his policy ;
and on the publication of his Despatches in
1834-’5, the E. I. Cy. made the amende
honorable, by the unusual procedure of the
ercction of his statue in the E. I. House,*
a grant of £20,000, and the circulation of
his Despatches for the instruction and guid-
ance of their servants in India. He died be-
lovcd and honoured, aged Lwhtv three ; hay-
ing twice filled the office of viceroy of Ireland
—been secretary of state for foreign affairs;
beside other distinguished positions. This
is not the place to tell of the eflicient man-
ner in which the illustrious brothers worked
together for the defeat of the national foe,
Napoleon: here we have to do with the
marquis as an Indian governor; in that
character let the pen of the historian of
the E. I. Cy. speak his merits. “ The
Marquis Wellesley was ambitious; but his
ambition sought gratification not in mere
personal mtrmndlsement but in connecting
his own lee with that of the land to which
he belonged, and of the government which
he administered,—in the diffusion of sound
and hiberal ]mo“lcdr'c, and the extension of
the means of happiness among millions of
men who knew not his person, and some
of them scarcely his name. That name is,
however, stamped for ever on their history.
The British government in India may pass
away—its duration, as far as human means are
concerned, will depend on the degree in which
the policy of the Marquis Wellesley is main-
tained or abandoned—but whatever its fate,
or the length of its existence, the name and
memory of the greatest statesiman by whom
it was ever administered are imperishable.”t

* Lord Wellesley remarked, that to witness this
compliment (rarely pnul until after death), was “like
having a peep at one 's own funeral.”

T Thornton’s India, iil., 573,
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SEcoND ApMmiNisTRATION oF Lornp Corn-
waLLis.—The new governor arrived at Fort
William in July, 1805, and immediately
assumed the reins of office.  The interval of
thirteen years between his resignation and
resumption of anthority in India, had told
heavily on his strength of mind as well as of
body, and the once indefatigable com-
mander-in-chief returned to the scene of his
former successes a worn and weary man,
fast sinking to the grave under the inflic-
tion of chronic dysentery. Yet the English
authorities, in accordance with popular
opinion, declared him to be the only man
fit to curb and limit the too extensive domi-
nion obtained by the late administration in
conjunction with the gallant Lake, whose
services, though their effects were denounced,
had been acknowledged by a peerage.

Lord Cornwallis had given proof of mode-
ration by suffering Tippoo to purchase peace
with a third of his revenues, and had rather
relaxed than straitened the connexion of the
E. 1. Cy. with various native states. Despite
the unsatisfactory results of his arrange-
ments, and still more so of those formed by
Sir John Shore, the Directory and Board of
Control agreed in reverting to the non-
intervention system, and urged the arduous
office of effecting an immediate and total
change of policy upon the ex-governor-
general with so much vehemence, that he,
from self-denying but mistaken views of
duty, would not suffer failing health to
excuse the non-fulfilment of what, with
strange infatuation, was pressed on him as a
public duty. It is not easy to understand
the process of reasoning by which Lord
Cornwallis was led to adopt such extreme
opinions regarding the measures to be
taken towards Sindia and Holear. He had
warmly approved the arrangements of the
Marquis Wellesley regarding the occupation
of Seringapatam and the complete suppres-
sion of the usurping dynasty; yet, now the
arrogant and aggressive Sindia, and  the
predatory Holear were to be conciliated,
not simply by the smrrender of a succession
of dearly-purchased conquests, but by the
renunciation of alliance with the Rajpoot
and other states, who had taken part with
the British forces against the marauding
Mahrattas in the late crisis.

Sindia had suffered, if not caused, the
English resideney attached to his camp to
be attacked and plundered by a body of
Pindarries, and had himself detained Mur.

manded for this outrage: and the governor-

gencral, in his impatient desire to conclude |

a peace, would even have waived insisting
upon the release of the resident ; but from
this last degrading concession the English

were happily saved by the intervention of |

Lord Lake. Nothing could exceed the in-
dlgnatmn. of the brave and honest general
on learning the nature of the proposed
treaty, which he felt to be based on the
unworthy principle of conciliating  the
strong at the expense of the weak. The
territories conquered from Holear had been
distinetly promised to be divided among the
allies of England; instead of which, they
were all to be restored to the defeated chief;
and the breach of faith thus committed
towards the only power able to resent it,
was to be repaired at the expense of the
powerless rana of Gohud, who had made
over Gwailor to the English on heing
enrolled among the list of subsidiary princes.
He was now to be reduced to the condition
of a mere stipendiary, dependent on his
hereditary foe for subsistence; for all Gohud,
including Gwalior, was to be given to propi-
tiate the favour of Sindia—an act,” writes
the governor-general, “entirely gratuitous
on our part.” Equally so was the renuncia-
tion of our conmnexion with the numerous
rajahs, zemindars, jaghiredars, and other
chiefs on the further side of the Jumna, for
whose protection the British faith had been
solemnly pledged. Lord Lake, who had been
mainly mstrumental in forming the majority
of these alliances, and had, in his capacity
of commander-in-chief, received material
assistance from several of the parties con-
cerned, addressed an earnest remonstrance
to the governor-general against the proposed
repudiation, declaring that the weaker allied
nrinces never could be induced by any argu-
ment or temporary advantage to renounce
the promised support of the E. 1. Cy., and
that the bare proposition would be viewed
“as a prelude to their being sacrificed to the
object of obtaining a peace with the Mah-
rattas.”” This communication bore date the
day following that on which Lord Corn-
wallis expired. For some time before his
death, he passed the morning hours in a
state of weakness amounting to insensibility ;
but the evening usually brought him suffi-
cient strength to hear despatches read, and
even to dictate replies. Had the energetic
appeal and arguments of Lake been sent a few
days earlier, they might perhaps have been

Jenkins; yet no reparation was to be de-

| . . - . "- |
i instrumental in delaying and modifying the |
: DIV. XI, 3a
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ungenerous and selfish measures which cost |

England so dearly in character and blood
and treasure, by strengthening the predatory |
power it was alike her duty and her interest
to abase. It is hardly possible that the)|
man who steadily befriended the rajah of
Coorg, even at the hazard of remewing a
perilous war with Tippoo, could seriously |
intend to abandon the Rajpoot and other |
princes to the shameless marauders against
whom they had recently co-operated with
the English, unless prejudice and ignorance,
aided by mental debility, had blinded him
to the plain facts of the case. But whatever
effect the honest exposition of Lake was cal-
culated to produce on the mind of Lord
Cornwallis, can be only surmised from his
habitual conscientiousness. He had been ex- !
tremely desirous of personally superintend-
ing the progress of the negotiations, and
hoped by short and easy stages to reach head-
quarters; but at Ghazipoor near Benares, an
accession of weakness stopped his journey,
and after lingering some time in the state
previously deseribed, he died there October
5th, 1805, aged sixty-six years.

No provision had been made by the home |
government to meet this highly probable
event.*  Sir George Barlow, the senior
member of council, on whom the chief au-
thority temporarily devolved, had been asso-
ciated with Lord Wellesley throughout his
whole administration, and cordially seconded
his lordship’s views regarding subsidiary
alliances. During the last illness of Lord |
Cornwallis, while hourly expecting his own |
accession to power, Sir George had expressed |
in writing “his confident hope that an
accommodation would be effected with
Sindia and with Holear, on terms not differ-
ing essentially from those to which he was
aware that Lord Wellesley was prepared to
accede.” Most certainly his lordship would
never have consented to an accommodation
which involved a direct breach of faith with
numerous weak states. Sir George must
have known this; but his conduct was in
perfect accordance with the principle which
enabled a certain well-known individual “ to

* Lord Grenville publicly stated, that it had been
generally supposed in London that Lord Cornwallis
would not bear the voyage; and, in any case, could
not long survive his arrival in India.—(Thornton.)

i an of the few concessions demanded from
Sindia was the exclusion from office of his father-in-
1?.“"; but even this was eventually renounced, and
binrze'e Rao became again ]mrumo{mt. Happily his
sudacity at length grew offensive to Sindia, and an

DEATII OF THE MARQUIS CORNWALLIS—OCTOBER,

live and die vicar of Bray.’

altercation took place which enabled the attendants,

1805.

> The result was,

however, less satisfactory ; for though the
[5. 1. directors were inclined to reward
implicit obedience to their mandates with
the highest position in their gift, the min-
isters of the ecrown were not equally com-
pliant; and although they also were de-
sirous of purchasing peace on any ferms,
the recent appointment was neutralised, and
a rule laid down that thenceforth no servant
of the company should fill the office of
governor-general.  Sir George was placed
in charge of Madras; but before his removal
from Caleutta he had contrived to neutralise,
as far as possible, the effects of the measures
which he had assisted in enacting; his
avowed expectation being that the native
states, when left to themselves, would forth-
with engage in a series of conflicts which
would, for the present at least, keep them
fully employed, and prevent the renewal of
hostilities with the English. Sindiat and
Holear received the proffered concessions
with unmixed astonishment at the timidity
or vacillation of their lately dreaded foe.
The Rajpoot and other princes indignantly
remonstrated against the renunciation of an
alliance pressed upon them by the British
government in her hour of mneed. The
rajah of Jeypoor, who had especially pro-
voked the vengeance of the Mahrattas, felt
deeply aggrieved by the faithlessness with
which he was treated, and his bitter re-
proaches were conveyed to Lord Lake
through the mouth of a Rajpoot agent at
Delhi. Disgusted at being made the instru-
ment of measures which he denounced, and
at the almost} total disregard manifested
towards his representations, Lord Lake re-
signed his diplomatic powers in January,
1806, and after about twelve months spent in
completing various necessary arrangements
regarding the forces, and settling, agree-
ably to the instructions of the government,
the claims of various native chiefs, he
quitted India, leaving behind him a name
that will be honoured and beloved so long
as the Indian army shall subsist.§ He died
in England, 21st February, 1808, aged 64.

under pretence of securing the person, to take the
life of a miscreant whose memory is still execrated
in Poona for the cruel oppression practised there,

I Lord Lake was so far suceessful, that his repre-
sentations against the immediate danger, as well as
faithlessness, of dissolving the alliance with the rajahs
of Macherri and Bhurtpoor, induced Sir Georee to
delay the execution of a determination which he
nevertheless declared to be unchanged.

§ Major-general  Wellesley, after receiving a

)



- ministration terminated in July, 1807 * its

MUTINY OF TROOPS AT

Little difference of opinion now exists
regarding the accommodation effected with
the Mahrattas. The non-intervention policy
was soon abandoned ; but its results justify
the declaration of Grant Duff, that the
measures of Sir George Barlow were no less
short-sighted and contracted than selfish
and indiscriminating.  His provisional ad-

concluding event being an alarming mutiny
among the native troops in the Carnatic.
The immediate cause was the enforcement
of certain frivolous changes of dress, together
with other orders trivial in character, but
mvolving a needless interference with the
manners and customs of the soldiery, which
had been introduced without the knowledge
of Lord William Bentinck, the successor of
Lord Clive in the government of Madras.
“The new regulations required the sepoys
to appear on parade with their chins elean
shaved, and the hair on the upper lip cut
after the same pattern, and never to wear
the distinguishing mark of caste, or their
earrings when in uniform. A turban of
a new pattern was also ordered for the
sepoys.”f

These ill-advised changes might possibly
have been accomplished without oceasioning
any serious disturbance, had a cordial under-
standing subsisted between the British and
the native officers. But this was not the
case ; and the consequence of the alienation
existing between them was, that the sons of
Tippoo Sultan, then resident at Vellore,
took advantage of the princely income and
unusual degree of liberty allowed them as
state prisoners, to assemble a large band of
adherents, who made it their business to
inspire the soldiery with aversion to their
foreign masters, on the ground that the
newly-devised turban, and its concomitants,
though ostensibly ordered for the sake of
convenience and unanimity, were really the
tokens and forerunners of a forcible conver-
sion to Christianity. The assertion was an
utter absurdity. The Hindoos themselves,
whose creed makes no provision for con-

knighthood of the Order of the Bath, quitted India
in 1803, ill-pleased with the manner in which the
services of his brother and himself were l"L‘('l_'l\'L'(l.-

* Mill's History of British India terminates with
the peace with the Mahrattas. In an able, but pre-

judiced, and without the comments of Prof. W ilson,
misleading summary of the commercial results nfi
the Wellesley administration, the revenues are shown !
to have been raised from £8,059,880, in I_H(J;';'-('a,_ln !
£15,403,409 ; but the war expenditure, with L]-ll,' in- |
terest on the increased debt, which had been tripled, l

VELLORE—JULY, 1806.

verts, were scarcely more devoid of prose-
lytising zeal than the LEnglish had shown
themselves, despite the opposite tendency of
a religion which directs its professors  to
preach the gospel to all nations.”” The
military officers had, as a body (for there
were exceptions), no need to defend them-
selves against any imputation of over-anxiety
to manifest the excellencies of their faith in
their lives and conversation, or by any en-
couragement of missionary labours. Of
Crln‘istiauity the natives in the vicinity of
Vellore knew nothing, and were conse-
quently ready to believe just anything, ex-
cept that its divine Founder had enjoined
on all his disciples a code so fraught with
humility, chastity, and brotherly kindness,
that if observed it must infallibly render
Christians a blessing to every state, whether
as rulers or as subjects.

Ruomours of the growing disaffection were
abroad, but excited little attention in the
ears of those most concerned.
able symptoms of mutiny appeared, and
were forciblyf put down, until, on the 10th
of July, 1806, the European part of the
Vellore garrison were attacked by their
native colleagues, and Colonel Fancouart and
112 Europeans had perished or been mor-
tally wounded, before Colonel Gillespie, at
the head of a body of dragoons, terminated
a contest which involved the destruction
of about 350 of the mutineers, and the
imprisonment of 500 more. Lord William
Bentinck became the sacrifice of measures
adopted without his sanction, and was re-
called, together with the commander-in-
chief, Sir John Cradock. The obnoxious
orders were repealed, the allowances of
the sons of Tippoo were diminished, their
place of imprisonment changed from Vellore
to Bengal; and, by slow degrees, the panic
wore off. The captive insurgents were gra-
dually set at liberty ; the cheerful obedience
of the men, and their customary fidelity to
those whose salt they ate, returned ; and the
British officers ““ ceased to sleep with pistols
under their pillows.”§

caused the annual charges to exceed the receipts by
above two million. This was a temporary addition,
but the revenues of the conquered territories were a
permanent gain, viewed as so certain, that Barlow
held forth the prospect of a million sterling as the
annual surplus, to follow immediately on the restora-
tion of peace. + Auber's India, ii., 432. .

{ The severe coercion employed may be conjec-
tured from the fact that 900 lashes each were in-
flicted upon two grenadiers for refusing to wear the
“ hat-shaped” turban. § Bentinck’s Memorial,

Unmistak-
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.—CRISHNA KUMARI OF OODIPOOR.

I\ A paINISTRATION OF LorD Mi NTO—:]HOG to
' 1813.—The new gm'vruor-gcncrn_l (formerly
Sir Gilbert Elliot) came to India strongly
prepossessed in favour of a ncu[l_':il ])(?llc_\_', but
was speedily compelled to modify his views.

Holear, on his return to Ma'l\\':l, found
occupation in quelling the (lvlsturhances
arising from the non-payment of arrears to
his turbulent followers, who made use of
the bov, Kundee Rao, to intimi(latc.his
uncle into the liquidation of their claims.
The ohject being accomplished, the child
became, as he had himself predicted, the
victim of the wrath of Jeswunt Rao; and
Casee Rao died suddenly soon after, having
been likewise, it was supposed, assassinated
to prevent the possibility of the rights of
any legitimate descendant of Tukajee being

~ brought into collision with those of Jeswunt

Rao. These and other atrocities were the fore-
runners of madness,which appearedin tempo-
rary paro.\'ysms,with intervals of_partia] sani_t'\;',
employed by Jeswunt in making extensive
military preparations, especially in casting
cannon, a work which he superintended
night and day, using stimulants to supply
the place of food and rest. It soon became
necessary to confine him; and twenty to
thirty men with difliculty succeeded in bind-
ing the despot fast with ropes, like a wild
beast. IHis fierce struggles gradually sub-
sided into speechless fatuity, and, at the
expiration of three years, during the
greater part of which he was fed like an
infant with milk, the dreaded freebooter
died a miserable idiot in his own camp, on
the 20th of October, 1811.* Before his
insanity, Holcar had taken advantage of
the withdrawal of British protection to
ravage and pillage the states of Rajast’han,
especially Jeypoor or Amber, under the old
pretext of exacting arrears of chout. The
quarrels of the Rajpoot princes gave full
scope for his treacherous interference. The
hand of Crishna Kumari, the high-born
daughter of the rana of Oodipoor, was an
object of dispute between Juggut Sing of
Jeypoor, and Maun Sing of Joudpoor.
Holear was bought off by Juggut Sing, but
this arrangement did not prevent him from
suffering his general, Ameer Khan, to hire
his services to the opposite party. The chief
commenced his task by ridding the rajah of
Joudpoor of a rebellious feudatory, named

* Holcar was of middle height, remarkably strong
and active. A small but handsome mausoleum was
erected to his memory near Rampoora, and his favou-
rite horse ranged in freedom around it. Tod describes

| Sevace Sing, whom he deluded, by oaths and

protestations of friendship, into visiting his
camp. The intended victim entered the
spacious tent of the Patan with a body of
friends and attendants, and was received
with every demonstration of respect. Ameer
Khan invented a plausible pretext for a
short absence, and caused the cords of the
tent to be suddenly loosened ; then, taking
advantage of the confusion, he ordered a
sharp fire of musketry and grape to be
poured indiseriminately on the whole of the
crowded assembly. The massacre was com-
plete; and not only the companions of the
betrayed Rajpoot, but those of Ameer Khan
himself, with a party of dancing-girls and
musicians, were mercilessly sacrificed. The
rana of Oodipoor was seriously alarmed by
the enmity of so unprincipled an adversary.
He vainly appealed to the British govern-
ment, as possessing the paramount authority
in India, to interfere for the protection of
their oppressed neighbour: his entreaties,
like those of Zalim Sing, were disregarded,
and the proud representative of the Surya
race (the offspring of the sun) was compelled
to fraternise with the infamous Patan ad-
venturer by the exchange of turbans, as
well as to subsidise his troops at the cost of
a fourth of the revenues of the principality.
This was in itself deep abasement, but worse
remained behind. Ameer Khan, in con-
junction with Ajeet Sing, a Rajpoot noble,
whose memory 1s, for his conduct on this
occasion, execrated throughout Rajast’han,
succeeded in convincing the unhappy rana,
that the death of his child was absolutely
necessary to save the prineipality from de-
struction at the hands of the rival suitors.
With his consent, poison was mixed with the
food of the princess; but she ate sparingly,
and its murderous purpose was not accom-
plished. ~ The high-spirited girl, on dis-
covering the design thus temporarily frus-
trated, bade her father attempt no more
concealment, since, if his welfare and the
safety of the state required it, she was ready
to die by her own act. Accordingly, having
bathed and dressed, as if for a nuptial feast,
she drank off the poison. The first two
dranghts proved harmless, for nature re-
volted, and the noxious beverage was re-
jected ; but the third time a more insidious
preparation was administered, and Crishna

this animal with enthusiasm, as the very model of a
Mahratta charger, with small and pointed ears, full

protruding eyes, and a mouth that could drink out
of a tea-cup.—(Rajast' han, ii., 720.)

l
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slept to wake no more in this life. Tler
mother died of grief; her father survived to
endure the galling reproaches of some of
his most faithful chiefs; and Oodipoor, so
far from benefiting by the unnatural erime,
lost from that hour its remaining glories.®
Ameer Khan, elated by success, grew
more daring in his plans; and, attended by
large bodies of Pindarries, undertook, in
1809, an expedition against the indolent
and effeminate rajah of Berar. Lord Minto
became alarmed by the probable subversion
of the principality, and, departing from the
nou-intervention policy, sent a strong de-
tachment for the defence of Nagpoor, and
notified to the invader that the territories of
the rajah were under British protection. A
blustering and defiant reply was returned,
upon which Colonel Close marched into
Malwa, and occupied Seronje, the capital of
Ameer Khan, with other of his possessions.
The strict commands of the home authori-
ties, together with considerations of finance,
prevented the governor-general from fol-
lowing up these vigorous measures by the
complete overthrow of “one of the most
notorious villains India ever produced ;”’+
and the immediate safety of Berar having
been secured, Ameer Khan was suffered to
escape with undiminished powers of mis-
chief. Before the close of his administra-
tion, Lord Minto had reason to repent this
mistaken lenity, Berar was again invaded,
and one quarter of the capital burnt by the
Patan and Pindarry freebooters, a party of
whom proceeded to set at nought British
authority, by an irruption into the fertile
province of Mirzapoor. The advisability of
reverting to the bold and generous policy of
the Marquis Wellesley became evident;
and Lord Minto, whose term of office had
nearly expired, urged upon the directors the
Indeed,
* Malcolm's Central India, i., 340. Tod's Rajast’-
han, i.,466. Malcolm states, that the circumstances
attending the death of the princess excited loud and
bitter wailing throughout the city of Oadipoor.
An aged chief, named Sugwan Sing, having heard
of the intended sacrifice, mounted his horse and rode
with breathless haste to the palace, He found the
rana and his counsellors seated in solemn silence;
and to his impetuous inquiry, whether Crishna
were alive or dead, Ajeet Sing, the instigator of the
tragedy, replied by an injunction to respect the
affliction of a bereaved parent. Sugwan Sing un-
buckled his sword and shield, and laid them at the
feet of the rana, saying, “ my ancestors have served
yours for more than thirty generations, but these
arms can never more be used on your behalf;” then
turning to Ajeet Sing, he reproached him with hav-
ing brought ignominy on the Rajpoot name, add-

the leading acts of Lord Minto himself were
neither of a strictly defensive nor neutral
character.  Sir George Barlow’s with-
drawal of protection from the petty chiefs
south of the Sutlej, had tempted a neigh-
I)ourmg potentate, with whom the company
had heretofore no connexion, to extend his
conguests in that direction. The leader in
qulcstim} was the famous Runjeet Sing,
I‘E‘l‘]ﬂll of Lahore, a Seik chief of Jat descent.
To prevent further aggression, the minor Seik
powers menaced by him were declared under
British supremacy, and a strong force as-
sembled for their defence. Runjeet Sing,
unwilling to provoke a contest, concluded a
treaty with the company, by which he con-
sented never to maintain a larger body of
troops on the left bank of the Sutlej than
was needful to support his authority already
established in that quarter. As a further
guarantee for his good faith, a detachment,
under Sir David Ochterlony,i took up a
permanent station at Lioodiana, on the east-
ern side of the river.

The multiplied aggressions of France on
the vessels of the E. I. Cy., and the fear of
attempts to regain a territorial position in
India, induced the dispatch of embassies to
Persia§ and Cabool, for the sake of forming a
more intimate alliance with those kingdoms.
The Mauritius, Bourbon, and the Moluceas
were captured by the British in 1810; and
Java, with its dependencies, was conquered
by Lord Minto, in person,|| in 1811. Of
these valuable acquisitions, Bourbon, the
beautiful 1sland of Java, and the Moluccas,
were relinquished at the general pacifica-
tion 1 1815.

Some few remaining incidents of im-
portance, which occurred in the time of
Lord Minto, remain to be chronicled. The
first of these is the death of the aged em-
peror Shah Alam, in 1806, aged eighty-
ing, as he quitted the assembly, ** May the curse
of a father light upon you—may you die childless.”
The malediction excited considerable attention, and
the successive deaths of all the children of the
cuilty noble, were viewed as its fulfilment.

+ Tod's Rajust'han, i., 468.

1 Sir David Ochterlony and Runjeet Sing, like
Holcar and Zalim Sing, were both one-eyed men.

§ Sir John Malcolm was sent to Persia by E. I. Cy. ;
Sir Harford Jones and Sir G. Ouseley, by the Crown.

|| Lord Minto had been compelled to visit Madras
in 1809, in consequence of the strong dissatisfaction
which prevailed among the European officers, arising
from reduced allowances ; but greatly aggravated by
the dogged and tyrannical proceedings of the gov-
ernor, Sir George Barlow. By a judicious blending
of firmness and conciliation, Lord Minto succeeded
in allaying an alarming tumult.
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| the futile endeavour.
| Travancore authorities in

MOIRA, OR HASTINGS’

ADMINISTRATION—I1813

He was succeeded in his titular
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authority by his eldest son, Akber Shah,

| quisition of real power, but soon renounced
The exertions of the
1809, to throw
off the yoke of the E. I. Cy., imvolved some

| destruction of life, but terminated in the

principality becoming completely dependent
on Fort St. George. The tribute exacted
from Cochin was also largely increased.
The last feature was an 1mpending rup-
ture with the Goorkas, a tribe who had
come into notice about the middle of the
eichteenth century, and had gradually as-
sumed a dominant influence over the whole
of the extensive valley of Nepaul. During
the second administration of Lord Corn-
wallis, they had completed the attainment
of territory (less by wiolence than by fraud
and corruption) which presented, on the

' side of the English, a frontier of 700 miles.

Disputes had arisen between the Goorkas
and certain chiefs, who, through the ces-
sions made by the vizier of Oude, or other
arrangements, had become British feudato-
ries. The so-called pacific policy of Lord
Wellesley’s successors had emboldened ag-
gression in all quarters; and the seizure of
Bhootwal (a border district of the ancient
viceroyalty of Oude) was followed by re-
newed invasion ; until, 1 1813, a new turn
was given to affairs by the demand of the
English authorities for the immediate sur-
render of the usurped territories. Before
an answer could arrive from the court of
Nepaul, the reins of government passed from
the hands of Lord Minto, who returned to
England, where he died (June, 1814), aged
sixty-five. He was an able and energetic
man ; and the removal of his prejudices paved
the way for a similar change of feeling on
the part of his countrymen.*

Moira, or Hastines’ ADMINISTRATION,
1813 to 1823.—Lord Moira reached Caleutta
in October, and, in the following month,
received the tardy reply of the Goorkalese
sovereign to the demand of Lord Minto for
the evacuation of Bhootwal and Sheoraj.
It was complimentary in manner, but un-
compromising in substance. There were
many reasons for avoiding immediate hos-
tilities in this quarter, and attempts were
made to settle the question by amica-

-t In 1813, an atlempt to impose a house-tax occa-
sioned great excitement in the haly city of Benares:
the people practised a singularly combined, and even-
tually successful system, of passive resistance.

ble negotiation ; but the persistance of the
commissioners  from Nepaul in  reviving
points previously settled, being at length
silenced by a positive refusal to enter on
such discussions, the British agent was
warned to quit the frontier ; and the envoys
were recalled to Katmandoo, the capital of
Nepaul. Lord Moira was too anxious to
avert a frontier war, to give place to hasty
resentment; and he addressed aremonstrance
to the Nepaulese government regarding the
insulting manner in which the late negotia-
tion had been broken off. No answer being
returned to this communication, a detach-
ment was sent from Goruckpoor to occupy
the disputed lands, an object which was
effected without opposition. The British
troops placed the direction of affairs in the
hands of native officials, and withdrew, con-
gratulating themselves on the easy fulfilment
of an unpromising task.

The position of the northern mountaineers
was but very imperfectly understood by the
Calcutta funectionaries, who now wielded the
sceptre of the Mogul. During the palmy
days of the empire, while the reins of gov-
ernment were held by too firm a hand for
servants toappropriate to themselves the dele-
gated sway of the sovereign, the plains at the
foot of the mountains, between the river
Teesta on the east and the Sutlej on the west,
had been possessed by numerous petty Hin-
doo rajahs, who became tributary to the em-
peror, and received, in return, protection from
the aggressions of the lawless hill-chiefs,
most of whom maintained their indepen-
dence, though some were content to own a
sort of vassalage to the empire, in return for
the possession of a portion of the magnifi-
cent forest of Sdl trees, and of the rich
plain called the Twraee, lying between them
and Hindoostan. The old highland rajahs,
whose families had warred with their low-
land countrymen from time immemorial,
held their own during the continuance aud
after the decline of Mohammedan power,
until one of themselves, an aspiring chief,
named Prithi Narayan Sah,t rajah of the
small state of Goorka, to the north-west of
Nepaul, incited by the early victories of the
English in Bengal, armed and disciplined a
body of troops after the European fashion,
and proceeded to absorb the surrounding
states, in a manner deseribed as closely

T According to Col. Kirkpatrick, the Goorka
dynasty claim descent from the ranas of Oodipoor.
Hamilton states, they belong to the Magar tribe,

which has but very partially yielded to Brahminism.




WAR WITH THE GOORKAS OR NEPAULESE—1814.

resembling that which had rendered the na-
tion he imitated masters of India. The na-
bob of Moorshedabad, Meer Cossim Ali, at-
tempted to interfere on behalf of some of
the weaker chiefs in 1762-"3, but sustained
a signal defeat; and an expedition sent by
the Bengal government, in 1767, to succour
the rajah of Nepaul, proved equally unsuc-
cessful. Prithi Narayan died in 1771, but
his successors carried on the same scheme
of conquest, crossed the Gogra river, seized
Kumaon, and even strove to gain posses-
sion of the rich valley of Cashmere. The
lowland rajahs, when transferred by the ces-
sion of the vizier of Oude from Mussulman
to British rule, were suffered to retain un-
disturbed possession of their territories on
payment of a fixed land-tax. The Goork-
alese, on the contrary, as each hill-chieftain
was successively vanquished, exterminated
the family, and, with the conquered posses-
sions, took up the claims and contests of
their former lords, and were thus brought in
contact with numerous rajahs and zemindars,
actually occupying the position of British
subjects. The complaints laid before the
supreme government by these persons were
generally but lightly regarded; and, unless
under very peculiar circumstances, the
Goorkalese were treated as good neigh-
bours, whom 1t was desirable to concilate.
Under a strong government at Calcutta,
outrages on the frontier were of compara-
tively rare oceurrence, and, when firmly de-
manded, reparation was usually made; but
the unfortunate measures of Sir George
Barlow incited aggressions which were not
to be so easily checked as heretofore.  The
rajah (a prince with a long string of names,
differently given by different authorities)*
was a minor. The chief authority rested
in the hands of a military aristocracy, headed
by a powerful family called Thappa, of
whom one member, Bheem Sein, exercised
the office of prime minister, with t_hc title of
general, while his brother, Umur Sing, held
command of the army.  The expediency of

advantageous, than peace purchased at the
sacrifice of their favourite system of encroach-
ment.  The British, on their part, viewed
the approaching struggle with little appre-
hension.  The Bengal officers, especially,
made sure of victory. From the days of
Clive to those of Lake, with scarcely an ex-
ception, they had but to take the field and
march straight against the enemy, to en-
sure his precipitate flight. The uncontested
occupation of Bhootwal and Sheoraj, seemed
the natural eflfect of their military reputa-
tion, and considerable surprise was excited
by tidings that the Goorkalese had set them
at defiance, by taking advantage of the with-
drawal of the troops to surround the three
police-stations in Bhootwal, where after kill-
mg and wounding twenty-four of the de-
fenders, the superior local officer of the
British had been murdered in a very bar-
barous manner. The governor-general de-
manded from the court of Katmandoo the
disavowal of any share in this outrage, and
the punishment of its perpetrators; but re-
ceived a menacing reply, which precluded
further hope of an amicable arrangement,
and occasioned the issue of a declaration of
war by Lord Moira in November, 1814.
The army destined for the invasion of the
enemy’s frontier, formed four divisions, of
which the first, under Major-general Marley,
comprised 8,000 men, and was intended to
march against Katmandoo. The other three
divisions, under Maj.-generals Wood, Gilles-
pie, and Ochterlony (4,500, 3,500, and 6,000
strong), were directed to attack different por-
tions of the hostile frontier; besides which,

Major Latter was furnished with a body of

2,700 men for the defence of the Purneah
frontier, to the eastward of the Coosy river.t
The campaign opened with the siege of the
petty fortress of Kalunga or Nalapanee, situ-
ated on an insulated hill, a few miles from
Dehra, the chief town in the Doon (or valley.)

war with the Enclish was much canvassed

by the Goorkalese chiefs.
arrived at was, that their native fastnesses
would always afford an invulnerable position,
and by issuing thence on predatory incur-
sions, a state of hostility could be made more

* Styled by Fraser, Jirban Joodeber Bheem Sr.'?h;
by Prinsep, Maharajah Kurman Jodh Bikram .\n‘h
Bahadur Shumsheer Jung. His father was assassi-
nated by his own brother in full durbar, in 1805. The
fratricide was slain in the ensuing barbarous affray,

The decision |

' royal family was nearly extinguished.

in which most of the chief nobles perished, and the |

The garrison consisted of about 600 men,
headed by a nephew of Umur Sing. The
English expected to carry the place by
storm according to custom, and the gallant
Rollo Gillespie, with fatal impetuosity, led an
assault, in which, while waving his hat to
cheer the troops, he was shot through the
heart. The siege was discontinued pending
the arrival of a battering train from Delhi;
The present
rajah (then an infant) was secreted in the zenana.

+ Major (now General) Latterrendered good service
by his negotiations with the rajah of Sikkim (a hill
state east of Nepaul), and his small detachment “ac-
complished more than it was destined to attempt. 4
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but even when a breach had been effected,
the soldiers, dispirited by their former re-
pulse, could not be ilullut‘.ml to advance. It
was not until the assailants had sustained a
loss, in killed and wounded, r:onsidoyahly he-
yond the entire number of the garrison, that
measures were taken to shell the fort, and
cut off the supply of water obtained without
the walls. The besieged were compelled to
evacuate the place on the 30th November,
1814. The conquerors found in the mangled
bodies of hundreds of men and women, dead
ordying of wounds and thirst, fearful evidence
of the determination of the foe with whom
they had now to deal. This inauspicious
commencement seems to have inspired three
out of four of the leaders of the British army
(including Martindell, the successor of Gil-
lespie) with a degree of timidity and dis-
trust, which can scarcely be disguised be-
neath the name of prudence; and General
Marley was struck off the staff for neglect
and incompetency.  General Ochterlony
displayed a quickness and energy which,
combined with diseretion, enabled lnm to
cope with difficulties of a new and unex-
pected order, and, although opposed by
Umur Sing in person, to obtain triumphs
to counterbalance the disasters which at-
tended the other divisions. IHe had formed
from the first a just estimate of the charac-
ter of the enemy, whom he met with their
own weapons, especially by the erection of
stockaded posts, before unknown in Anglo-
Indian warfare. The opening movements
of the Enghsh veteran were cautious and
laborious. The making of roads, and diplo-
matic proceedings with wavering chiefs, oc-
cupied much time before his masterly policy
could be developed; but its effects were
manifested by the reduction of the Ramgurh
and other forts, and by the withdrawal of
Umur Sing, with his entire force, to the
strong position of Maloun.  The stone fort
thus named, and that of Soorajgurh, formed
the extremities of a line of fortified posts,
erected on a lofty and difficult ridge project-
ing into the Sutlej. Of the intervening
neaks, all were oecupied by stockades except
Ryla peak and Deothul. Of these two,
Ochterlony, on his approach, succeeded in
obtaining possession ; the first without diffi-
culty, the second after a sanguinary conflict

* The Goorkalese displayed throughout the cam-
paign an unexpected amount of chivalry, and ex-
ribited, in many ways, their confidence in the good
faith of the British. After the battle of Deothul,
they asked for the body of Bhukti Sing, whose loss
they loudly bemoaned, declaring that the blade of

EPAUL—MALOUN BES1EGED—1814-"15.

on the 15th April, 1815. Bhukti Thappa,
a famous leader, above seventy years of age,
who commanded at Soorajzurh, represented
to Umur Sing the necessity of dislodging
the British from Deothul ; and on the morn-
ing of the 16th, an attack was made by the
flower of the Goorkalese army on all acces-
sible sides.®*  Iappily, the previous night
had been spent in throwing up defences in

expectation of a renewed struggle. The
enemy came on with such furious intre-

pidity, that several men were bayoneted or
cut to pieces within the works; and their
fire was directed so effectively against the
artillerymen, that at one tjme three officers
and one bombardier alone remained to serve
the guns. A reinforcement, with ammumi-
tion from Ryla peak, arrived at a critical
moment, and the British, after acting for two
hours on the defensive, became in turn as-
sailants ; Bhukti was slain, his followers put
to flight, and a complete victory obtained,
at the cost of 213 killed and wounded. The
enemy left about 500 men on the ground
before Deothul.  The event afforded a great
triumph to the native troops, by whom it
was almost wholly achieved. It was followed
by the evacuation of Soorajgurh, and the
concentration of the hostile force in Maloun,
against which place a battery was raised by
the end of the first week in May.

In the meantime, the governor-general
had been actively employed in initiating a
series of spirited operations on the side of
Rohileund. While visiting the north-western
provinces, he had learned that the inhabi-
tants of Kumaon were held in rigorous
subjection by the Goorkalese, who frequently
seized and sold their wives and children to
enforce the most arbitrary exactions. To
supply the place of regular troops, levies
were made from the warlike Patans of Rohil-
cund, under the auspices of two commanders
(Gardner and Iearsey), who had come over
from Sindia at the time of the Mahratta
war. The corps organised by Major Hear-
sey was dispersed by the enemy, and its
leader made prisoner ; but Lieutenant Gard-
ner succeeded in making his way into the
heart of the province of Kumaon, and took
up a position 1n sight of Almora, the capital,
where a force of regular infantry and artil-
lery, under Colonel Nicholls, joined him in
their sword was broken. Ochterlony complied with
the request, and sent the gory corpse, wrapped in
rich shawls, in acknowledgment of the bravery of the
fallen chief. His two widows sacrificed themselves on
the funeral pile next day, in compliance with his in-
Junction.—(H. T\ Prinsep’s Zrans. in India, i., 170.)
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! t]}e middle of April. The Setolee heights,
: distant from the fort about seventy yards,
- were gained after a severe contest; and the
1 governor, thus closely menaced, and strait-
ened for want of supplies, signed terms of
l surrender for the whole province, and for the
| retirement of the Goorkalese troops to the
| east of the Kalee river—articles which were
duly executed.

Tidings of the fall of Almora facilitated
the conquest of Maroun. The dispirited
Goorkalese entreated Umur Sing to make
terms for himself and his son Runjoor,
whom General Martindell had ineffectually
besieged in the fort of Jythuk. The old
chief refused, declaring, that the rainy
season, now close at hand, would compel
the British to withdraw; and he used the
most severe coercion to retain the allegiance
of the troops. But in vain: the majority
of both officers and men came over to the
British camp as prisoners of war ; and Umur
Sing, with but 250 remaining adherents,
beheld the batteries ready to open upon the
walls of Maloun. Convinced of the hope-
lessness of prolonged resistance, the proud
chief resigned his last stronghold, together
with all the territory from Kumaon west-
ward to the Sutlej, including, of course,
Jythuk. Thus a campaign which, in Jan-
uary, promised nothing but disaster, termi-
nated in May with the conguest of the
whole hilly tract from the Gogra to the
Sutlej, a country hitherto deemed impene-
trable to Kuropeans. The triumph was, in
fact, mainly due to native troops; of whom,
with the exeception of a few artillerymen,
Ochterlony’s division was exclusively com-
posed. It is important to add, that this
force was extremely well officered, and that
its operations were materially facilitated by
the ability of the field engineer, Lieutenant
Lawtie, who died, aged twenty-four, of
fever, brought on by excessive fatigue
and exposure endured before Maloun.®

Ochterlony received a baronetcy, and a
pension of £1,000 a-year in acknowledg-
ment of his services. The governor-general
was rewarded by a step in the peerage, being
created Marquis of IHastings. Various im-
portant arrangements attended the conclu-
sion, or rather interruption, of hostilities.
Many of the Goorkalese entered the Bri-
tish service, and were formed into what were

* General Ochterlony deeply lamented his brave
coadjutor. The whole army went into mourning,
and afterwards erected a monument to the memory
of Lieut. Lawtie in the cathedral church of Calcutta.

DIV. XI. 3 u

— 1 |
termed the Nuseeree battalions; a provincial ‘
corps was also raised for civil duties in
I\.umuon, which now became a British pro-
vince. The Doon was retained, and ulti-
leittcl}' annexed to the Scharanpoor district.
The remaining hill country was restored to
the several chiefs from whom it had been
wrested by Umur Sing, with the exception
of a few military posts; and the whole terri-
tory was declared under British protection.

The Katmandoo government was not, how-
ever, yet sufficiently humbled to accept the
terms of peace offered by Tord Hastings.
Umur Sing and his sons strenuously advo-
cated the renewal of war, in preference to
suffering a British resident and military
establishment to be stationed at the capital.
Another object of dispute was the fertile
but insalubrious Turaece and the adjacent
Sal (shorea robusta) forest, of which, accord-
ing to a Goorkalese saying, “every tree is
a mine of gold.”+ The proposed treaty was
therefore rejected, and Sir David Ochter-
lony again took the field in January, 1816,
at the head of nearly 17,000 effective men,
including three European regiments. All
the known passes through the first range of
hills had been carefully fortified by the
enemy; but, happily, a route was dis-
covered through a deep and narrow ravine,
by which the Cherea heights were gained
without resistance, and the position of the
Goorkalese completely turned. The Bri-
tish general marched on to the beautiful
valley of the Raptee, and was moving up
to Mukwanpoor, when a skirmish of posts
paved the way to a general action, in which | |
he obtained a signal victory ; whereupon the
royal red seal was hastily affixed to the re-
jected treaty of Segoulee, and a duly quali-
fied envoy presented it on his knees at |
the durbar of General Ochterlony, in pre-
sence of all the vakeels in the camp.

By a politic concession, a part of the
Turaee was surrendered to the Nepaulese. |
The portion skirting the Oude dominions
was retained, and, together with Khyree- |
gurh, a pergunnah of Rohilecand, was made | |
over to Ghazi-oo-deen, in payment of a |
second loan of a crore of rupees obtained
from him during the war, and furnished out |
of the hoards of his father, Sadut Ali, the
late nabob-vizier, who died in 181

During the Goorkalese war, indications

+ The timber is used in ship-building, th_ough
far inferior to the teak of Malabar and of the
Burman empire. The elephant, rhi:mcums,_nnd
buffalo abound in the forest, and ravage the plain. |
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of a desire to take advantage of any symptom
of weakness in the British government were
not wanting on the part of Sindia, or even

-
|
|

' of the peishwa, who now began to think

" himself strong enough to stand alone, and
" was well inclined to kick aside the ladder

by which he had risen to fortune. ~ The
triumphant conclusion of the late hostili-
ties checked the development of these feel-

| ings, and left Lord Hastings at liberty to

direct his chief attention to the suppression
of the predatory bands of Pindarries and
Patans, who had arisen, “like masses of
putrefaction, out of the corruption of weak
and expiring states.”* The chief difference
between them was, that the Patans were
military mercenaries, associated for the pur-
pose of invading or plundering such states
as they could overpower or intimidate ; while
the Pindarries were cowardly and desperate
banditti, whose object was universal rapine.
Against both these descriptions of marau-
ders the English authorities were compelled
to be continually on the alert. The most
effectual defensive measure was considered

| to be the establishment of subsidiary troops

in Berar. The death of Ragojee Bhonslay
appeared likely to facilitate this arrange-
ment; for his only son Pursajee, being
paralysed and an 1idiot, the nephew of the
late rajah Moodajee, commonly called Appa
Sahib, assumed the regency; and the better
to establish his aseendancy, sought the re-
cognition of the English at the cost of
entering upon the defensive alliance which
they particularly desired. Appa Sahib was,
at heart, decidedly opposed to the establish-
ment of foreign influence at Nagpoor, and
no sooner felt himself firmly scated on the
gadi, than he sought the means of re-
covering the purchase-money of his position
by entering into negotiations with the court
of Poona, then the nucleus of a powerful
confederacy forming against the English-—a
proceeding which he accompanied by the
precaution of causing his young and afflicted
ward to be strangled in the night of Feb-
ruary lst, 1817.

* Maleolm's Central India,i., 431. Sir John, on
113[3 authority of the Pindarry leader, Kureem Khan,
gives the etymology of the term Pindarry—from
Linda, an intoxicating drink which they were con-
stantly imbibing. Kureem Khan was a Rohilla.

T No fewer than twenty-five women drowned
thufnselvvs to escape violation; many sacrificed also
their young children. The ordinary modes of tor-
ture inflicted by the Pindarries \\'c-}eflut-aV)' stones
placed on the head or chest; red-hot irons applied to
the soles of the feet; tying the head of a person into

Before this event, the incursions of the
Pindarries had alarmingly increased, and in
1816 they remained twelve days within the
British frontier, during which time they were
ascertained to have plundered 339 villages,
put 182 persons to a cruel death, severely
wounded 503, and subjected 3,603 others to
different kinds of torture.t The losses sus-
tained by individuals at Guntoor (in the Nor-
thern Circars) and elsewhere, were estimated
at about £100,000 sterling. 'The peishwa,
Sindia, and the divided authorities on whom
the management of the Holear principality
had devolved, affected to desire the suppres-
sion- of these enormities; but as it was
notorious they favoured the perpetrators,
it became necessary to take steps against
such deceitful governments.

The policy pursued by the peishwa toward
his English patrons, had become evidently
hostile since the accession to office, in 1815,
of one Trimbukjee Dainglia, a menial ser-
vant, who had found the path to power
by promoting the gratification of his mas-
ter’s ill-regulated desires. The assassination
of Gungadhur Shastree,{ the representative
of the Guicowar chief, who had come to
Poona to settle a question of finance, under
the express protection of the English, justified
the resident (Mountstuart Elphinstone) in
demanding the removal from office of the
instigator of the erime. Bajee Rao, with
characteristic indecision, first surrendered
his favourite, and then unceasingly solicited
his deliverance from the imprisonment which
was the only punishment the English autho-
rities desired to inflict.  Artifice effected
the deliverance of the prisoner. The Mah-
ratta groom of one of the British officers
in the garrison of Tanna, in the island of
Salsette, while engaged in exercising his
master’s horse, sang bencatn the window
of Trimbukjee what appeared to be one of
the monotonous ballads of the country, but
which really communicated to the captive a
plan of escape, of which he took advantage
on the evening of the 12th of Septem-
ber, 1816, Ilaving made an excuse for
ashes; throwing oil on the clothes and setting fire
to them; besides many others equally horrible.
Their favourite weapon was the long Mahratta spear.

{ Gungadhur was the name of the ambassador;
Shastree, a title denoting intimate acquaintance
with the Shastras, a portion of the sacred writings
of the Hindoos. DBajee Rao was himself supposed
to have sanctioned the murder, to revenge an affront
given by the Shastree in refusing to allow his wife
to visit the palace of the peishwa, then the scene of
licentiousness unparalleled during the sway of any of

a tobra or bag for feeding horses, filled with hot | his predecessors.— (Dufl’s Makrattas, iii., 374.)
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quitting his rooms, he reached an embra-
sure, and lowered himself into the diteh by
means of a rope, secured to a gun by one
of his accomplices. This adventure greatly
increased the reputation of Trimbukjee with
his own countrymen, and he began to as-
semble troops on the Mahadeo hills to the
north of the Neera. The military prepa-
rations of the peishwa, and his secret cor-
respondence, and even interviews, with a
subject against whom he affected to desire
the co-operation of British troops, left little
doubt of his perfidious intentions; and the
governor-general considered himself justified
in adopting a very summary mode of di-
minishing the power which he expected to
see employed in counteracting his plans for
the destruction of the Pindarries. Bajee
Rao was treated as an avowed enemy, and
required, as the only means of averting war,
to surrender Trimbukjee, to renounce the

right of supremacy over the Mahratta con-
federation, and to surrender certain terri-
tories in Malwa, Guzerat, and the Decean,
for the purpose of supporting a force of
5,000 cavalry and 3,000 infantry, to be
maintained in lieu of the previous British
contingent. Other humiliating concessions
were exacted from Bajee Rao, by the treaty
of Poona ratified in June, 1816, which
in fact reduced him from the position of
an independent prince to that of a mere
vassal. The treaty of Bassein had been
censured for the sacrifices it entailed on the
peishwa; and “the extension of the sub-
sidiary system in 1805, had led the way to
the retirement of the most enlightened
statesman who had ruled in India.”* By
this time the weathercock of public opinion
had veered round, and the Court of Direc-
tors expressed themselves well satisfied with
the course of events, and convinced “of the
irrepressible tendency of our Indian power
to enlarge its bounds and to augment ifs
preponderance, in spite of the most peremp-
tory injunctions of forbearance from home,
and of the most serupulous obedience to
them in the government abroad.”t

The sanction of the E. I. Cy. was likewise

* Auber'’s British Power in India, ii., 528.

+ Seeret Letter of Directory to licn_gul, Jan., 1818.

{ Prinsep’s Military Transactions, ii., 2,

§ Among the malcontents assembled under Ameer
Khan was Dya Ram, a refractory talookdar, or ze-
mindar of the Doab, who, in 1816, had been ex-

pelled by British troops from his fort of Hatras.
The peishwa had command over 28,000 h‘.m;?; !

13,800 foot ; 37 guns.  Sindia—14,250 horse ; 16,250

foot; 140 guns. Holcar—20,000 horse; 7,940 foot ;

given to offensive operations to the extent
requisite to drive the Pindarries from their
!11:Lunt§ on the Nerbudda and from Malwa.
I'he views of the Marquis of Hastings were
more comprehensive : he considered that the
peace of Central India demanded the total ex-
termination of these predatory bands; and to
that end ““ did not hesitate boldly to assume
the principle that, in the operations against
the Pindarries, no power could be suffered
to remain neutral, but all shounld be required
to join the league for their suppression.”f

At this period (1817) the Pindarries, under
their respective leaders, were stated, by the
lowest computation, at 15,000 horse, 1,500
foot, with twenty guns. Other writers car-
ried the estimate as high as 30,000; but
anthorities agreed, that when joined by
volunteers and adventurers from other na-
tive armies, they often exceeded the latter
amount. The Patans, under Ameer Khan,
were estimated at 12,000 horse, 20,000 foot,
and 200 guns. Supposing the contemplated
confederation between the four Mahratta
leaders (the peishwa, Sindia, Holcar, and
the Bhonslay), the Nizam, Ameer Khan,§
and the Pindarries, to have been carried
out, a forece of above 130,000 horse, 87,000
foot, and nearly 600 guns might have been
brought into the field to dispute British
supremacy. |

Measures had been already taken to
diminish the danger of hostility on the part
of the peishwa, and the subsidiary alliance
lately formed with Berar was expected to
ensure neutrality in that quarter. The
plan of the campaign, therefore, was princi-
pally formed with relation to the indepen-
dent states of Sindia, Holear, the Rajpoots,
the nabob of Bhopal, and the chiefs of
Bundeleund. Something after the fashion
of the old “circular hunts” was to be at-
tempted, by assembling armies round these
countries which should, by simultaneous
movements, close in so as to encompass the
Pindarries and their abettors at all points,
provision being made for the defeat of the
project through the strength or cunning of
the enemy, as well as for the defence of the

107 guns. Bhonslay—15,766 horse; 17,826 foot;
85 guns. Nizam—=25,000 horse; 20,000 foot. The
Nizam himself was too weak and indolent, if not
incapable, to be suspected of any intention to in-
trigue against the English; but his sons were tur-
bulent youths, whose vicious practices it had bce.n
necessary to assist their father in restraining; and it
was difficult to judge what might be the conduct of
the numerous armed population of Hyderabad, in
the event of reverses attending our arms.
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British territory. The forces destined to
carry out this extensive scheme comprised

" above 91,000 regular troops, and 23,000

irregular horse,* divided and subdivided
in accordance with the plan of the cam-
paign.  On the 20th October, 1817, the mar-
quis, in person, assumed command of the
grand army at Secundra (near Kalpee), and
after crossing the Jumna by a bridge of
boats, proceeded to occupy a position south
of Gwalior, where Sindia had established his
permanent camp ; while another division of
the Bengal troops took up its station at
Dholpoor. Undoubted evidence had been
obtained that Sindia had not only pledged
himself to support the Pindarries, but had
even attempted a treacherous correspon-
dence with the Nepaulese. His intercepted
communications proved him to be only
wanting a favourable opportunity to take
the field, and thus give an example which
would assuredly have been followed by the
open appearance in arms of Ameer Khan
and his Patans, who were at present inclined
to hold back from their Pindarry friends.
Sindia had inherited the ambition without
the judgment or decision of his predecessor.
He had not aunticipated the skilful move-
ment by which he found himself menaced
by a formidable force in front and in the
rear. To bide the event of a siege in
Gwalior, or to repair to his distant domi-
nions and join the Pindarries, with the
chance of being intercepted and compelled
to risk the event of a general engagement,
were both humiliating and dangerous mea-
sures, which he thought best to avoid by
agreeing to the demands of the English.
These involved active concurrence against
the Pindarries, and the temporary sur-
render of the forts of Hindia and Aseerghur,
as a pledge of fidelity. The treaty exacted
from Sindia was followed by the submission
of Ameer Khan, who agreed to disband his
army, if confirmed in possession of the terri-
tory of which he was in the actual tenure
under grants from Holear. As this noto-

* The Dececan force, under Sir Thomas Hislop
(including a reserve corps, the Guzerat division,
and the troops left at Poona, Hyderabad, and Nag-
poor) numbered 57,000 regulars, of whom 5,255
were cavalry. The Bengal force comprised 34,000
regulars, including 5,000 cavalry,—(Col. Blacker.)

+ Sindia seized Gwalior upon the death of Am-

bajee Inglia, in 1808, and established his army in |

the neighbourhood, where he remained until his own
demise in 1827. A city sprang up there which
soon rivalled Oojein, if not in the costliness of its
structures, at least in the amount of population,

[ rious chief was a mere adventurer, whose de-

mands could only be conceded by legalising
the usurpations on which they were founded,
it may be doubted whether temporary expe-
diency, rather than justice, was not the
actuating motive in the arrangement entered
upon with him. Treaties with Zalim Sing
of Kotah, and other minor potentates, were
made in a spirit similar to those formed by
Lake under the auspices of Lord Wellesley;
and the nabob of Bhopal, especially, entered
cordially into the intended expedition against
the despotie freebooters from whose ravages
his small territories had sustained almost
irremediable damage.

The Pindarry chiefs, meanwhile, aware of
the extensive preparations made against
them, employed themselves during the rains
in reeruiting their respective durraks or
camps. The want of cordiality between the
prineipal leaders—namely, Cheetoo, Kureem
Khan, and Wasil Mohammed—prevented
their forming any combined plan of resis-
tance. With the exception of some luhburs,
or plundering expeditions dispatched against
the unprotected territory of the British or
their allies, little attempt at opposition was
made ; and losing their usual activity, the
majority of the Pindarries retreated pas-
sively before the advancing foe, fixing their
last hope on the secret assurances of support
received from Poona,

The governor-general does not appear to
have anticipated any struggle on the part of
the peishwa to recover his lost authority.
Mr. Elphinstone, in his capacity of resident,
had seen ample reason to take precautions
against this highly probable event; but
Bajee Rao, in an interview with the politi-
cal agent, Sir John Maleolm, had conducted
himself so plausibly, that Sir John, com-
pletely duped by professions of grateful
attachment for early support, mingled with
sad complaints of the harsh policy recently
adopted, forgot the character of the arch-
hypoerite with whom he had to deal, and
actually advised the peishwa to continue

I In 1797, two Pindarry leaders, named Heeroo
and Burrun, who were also brothers, offered the
services of themselves and their 5,000 followers to

| the state of Bhopal, as auxiliaries in the war then
[ carried on with Berar. Being rejected, they went
| off and made a similar proposition to Ragojee
Bhonslay, who received it favourably, and bade
them lay waste Bhopal, then in a most flourishing con-
| dition. The order was obeyed with cruel and lasting
effect. The chiefs were plundered by their employer
the Berar rajah. Heeroo, the father of Wasil Mo-
hammed, died in prison; Burrun at Aseerghur.
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enlisting recruits for the laudable purpose of |

ments, advanced to the plain between Kirkee |

co-operating with his good friends the Eng- | and the city, to meet the Mahratta troops. | "

lish. “Thus encouraged, Bajee Rao (_)lmnl_\'l

levied troops from all quarters, and secretly |
endeavoured to induce the British s(‘p()ysl
stationed at Poona to desert their colours. |

The native ofticers and regulars were, with-
out exception, proof against these solicita-
tions, which in many instances were made

known to their commanders. But the
irregular battalions, under Major TFord,

contained a large proportion of Mahrattas,
and these were naturally more subject to
temptation. It is asserted that the peishwa
desired, before proceeding further, to be rid
of the resident by assassination; but that

Bappoo Gokla, the chief Mahratta leader,

positively refused to sufler the perpetration |

of so base a crime, the more especially since
he had received peenliar kindness from the
intended victim. Happily, Mr. Elphinstone
was on his guard alike against national and
iadividual hostility, and waited anxiously
the first symptom of undisguised hostility,
in anticipation of which a regiment had
arrived from Bombay. Thinking the can-
tonment in Poona too exposed, the station
was changed to the village of Kirkee, four
miles distant ; a step which, being attributed
to fear, greatly encouraged the Mahrattas,
who began to plunder the old cantonments.
At length, on the 4th of Nov., 1817, Moro
Dikshut, the minister of the peishwa, ac-
tuated by personal attachment, warned
Major Ford to stand neunter in the coming
struggle, and thus save himself and his
family from the destruction which was
shortly to overwhelm the whole British de-
tachment. Up to this moment the major,
though in daily communication with the
city, had been so completely hoodwinked by
Bajee Rao, as to entertain no suspicion of
intended treachery. On the following day,
news of the approach of a light battalion
from Seroor, determined the irresolute
peishwa to defer the attack no longer.
Efforts were continued to the last to throw
the British oft their guard ; and an emissary,
bearing some frivolous message from the
court, had scarcely quitted the residency,
before intelligence arrived that the Mahratta

armyv was in movement. Mr. Elphinstone
and his suite had just time to mount m!(l
retire by the ford of the Moola river, to join
their comrades at Kirkee, before the enemy

arrived and took possession of the residency,
which was speedily pillaged and burned. 5
The British brigade, leaving their canton- |

The peishwa, disconcerted by this daring
movement, sent word to Gokla not to fire the
first gun. Gokla, secing the messenger, and
suspecting the nature of his errand, waited
not his arrival, but commenced the attack
!)y opening a battery of nine guns, detach-
mg a strong corps of rocket camels, and
pushing forward his cavalry to the right and
left. A spirited charge was made under his
direction by Moro Dikshut, with a select body
of 6,000 horse, bearing the Juree Putka or
swallow-tailed golden pennon of the empire.
They came down like a torrent on the
British front, but were steadily encountered
by the 7th battalion. Colonel Burr had
“formed and led” this corps; and now,
though completely paralysed on one side,
he took his post by its colours, calm and
cotlected. One ball went through his hat,
another grazed the head of his horse, two
attendants were shot by his side; but the
infirm officer, unhurt and undismayed, con-
tinued to cheer and direct his men. The
advance of the assallants was happily im-
peded by a deep slough (the existence of
which was not previously suspected by either
party), situated immediately in front of the
British line. The cavalry, while scrambling
out of the mire, were exposed to the re-
served fire of Burr’s detachment; Moro
Dikshut was killed, the force of the charge
broken, confusion spread through the Mah-
ratta ranks, and the advance of the English
proved the signal for a general retreat. The
battle of Kirkee must ever remain con-
spicuous among the hard-fought fields of
India, for the great disproportion of the
combatants. The Mahratta force comprised
18,000 cavalry and 8,000 foot: their loss
was 500 men in killed and wounded ;* beside
which, a considerable number of their valu-
able and highly-cherished horses were dis-
abled. The whole number of the British
troops engaged in this affair, including
Major Ford’s battalion (part of which de-
serted), was 2,800 rank and file, of whom
800 were Europeans. Their loss was 186
killed and fifty-seven wounded. |

During the engacement, the peishwa re-
mained on the Parbuttee hill, with a guard
of 7,000 men. At the first outbreak of
hostilities, his orders were vindictive and
ferocious in the extreme;t but he became

* Moro Dikshut was mortally wounded by a shot
from a zun attached to Captain Ford’s battalion.
t+ Several Buropeans were killed in cold-blood ;

L
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|
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| alarmed by the uucxp(-ctc.d turn of events,
and gave over all power into the hands of
| Gokla, who was anxious to continue the
" contest. “ We may have taken our shrouds
' about our heads,” he said, “but we are
determined to die with our swords in our
hands.”* This was not, however, the gen-
| eral feeling of the Mahrattas. They had
' little cause for attachment to the grasping
and incapable Bajee Rao; and he displayed
an utter want of confidence in their will or
ability to protect him, by taking the ap-
proach of a British reinforcement, under
General Smith, as the signal for a midnight
retreat towards Sattara. Poona, thus a
second time deserted by its sovereign, sur-
rendered on the following day; and the
necessary arrangements having been made
for its retention, General Smith started off
in pursuit of the peishwa, who, though a
fugitive, was still at the head of a formi-
dable army. IHe was further strengthened
by the open adhesion of Appa Sahib, the
rajah of Berar, between whom and the
British foree, under Colonel Scott, a severe
conflict took place on the heights near Nag-
poor, on the night of the 26th of November.
The rajah being defeated, made terms of
peace, for the fulfilment of which he was
himself to be the guarantee, as a sort of
prisoner in his own palace; but Mr. (after-
wards Sir Richard) Jenkins, learning that
Appa Sahib was only waiting an opportu-
| nity of escape, seized and sent him strongly
- escorted towards Benares. The captive,
though treated heretofore without much
ceremony, was suffered to choose his own
escort; the result of which was, that the
British officer on guard, having been made
to believe that his charge was an invalid,
gave a hasty glance at the bed on which
Appa Sahib usually slept, and turned away
after this slack performance of his nightly
duty, without discovering that a pillow had
been made to take the place of a person
who was already many miles distant.
General Smith followed the peishwa
| through the Ghauts, but failed in bringing
- him to action. This much-desired object
was, however, unexpectedly accomplished
on the lst of January, 1818, by a detach-
ment proceeding to support Colonel Burr in
- resisting an expected attack on Poona.
Captain Staunton, with one battalion of
N. I. 600 strong, 350 irregular horse, and

|

and tiue families of the native troul)s who fell into the
hands of the Mahrattas were cruelly maltreated

l * Duff’s Mahrattas, iii., 429,
1

BATTLE OF CORYGALTM—SURRE?\LDET? OI‘ _S;_LSTTA_B_A-_-—;]_R]_S._

two G-pounders, manned by twenty-four
Buropeans, after a long night march, reached
the hills above Corygaum, a village over-
hanging the steep bank of the Beema river,
and beheld with surprise the whole force of
the peishwa, estimated at 25,000 to 28,000
men, encamped on the opposite bank. Both
parties pushed on for the village, and suc-
ceeded in occupying different portions; but
the British gained possession of a small
choullry, or place of refreshment, which had
originally been a temple. Ilere the de-
tachment remained, under a burning sun,
cut off from the water from mnoon to nine
o’clock, disputing every foot of ground, and
repulsing repeated attacks with the bayonet.
The peishwa ascended an adjoining emi-
nence, and, with the rajah of Sattara by his
side, awaited what seemed a certain vie-
tory. Gokla and Trimbukjee (who had now
joined his master) directed the attacks; and
the Arab mercenaries, whose superior cou-
rage was acknowledged by superior pay,
at one time became masters of the choultry,
but it was soon recaptured. The struggle
seemed hopeless, but surrender was not
thought of. “ See,” said Captain Staun-
ton, pointing to the headless trunk of Lieu-
tenant Chisholm, lying beside a gun,  the
mercy of the Mahrattas!” The troops,
though some were fainting and others nearly
frantic with thirst, declared that sooner
than fall into the hands of their foes, they
would die to a man: and the result seemed
probable. Happily, towards mightfall, a
supply of water was procured. The firing
gradually ceased; and at daybreak, when
the brave band prepared to renew the con-
flict, the enemy was descried moving off on
the road to Poona, in consequence of the
rumoured advance of General Smith. Cap-
tain Staunton, who was unhurt, retreated to
Seroor ; and the government, in commemo-
ration of this gallant affair, raised the corps
engagedt to the much-coveted rank of grena-
diers, and added “ Corygaum” to the name
of “Mangalore,” previously borne by the
first regiment of Bombay native infantry.
Sattara was besieged by a combined force
under generals Smith and Pritzler, on the
Oth of February, and capitulated on the fol-
lowing day. A manifesto was issued by
Mr. Elphinstone, on behalf of the British
government, taking formal possession of the
dominions of the peishwa, with the view of
+ The battalion (2nd of 1st Bombay N.1.) lost 153
killed and wounded ; the artillerymen (26 in all), 15;
cavalry, 96 ; officers, 5 out of 8, including 2 surgeons.




- retaining all except a small tract to be re-
served for the rajah of Sattara, who, with
 his family, was still in the hands of Bajee Rao.
General Smith again started off in pur-
- suit, and came up with the Mahratta force
. at Ashtee, to the north-westward of Shola-
poor.  Bajee Rao, as usual, thought only of
making good his retreat, and left Gokla, with
a body of eight or ten thousand horse, to
fight the English.  General Smith,* thouch
in other respeets a good officer, is said to |
have been ignorant of the art of manw@uvring I
cavalry, and he was opposed by a leader of
unrivalled skill in that favourite branch of |
Mahratta warfare. The English chief was |
cut down, and some confusion ensued; of
which before Gokla could take advantage, he {
was himself slain—falling, as he had pro- |
mised, sword in hand. "There was no one
capable of taking his place, and the Mah-
rattas fled in wild dismay, leaving elephants,
camels, and baggage of all descriptions, to
the victors.t

The rajah of Sattara, withl
Lis mother and fwo brothers, voluntarily
threw themselves on British protection ; and
being placed under the care of Mr. Elphin- [
stone, and assured of the favourable inten-
tions of the British government, the rajah
assumed the state of a sovereign. The |
wound of General Smith did not prove
dangerous, and he was soon enabled to re-
sume the pursnit of Bajee Rao, which the
excessive heat of the weather rendered an |
extremely arduous and depressing task. |
The men fell beneath sun-strokes more !

surely and speedily than in the recent |
engagements, and the hospitals became
crowded. The fugitive peishwa had long
been desirous to make terms of peace; and |
at length, when his intended passage across |
the Nerbudda was intercepted by Sir John |
Maleolm, he made proposals which that
officer considered as affording satisfactory |
ground for an arrangement. The terms|
finally agreed to were the complete renun- |
ciation of every political right or claim by
Bajee Rao, in return for an allowance of
not less than eight lacs of rupees a-year.
Beithoor, a place of sanctity near Cawnpore,
was appointed for his future residence.
Trimbukjee was soon after captured in his
lurking-place by a party of irregular horse
under Licutenant Swanston (one of the vie-

* Afterwards Sir Lionel Smith, govr. of Jamaica.

+ The British loss amounted to only ninetee
killed and wounded ; that of the enemy, to 200.

t Transactions in India, 1813 to 1823, i., 107—111.
Mr. Prinsep was present at head-quarters, and lost |
seven servants and a moonshee in four days. During
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tors at Corygaum), and sent prisoner to
the fort of Chunar, in Bengal.

To revert to the operations simulta-
neously carried on against the Pindarries,
Soon after the signing of the treaty of alli-
ance with Sindia, on the 5th of Nov.,, 1817,
the army under Lord Hastings was over-
taken by a violent pestilence, since known
as cholera,} which traversed the whole of
India, from Nepaul to Cape Comorin. The
year was one of scarcity, the grain of in-
ferior quality, and the situation of the
British  cantonments low and unhealthy.
For ten days the whole camp was an hospital ;
and the deaths in that short period amounted
to a tenth of the total number collected.
Towards the end of the month the troops
removed to a healthy station at Erich, on
the Betwa, and the epidemic had evidently
expended its virulence. Notwithstanding

| this calamity, the object of Lord Hastings |

in advancing to Gwalior, was fully answered |
by the prevention of any co-operationl
between Sindia and the Pindarries. The ‘
latter, after being expelled from their haunts
in Malwa, were compelled to retreat in
various directions, and annihilated or dis-
persed, with the exception of those under
Cheetoo, who being pursued by Sir John Mal- l
colm, took refuge in the camp of Holear, near
Mahidpoor. The government of the Holear ‘.
\
|

‘ principality at this time rested in the hands

of Toolsae Bye, the favourite mistress of the
late Jeswunt Rao, who had exercised the
chief anthority during his insanity. After

his death, she placed on the musnud his |

infant son Mulhar Rao, and proceeded to
give vent to all the eruel caprices which could
suggest themselves to the imagination of a
woman of thirty years of age, handsome
and of fascinating manners, but of an im-
perious and mereiless temper and most li-
centions morals. Her last favourite, who
assumed ez officio the reins of govern-
ment, was the Dewan, Gunput Rao. He

wavered between fear of the English and a |
desire to take part with the peishwa, then |

in arms. The commanders of battalions,
especially the Patans, were adverse to en-
tering upon any treaty by which their con-

sequence was likely to be lowered; and |

fearing that the force under Malcolm, to
which the division under Sir Thomas Hislop
one week, 764 soldiers and 8,000 camp followers
rerished. Total deaths of Europeans in camp in
xk'm'.—l-lﬂ. The epidemie, ealled by the natives the
“black death,” visited Caleutta in September, 1817,
and for a long time destroyed above 200 per diem
in that city.—(Prinsep : Wilson, ix., 253.)
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Lad since been added, would overawe their
vacillating rulers into submission, they
threw Gunput Rao into prison, enticed away
the child, Mulhar Rao, from the tent before
which he was playing, and carried off Toolsae
Bye, by night, to the banks of the Seepra,
where, despite her cries, she was decapitated,
and the body thrown into the river.®

On the following day (21st of December,
1817), a pitched battle took place, in which
the British were completely successful,
though at the cost of mearly 800 in killed
and wounded. The enemy lost 3,000 men,
chiefly in the flight to Mundissoor. The
mother of the child Mulhar Rao, though a
woman of inferior rank, being now the ac-
knowledged regent of the Mahratta state,
made full submission to the English; and
in return for the cession of all claims in
Rajast’han and south of the Sautpoora
range, was confirmed in the actual posses-
sion of the remaining territories of the prin-
cipality, at the court of which a British
' resident was to be established. Many of
the old leaders repudiated this engagement,
and set off’ to join Bajee Rao—an attempt in
which some succeeded, but others were
intercepted, and cut off or dispersed.t The
ministers, under the new order of things,
“ did not deplore an event which disembar-
rassed a bankrupt state of a mutinous sol-
diery, and cancelled a number of old and
troublesome claims.”

The struggles of the Pindarries were
nearly ended; Kureem Khan, and other
chiefs, surrendered on the promise of pardon
and a livelihood, and received small grants
of land. Wasil Mohammed poisoned him-
self. Cheetoo for some time contrived to
elude pursuit, but was surprised in Dec.,
| 1817, with the main body of his followers,
and dispersed by a detachment from the
garrison at Hindia. The Bheels (aboriginal
peasantry) and the Grassias (native land-
owners), remembering the outrages they

* The career of Toolsae Bye resembles that of the
heroine of a romance. She passed as the niece, but
was generally supposed to be the daughter, of Ad-
jeeba, an ambitious priest, who, though a professed
mendicant, rose to rank and influence. Ie spared no
pains in the education of Toolsae; and she, Malcolm
not very gallantly remarks, was “tutored in more
than the common arts of her sex.” Jeswunt Rao
became enamoured with the fair intrigante at first
| sight. She was married, but that mattered little,
| In a few days the lady was in the palace of Holear,
‘ber husband in prison, from whence he was re-
| leased and sent %mme to the Deccan with some
i presents. Toolsae Dye had an artful waiting-maid,

double her own age, who, after having attained high

had long passively sustained, now spared not

a Pindarry who fell into their hands; but

Cheetoo, with about 200 followers, still re- }
mained at large.f Though driven from place |
to place, the daring freebooter bore up against |
misfortune with a spirit worthy a better

cause ; till he suddenly disappeared—none,

not even his son and few remaining follow-

ers, knew how or where; for they had

parted from him to hunt the forest for food.

After some days, his horse was discovered

grazing near the jungles of Aseerghur

(where Appa Sahib had sought refuge), sad-

dled and bridled : at a little distance lay a

heap of torn and blood-stained garments,

and a human head, the remains of a tiger’s

feast. It was a fitting death for the last of
the Pindarries—the last that is deserving

the name; for these bold marauders, de-

prived of their leaders, without a home or a

rendezvous, never again became formidable.

After the termination of the war with the

peishwa, they gradually merged into the

ordinary population, following the example
of their leaders. Many of them settled in
the Deccan and Malwa, as cultivators; and
some, employing their energies to a right
use, became distinguished as active, im-

proving farmers. The remaining Patan
troops were conciliated or dispersed without
further bloodshed.

The flight of Appa Sahib caused much
anxiety, which terminated with the fall of the
fortress of Aseerghur (April, 1819), whence
the ex-rajah escaped disguised as a fakeer,
and soon sank into a state of insignificance,
from which he never emerged. An infant
grandson of Ragojee Bhonslay was chosen to
bear that name and fill the vacant gadi, or
throne of Berar, with the title of rajah,
under the nominal regency of his grand-
mother, the British resident being vested
with the actual control of affairs during the
minority. The remaining operations of the
war were chiefly directed to the expulsion

station and amassed large sums by extortion (thereby
exciting the envy of the minister on whom the fleet-
ing affections of her mistress for the moment rested),
was flung into prison, cruelly tortured, and driven to
end her agonies by taking poison.—(Malcolm.)

+ An excellent account of the Mahratta and Pin-
darry campaigns of 1817-"18-"19, has been given by an
officer engaged therein—Lieutenant-colonel Blacker.

1 Conditions of surrender were discussed on behalf
of Cheetoo, but his terms were extravagant: moreover,
he feared treacbery and transportation; and even
when dreaming, used to talk with horror of the
sea, the hateful Cala pant, or black water. After his
tragical end, a few fields were allotted for the sub-
sistence of his son, a youth of weak intellect.
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of various Arab garrisons from Can

: deish, a
province which, though professedly under

the sway of the Poona government, had been
gradually usurped by Arab colonists. Malli-

- gaum, the strongest fort in the Candeish

valley, was gained after an obstinate siege
in June, 1819, at a cost to the successful
besiegers of 200 killed and wounded.*

The L. I. Cy. evinced their sense of the
conduct of the governor-general during the
late “glorious and successful wars,” b
granting him the sum of £60,000 from the
territorial revenues of India, for the purchase
of an estate in the United Kingdom. Few
remaining events in the administration of
Lord Hastings need here be mentioned.
Its commencement was marked by the
renewal of the company’s charter for twenty
years; by the opening of trade with India to
the nation at large ; and by the formation of
an ecclesiastical establishment for British
India.t  The oceupation of Singapore, in

1817, was effected through the efforts of

Sir Stamford Raflles, to whose zeal and dis-
cernment may be attributed the possession
of the British portion of the Indian Archi-
pelago. Protracted negotiations were carried
on with. Holland by Mr, Canning, then
President of the Board of Control, which
terminated in the Netherlands’ treaty of
1824, by which the Dutch settlements on
the continent of India, with Malacca, and
the undisputed right to Singapore, were
ceded to England in exchange for Sumatra,
which was needlessly surrendered.

The financial dealings with Oude have
been noticed. The pecuniary loans of the
nabob aided in enabling him to assume the
title of vizier without the sanction of the
emperor ; and, in 1819, the style of vizier
was changed for that of king—an indis-
creet admission on the part of the I. 1. Cy.
The chief blot upon the character of Lord
Hastings’ administration, was caused by
the countenance lent by him to the ne-
farious transactions of certain persons who,

* In the course of the Mahratta war, considerable

| service was rendered by Sir Thomas Munro, who,

with a few hundred men, was deputed to take pos-

| session of the country ceded by the treaty of Poona,

which was effected with some fighting, but chiefly
by econciliation. Sir David ()r:hturlunylikewis‘c played
n'mnspivuous partin the Pindarry war. His death,
in 1825, occurred under painful circumstances. He
was twice appointed resident at Delhi, and removed
each time against his Inclination: on the last oc-
casion, vexation of spirit increased the morbid melan-
choly which hastened the elose of his eventful career ;
and his last words, as he turned to the wall, ‘were—
“1 die disgraced.”—(Kay's Life of Metcalfe, ii., 132.)
DIV, XI. 31

dea]ings, :
nt to the

under pretence of mercantile
obtained the sanction of governme
most shameless and usurious practices, car-
ried on at the expense of the weak and in-
competent Nizam. It ‘was in fact a new
version of the “Carnatic debt,” conducted in
the name of Messrs. Palmer and Co., one of
tl‘w confederates or partners being Sir
Thomas Rumbold, who stood almost in
the position of son-in-law to the governor-
general, having married a niece whom his
lordship had brought up from infanecy, and
for whom he avowedly cherished the fér:lings
of a father. Strong domestic attachment
and excessive vanity conspired to induce
Lord Hastings to defend a course into
which he had been misled by the artifice of
covetous men ; and when his late secretary,
Charles Metcalfe, on entering upon the
duties of British resident at Hyderabad, set
forth in very guarded and moderate lan-
guage, the necessity of introducing a hetter
order of things, the marquis manifested
great annoyance, and subsequently addressed
a most intemperate letter to the directory,
in return for their very just animadversions
on the nature of a firm which, without
office or establishment, carried on “dealings
to the extent of nearly £700,000, oceurring
under an imperceptible progress.”’f  Pay-
ments for real or imaginary loans, at sixteen
to eighteen per cent., were made by the
Hyderabad government, by cash and by
assignments of revenue; notwithstanding
which, £600,000 were claimed by Messrs.
William Palmer and Co., as the balance of
accounts with the Nizam in 1820,

During the course of his prolonged ad-
ministration, the Marquis of Hastings,
involved in numerous and intricate military
operations, found little opportunity to study
with success questions connected with the
civil administration of the empire, and the
complicated and anxious question of reve-
nue.§ His lordship resigned his office
into the hands of the senior member of

t The first Bishop of Caleutta (Middleton) came
out in 1814. He died in 1822, and was succeeded
by Reginald Heber, who was cut off by apoplexy in
1826. 'Bishop James died in 1828, Turner in 1830.

1 Auber, ii., 538 to 566. Thornton, iv., 583.

§ Sir Thomas Munro was sent to Madras in 1814,
at the head of a commission formed for the purpose
of revising the judicial system. He exerted himself
very efficiently in the decision of arrears of causes
which had been suffered to accumulate to a shameful
extent. In 1821, he became governor of Madras,
and carried out a settlement with a portion of the
individual cultivators, called the ryotwar assessment,

by which each small holder was not simply put in
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ADMINISTRATION OF LORD AMHERST—I1823.

council, Mr. Adam, and quitted India in
January, 1823.% Though nearly seventy
years of age, pecuniary embarrassments pre-
vented him from spending his remaining
days in his own country; and he was ap-
pointed governor of Malta, where he died,
in consequence of a fall from his horse, in
1826.1

For six months the supreme authority

rested in the hands of Mr. John Adam, an
honest and able man, but somewhat pre-
judiced. He had uniformly dissented from
the conduct adopted by the late governor-
- general with regard to the house of Palmer
and Co.; and he was ready and willing to
carry out the orders of the court for
making the large advance to the Nizam
necessary to free him from the hands of his
rapacious creditors, who were forbidden to
have any further dealings with the court of
Hyderabad. The circumstances of the case
are involved in mystery; but it is certain
that the failure of the concern created a
great commotion in Calentta, many persons
being secretly interested in these transac-
tions whose names were never made public.
The proprietors of East India stock called
for documents calculated to throw light on
the whole affair; and, after much tedious
discussion during the next twenty years,
political influence procured a decision more
favourable to the claims of the European
money-lenders, against various native debtors
in Oude, than was consistent with the honour
of the British government.
Thisprovisional administration was marked
. by the deportation of Mr. Silk Buckingham,
the editor of the Calcutta Journal, for a
' breach of the regulation forbidding editorial
comments on public measures. The suc-
cessful efforts of Mr. Adam for the redue-
tion of expenditure, especially of the interest
of the Indian debt, were highly meritorious,

the position of a mere yearly tenant, but was com-
pelled to pay a fluctuating amount assessed annually
at the pleasure of the collector for the time being,
whose chief object was naturally the realisation of
an immediate amount of revenue, without regard to
the permanent welfare—indissolubly united—of the
governors and the governed. This system, much
praised at the time, reduced the Madras ryots to a
state of extreme depression. Munro died of cholera
near Gooty, in 1827.—( Vide Life, by Gleig.)

* The revenues of India rose from £17,228,000,
in 1513-'14, to £23,120,000 in 1822-'3: but a con-
siderable share of this increase is attributable to the
accession of territory made under the Wellesley ad-
ministration.  The more than proportionate aug-
mentation of military expense is no less clearly as-
| cribable to the unjustifiable measures of Lord Corn-
wallis and Sir G. Barlow, and especially 1o the

as were also his unavailing attempts for
the extension of native education.

AMuERST ADMINISTRATION: 1823 10 1827,
—The place of Lord Hastings was at first
destined to be filled by Mr. Canning; but
the changes in the cabinet, consequent upon
the death of the Marquis of Londonderry,
opened more congenial employment to the
newly-appointed governor-general, and he
remained at home in charge of the foreign
office. Lord Amherst was selected for the
control of Indian affairs, and arrived in
Calcutta in August, 1823. The first object
pressed on his attention was the open hos-
tility in which a long series of disputes with
the Burman empire abruptly terminated.
The power of the Burmese was of com-
paratively recent growth. The people of
Ava, after being themselves subject to the
neighbouring country of Pegu, revolted

under a leader of their own nation, in 1753,
Rangoon, the capital of Pegu, surrendered
to the Ava chief, who assumed the title of
Alompra,} and the style of a sovereign ; and
during the succeeding eight years, laid the
basis of an extensive state, which was sub-
sequently enlarged by acquisitions on the
Tenasserim coast taken from Siam, and by
the annexation of the previously indepen-
dent states of Arracan, of Munnipoor, and
of Assam. Proceedings connected with the
conquest of Arracan, brought the Burmese
i contact with the British government;
for, at the close of the eighteenth century,
many thousand persons of the tribe called
Mughs, sought refuge from the insufferable
persecution of their oppressors 1 the
British province of Arracan. The numbers
of the immigrants excited apprehension,
and attempts were made to prevent any
more of them from crossing the boundary

line formed by the Naaf river. But this
was impracticable by means consistent with

sufferance long extended to the ferocious Pindar-
ries and the encroaching Mahrattas.  For five years;
(1817 to 1822), the average annual military expendi-
ture was £9,770,000. In 1822-'3, the expenses still
reached £8,495,000. The Indian debt increased
from £27,002,000, in 1813-"14, to £29,382,000 in
1822-'3; showing an augmentation of £2.380,000.
An able and comprehensive summary of the Hast-
ings administration is given by Josiah Conder, whose
history terminates at this point.

+ Lord Hastings married Flora Campbell, Countess
of Loudon, who lived with him in India in the full

£20,000 was granted to the young marquis.
| T Alompra (correctly, Alaong-b'hura), a term ap-
’plicd by the Buddhists of Ava to an individual
destined to become a Budd'ha, and attain the supreme
| felieity of absorption into the divine essence.

blaze of vice-regal splendour. In 1827, the sum of




IMMIGRATION OF M UGHS—FIRST

| ——

ordinary humanity, 1In 1798, not fewer
than 10,000 Mughs rushed to the frontier
m an almost frenzied state, and were fol-
lowed by another body still more numerous,
leaving the capital of Arracan nearly de-
populated.  They had fled through wilds
and deserts without any preconcerted plan,
leaving behind them abundant traces of
their melancholy progress in the dead bodies
of both old and young, and of mothers with
mfants at the breast. ‘The leader of one
party, when told to withdraw, replied that
he and his companions would never return
to Arracan : they were ready to die by the
hands of the English, or, if forcibly driven
off, would seek refuge in the jungles of the
great mountains, the abodes of wild heasts.
The wretched multitudes attempted no
violence, but sustained life as best they
could on “reptiles and leaves,” numbers
daily perishing, until the British govern-
ment, taking pity upon their misery, pro-
vided the means of sustenance, and materials
for the construction of huts to shelter them
from the approaching rains.  Extensive

tracts of waste lands, in the province of

Chittagong, were assigned to the refugees,
whom, perhaps, it would have been advisa.
ble to have settled in a more central posi-
tion, since a colony of 40,000 persons,
established under such circumstances, would,
as they grew stronger, be very likely to
provoke hostilities with the already incensed
and barbarous sovereign of Ava.

The surrender of the Mughs was repeat-
¢dly demanded by this potentate, but the

| Marquis Wellesley returned a decided re-

fusal; qualified, however, by an offer to
give up any proved and notorious criminals,
and by a prowmise to prohibit any renewed im-
migration of Burmese subjects. Some com-
munications took place of little importance ;
and the discussion might have passed off
without producing further hostility, but for
the restless spirit of the Mughs, and their
natural longing to regain possession of their
ancient rights and former homes. A chief,
named Khyen-bran (miscalled Kingberring),
arose among them inspired with an insatiable

~desire of vengeance against the Burmese,

| mid, and the

* The names of the kings of Ava, like those of
the zamorins of Calicut, were kept secret until
their deaths. The style of the Ava court, was to
speak of “the golden presence,” to address ** the
golden ear,” or lay petitions before *the golden
foot;” and on state occasions, the royal head was
literaliy oppressed with the weight of a golden pyra-
- body clothed in wrought gold.—
(Trant’s Two Yearsin Ava,270; Havelock’s Ava, 24 3.)
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which he manifested byannual irruptions into
Arracan. The Caleutta government strove
to check these aggressions, and Lord Hast-
Ings gave leave to the Bup

mese to pursue
the depredators to their

haunts in Chitta-

gong ; but this concession did not appease |
Ava, who attempted to form a |

the King of
confcdcrncy with

conf tunjeet Sing and other
Indian princes, for

: the expulsion of the Eng-
lish from India.  After the death of Khyen-
bran, in 1815, the border warfare greatly
diminished, and the British authorities, con-
sidering the chief cause of contention re-

moved, maintained a very conciliatory tone, |

which being interpreted by the nameless*
majesty of Ava as significant of weakness,
only rendered his representatives more inso.
lent and overbearing. Still no actual rup-
ture took place until September, 1823, when
a thousand Burmese landed by night on the
small island of Shahpoori, at the entrance
of the Tek Naaf, or arm of the sea dividing
Chittagong from Arracan. The islet was
little more than a sandbank, affording pas-
turage for a few cattle. The guard con-
sisted only of thirteen men, three of whom
were killed, four wounded, and the rest
driven off the island.

An explanation of this conduct was de-
manded, and given in the form of a vaunt.
ing declaration, that Shahpoori rightfully
belonged to the *fortunate king of the
white elephants, lord of the seas and carth,”
and that the non-admission of the claim of
“the golden foot” would be followed by
the invasion of the British territorics. The
threat was carried into execution, and a
Burmese force actually took post within five
miles of the town of Sylhet, only 226 miles
from Calcutta. The governor-general en-
tered upon the war with unfeigned reluc-
tance, and its commencement was mate-
rially impeded by ignorance of the country,
its routes, and passes. The advance from
Bengal was at one time intended to have
been made through Arracan, but this plan
was set aside from regard to the health of
the troops; and the main part of the force
designed for the campaign, comprising about
11,000 men,t of whom one-half were Euro-

1 This included the combined strength of ,\['-.ulr:Es
and Bengal ; but the excessive repugnance mani-
fested by the native troops in the service of the
latter presidency to forsake their families and forfeit
caste by embarking on board ship, rendered it im-
possible to employ any considerable portion of them.
It appears, moreover, that great neglect L’th‘lt"l’] on
the part of those entrusted with the charge of the
commissariat, as in the case of the refusal to march




|
|

|
|
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peans, assembled in May, 1824, at Port
' Cornwallis, in the Great Andamans. Major-
- general Sir Archibald (‘.m‘n]lhcll took com-
mand of the land, and Commodore Grant
of the marine portion of the expedition,
but the latter commander was speedily com-
pelled, by ill-health, to give place to Captain
Marryat. The forces safely reached Ran-
goon,‘thc chief port of Ava, which was eva-
cuated after a very feeble attempt at resist-
ance.® On the 10th of June, a successful
attempt was made on the fortified camp and
stockades at Kemendine, on the Irawaddy
river. The outwork was taken by storm;
the first man to gain the summit being
Major (afterwards Sir Robert) Sale. These
conquests were followed by a disastrous ex-
pedition, which involved not only loss of
life, but of character. A Burmese detach-
ment had formed stockades, under cover of
a fortified pagoda, at Kykloo, fourteen miles
from Rangoon, and a body of Madras infan-
try was dispatched to drive them off; under
Lieutenant-colonel Smith. The Burmese
suffered the English to approach within
sixty yards of the pagoda, and then opened
their reserved fire with deadly effect. The
sepoys may well be excused for quailing
before the foe when British officers fairly
lost all self-control, and lay down to screen
themselves from danger. Colonel Smith
ordered a retreat, which soon became a
flight, and many lives would doubtless have
been sacrificed had not the approach of re-
mforcements arrested the progress of both
pursuers and pursued. A strong force was
sent by Sir A. Campbell to drive the Bur-
mese from Kykloo, but they had previously
absconded. This affair, which oceurred in
October, 1824, was not caiculated to cheer
the army, or encourage them in a position
daily becoming less endurable. No con-
sideration of pity for the unfortunate people
against the Burmese, made by the 47th regiment
(about 1,400 in number), at Barrackpoor, in 1825.

The men entreated to be dismissed and suffered to
return to their homes, but without effect. The regi-

| ment was paraded, and the refusal of the men to

march or ground their arms (which they held un-
loaded, though furnished with forty rounds of am-
munition), was punished by a murderous discharge
of artillery, which killed numbers of them. About
200 were taken prisoners, of whom twelve were
hanged, and the remainder condemned to labour in
irons.  The court of inquiry appointed to report on
the whole affair, declared the conduct of the unhappy
soldiers “to have been an ebullition of despair at
being compelled to march without the means of
doing so.”—(Thornton’s India, iv., 113.)  IHow mili-
, tary men can reconcile their consciences to such
. proceedings as these, is perfectly incomprehensible.

of Rangoon had prevented the complete de-
vastation of the country by its sovereign,
and the invaders were consequently dis-

appointed in their hopes of obtaining sup-
plies of fresh meat and vegetables, and |

compelled to feed on putrid meat and bad
bisenit. The influence of dense jungle and

pestilential swamp, aggravated by intense
heat and deluges of rain, spread fever and
dysentery through the camp: scurvy and
hospital gangrene followed in their train; and
by the end of the monsoon scarcely 3,000
men were fit for active duty.
Ava relied on the proverbial unhealthiness of
Rangoon to aid the efforts of his ill-disci-

The King of |

plined troops, and facilitate the performance |

of his command to drive the invaders into
the sea, or bring them to the capital to sufler
torture and ignominy. Notwithstanding
this vaunting language, his majesty of the
golden foot became extremely uneasy on
witnessing the pertinacity of the English,

and despite much affected rejoicing at their |

having fallen into a trap by taking up a
position at Rangoon, he compared himself,
in an unguarded moment, to a man who,
having got a tiger by the tail, knew not
whether to hold on or let go.+
to have been encouraged in “holding on,”
by an odd tradition (if any such did really
exist) that the capital would remain invin-
cible until a magical vessel should advance
against 1t without oars or sails !{

The Diana steamer, which accompanied |

the flotilla on the Irawaddy, though pos-
sessed of no magic power, did great service

He is said |

in capturing and destroying the war-boats |

and fire-rafts sent out by the Burmese.
The arrival of reinforcements and supplies
from Bengal restored the number of troops
at Rangoon to about their original amount,
and infused new life into the survivors,
and spirit to resist the repeated but ill-

* Crawfurd’s Embassy to Ava in 1827: App., p. 65. |

t The Shwe-da-gon, a Buddhist temple of great
size and remarkable sanctity, being deserted by its
priestly guardians, was used by Sir A. Camphell
as a military outwork. The building was of solid
brickwork, elaborately decorated, and coated with
gilding, whence its name—the Golden Pagoda. The
portion deemed peculiarly sacred, was a solid cone 300
feet high, which was supposed to enshrine, ar rather
entomb, relics of the four last Budd’has— the staff of
Krakuchunda, the water-pot of Gunaguna; the bath-
ing-robe of Kasyapa, and eight hairs from the head of
Gautama, or Sakyasinha.—(Wilson’s Mill, ix., 50.
Also Hough, Symes, Snodgrass, Trant, and Havelock.)

1 Auber gives the tradition upon the authority of
Col. Hopkinson, who commanded the Madras artil-
lery in the Burmese war.—(ii., 579.)
mentions it.—( 7wo Fears in Ava, 241.)

Trant also




directed attempts of the various forces dis-
patched against them from Ava.

The provinces of Assam and Cachar were
captured by troops sent from Hindoostan,
with the aid of native auxiliaries. In Jan-
uary, 1825, 11,000 men were assembled in
Chittagong, and dispatched, under General
Morrison, to Arracan, with instructions to
reduce that province, and then join Sir
Archibald Campbell on the Trawaddy. The
first objeet of the mission was fulfilled ; but
ignorance of the Aeng Pass rendered the
Youmadoung mountains an impracticable
barrier, and prevented the performance of
the latter order. By the close of the rainy
season one-fourth of the men were dead,
and more than half the survivors in hos-
pital, from the nnhealthiness of the climate.
The remainder were therefore recalled, with
the exceéption of a few divisions left on coast
stations. Happily the war had been more
successfully prosecuted in Ava. The whole of
Tenasserim was conquered by detachments
from Rangoon* before the close of 1824 ;
and in the following February, General
Campbell prepared to advance, by land and
water, against Prome, the second city of
Ava. On the 25th of March, the troops
came in sight of Donabew, a fortified place,
where the flower of the Burmese army lay
encamped. Our flotilla was attacked with-
out suecess. Bandoola, the ablest and most
popular of the Burmese commanders, was
killed by a shell ; upon which Donabew was
abandoned by the enemy and immediately
occupied by order of General Campbell,
who advanced against Prome, which was
evacuated on his approach. The King of
Ava had not yet lost hope: levies were
raised in every part of the kingdom ; and in
November, a heterogeneous force marched
under the command of the prime minister
for the recovery of Prome. An engagement
took place on the Ist of December, which
terminated in, the death of the Burmese
leader and the dispersion of the entire force.
The British general prepared to follow up
his victory by marching on the ecapital,
but his progress was delayed by overtures
of peace, which proved to be mere pretexts
to gain time. The same stratagem was
repéatcd more than once; and even at ‘thc
last, when the evident futility of resist-

* Among the expeditions sent against the Fng-
lish at Rangoon, was one under the immediate
superintendence of the king’s two brothers, anc
numerous astrologers. A band of warriors termed
«invulnerables” by their countrymen, accompanied
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ance seemed to attest the sincerity of the
defeated Burmese, the boast of a military
adventurer, that he would be answerable for
the discomfiture of the invaders if enabled
to lead an army against them, induced the
renewal of offensive operations by the King
of Ava. Troops to the number of 16,000

were assembled under the new leader, who |
was  dignified by the name of Nuring |

- ) . et >
lhuring, prince of Sunset (which our troops,

being poor linguists, translated as prince of |

Dm'kt}css), and entrusted with the charge of
covering the capital against the approach of
the British army. The so-called “ retrievers
of the king’s glory” encountered about
1,300 men, under Colonel Campbell (two
brigades being absent on duty), and were
dispersed with greater loss than had been
sustained by their predecessors on any pre-
vious oceasion. Their brave, though boast-
ful leader, ventured to prostrate himself
before the golden throne, and solicit a more
powerful force, but was immediately put to
death by the enraged and humiliated sove-
reign.  No time could be spared now for
procrastinating schemes if Ava were to be
saved from the grasp of the English army,
which marched on to Yandaboo, only forty-
five miles distant. Two American mission-
aries (Messrs. Price and Judson), “the only
negotiators in whom the kifg had any con-
fidence,” were dispatched to the British
camp to conclude peace. General Camp-
bell made no increase on the terms already
stipulated for, and a treaty was finally con-
cluded in February, 1826, by which the
King of Ava ceded Arracan and Tenasserim
to the English; agreed to pay them a crore
of rupees (about a million sterling), to re-
ceive a resident at his court, and to grant
to their ships the privileges enjoyed by
his own. He likewise renounced all claim
upon Asam, Jyntia, Cachar, and Munnipoor,
which were to be placed under princes
named by the British government.

The “ peacock signet” was aflixed to the
treaty, the provisions of which were ful-
filled, including the money stipulation, after
some delay and discussion ; and thus ended
the first Burmese war. The dangers,
disasters, and heavy cost of life and treasure
involved therein, afforded strong arguments
to both parties in favour of a durable peace.

the princes, and were remarkable for the olabnr;_stn
tattooing of their bodies, which were c'_wure(! \_\'uh
figures of animals, and literally inlaid with precious
stones. Despite their name, and real though ill-

directed valour, they fled before European musketry.
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The main body of the invading force re-
turned as thc.y came, by the line of the
Irawaddy ; but a body of native infantry
' succeeded in finding a practicable route to
the Aeng Pass, and thus clearly proved that
| nothing but ignorance of the geography of
' the country had, humanly speaking, been
the sole means of preventing ‘“a portion of
General Morrison’s army from wintering in
Ava, instead of perishing in the mountains
of Arracan.”’*

Before the termination of the Burmese

S OF BHURTPOOR—1825-6.

was anxious to waste no time in inconclu-
sive negotiation: he wished to march at
once against Bhurtpoor, before the enemy
should have opportunity to take measures
of defence. With this intent, the veteran
general, then in his sixty-eighth year (fifty
preceding ones having been spent in India),
set on foot the necessary preparations, which
were arrested by counter-orders from the
supreme government. The heavy pecuni-
ary cost, and numerous disasters attendant
on the early stages of the Burmese war,

war, proceedings had occurred in anothcr}(:om!)incc] with mortifying recollections of
quarter which involved a fresh appeal to | the issue of the former siege of Bhurtpoor,
arms. The successors of Runjeet Sing of  rendered Lord Amberst reluctant to enter
Bhurtpoor, had faithfully observed the treaty | on an undertaking which, if unsuccessful,

of 1805. The latter of these rajahs, Baldeo |
Sing, had taken pains to ensure the pro- |
tection of the supreme government for his

' son, Bulwunt Sing, a child of five years |

old, by entreating the political agent at
Delhi, Sir David Ochterlony, to invest the
boy with a kkelat, or honorary dress, which
was the form preseribed by Lord Wellesley
as the official recognition necessary to legal
succession on the part of all subsidiary and |
protected princes. The request of the rajah |
was granted early in 1824, in consideration
of his infirm health; and his death a year
after, not without suspicion of poison, was
followed by a train of events which proved |
the justice of the precautions adopted on |
behalf of the heir. For about a month the
reins of government rested quietly in the
hands of the gunardian and maternal uncle
of the young rajah; but at the expiration
of that time, the citadel was seized, the
uncle murdered, and the boy made pri-
soner by Doorjun Sal (a nephew of the late
Baldeo Sing), who assumed the direction of
affairs. This daring usurpation involved a
defiance to the British government, which
Sir David Ochterlony felt keenly; he also
knew on how slender a thread hung the life
of the boy, for whose protection the honour
of Tngland had been solemnly pledged.
An immediate demand for the surrender
of Bulwunt Sing was refused; but the
promptitude and determination with which
it had been made, probably prevented an-
other name from being added to the long list
of Indian princes born too near a throne to
escape death by a poisoned opiate, or the
dexterous hand of an athlete. Sir David

* Trant's Two Years i Ava, 447. Prof, Wilson's
Docwnents Tlustrative of Burmese War.
T Wilson's Mill's India, ix., 191,

might, it was feared, add to existing embar-
rassments—that of ““hostilities with every
state from the Punjab to Ava.”t The suc-
cessful defence of this Indian fortress against
Lake, was still the favourite vaunt of every
secret and open foe to English supremacy :
the repetition of such an event was to be
avoided at any cost. The annulment of
the recent measures may be vindicated as a
necessary act; but there can be no excuse
for the harsh and peremptory manner in
which it was enforced, to the bitter mortifi-
cation of Ochterlony, who after being before
deprived of the position of Delhi resident
by Sir George Barlow, was now compelled
to tender his resignation, which he sur-
vived only a few months.{

Doorjun Sal attributed the conduet of
the British government to fear, and was
consequently emboldened to drop the sub-
missive tone which he had adopted while
military preparations were in progress, and
assert his claims, not as regent, but as rajah.
The new Delhi resident, Sir Charles Met-
calfe, advocated the same policy as that
which had cost his predecessor so dearly;
and his representations, in conjunction with
the warlike proceedings of Doorjun Sal,
induced the supreme government to resolve
on espousing the canse of Bulwunt Sing.
An attempt at negotiation having failed, an
army, comprising about 21,000 men and
above a hundred picces of heavy ordnance,
marched against Bhurtpoor in December,
1825, under the direction of Lord Comber-
mere. ‘The garrison was believed to comprise
20,000 men, chiefly Rajpoots and Jats,
with some Afghans; but the best defence of

the fortress consisted in its thick high walls |

of indurated clay, rising from the edge of a
broad and deep ditch, flanked by thirty-five

I See Note to p. 421

tower-bastions, and strengthened by the




outworks of nine gateways. Of these forti-
fications several had been added since 1805 -
one in particular, termed the Bastion of Vie-
tory, was vauntingly declared to have been
built with the blood and bones of English-
men there laid low. On the previous occa-
sion the besieged had, nevertheless, enjoyed
advantages far superior to those on which
they now relied. An immense number of
troops, stated, doubtless with exaggeration,
at 80,000,% were then assembled within the
walls, whence they could issue at pleasure
to draw supplies from the adjacent country ;
for the limited number of Lord Lake’s force
confined his operations to a single point.
Moreover, the English at that time trusted
too exclusively to hard fighting, and neg-
lected the resources of engineering skill,
especially the construction of mines—a mea-

‘sure now adopted by Lord Combermere, at

the suggestion of Major Gallowayt and
Lieutenant Forbes of the engineers, who
was on doty at the siege. The communica-
tion between the moat of the fortress and
the extensive piece of water by which it was
supplied, was cut off, the ditch nearly emp-
tied, and mines were carried across and
above. it ; while the operation of powerful
batteries covered the approaches and kept
down the fire of the enemy. By the
middle of January the walls had been
effectively breached, and the army impa-
tiently waited the order to storm. It was
given on the 18th, the appointed signal
being the springing of a mine containing
10,000 lbs. of powder. The foremost of the
storming party, in their anxiety to advance
immediately after the explosion, crowded
too near the opening, and the quakings of
the earth, and the dull tremulous sound
beneath their feet, came too late to save
several of them from sharing the fate of
numbers of the enemy assembled to defend
the breach, who perished in the convulsion
which darkened the air with dense clouds
of dust and smoke, and hurled disjointed
masses of the hardened ramparts in all
directions. The fate of their comrades gave
a momentary check to the ardour of the
assallants; but the order to advance was
issued and obeyed—the troops scaled the
ramparts, and after overcoming a resolute
resistance at different points, gained pos-
session of the town and outworks, at the
cost of about 600 killed and wounded. The
* Creighton’s Siege of Bhurtpoor in 1825-'6, p. 152. |
t Better known as Major-general Galloway, the
author of a valuable work on the mud forts of India.
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loss of the enemy was estimated at 14,000,
of whom 8,000 were slain in the assault ;
many being cut off by the British cavalry
while attempting to escape through the
gates on the western face of the fortress,
The citadel surrendered in the afternoon.
At the commencement of the assault,
D'OOI"]U.II Sal had quitted the fortress with
his wife and two soms, escorted by forty
horsemen, and sought refuge in an adjoin-
mmg wood, where he remained for several
hours_, and then endeavoured to escape un-
p_crccn‘ud. The astempt failed; the fugi-
tives were overtaken by a troop of native
cavalry, and secured without opposition.
Doorjun Sal was sent as a prisoner of state
to Allahabad, and the young rajah rein-
stated on the throne of his ancestors ; but
though the nominal regency was made over
to the principal widow of Baldeo Sing, and
the partial management of affairs entrusted
to his leading ministers, the paramount
authority was vested in a British resident
permanently appointed to Bhurtpoor. The
army appropriated booty to the amount of
about £22,000. Before the fall of Bhurt-
poor, the conduct of the Ava war, though
not entirely approved, procured an earldom
for Lord Amherst. Lord Combermere was
created a viscount. The diplomatic arrange-
ments made during this administration were
of some importance. In 1824, Malacca,
Singapore, and the Dutch possessions on
the continent of India, were ceded by the
King of the Netherlands in exchange for
the British settlement of Bencoolen, in Su-
matra. Dowlut Rao Sindia died in March,
1827, leaving no son. His favourite, but
not principal wife, Baiza Bye, was, in ac-
cordance with his wish, suffered to adopt a
child and assume the regency—a procedure
for which the consent of the company was so-
licited and obtained, provision for the con-
tinued maintenance of a British contingent
being made by the advance of a loan or
deposit of eighty lacs of rupees, the interest
of which, at five per cent., was to be em-
ployed in the support of the troops.

Lord Amherst visited the titular king
of Delhi early in 1827, and then repairec
to Simla on the lower range of the Hima-
laya, which from that time became the
favourite retreat of the governors-general
cf India, from its beauty and salubrity.
While there, hostilities broke out between
Russia and Persia, and the latter and
of course much weaker power demanded the

aid of the Calcutta government, in accord- |
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| ance with the treaty concluded at Tehran
| in 1814. The point at issue regarded the
' boundary line between the two countries.
' The cabinet of St. Petersburg positively re-
fused to accept the arbitration of DBritish
| officers ; and the result was, that a struggle
ensued, in which the British took no part;
and the Persians, being worsted, were com-
~pelled to make peace with Russia by the
surrender of the contested territory, in Feb-

In the same month Lord Amherst re-
signed his position, and’ returned to Eng-
land. The restoration of tranquillity had
enabled him to pay some attention to civil
matters ; and the diffusion of education had
been promoted by the formation of col-

legiate institutions at Agra and at Delhi, as

also by the establishment of schools in
various provincial towns. The pressure of
financial difficulties impeded the full execu-

~tion of these as well as of other measures
' required to lighten the burdens and stimu-

late the commerce of the people of India.
The war with Ava had necessitated heavy
disbursements. In two years (1821 and’25),
the sum of nineteen million sterling had
been raised; and at the close of the Am-
herst administration, “the financial prospects

' of the country were of a most alarming com-

234

plexion. Nearly eighteen months elapsed
before the arrival of a new governor-general,
and during that time the supreme authority
rested in the able hands of the senior mem-
ber of council, Butterworth Bayley, who
busily employed himself in laying the foun-
dation of various internal reforms, which
were carried out during the ensuing—
BeNtTiNncE AbpMINISTRATION, 1828 10 1835,
— After his recall from the government of
Madras, in 1807, Lord William Bentinck
had remonstrated forcibly against the injus-
tice of making him the victim of measures
adopted without his cognizance; and his

- arguments being seconded by influential

family connexions (with Mr. Canning and
the Portland family), he eventually obtained
the appointment of governor-general, and
in July, 1828, arrived in Caleutta. At that
time unaccustomed tranquillity prevailed
throughout India, and the character of
Lord William Bentinck was considered the
best guarantee against its disturbance by
any aggressive or domineering spirit on the

* Wilson's continuation of Mill, ix., 234.

t The altered tone of Caleutta society may be
conjectured, from the fact of Jacquemont's going on
Sunday to the house of the chief justice, Sir Charles

part of the Knglish. A vivacious French
traveller (Jacquemont) declared that the
actual possessor of the sceptre of the Great
Mogul thought and acted like a Pennsyl-
vanian quaker: yet some of the acts of this
administration would ecertainly not have
been sanctioned by the great American
coloniser. The influence of Lady Bentinck
was unquestionably of the best description ;
and the improved tone of thought and feel-
ing which pervaded the society of gov-
ernment-house, diffused itself throughout
Calcutta and the British presidencies.t All
the support derivable from a manly and
conscientious spirit, was needed by one who
came out burdened with the execution of
immediate and sweeping retrenchments.
No opposition was made to the extensive
reduction of the army; but the old question
of batta (extra pay) which had ealled forth the
energies of Clive, became afresh the source
of bitter discontent. The total diminution,
on the present occasion, did not exceed
£20,000 per annum ; but it fell heavily on
individuals: and although the governor-
general could not avoid enforcing the ac-
complishment of stringent orders, he was
thereby rendered permanently unpopular
with the military branch of the service. The
press commented freely on the /Aalf-batta
regulations, and the discontented officers
were wisely suffered to vent and dissipate their
wrath in angry letters. The same forbear-
ance was not manifested when the excessive
flagellation, which at this period disgraced
the discipline of the army, became the theme
of censure ; for Lord W. Bentinck, “though
a liberal to the very core,” held, as had
been proved at Vellore, very stern notions
on military affairs; and in this, as also in
some other cases, showed himself decidedly
“inclined to put a gag into the mouth of the
press.” {

In 1829, a regulation was enacted, by
which the practice of suftee—that is, of
burning or burying alive Hindoo widows
—was declared illegal, and the principal
persons engaged in aiding or abetting it,
became hable to trial for culpable homicide,
and were punishable with imprisonment
and fine. This enactment was far from ex-
citing the expected degree of opposition.
The same unlooked-for facility attended
another measure (denounced still more de-

Grey, to hear some music, play chess, and seek a
refuge from the general devotion of the English. ~
(Letters from India, i., 101.)

{ Kaye's Life of Metcalfe, ii., 2583.




the blinding influence of the strange pre-
| destinarian delusion that they were born to

. Christianity.
. an outecast, but an outlaw ; incapable of |

EXTIRPATION OF THUGS—
cisively) in prospeet, as a perilous mnovation,
not on “the rights of women” only, but on
those of the entire Hindoo C()lllll“l’lllﬂit‘t-';
namely, the abrogation of the intolerant
laws which decreed the forfeiture of all
civil rights as the penalty of conversion to
The convert not only became

inheriting  personal or family property.

- The wonder was that a Christian govern-

ment had not sooner put a stop to such
bigotry. Now, the necessary steps were taken
with much caution, and the alterations were
so mixed up with other ordinances, as to
create little commotion or excitement even
when first published.

In 1831, active measures were adopted
for the extirpation of the numerous and
formidable gangs of depredators, known by
the name of Thugs or Phansi-gars; the
former term (signifying a cheat) being the
more common, the latter (denoting the
bearer of a noose or phansi, wherewith to

- commit murder by strangulation) the less
- general, but equally appropriate designa-

tion. The lasso was not, however, neces-
sary to these misereants, whose horrible
dexterity enabled them, with a strip  of
cloth, or an unfolded turban, to destroy the
unwary traveller speedily and surely ;—
the dead body was then buried in the
ground, and every trace of the crime care-
fully obliterated. Hundreds upon hundreds
of Thusbands and fathers perished mnone
knew how, save the members of this horri-
hle confederacy, who, whether of Hindoo or
Mohammedan origin, were usually thieves
and murderers by hereditary descent. Of
the doctrines of the Koran they were wholly
ignorant, and of Brahminism they knew
nothing but its worst superstitions; which
are those connected with the sanguinary
worship of the goddess Doorga or Cali, the
wife of Siva, whom they regarded as their
peculiar patroness, and looked to for
guidance and counsel, which they beheved to
be communicated through the medium of the
flight and utterance of birds, beasts, and
reptiles. Fearful oaths of secrecy were inter-
changed; and the difficulty of detection was
enhanced by the consummate art which
enabled the stealthy assassin to maintain
the bearing of an industrions peasant or
busy trader. Remorse seems to have been
well-nigh bamished from this community by |

rob and kill their fellow-men—destined for
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this end by Providence by a law similar to
t_h:nt which impels the savage beast of the
f:n{'r:st to slay apd d(‘tmur human beings.
s any man killed from man’s killing ?*
was "{,lIL‘lF favourite argument. “ Are we |
3110t mstruments in the hand of God?”
I'he mysterious workings of that almighty |
imd ever-present power, which controls the |
actions, but leaves the will free, was un- |
thought of by these unhappy men, whose |
excesses rendered them a by-word of fear |
and 'luathing throughout India. TLord
Hastings made some efforts for their sup-
pression by military detachments, but with
little effect. Summary and organised mea- |
sures of police were adopted by Lord Ben- |
tinck, and ably carried out by Mr. Smith,
Major Sleeman, and other functionaries. |
In the course of six years (1830 to 1835)
2,000 Thugs were arrested and tried at
Indore, Hyderabad, Saugor, and Jubbul- |
poor, of whom about 1,500 were convicted |
and sentenced to death, transportation, or |
imprisonment. The strange esprit de corps |
which for a time sustained them, at length |
gave way; many purchased pardon at the |
expense of full and free confession: formi- |
dable gangs were thus reduced to a few scat- |
tered and intimidated individuals; and the |
Thugs became a bugbear of past times. !
The most exceptionable feature in the |
Jentinek administration was the deposition |
of the rajah of Coorg, Veer Rajundra Wudi-
var, and the conversion of his mountainous
principality into a province of the Madras
presidency. ‘The immediate occasion ap-
pears to have been a domestic quarrel with
his sister and her husband, which led them
to seek the protection of the British resident
at Mysoor. 'The rajah was described as
fierce, cruel, and disposed to enter on in-
trigues against the supreme government
with the rajah of Mysoor. These vague
charges, together with some angry letters,
demanding the surrender of his fugitive
relations, and the imprisonment of a servant
of the company, were considered to justify
the dispatch of a powerful force for the sub-
jugation of Coorg. The British advanced
i four divisions, and entered the princi-
pality from as many quarters. The alleged
unpopularity of the rajah was contradicted |
by the determination of his defenders, ‘
despite a proclamation offering protection |
to person and property as the price of |
neutrality ; but the efforts of the brave |
mountaineers were rendered Inmvailing.'
less by the overwhelming superiority of |

— L.
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' England, briuging with him a daughter, a
 lady-like and intelligent child, to be edu-

- and religious usages should be respected, and
 that the greatest desire should invariably be
' shown to augment their security, comfort,
' and happiness.

~remained at peace, and the Coorgs have

| lation beneath her sway, officiated in person

numbers and discipline on the part of the
invaders, than by the avowed disinclination
of Veer Rajundra to organised opposition
against the powerful protectors of his an-
cestors. Merkara, the capital of Coorg,
was captured in April, 1834, and the rajah,
with his family, surrendered uncondition-
ally. A committee of inquiry was instituted
into the charges adduced against him, and
the search made after the seizure of Mer-
kara, brought to light the bodies of
seventeen persons, including three relatives
of the rajah, who had been put to death by
decapitation or strangling, and thrown into
a pit in the jungle. This was a melancholy
revelation; but such severities are unhap-
pily quite consistent with the ordinary
proceedings of despotic governments; and it
may well be doubted whether, even if
proved beforehand, they could warrant the
interference of a foreign state for the depo-
sition of the prince by whom they were
committed, in opposition to the will of the
people he governed. Certainly the assump-
tion of sovereignty over the Coorgs could be
excused only by the most rigid adherence
to the promise given, “that their civil rights

How far these objects have
been effected,” adds Professor Wilson, “ may
admit of question; but the province has

shown no disposition to reassert their inde-
pendence.”’*

The rajah became a pensioner on the
E. I. Cy. Some few years ago he came to

cated as 2 Christian. Queen Victoria, by a
graceful act of spontaneous kinduness calcu-

lated to endear her to the vast Indian popu-

as godmother to the young stranger, who,
it is to be hoped, will live to merit and
enjoy a continuance of the royal favour.
The rajah himself has no trace, either in
countenance or bearing, of the insane!
cruelty ascribed to him; and the satisfac- |
tory arrangement of the pecuniary questiont

* Continuation of Mill's India, ix., 359.

T Relating to the proprietary right to a large
sum of money invested by the prince and his family
in the Anglo-Indian funds, the interest of which had
been regularly paid to the rajah, Veer Rajundra,
up to the time of his deposition, which the I, I. Cy.
now appear disposed to regard as confiscated.

| The efforts of Lord W. Bentinck were especially

now at issue between him and the E. [.-Cy.
is desirable, as the best means of strength-
ening the confidence of Indian princes in
the good faith of the nation in general.

Whatever view may be taken of the con-
duct of Lord W. Bentinck in this case, and
of certain complex arrangements, of com-
paratively small interest, with Oude, My-
soor, Nagpoor, Jeypoor, and other Indian
states, there can be no doubt that the gen-
eral result of his administration was highly
beneficial to the cause of religious civilisa-
tion.f Public institutions, whether for edu-
cational or charitable purposes, were warmly
encouraged; and the almost exclusive
agency of European functionaries, which
had been the radical defect of the Corn-
wallis system, was to some extent remedied
by the employment of natives in offices of
trust and emolument,—not, indeed, to the
extent which they have a right to expect
eventually, but as much perhaps as the cir-
cumstances of the time warranted. The
opening of the “overland route” by way of
the Red Sea, Egypt, and the Mediterranean,
and the consequent reduction of the length
of transit from four or five months to forty
or fifty days (an immense boon to the
Anglo-Indian community), was effected
mainly through the instrumentality of the
late Lieutenant Waghorn, R.N.

The navigation of the Ganges by steam-
vessels was attempted, and proved entirely
successful.§  Measures were adopted to pro-
cure the unobstructed navigation of the
Indus, with a view to the extension of
British trade with the countries to the west-
ward as far as the Caspian Sea, and also in
the hope of establishing a commanding in-
fluence on the Indus, in order to counter-
act the consequences which might be an-
ticipated from the complete prostration of
Persia, and its subservience to the designs
of Russia against British India. The orders
of the cabinet of St. James were positive,
and Lord W. Bentinck must therefore be
acquitted of blame for the complex relations
formed with the Mohammedan states of
Bahawulpoor, Sinde, and Afghanistan, and
especially with the wily and ambitious Seik,
Runjeet Sing, to whom a present of several
directed to the diffusion of the English language
among the natives—a measure diflicult indeed, but
highly desirable in the sight of all their well-wisher<.

§ The first voyage between Bombay and Suez,
made by the Hugh Lindsay in 1830, occupied thirty
days; the second, in the same year, only twenty-
two. The passage between England and India now
requires fewer weeks than it formerly did months,
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METCALFE’S FREE-PRESS ACT, 1835—AUCKLAND ADMIN

English horses, of unusual size and stature,
were presented by Lieutenant Burnes, in
the name of William IV., in October, 1831.

The renewal of the charter of the E.I. Cy.
for the term of twenty years (1833 to 1853),
was attended with a complete change in the
constitution of that powerful body, which,
after commencing in a purely commercial
spirit, now consented to place in abevance
its exclusive privileges of trade with China
as well as with India, but retained its politi-
cal rights; and, in conjunction with the
Board of Control, continued to direct the
affairs of Hindoostan. The fixed dividend
guaranteed to the shareholders, and charged
upen the revenues of India, the means of
redeeming the company’s stock, with other
arrangements then made, are set forth in the
opening page of this history. Lord William
Bentinck resigned his position on account
of ill-health, and quitted India early in
1835.  The brief provisional sway of Sir
Charles Metcalfe was distinguished by a
measure which procured him much exagge-
rated applause and equally indiseriminate
censure. This act was the removal of the
restrictions on the public press of India,
which, though rarely enforced, were still in
existence. It is worthy of remark, that the
hability to government interference was
confined to Europeans; for native editors
could publish anything short of a direct
libel : and after the banishment of Mr. Silk
Buckingham by Mr. Adam, his paper was
continued by a successor of mixed race, an
Anglo-Indian, whom the law did not affect.
The views of Sir Charles Metealfe, with
regard to the precarious nature of our In-
dian empire, were of a decidedly exag-
gerated and alarmist character. In 1825,
he had declared the real dangers of a
free press in India to be, “its enabling the
natives to throw off our yoke;” and a
minute recorded by him in October, 1830,
expressed, with some sharpness, the incon-
venience attendant on the proceedings of
government finding their way into the
newspapers. Despite some apparent incon-
sistency, the strenuous advocacy of the
freedom of the press, at all hazards, would
have been a proceeding worthy his frank
and manly character ; but it would be diffi-
cult to justify his conduct in enacting a
. measure, however laudable in itself, in op-
position to the will, and, as it was generally
supposed, to the interests of his employers.
‘ The change could scarcely have been long

delayed ; for now that Englishmen were to |
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be suffered to settle at pleasure in Tndia, it |
was not likely they would tamely submit to |
have summary deportation held over them |
as the penalty of offending against the pre- |
rogative of a despotic governor, in a time of
external and internal tranquillity.

AUCKLAND ADMINISTRATION: 1835 10 |
1842.—The person first nominated as the |
successor of Lord William Bentinck was
Lord Heytesbury; but the brief interval of |
power enjoyed by the Tory ministry having |
expired before his lordship could quit Eng- |
land, the appointment was cancelled, the
large sum granted as usual for outfitting
expenses being forfeited by the E. 1. Cy. .

The restored Whig cabinet, under Lord
Melbourne, bestowed the Indian vice-
royalty on Lord Auckland, a nobleman of
amiable character and business habits, who,
it was generally supposed, might be safely
entrusted with the charge of the supreme
government, which had certainly never been
assumed by any preceding functionary
under more favourable circumstances.
fect tranquillity, a diminishing debt, and
increasing commerce, seemed to promise an
easy and honourable administration; un-
happily, it proved the very reverse. The
first event of importance was one which,
though vindicated by an author whose im-
partiality reflects equal credit on himself
and the L. 1. Cy.,* nevertheless appears to
the writer of the present work an act of
cruel injustice, the blame of which rests
chiefly on the Bombay authorities; for
the new governor-general gave but a
tardy and reluctant assent to their deci-
sion. The measure in question was the
deposition of the rajah of Sattara, the legi-
timate successor of Sevajee, who had been
placed on the musnud in 1819. The policy
or impoiicy of his reinstatement need not
be discussed. Pertab Sein, then twenty-seven
vears of age, showed unbounded delight at
his restoration to what he undisguisedly
viewed as real power, and diligently set
about improving his little sovereignty. Suec-
cessive residents at his court—Grant Duff,
generals Briggs and Robertson, and Colonel
Liodwick—bore witness to the general excel-
lence of his administration from 1819 to
1837-'8, the last gentleman with some
qualification, the specified drawback bein.g
the new feature of weakness of mind mani-
fested by an excessive addiction to Brah-
minical superstitions, and the employment

* Mr. Edward Thornton, head of the statistical

department at the India House. |

Per- |
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- of women in the management of elephants,
as guards, and in other unusuval offices.
These complaints were the first indication
of an altered tone on the part of the local
authorities, and were probably the earliest
results of a conspiracy formed against the
rajah in his own palace. The f‘il\"Ulll‘al)!C
nature of the testimony regarding his
conduct previously sent to England, had
drawn from the Court of Directors repeated
expressions of warm and generous praise.
In 1829 he was declared to be “remarkable
among the princes of India for mildness,
- frugality, and attention to business;” in
1831, “his disposition and capacity for gov-
ernment’ are again noticed; and in De-
cember, 1835, a letter was addressed to
him, lauding the “exemplary fulfilment”
of lis duties as “well calculated to pro-
mote the prosperity of his dominions and
the happiness of his people,” and acknow-
ledging ““the liberality displayed in exe-
cuting various public works of great utility,
which has so justly raised your reputation
i the eyes of the princes and people of
India, and gives you an additional claim to
our approbation, respect, and applause.”
This testimony was accompanied by a hand-
some sword, the most marked tribute of
respect which could be offered to a Mah-
ratta. The letter and sword were arbitra-
rily detained by the Bombay government,
and never presented to the rajah, whose
feelings about this time became irritated by
a controversy with them regarding certain
Jaghires to which he laid claim. A con-
spiracy was, it is believed, concocted against
him by a vindictive, ungrateful, and profli-
gate brother, and the rajah was accused of
endeavouring to procure the overthrow of
British power by three extraordinary mea-
sures : — first, by striving to corrupt the
entire  Anglo-Indian army through two
native officers of a regiment stationed at
Sattara; second, by inducing the Portu-
guese at Goa to land 30,000 European
troops in India, who were to be marched

overland for the purpose ; third, by cor- |
g with the fugitive ex-rajah of |

respondin
Nagpoor, who had neither character, in-

fluence, nor ability,—not a shilling, nor an |

acre of territory,—and was himself dependent

* Since the deposition of tne Sattara rajah, on the

' evidence of forged documents and perjured wit-
nesses, a similar case has come to light.  Ali Morad,
one of the Ameers of Sinde, having been convicted
of fargery, had a large portion of his territories con-

| fiscated by the British government. The accuser,

on charity. The seals of the rajah were
forged, pretended correspondence produced,
and other artful schemes successfully carried
through. There was at this time a vague
feeling of alarm throughout India relative
to a general rising against British supre-
macy : the press at home and abroad gave
countenance to the idea; and Sir Charles
Metcalfe declared he should not be surprised
“to wake some fine morning and find the
whole thing blown up.”  Sir Robert Grant,
then governor of Bombay, and some officials
around him, fell into the trap, and despatches
of several hundred paragraphs were written
regarding the alleged application of the rajah
for the aid of 30,000 Portuguese soldiers,
when, at that time, thirly would have been
an impossibility ; and great alarm was pro-
fessed lest 200,000 British soldiers—Mussul-
men as well as IHindoos, who had ever
proved themselves true to their salt—should
be seduced from their allegiance by this
petty prince, who was no warrior, but an
excellent farmer and landlord. The supreme
government of India at first treated the
affaic with the contempt it merited: but
reiterated calumnies began to take effect ;
and the alarm once given, the most
absurd stories, many of which carried with
them the proof of their falsehood,* were
believed by men who were afterwards
ashamed to confess their credulity. Sir R.
Grant died, and Sir James Carnac, then
‘chairman of the Court of Directors, sue-
oceded him. Ile went to Sattara in 1839,
and required the rajah to acknowledge his
guilt, sign a new treaty, and all would be
forgiven.  Pertab Sein refused to declare
himself a traitor to the British government ;
asked for a copy of the charges against him,
and demanded a fair hearing and a public
trial.  Sir J. Carnac was a kind and mode-
rate man ; but the strong prejudices—not to
use a harsher term—of his associates warped
his judgment, and led him to view the con-
duct of the rajah as the continued contu-
macy of a rebel, instead of the offended
feelings of an innocent man, 3
troops marched at midnight into the palace,
led by the successful plotter, Appa Sahib ;
the rajah was made prisoner in his bed
all his property seized ;

)
and ere morning

Sheik Ali Hussein, had been prime minister of the
chief, and was dismissed for malpractices: at his
death (Sth .\I:l)', 1853), he confessed that all he had
sworn against Ali Morad was untrue, and that he
| had given false evidence for purposes of revenge.—
(Bombay Gazette, 10th May, 1853.)

A body of




dawned, the v
1gnominiously hurried away as a prisoner to
Benares, where he died. The brother who
had caused his ruin was placed on the
throne. After a few years of profligacy
and indolence Appa Sahib died, leaving no
son, and the little principality of Sattara de-
volved, in default of heirs, upon the British
government. The whole transaction is pain-
ful, and reflects little credit on any con-
cerned therein: time, the revealer of truth,
has exposed the folly and injustice of the
procedure ; and had the ex-rajah survived,
some measure of justice would probably
have been rendered him.* :

The next and all-absorbing feature of the
Auckland administration is the Afchan
war, to understand the origin of which it
is necessary to explain the condition of the
territories on our western frontier. Zemaun
Shah, the Afchan ruler of Cabool, against
whom a treaty was negotiated with Persia
in 1801, by Sir John Malcolm, was deposed
and blinded in the same year by his brother

Mahmood—treatment precisely similar to| turned his attention to the affairs of gov-

ate pre- | ernment, and proved a much better ruler
IHumayun. Mahmood was, in turn, | than either of his predecessors.  He had

that bestowed by him on his immedi
decessor,
displaced by a fourth brother, named Soojah-
ool-Moolk.  'With unwonted clemency the
conqueror refrained from inflicting ex-
tinction of sight, which, though not a legal
disqualification to sovereign power, usually
proves an insuperable bar to the claims of
any candidate.  Soojah could not keep the

throne he had gained; but being expelled |
by the reviving strength of Mahmood,

sought refuge with Runjeet Sing, who plun-
dered him of all his valuables, including the

famous Koh-i-Noor (the gem of the English |

Kxhibition of 1851), and made him prisoner.
By the exertion of an unexpeeted amount

of skill and resolution, Shah Soojah suc- |

ceeded in making his escape in the disguise
of a mendicant, and reached the British
station of Loodiana in September, 1816,
whither his family, together with Zemaun
Shah, had previously found refuge. Mah-
mood did not, however, possess the throne
i peace. His vizier, Futteh Khan, an able
chief, who had been mainly instrumental in
carrying out the late revolution, evinced
indications of a desire to elevate his nume-
rous brothers to almost exclusive authority,
aud to make the Barukzye clan, of which

® Sir Charles Forbes, Bart.,, Mr. John Forbes,
M.P., and several leading directors of the E. L. Cy.,
with Mr. Joseph Hume, M.P., Arthur Lewis, of the
chancery bar, and many other members of the Court
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wtim of a foul conspiracy was | he was

—
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by hereditary chief, the governing class
I'he youngest of his brethren, the after-
wards famous Dost Mohammed, treacherously
occupied the fortress of Herat, committed |
great excesses there, and even profaned the
harem by seizing the ornaments of its in-
mates, and especially by violently tearing
away a jewelled girdle from the person of
one of the royal princesses.

The insulted lady sent the torn robe to |
her relative, Prince Kamran, the son of
Mahmood Shah, with a demand for ven-

geance. Dost Mohammed fled to Cashmere,
where his brother, Azim Khan, was gov-
ernor.  Futteh Ali was made prisoner, and |
blinded by the dagger of Kamran. Subse-
quently, on his refusal to call upon his bro-
thers to surrender, the unfortunate vizier
was literally hacked to pieces by the courtiers
in attendance on the king and prince.

Dost Mohammed raised an army, and
made himself master of the city of Cabool, in
1818,  Shah Mahmood and Kamran estab-

i lished themselves in Herat, and the usurper

many difficnlties to- contend with, includ-
ing the jealous intrigues of his brothers,
several of whom became in fact indepen-
dent princes. Their hostility encouraged
Shah Soojah to attempt regaining posses-
sion of Cabool, but without effect. At the
| commencement of TLord Auckland’s ad-
ministration, Dost Mohammed reigned over
the chief remaining portion of the Doorani
' kingdom founded by Ahmed Shah, which,
at the time of the death of that ruler, ex-
tended from the west of Khorassan to Sir-
' bind, and from the Oxus to the sed. Of the
| seventeen provinces it then comprised, ouly
| six now remained—namely, Cabool, Ba-
meean, Ghoreband, Ghuznee, Candahar,
and Jellalabad. Beloochistan had become
independent, under a chief named Moham-
med Khan, in 1802; Khorassan had been
recovered by Persia; Herat was retained by
Prince Kamran, after the death of Mah-
mood ; Balkh was taken by the King of
Bokhara, in 1823; and the Punjab, Mooltan,
Dera Ghaza Khan, Dera Ismael Khan, and
lastly Peshawur, fell to the share of Runjeet
Sing. Sinde was still nominally dependent
on Cabool; but its rulers—three brothers

of Proprietors, who were the warm friends of the ex-
rajah, pever ceased to seek a hearing and trial for

him, and entertained a strong and permanent conyic-
tion of his innocence.

|
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who governed conjointly under the title of
€ thc‘Amccrs”—genem]ly needed the pre-
sence of an army to compel the payment of
their arrears of tribute. Cabool itself, and
a considerable portion of the Hazerah
country, was under the immediate sway of
Dost Mohammed ; Candahar, and the adja-
cent territory, was held by his three hrothers,
Kohen-dil-Khan, Rehem-dil- Khan, and
Mehir-dil-Khan, under the name of sirdars
or governors.

The divided and independent governments
beyond the Indus were in a condition well
caleulated to secure our power, without any
infraction of the strict neutrality which the
English rulers so ostentatiously declared it
their desire to preserve, when, in 1838, an
attack was made on Herat by the Shah of
Persia, with the aid of Russian officers.*
Herat has been called the key of Afghanis-
tan: it is also the gate towards which all the
great roads from Central Asia to India con-
verge; and the Calcutta authorities became
exceedingly alarmed at the probability of
its falling under the influence of Russia.
They became very solicitous that Afghanis-
tan should maintain entire independence,
and reject the profferéd alliance with the
Muscovite court. Lieutenant Burnes was
dispatched on an embassy to Dost Moham-
med, or ““the Dost,” as he was commonly
called; but although the instructions of
Burnes were explicit regarding the non-
reception of Russian envoys, and other
demands to be exacted on the part of the
English, he had nothing beyond idle pro-
fessions of regard to offer in return; not
even mediation with Runjeet Sing for the
restoration of Peshawur, which the Seik
conqueror was willing to surrender to any
one except to the ruler of Cabool, from
whom it had been taken.

The contrast between the magnificent
presents brought by Mountstnart Elphin-
stone to Afghanistan, on a former occasion,
with the pistol and telescope, pins, needles,
and playthings, now offered to the Dost
for himself and the inmates of the zenana,
could not but be painfully felt; yet the
chief knew the value of British protec-
tion, and was not disposed to take offence
lightly. But he could not afford to re-
ject the direct offers of assistance, 1n
men and money, made by the secretary of

* One of the alleged reasons being the activity
with which the slave-trade was carried on at Herat.
t Mr. H. Torrens, and John Colvin, Lord Auck-
land’s private secretary.—Kaye's Warin Afyhanistun,

the Russian legation, without some clear
guarantee against the evil effects of such
rejection ; and as this was positively refused,
he had literally no alternative but to accept
the Russo-Persian alliance. It would have
been only common prudence, on the part of
the supreme government, to have waited
the issue of the siege of lerat, before pro-
ceeding further; buat Lord Auckland was
unhappily enjoying the cool breezes of
Simla, away from his legitimate advisers at
Caleutta, and was, it is said, considerably
under the influence of two or three clever
and impulsive men, who may have been
excellent secretaries and amusing table-
companions, but were very ill-adapted for
wary counsellors.+ It would have been an
easy matter to convert Dost Mohammed,
the sirdars of Candahar, and the whole
Barukzye clan, into firm allies; neverthe-
less, Lord Auckland, in an hour of weakness
and indecision, was induced to seek the co-
operation of Runjeet Sing for the restora-
tion of Shah Soojah; and, although the
defeat of the Persian army, and its with-
drawal, after a ten months’ siege,t secured
the independence of Herat, and removed
one main incentive to war, the projected
invasion was carried out despite the apathy
of the Seik ruler (now fast sinking to his
grave, under the combined influence of age
and the most hateful excesses) and the
scarcely disguised distrust of Socjah, who
could not comprehend why the assistance
repeatedly refused by Lord W. Bentinck,
was bestowed unasked by Lord Auckland.
Perhaps so perilous an enterprise was
never more rashly and needlessly under-

taken. It was wrong in principle, weak in
execution, and appalling in its results.

Shah Soojah was not even presumptive
heir to the usurped dominions of his grand-
father; for Kamran, the son of the elder
brother Mahmood, had a prior elaim. The
professed object of the Tripartite Treaty now
formed, viz., to restore a legitimate sove-
reign to the throne from whence he had
been wrongfully expelled, was therefore ab-
solutely false; and as if to make the spirit |
of the whole transaction more evident, Run-
jeet Sing affixed his signature to the treaty
at Lahore, June, 1838, with the ill-gotten i
Koh-i-Noor gleaming on his arm.§ 1In re-

turn for furnishing a few thonsand troops

{ Lt. Eldred Pottinger cheered, counselled, and
fought with the garrison throughout the weary sit ge. [
§ T'his famous stone is said by several modern
writers on the Afghan war to have formed part of
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to be paid by Shah Soojah, Runjeet Sing| 4,000 camp followerst were levied from the

was to be confirmed in possession of all the |
ternitories (including Peshawur) wrested by
him from Cabool.* As to the English,
they were willing to lavish men and money
on the trappings of war, and to get up “a
grand military promenade,” for the sake of
terrifying Russia by a formidable demon-
stration of our power and energy. Thoset
who ventured to speak of the dreary defiles,
inclement climate, and, above all, of the
warlike temper of the people upon whom a
rejected yoke was to be reimposed by Eng-
lish bayonets, were censured as timid, pre-
Judiced, or misinformed; and the assem-
bling of the “army of the Indus” was a
source of agreeable excitement, fraught with
promotions and appointments, commissa-
riat contracts, and honours from the Crown ;
for, despite the neuatral policy urged by the
home authorities, it was pretty evident

that a brilliant campaign was no less

certain to procure for its promoters rank
and emolument, than to inflict new burdens
on the Indian revenues, and increase the
pressure of taxes which it was alike the
duty and the interest of the government to
mitigate.

A declaration of war was issued from
Simla, in 1838, and a British force was
speedily gathered of 28,350 men, partly from
Bengal, partly from Bombay. It was deemed
advisable by the governor-general that the
Shah should “enter Afghanistan surrounded
by his own troops;” and, for this end, about

Shah Jehan's peacock throne, which was carried off
from Hindoostan by Nadir Shah ; but there does not
seem evidence to support the statement. Several
diamonds of extraordinary value were seized by
different invaders, and one in particular was given
by the exiled Humayun to his ungracious host the
Shah of Persia.—(See p. 91.)

* The concessions made to Runjeet Sing at this
period were no less undignified than unwise. At
the meeting which took place with Lord Auckland
at Ferozepoor, caresses were lavished on the “lion
of the Punjab,” who though now a decrepit and
paralysed old wman, continued to outrage public de-
cency by the practice of shameful sensualities.
There he sat in his golden chair, shaped like a hip-
bath, with his attenuated limbs gathered beneath him,
and his single restless eye flashing in rivalry of the
Koh-i-Noor (the only ornament he wore, except a

string of 300 pearls of the finest water and the size
of small marbles), listening to the civilities of the
Tnglish authorities, which happily did not extend |
to compliance with his previous demand for an Eng- |
lish wife.—(Osborne's Court and Camp of Runjeet
Sing, 199.) The fact that the old debauchee en- |
tertained some at least of his official visitors with |
the “burra tomacha” (great fun) of intoxicating |
“nauteh” girls, for the sake of seeing them beat and |
abuse one another. gives force to the remark of a |

B 1. Cy.2% military stations, and placed
under the nominal ‘command of Timur the
eldest son of Soojah-ool-Moolk ; the whole
heing ]_m.l by British officers, and paid from
the British treasury.  Runjeet Sing was to
supply a contingent of 6,000 men, and to
sFatmp 15,000 men as an army of observa-
tion in Peshawur. The commissariat ar-
rangements were extremely deficient, and
the énormous number of camp followers,
amounting to nearly 100,000 persons, im-
parted new difficulties to a march of extra-
ordinary length, through an almost un-
explored and hostile territory. The in-
vading force had only physical difficulties,
and the depredations of certain mouuntain
tribes, to encounter on the road to Candahar.
It was expected that the Ameers of Sinde
would offer opposition on the score of the
manifest infraction of the treaty of 1832, by
which the E. 1. Cy., when desirous to open
the navigation of the Indus, expressly de-
clared that it would be employed by them
solely for mercantile uses. The Ameers,
however, saw the folly of remonstrating
with a powerful force thirsting for the plun-
der of the rich city of Hyderabad. They
paid £100,000 as an instalment of the
£280,000 demanded by Shah Soojah on the
favourite plea of arrears of tribute, and sur-
rendered the fortified island of Bukkur in
the Indus, the possession of which was
deemed necessary to the security of the
English force. The army of the Indus

British officer, who, commenting on the indulgzence |
evinced to the vices of Runjeet Sing, writes—* It was |

impossible not to feel that this complaisance was
carried a little too far, when he was exhibited in the
character of a Bacchus or Silenus, in the presence of
an assemblage of English gentlewomen, and when
their notions of decency were further outraged by
the introduction, to whatever extent sanctioned by
culpable usage in other parts of India, of bands of
singing and dancing eourtesans.”—(Havelock's IWar
in Afghantstan, 1., 87.) After all the Seiks were
not conciliated : they watched the Feringhees
(foreigners) with extreme suspicion ; and when their
infirm old chief, in his anxiety to examine a present
of two howitzers, fell prostrate before them, the ac-
cident was regarded as a fearful omen.

+ In October, 1838, the author, deeply convinced
of the unjust and perilous nature of the war, drew
up a memorandum, which the Marquis Wellesley
transmitted to Sir John Cam Hobhouse, then Presi-
sident of the Board of Control. His lordship ad-
dressed a subsequent communication to Sir John
against the Afghan war, predicting that “our diffi-
culties would commence where our military successes
ended.” The Duke of Wellington, Elphinstone,
Edmonstone, Metcalfe, and other Indian statesmen
took the same view of the question.

f Col. Dennie’s Campaigns in A fghanistan, 51.
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436 CAPTURE OF GHUZNEE—OCCUPATION OF CANDAHAR & CABOOL.

traversed the weary Bolan Pass, and the
dangerous and diflicult Kojuck defile with
success, but at a fearful cost of life,* espe-
" cially on the part of the camp followers, from
' heat and want of water. Candahar (the
capital of Western Afghanistan), was occu-
pied without resistance by Shah Soojah and
his allies, in April, 1839. Kohun-dil-Khan
and his brother sirdars fled as the foe ad-
vanced ; and English gold scattered lavishly
" on all sides, enabled the returning monarch
' to win the temporary suffrage of several
Barukzye chiefs. In the following June
the army under Sir John Keane and Shah
Soojah left a garrison at Candahar and set
cout for Ghuznee. This ancient fortress
proved stronger than had been expected;
- but a nephew of Dost Mohammed deserted
from the garrison, and betrayed the im-
| portant secret, that an entrance called the
 Cabool gate had not, like the rest, -been
 built up with stone, but had been left slightly
| barricaded in the expectation of supplies.
' The besiegers, acting on this information,
 fastened bags of gunpowder upon the wooden
' door at night, and by setting them on fire
effected a practicable breach, through which
a storming party, led by Colonel Dennie,
immediately secured an entrauce, captured
the town, and, after some hours’ resis-
tance, the citadel also, receiving little loss,
- but slaying 1,000 Afghans: 3,000 more
- were wounded or captured. Among the
| prisoners were about fifty fanaties of all
- ages, who had assumed the name of Ghazee,
- right of being engaged in holy warfare
- against infidels. These men, the first taken
| in arms against Shah Soojah, “ were hacked
| to death with wanton barbarity by the
- knives of his executioners.”+
So much for the magnanimity of the re-
' stored monarch in his short hour of triumph.
| The campaign thus successfully opened, was
| to some extent overshadowed by tidings of
| the death of Runjeet Sing, in 1839 ; but
notwithstanding the jealous dislike evinced
towards the English by the new authorities
at Lahore, the Seik contingent, wretchedly
insufficient as it was, became serviceable in
| the hands of Colonel Wade; and this ener-
- getic officer, with his nominal coadjutor the
Shahzada (Prince Timur), who was “an
absolute cypher,” contrived, partly by fighting,

|
|
* Of 100,000 camp followers, only 20,000 reached
Candahar.— (Capper's Three Presidencies, p. 212))
Tt Fide John
][.f.sfm'_u of the

War in Afghanistan, i., 445,
1 Ldem., 561, ‘ ’

|
|
|

Villiam Kaye's graphic and fearless | but the unpopularity of the Shah was too

partly by diplomacy, to traverse the formi-
dable Khyber Pass, at the head of a motley
assemblage of Hindoos, Seiks, and Afghans.
Akber Khan, Dost Mohammed’s favourite
“fighting son,” was recalled from his camp
near Jellalabad, to join his father at Cabool,
and the path being left open, Wade marched
on and seized Jellalabad.

The position of Dost Mohammed was
daily rendered more perilous by the deser-
tion of his relatives and followers. Very
shortly after the taking of Ghuznee, he at-
tempted to compromise matters by offering
to submit to the restoration of Shah Soojah,
on condition of his own nomination to his
late brother IFutteh Khan’s position of
vizier. This proposition was of course re-
jected ; for so far from being inclined to
delegate authority to his opponent, Shah
Soojah desired nothing better than to “hang
the dog”—a procedure which the British en-
voy, Mr. Macnaghtan, does not appear to
have considered otherwise than advisable,
provided they could cateh him.i

The Dost desired to give the invaders
battle at Maidan, on the Cabool river, but
treachery and disaffection surrounded him
on every side, and his camp at Urghundeh
fairly fell to pieces. The venal Kuzzil-
bashes (or Persian guard) forsook the
master whose salt they had eaten thirtcen
years. In vain lLe entreated them to stand
by him in one charge against the Feringhees,
that he might die with honour,—the spirit-
stirring appeal fell on the listless ears of men
determined to purchase safety by desertion ;
and, attended by a few faithful followers,
Dost Mohammed in despair turned his
horse’s head towards the Hindoo-Koosh,
leaving his guns standing.

Cabool opened its gates with “sullen, surly
submission;” and Shah Soojah entered the
Balla IHissar or palace-citadel in triumph,
while his British allies sounded a long loud
note of triumph, the European echoes of
which were destined to die away in the very
saddest cry of anguish and humiliation ever
uttered by the proud conquerors of India.
The authorities at Cabool soon discovered
that the foreign bayonets and foreign gold
which had been the means of replacing Shah
Soojah on the throne of Afghanistan, were
likewise the sole method of keeping him
there. Lord Auckland desired the return

of the entire “army of the Indus;”

evident to admit of such a step, unless we

were willing to confess the whole afiair a







